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PREFACE

Ir ig a curious circumstance that, while the world is
year by year presented with hiographies of persons who
cannot, Jay claim to a tithe of the renown so justly
accorded to Magellan, no life of the great circumnavi-
gator has yet been written in English, or indeed—if
we make one exception—in any other language. The
exception is Snr. Diego de Barros Arana’s Vida y
Viages de Hernando de Magallanes, which in 1881 was
translated into Portuguese by Snr. F. de Magalhies
Villas-Boas, with the addition of an original appendix.
This work, although agcurate, does not aim at detail,
and Magellan's early life in India under Almeida and
Albuquerque is dismissed in five pagew. Students de-
sirous of a further knowledge are forced to gather it as
best, they can from the pages of Navarrete, or to tread
the thorny paths of the old chronicles and the docu-
merits of the Torre do Tombo and Simancas.

Under these circumstances I have been led to depart
somewhat from the plan upon which this series was
instituted. While striving to offer the present volume
in such guise as may not be unacceptable to the general
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reador, T have thought it advisable to treat my subject
as thoroughly as it deserves, or, more accurately, as
thoroughly as space permits me. T have, therefore,
sacrificed somie of the trivial details of the voyage as
related by Pigafetta and others, which are accessible to
the English reader in Lord Stanley of Alderley's “First
Voyage round the World,” and endeavoured not only to
render the account of Magellan’s ealier life as complete
as possible, but to leave no detail of the more important

and difficulti i d. The solution of
the latter has not always been an easy task, and has
necessitated the perusal of a much larger mass of mate-
rial than, from the size of the present volume, might be
inferred. In the ensuing pages I have given my autho-
rities—wherever it scemed necessary—together with
the discussion of all points of a technical nature, in the
footnotes. In consulting the old Spanish documents
relating to the subject, I have come across much of
interest which want of space has prevented me from
using. I can only trust that I may not be consideved
to have made 2 wrong selection.

F H H G

CAMDRIDGE, September 1890,



CONTENTS.

o
1. ‘1smRODUCTORY
I1. FARLY LEFE AND INDIAN 8KRVICE
1L SERVICE WITH ALBUQUERQUE AND IN MOKOGCO—

DENATURALISATION

1V, MAGULLAN'S PROJECT AND

CHARLES V.
V. PREPARATIONS FOR THE VOYAGE .
VL THE LAST VOYAGE.

VIL THE LAST VOYAGE.
STRAIT

VIIL. THE LAST YOYAGE.

IS ADOPTION BY

L. BOUTH-EAST AMERIOA AND
THE MUTINY IN PORT ST. JULIAN .
IL THE DISCOVERY OF THE

IIL. THE PABSAGE OF THE STRAIT
IV. THE LADRONEZS AND THE

IX. THE LAST VOYAGE,
PHILIPPINE ISLANDS .

X. THE LAST VOYAGE.

DEATH OF MAGELLAN
Vi ARRIVAL AT THE MOLUCCAS

AND RETURN TO SPAIN

X1I. THE LAST VOYAGE.

XII THE LAST VOYAGE.
“TRINIDAD

APPENDICES (—
1. GENEALOGY OF THE FAMILIES OF MAGELLAN AND

BARBOSA

IL MAGRLLANS WILLS .
L PERSONNEL OF MAGRLLAN'S ARMADA .
IV. BTORES AND EQUIFMENT OF THE FLEET

V. THE FIRST OIROUMNAVIGATORS OF THE GLOBE

INDEX

VIL

THE FATE OF THE

V. DATTLE OF MACTAN AND

ragE
1

7
53

8
110

142

175
199

218
246

262



LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS.

———
1 PORTRAIT or MAGELLAN . . Frontispiece
2. COAT-O¥-ARMS AND AUTOGRAPH OF MAGELLAN P21
3. Towsmox Berex . . . .. to face page 32
4. PORTRAIT OF ALBUQUERQUE . » 62
5. Maracea (from Correa). . . 7. 65
6. LiseoN HaRBOUR (from De Bry) . . to face page 120
7. Natwveor Patagoxtal . . . . N 180
8. CarsVimons . . . L. poaom
0. PORT FAMiNE, MAGELLAY'S STRAIF . . . P 207

10. MAGRLLAN PASSING 118 STRAIT (from De Bry) to face page 210
U1 ADMIBALTY SOUND, MAGELLAN'S STRATT . . p. 214
12, A SOENE 1§ SEBU . to face page 236
13, MONUMEST T0 MAGELLAN 1§ MACTAN L. poass
14. Tux City oF BRUNRI . . to face page 270
15. Tioon VOLOANO ¥ROM TEQNATE . . . . 28
16. Co.r-08-ARNS AND AUTOGRAPH OF DE1 Caxo . p. 308
17. Satur o DEL Caxo . . . pe3o9

1 For this fllustratlon the Publishers avo indobbed to the kindness of the
South American Missiouary Seclety.



LIST OF MAPS.

——

MAPS IN TEXT.

1. Tuz st Coast OF PaTaconia L pas
2, Tika DE Patacoxss (Ritere). . - . piso
3. ‘TuE SouTaEAN LADRONE ISLANDS . . - 224
4 Tas Mowvooss - . ... pas
5 Tntos asp Froses Isuasps . . . . . p.290

COLOURED JMAPS.

1. Porrucusse DosiNioxs 1x e East INDIES to face page 34
11, Mar TLLUSTRATING T2 TRACK OF MAGELLAY'S FXRFT , 142
11 MAGELLANE STRAIT . . . . 199
B e Ao [onooce v M 2

TO ILLUSTRATE THE PROGRESS OF DISCOVERY
1N THE NEW WORLD.
¥. Benaln's GLOBE OF 1492
v1. HyDroonarmL: POBTUGUSSA, 1504-1513
Vi Rovscr's Marpamuspy, 1507 . . 1 atend of Volume.
! LE0xARDO Da VINCI'S ANMERIC, 1515

i
“Tue ILsvsean GLosk, 15 . .2
SeadNER! 3 o
. ®'s First GLOBE, 1515 f e
Sauoxas GLost oF 1520
X. SCONER'S GLOLE OF 1523 - . g R

31 Di0o RIBERO'S B APRANUNDI, 1529






LIFE OF MAGELLAN.

—

CHAPTER 1.
INTRODUCTORY.

Tk we begin the story of Magellan’s life, we must
consider for n moment the condition of geographical
knowledge at the time when he first appeared upon the
world’s stage as an explorer. Himself destined to im-
mortality, a chapter-writer in the Listory of the world,
tho First Circumnavigator, he witnessed in his lifetime
the three most disti ished deeds of hical dis-
covery—the rounding of the Cape by Bartholomew Diaz,
the first voyage to India by Vasco da Gama, and the
discovery of America by Columbus. It is remarkable
that all these, together with his own great voyage,
should have occurred within the limits of so short a
period, but that they were the natural outcome of pre-
ceding work is evident enough if we glance ab the
history of the Peninsula during the fifteonth century.
As in most seiences, so in geography, a great dis-
covery is rarely sudden. It is foreshadowed and led
up to by a train of minor facts which are for the most
part lost sight of in the éclat of the greater. Had we
to assign a definite date to the commencement of the
A
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Renascence in geography, it should, perhaps, be placed ut
the period when Prince Henry the Navigator, removing
from the court, gave himself heartand soul to the adding
of new lands to the crown of Portugal. But even before
his time some part of the African seabosmid had heen
coasted — the end of the elue grasped which, when
followed up, was to lead those who held it to Indis, the
Molucens, and Cathay.

1f we tum to the map and consider the geographical
position of the Peninsula, and to the pages of history
and make ourselves acquainted with the events preced-
ing the cul period just foned, we realise
how inevitable was it that the deeds of exploration and
conquest which made Spain and Portugal the greatest
countries in the world should have been undertoken
and carvied out Ly them. Fardly less easy, t00, would
have been the prediction of their rapid effeteness and
downfall, but with this we have nothing to do. In the
present volume we are concerned only with their rise,
and though this was brought about by the coineidence
of many factovs, it is probable that the most permanent
of them, namely geographical position, was the strongest
determinant of the result. With the Portuguese this
was especially the case. Hemmed in on the landward
side by a power with whom it was useless at that time
to cross swords, the sea was manifestly their metier.
Their long coast-line, their good harbours, and the
broad Atlantic, made them perforce a race of sailors.
Yet, they had no Mediterranean, as had the Spaniards,
to set nutural bounds and limits te their voyages.
Almost within sight, and, as it were, in their own waters,
lny the shoulder of the vast continent of Africa, tempt-
ing them onwards with its unbroken coast-line. It




INTRODUCTORY, 3
swas & period, when expansion and fal
sctivity were inevitable, The conturies of Moorish
oppression had ended. Not ouly had the Portugusse
driven their former masters from the country, but they
were pushing them hard in Moroceo itself. The desire
of conquest had been aroused in them, and the advent
of Prinee Henry was the final terx in a series of ovents
which led them, a few years luter, to become so great a
maritime nation that no one ean read their history with-
out wonder and admiration.

Prince Henry, then, was the true mainspring of
Portuguese activity at the time of which we speak.
Tis whole life was given up to the encouragement of
discovery and navigation. Renouncing the pleasures
of coutt, lie remained in almost cowplete retirement
ab Cape St. Vincent, in tho constant companionship of
those learned in cosmography and kindred sciences. At
this date the Canaries had long been known, Bethen-
court had conquered them, and Spain and Portugal had
squabbled over them, as indeed was their wont upon
the occasion of each freslr discovery. Their trade was
making itsolf felt at Seville, and Prince Henry doubtless
had it in mind when he fitted out his fivst expedition.
Cape Non—*the impassable”—had at length been
passed. Cape Bojador, however, though scarcely beyond
the Canaries, was the furthest southern point then
reached=by European ships, and it was with the inten-
tion of doubling it that the Drince, in the year 1418,
despatched Zargo and Tristio Vaz in a single ship with
orders to carry their explorations as far southwards as
was possible. They met with the happiest of failures.
Driven out of their conrse by a gule, they sighted an

- island in mid-Atlantic, and from Porto
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Santo—thus named from the welcome shelter it afforded
them—Madeira revealed itself as & matter of course.
‘Fhe settlement and administration of the latter turned
attention for some time from the west coast of Africa,
and it was not until 1432 that Gil Yanes finally succecded
in passing Cape Bojador.

Year by year, littlo by little, the coast thus became
known and charted, Iitherto, as ench promontory was
rounded, some other beyond it was (eemed to be im-
passable. Now, as they approached the equator, the
old fables of the impossibility of existence beneath its
heats were retold, and this difficulty appeared more
formidable than any previ d.  Nover-
theless, the navigators pressed onwards. Expeditions
left Portugal nearly every year, and the leader of each
was able to add his quota of discovery to the work of
his predecessor. In 1446 Diniz Fernandez reached
Cape Verde, and in the following year Nuno Tristio
passed it and met his death at the hands of the natives
beyond the Gambia. Despite the early Spanish settlement
of the Canaties, and certain occasional voyages of the
Dieppe caravels, the Portuguese so thoroughly identified
themselves with the work of exploration on the African
coast that their cliims were vecognised by the Pope,
and a grant was made to the crown of Portugal of all
lands then and at any future time to be discovered which
lay between Cape Non and India.

Ilard as he had woiked in the cause, Prince Henry
was destined to ses no world-renowned exploit ox sub-
stantial benefit result from his efferts. At his death,
indeed, no one had yet reached the equator, and ten
years of moro elapsed beforo it was actually crossed.
With him perished, for the moment, the interest in
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geographical exploration which be had aroused. But it
was only for the moment, for Jotio IL proved well-nigh
as ardent an advocate and supporter of the cause as
Henry, and under his rule the Porbuguese passed through
the comparative stage of their fame as mavigators and

i to reach its culminating term in the reign of
his successor, Dom Manoel.

Joflo, although not fated to witness the conquest of
India and the mastery of the spice trade, saw two of the
four great geographical events of history, and was him-
self the instigator of one of them. The third, and
greatest lay within his grasp, but he failed to seizo the
opportunity,. When Columbus expounded his views
Defore the king’s junta of geographers they were Jaughed
at ns impossible, and he was called & boasting Italian.
But it must be remembered that Jofio sneered in good
company—for Ilenry VI, to whom Columbus also
applied, held the same opinion—and even if he were
not gifted enough to foresee the discovery of America,
be was ab least thoroughly alive to the importance of
following up the work already begun upon the coast of
Afrien. To this he twned his whole attention. More-
over, as we shall see, he had a definite plan in so doing.

The progress made was rapid enough. In 1484 Diogo
Ciio discovered the mouth of the Congo, and pushed
on till he reached a river in the neighbourhood of the
"Tropic of Capricorn. Bettlements were established upon
the Guinea Coast, and trade encouraged in many places,
but these were not the limits of Joio's aims, His com-
mercial horizon lay beyond the ivory and palm-oil of the
‘West, Coast, and held within its houndaries the spices
of the Indies. The procuring of information eoncerning
these far distant countries and their products was at
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that time no easy matter. To obtain it Jofio despatched
two trusty envoys, Pedro de Covilhio and Affonso de
Payva, to the kingdom of Prester John,

On the extended wanderings of thess two travellers
we need not dwell. There being no Prester John, and
therefore, bly, no kingdom belonging to him,
it is needless to say that they never attained their des-
tination. But they got to Abyssinia—in those days
acoounted rouch the same thing—and Covilhio was

i d to reach Gloa and
Calicut. Payva died in Cairo, and Covilhio remained a
prisoner in the hands of the Abyssinians, but he was
able on more than one occasion to send letters to his
sovereign. They contained accounts of the cities ho had
visited in India and of their tvade, together with important
information concerning the route thither, The southern
promontory of Africa, he wrote, could be rounded with-
out fear, and, once at Sofala, the course across the
Indian Ocean to the shores of Hindostan was easy. Al
this information, however, came too late. By the time
it reached Portugal the task had already been accom-
plished.

It would serve no purpose to discuss here the authen-
ticity of the doubling of the Cape of Good Hope by the
ancients. It is sufficient to say that there is a pro-
bability of such a feat having been really accomplished,
but the evidence is so brief, and the date of its supposed
occurrence 50 far distant, that the eredit attaching to
Bartholomew Diaz as the first person to perform the
exploit in modern times is in no way touched by it.
Diogo Cio’s discovery of the Congo and Angola led him
far down the coast. Indeed, as we have seen, he pene-
trated so far south as nearly to pass beyond the Tropic.
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Thence to the Cape is no great distance, and two years
later Dom Jodo sent Diaz on the expedition which
brought it to the actual knowledge of the Portuguese,
and rendered its discoverer's name imperishable. The
voyage was performed with extraordinary rapidity ; but
baving once rounded the Cape, Diaz preferred to bring
home the intelligence of his success with all speed rather
than press his oxplovations further. The furthest point
reached by him was that now known as Algoa Bay.
Yrom the violent galos cxperienced Diaz named his dis-
covery the Cape of Storms (Cabo Formentoso), but Dom
Joao vefused, for obvious reasons, to adopt his nomencla-
tore. As the finger-post of the route to Indin it was
worthy of a more auspicious title, and at his order it
became the Cape of Gaod Hope.

1t is difficult to explain why, after this suecess, no
further action should have been taken for so long a
period.  Possibly the discovery of Columbus had not a
litble to do with it, for the effect of his news was to
direct all eyes westward. Joio's reign, moreover, was
drawing to a close. Whatever ‘may have been the
cause, ten years passed ere the Cape was again sighted
by luropean ships. This time the Portuguese pushed
far beyond it, and in May, 1498, Gama anchored his
ships in Indian waters.

The Cape once rounded, the attaining of India was
found an easy matter, as Covilhio had written; and
Vasco da Gama seeured immortality upon terms s easy,
perhaps, as any ever granted, either before or since.
Gaided by the pilot who had accompanied Bartholomew
Dinz, he reached and named Natal on Christmes Day,
1497. Keeping northwards along the coast he nrvived
at Melinds. From this place—and indeed from many
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others on the east coast of Africa—a long-established
trade existed across the Indian Ocean to the Kalabar
coast, and (ama found no ditficulty in obtaining an Aral
pilot experienced in the navigation of those seas to bring
him to Calicut. At the cost of little danger and less
trouble he found himself famous. When Camoens sang
his deeds his fame became immortal.

The reign of Dom Manoel, in which the “discovery
period ” of history, as we may term it, reached its
height, was well inaugurated by Vasco da Gama’s
exploit. The results of the voyage became almost im-
mediately apparent, Gama found the tiade of the Fast
entirely in the hands of the Arahs. The produce of
Malaysia and the China seas found its way, as it does
now, through the Straits of Malacen. Upon this city
all western-directed lines of trade converged, and there
the Arabs met, ordered, and controlled it. On both sides
of the Indian Ocean alike they, and they alome, were
the merchants through whose hends the exports of the
different countries passed. Finally, everything, whether
ivory from Afriea, silis from India and Cathay, or the
Yet more coveted spices of the Malay Islands, entered
Europe by way of the Red Sea and Egypt, or—though
to a very much less dogree—hy the Persian Gulf, It
was evident from the very moment of Gama’s success that
« great struggle was impending—the struggle hetween
the Portuguese and Arabs for supremacy in the Kast,

‘We must here leave our sketch of the gradual advance
of the Portuguese upon the Eastern gate of the Pacifie.
How they reached and passed it we shall presently see.
Tn the ensuing chapters the story of the establishment
of Lnsitenian rule in the Indies is dwelt upon more
fully, for Magellan served for seven years under the
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two great Viceroys, Almeida and Albuquerque, and the
history of his life at this peviod is but the history of the
peviod itself. But before wo commence it we will pass
for a moment to the other side of the Pacific.

Hive years before Vasco da Gama’s exploit, Columbus
sailed upon his frst groat voyage, and returned as the
discoverer of the West lndies. We know with what
enthusiasm the exploration of the New World was
carried out, and how expedition after expedition sailed
in search of its riches. The track followed, however,
svas in almosb every case influenced by that of the great
admirut himself, and it was Central, not Bouth Ameries,
which hecame earliest known. Nevertheless, in those
days, when men were possessed with a hunger for ex-
ploration—or for the results of it—so fierce and insa-
tiable that to our cool nineteenth-century eyes they
appear hardly other than madmen, Brazil at least was
not likely to remain long undiscovered. Nor did it.
Vicente Yafiez Pinzon, one of the captains of Columbus
in bis first voyage, led the van, nud in 1499 carried out
an extended reconnaissance of the northern shores of
Bouth America, and viewed the coast as far south as
lat. 8°, whexe Pernambuco now stands, Hardiy three
months later mere chance led the Portuguese to nearly
the same spot. Cabral, in command of the outward-
bound Indian {lest, who had kept a more westerly course
than usual in his passage down tho Atlantic, was driven
still further towards America by stress of weather, and
woke on the morning of the 22nd February, 1500, to find
& vast, and to him unknown, continent under his lee.
The work he had in hand did not permit him properly
to explore it, and he was forced to leave his discovery
to be followed up by others,
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If we compare the time occupied in the iracing of
the coast-line of the two opposite shores of Afrien and
South America the difference is astonishing,  While
the Portuguese took innumerable expeditions and a
hundred years to double the Cape, the neighbourhood of
the Strait of Magellan was reached in less than a deeade
by the work of a bare half-dozen of explorers. We need
not enter into the consideration of Vespueci's voyages
on this coast, ing whieli mueh il ink
has been shed, but will confine oursclves to surer
ground. With the advent of the sixteenth century the
knowledge of this part of the world advanced by leaps
and bounds. Almost contemporaneously with Cabrals
accidental visit, Diego de Lepe was taking up Pinzon’s
work, and pushing still further to the sonth. But the
name of the latter, together with that of Juan de Solix,
must ever remain most linked with the history of South
Ameriean discovery. Tn 1508 these two navigators
visited the Rio Negro in lat. 41° S., working beyond
the Rio de la Plata, which was yet unvisite!. Indeed,
a great peculiarity in the mapping out of this coast was
the fact that its most distant parts became earlier known
than’ those nearer home. We shall have, later, to con-
sider the voyages of Glonzalo Coelho and Christovao
Jaques, It is sufficient herc to say that they were
undertaken in 1501 and 1503, and that they made
known to Europeans the coast of Patagonia, if not to
the Strait of Magellon itself, at least to some point at
no very grent distance from it.

So much for the approaches of the Pacific  The
existence of that ocean itself, or rather the existence of
a sea of some description upon the other side of Central
America, was known to Columbus in 1503 from the
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accounts of the natives of that region, but, as we all
know, he never reached its shores. It was the happy
fate of Vasco Nuiiez de Balboa first to view it, and,
sword in hand, to march into its waters and claim them
and the unknown lands they laved for the crown of
Castile. Ten years, however, had meanwhile intervened,
and discovery had marched with such giant strides that
the question of ownexship of the new countuies, of their
houndary lines, and other kindred matters, which for a
long time past had been exercising the minds of monarchs
and cosmographers alike, became yot more complicated.
For a peviod of nearly fifty years the two great mavitime
nations of the world were engaged not only in finding
out new lands but in squabbling over them svhen
found.

The Hispano-Portugueso difficulty, as we may term
it, was so intimately connected with Magellan's work
that an account of his life would be incomplete without
some reference to its leading features. It was histori-
eally oxpressed by four great facts: the Bull of Pope
Alexander VI. in 1493 ; the Tordesillas Agreement of
the following year; the Badnjoz Junta of 15244 and
the Cession of the Moluceas in 1529. A lengthy con-
sideration of these would be impossible here, but to
comprehend the action of Magellan and others at this
period a rough outline of the political results of the
wonderful discoveries which electiified Europe at the
beginning of the sixteenth century is necessary.

‘The firs differences between the two countries avose
in 1471 concerning the right of ownorship of the gold
mines on the const of Guinea, but they soon passed
over. The discoveries of Columbus, however, immedi-
ately renewed them. It was at once realised that vast
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possibilities lny open %o the European world—countries
of unkuown extent and riches, and of easy access, having
the additional advantage of being peopled by mild and
well-disposed natives. It was not likely that the Por-
tuguese would submit without protest to the annexation
of these by the sister power. The Pacific was unknown,
or at least only considered as a part of Ptolemy's Sinus
Magnus, and they regarded, or pretended to regard, the
Spaniards as poaching in their waters. 1t fell to the
spiritual head to settle matters. At that time Alexander
VL, the father of Cesar and Lucrezia Borgia, and a
native of Valeneia, was Pope, and his sympathies were
of course in favour of Spain. Portugal, as the greatest
maritime power of the Roman Catholic world, was never-
theless not to be ignored. Accordingly, on the 4¢h May,
1493, a Bull was promulgated which divided the world
into two halves—giving to Spain the Western Homi-
sphere, and to Portugal the Lastern, The line of de-
marcation was drawn from pole to pole, passing 100
leagues to the west of the Azores and Cape Verde
Islands.!

So far as Spain and Portugal were concerned this
arrangement was an equitable one. Roughly speaking,
the line thus drawn passed north and south through
mid-Atlantic, and gave to each Power the countries they
had been concerned in discovering. Had it remained
unaltered, the whole of America would bave fallen to
Spuin, and Malaysia, Papus, and even Australia to
Portugal. But it did not, for from the moment of its

1 ¢ Qum linea distot o gualibet insularum qua vulgariter Tuncupan
tar de los Azores et Cabo Vorde contum loucas versus Occidentem.”
This lack of exsctness concerning its position was one of tho obiof
sources of dispute at the Badsjoz Junta in 1524
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publication the latter Power remonstrated, fearing—
although at the time nothing was of course known—
that no share of the riches of the New World would
fall to her. Dom Joao IL. appealed to have the lin
shifted 300 leagues further to the west, and his appeal
was partially heard. On the gth June, 1494, was
granted the Tordesillas Capitulacion, by which the raya,
as it was termed, was fixed 370 leagues west of the
Cape Verdes—3zo leagues short of the claim of the
Portuguese monarch,

Brazil was at that time undiscovered. After Pinzon
and others had brought it to the knowledge of Europeans
the 7aya was considered to fall through the western
mouth of the Amazon in the north, while in the south
its position was supposed to be beyond the Rio de la
Plata, If we turn to the map we see that in the former
case it would be in long. 50° W., in the Iatter in 60° or
thereabouts—a difference of ten degrees or more. Sugh
uncertainty was only to be expected at that period,
when no proper means for estimating longitude existed.
The very point de départ of their reckoning was vague
to o degree. 'The Azores and Cape Verde Islands were
Presumed to be in the same meridian! By the words
of the Papal Bull, moveover, any island might be ehosen
from which to measure, so that the position of the live
—even had accurato instruments heen available—conld
by no possibility have heen fixed within several hundreds
of miles.

Up to this time it had only been the settlement of
the home line of demarcation which had preseuted any
features of interest to the contending parties. But with
Magellan’s voyage matters assumed quite a different
comploxion, The Moluceas, not the New World, now
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became the prize at which each aimed. But if the fixing
of the Atlantic line had been a matter of dispute, it may
be imagined that that of the Antipodes presented ten
times greater difficulties. When the safe arrival of the
Victoria with her cargo of cloves roused Charles V. at
once to set about the despatch of another armada to the
“ Spicery,” Dom Manoel protested. The Portuguese not
only elaimed the islands by right of discovery, for Fran-
cisco Servdo had resided there sinee the fall of Malacca,
but also asserted that they fell within their boundary—
as, indeed, we now know to be the case. The Spaniards
were no less confident of the justice of their elaim.
This time it was agreed that the matter should be settled
without the intervention of Papal authority, and even-
tually, in the spring of r5z4, the celebrated Badajoz
Junta commenced its sittings.

Each country was represented by its Jueces de Pose-
sion, Jueces de Propriedad, Advocates, Fiscals, and
Secretaries, and several of the most renowned pilots
and cartographers of the day. Juan Sebastian del Cano
was in attendance, and Ferdinand Columbus, son of the
admiral—both being Jueces de Propriedad. Sebastian
Cabot, Msteviio Gomes, who had so basely deserted in
the 8. Antonio, Nuiio Garcia, who constructed the charts
for Magellan's armada, and Diego Ribero, the great
cosmographer, were also present. The meetings were
held alternately on either side of the frontier, one day
in Badajoz, and the next in Elvas, and thus they re-
mained fox several wecks of daily wrangling—porfiando
terribilisimamente, as Gomara tells us.

We need not follow these arid discussions ab length.
After two months of squabbling the Juuta was dissolved.
While in 1494 the aim of the Portuguese had been to
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get the dividing-line placed as much as possible to the
west lest they should be shut out from the prospective
benefits of the New World, it was now their objest to
insure their inclusion of the Bloluccas, Unwilling to
give up the slice of Brazil that had fallen to them, they
were at the same time afraid that their 180 degrees
would haxdly bring them far enough castward, and that
the spice-trade would come into the hands of their
opponents. Their policy, therefore, was that of obstrue-
tion, and their ohject that no conclusion should be
arrived at. Tn this they were pavtially succossfol. At
the dissolution of the Junta the Spanish Jueces de Pro-
puiedad, taking the best globe, drew a line 370 leagues
from San Antonio, the most western island of the Cape
Verdes, and pronounced their decision upon the bridge
of Caya. The Portuguese could not, of course, hinder
them from doing this, but they refused to consent to the
adjudication. alleging that the facts were not sufficiently
established to admit of it, and departed, threatening
with death any Spaniard whom they sHould find in the
Moluceas.

In this state of uncertainty matters remained watil
the year 1 529, when an arrangewment was made between
the two sovereigns. It was facilitated by the fawmily
connection then subsisting. Charles V. had married
Doiie. Isahel, sister of Dom Jodio, while the latter in his
turn had married the emperor’s sister, Dofia Catalina.
Anxious, therefore, to get rid of all sources of dispute
between the two nations, Charles agreed to cede what he
considered his rights for the sum of 350,000 gold ducats,
and the Moluccas dingly passed into P
hands. It had been originally intended to grant a lease
only, but from some unexplained cause, no exact peviod
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was fixed, and the matter was tacitly regarded as scttled.
Tn 158 the Procuradores de Cortes besought the emperor
to recall the lease, but he refused. At this some mar-
velled and others grieved,” says an old Listorian,  but
all held theiv peace.”



CHAPTER IT.
EARLY LIFE AND INDIAN SERVICE.

Or the deeds of the great adventurers and explorers who
drew their swords for Spain and Portugal at the period
of the Renascence, the archives of those countries have a.
tolerably ample record.  The Castle of Simancas contains
a collection of d 80 28 to be well-nigh
beyond the possibility of order ; the archives of Seville ure
almost equally rich ; and beneath the dust of the shelves
of the famous Torre do Tombo in Lisbon there still
exists, despite the great earthquake, a mass of histori-
cal papers of almost equal importance with anything thut
Spain can show.  Until the end of the last century these
treasures remained alinost unknown. Now, although
much of the greatest interest is doubtless skill ineditedl,
2 number of them have been given to the world; for it
was into this Augean stable of literature that the his-
torian Mufioz adventured himself in search of material
for his Historia delnNuevo Mundo—s work hardly begun
ere ended by his death. Iis mantle fell upon Don Martin
Fernander. de Navarrete, and in 1837 was published the
Caluceivn de loa Viages, a vich fund of historical material
from which the student of Spanish conguest and explora-
tion draws his chief information.

¥n this work there is much councerning Magellan of
which eavlier historians hucl17left us in ignorance ; many

B
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documents, given in exfenso, which provide us with
the fullest information on certain periods of the ex-
pedition which has stamped him as the greatest of the
world’s explorers. But they relate almost exclusively
to the last three years of his existence. Over tho earlier
parb of his career the iniquity of oblivion blindly seat-
tereth her poppy. We know the name of the youngest
cabin-boy who sailed with him, of the humblest sailor
Defore the mast. We know how many dozen of darts
were taken upon the voyage, and the exact number of
fish-hooks provided. Bus, interesting as are even theso
minutiz, how gladly would we give our knowledge of
them, and how much more beside, for o fuller knowledge
of the man himself—some further scrap of information,
however trivial, of his youth or ehildhood! Of this
period the irony of history has left us in comparative
ignorance. 'The lapse of four centuries has bequeathed
to us n singalarly wnequal portrait of his life,—the
foregronnd startling in the clenrness of its outline—the
distance so dim and blurred as to be almost indigtin-
gnishable.

Ferniio de Magalhiies was born about the year 1480~
we do not know the precise date—ab Sabrosa, near
Chaves, in the provinee of Traz-os-Montes, one of the
wildest districts of Portugal, Separated from the tamer
seaboard province of Entre Douro e Minho by the bold
Serra do Mardio, the country presents few features of
attraction to the ordinary traveller. Its inaccessibility,
the roughness of the accommodation, and the lack of
anything of interest save a cortain gloomy grandeur in
its scenery, do not invite a visit. Norv has its elimate
anything to offer. Thero is even a proverb ancnt it,
to which, despite the general untrustworthiness of such



1480.] EARLY LIFE AND INDIAN SERVICE. 19

dicta, a certain amount of truth must be allowed, “ Nove
mezes de inverno, e tres de inferno.” Situation and
climate have been not without their effect upon the
people, who present the characteristics that a naturnl
law teaches us to look for from the co-existence of two
such factors as mountain and isolation. Obstinate,
gloomy, and as superstitious s Seandinavians, they are
also, like the Scandinavians, honest and faithful to a
Qegree, and possessed of all their determination and
power of physical endurance. The waves of innova-
tion that sweep over and change tbe face of a Pays-
bos but Jop the feet of a country such as this. The
inhabitant of the Traz-os-Montes of to-day can differ
little, if at all, from his ancestor of four hundred years
2go.
It could not be but that Magellan should inherit some
of these qualities so characteristic of the land of his birth.
It is true that he loft it in his youth, and that we hear
nothing of his return ; that his short life scems, after a
brief period of attendance at court, to have becn spent
in a swift succession of intoxicating successes with sword
and compass—a, ceaseless medley of fighting and explora-
tion, which can have left little time for home-thoughts,
and none for the strengthening of home-ties and friend-
ships. But the influence of his childhood’s surroundings
was there. Asewe follow his life step by stop, we arc
not left long in doubt as to the character of the man.
Its leading feature is what his enemics would term an
overweening confid in his own p b

without an equal. Others would name it differently.
This faults, if faults they were, were those of strength.
Tf men have been termed men of ivon, Magellan may
fairly be said to have been of steel. For him difficulties
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were mado only to be disregarded, dangers only to be
despised.  ‘Through the barriers of an impossibility
ho passed confident and unmoved. With almost every
one against him, the India House, the ambassador of the
King of Portugal. and his own friend, he started upon
his voyage. With a mutiny but half repressed and

ation imwil he pressed h till he found
his long-hoped-for straits. With his captains’ advice to
the contrary ringing in his ears, he went to his death.
The story of his life is full of sueh traits, and it is hard
not to ascribe them in some measure to the influence of
the country in which his boyhood was passed.

Othor reasons, it may be, lay in his birth ; for Magellan
was of noble family—* of the oldest in tho kingdom,”
as he himself tells us.! There wero at that period five
grades of nobility in Portugal, to the fourth of which
the family of Magalhies belonged—the “fidalgos do
cota de armas e geragio que tem insignias de nobroza’ 2
—a rank to which we have in England no equivalent.®
Of those who bore it before the great mavigator we
have no such clear accornt. Various names have been
given by Antonio de Lima and other genealogists as
those of his father and grandfather, but as they do not
agres, we are forced to reject them and to fall back upon
surer evidence. Of this there is something, though un-
fortunately far less than we desive. In a receipt for

1 Tp bis will Magellan leaves his property to his brother-in-law:
< com 2 obrigagio qne o dito meu cunhado ha de juntar ao brasio du
snas armas o do dngallZes, quo ¢ do meus avds, ¢ por ser muito dis-
tineto, e dos meliores e maip antigos do remo."

2 Do Barros Arana, Vida ¢ Viagens de F. de Magalidies, cap. i.

P
3 This coat-of-arms we know. On a fiold argent three bars cliecky,
gules and argent ; the crest an eagle, wings duplayed.
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bis salary as “imogo fidalgo” in tle king's service,!
dated June 12, 1512, Magellan describes himeolf as
“ filho de Pedro de Magalhies ;”” but this appears to be
the sum total of our certain knowledge of his forbears.
Lven of his own family we know little. e seems to
have had but one brother. We Jearn incidentally, from
the mention of their names in his wills, of the existence
of two sisters, Isabel and Thereza, who married a certain
Joio da Silva Telles, of whom we shall hear more pre-
sently. A shadowy Ginebra figures a8 o third sister,
but her existence, at all events in that relationship, is
doubtful. His own two children dying as infants, the
family of Magalhdies became extinet in his father’s line.”
The name, however, appears frequently in the old
chroniclers at the early part of the sixteenth century.
A certain Martin de_Magalhfies accompanied the navi-
gator in his great voyage, and the deeds of two brothers,
Antonio and Pero Barreto de Magalhies, who were
doubtless members of his family, ate many times re-
corded. Both served under the fist Viceroy of India,
Don Francisco d’Almeida, and both fell in battle—the
former in the noble defeat of Don Lourenzo by the
Turks under Mir Hoseyn and Malik Jaz at Chaoul, the
Intter by the side of the Viceroy bimself, when he and
sixty-five of his men perished in & skirmish with the
Kafirs of Saldanha Bay.® OF yet another, Christovio
de Magalhfies, we heat as ying Alfonso & Albu-
querque in his expedition to Ormuz ; but beyond the fact

1 Liv. de Morudias da Casa Real, vi. fol. 47, v; Navarrote, Coleccion
de los Wiages, iv. p. Ixxiil,

2 For tho gencalogy of tho family of Magalbdes see Appendix 1.,
p. 315.

3 Damiio de Goes, Chronica de Dom Manoei, 2da parte, fols, x4,
41, aud 75.
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that, together with many other of the Viceroy's captains,
he was badly wounded in an engagement with the Per-
sians ab Lara, we know nothing.!

Magellan lost his father and succeeded to the estates
when still comparatively young, for in his first will,
made at Belem before sailing for India under Almeida,
we find him bequeathing the Sabrosa property, in whicl
parish he owned the Quinta de Souta, IHe makes no
mention of the Casn da Pereira, which, from a most
curious and interesting document not long since brought
to light, we know to have also belonged to him? In
this—which is the will of Magellan’s great nephew,
Francisco da Bilva Telles—the testator inveighs in the
most vebernent terms against his ancestor, ordering that
thenceforward over his house in Sabrosa (the Case da
Pereira} no heir or descendant soever should restore the
coat-of-arms of the family, “since I desire that it should
for ever remain obliterated, as was done by order of my
lord the king, as a punishment for the cximo of Ferdi-
nand Magellan, in that he entered the service of Castile
to the injury of this kingdom, and went to discover new
hnds, \vhere he died in the disgrace of our king.”"

To d this, it is v to
Magellan, unable to obtain a xecognition of his services
at the hands of his sovereign, Dom Manoel, did what a
trind of greaf navigators—Columbus, Cibot, and Ves-
pucci—bad already deme before him, and what was at
that period by no means unusual: he left his country
and offered his sword to Charles V. These others have

1 Gaspar Corres, Lendas da India, Ed. da Acad. Real das Seiencias,
tom. i. pt. iL p. 883.

2 This document is 1 the posssssion of Dr. A. M. Alvares Peraira
de Arogho, of Villa Flor, the preseut, ropresentative of tho fawily of
Magallles.
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eseaped with hardly a word of blame, but, owing to n
combination of eircumstances which will have presently
to be considered, a quadruple ohloguy appears to have
fallen upon Magellan. ‘The resuls we have partly seen,
The King of Portugal, furious ab the rise of Spanish
influence in the Moluccas, commanded that the arms of
Magellan should bo erased from the gateway of his house.
The effect of an order such as this in a remote village
like Sabrosa may be imagined, and we can understand,
even though we may not be able to forgive, the animus
of Magellan’s heir. 'We know that no man is a prophet
in his own country. His fellow-townsmen forgot his
years of faithful servico in the Hast; forgot the coldness
of his king ; forgot that the glorious exploit in whigh he
met his death made him one of the world’s greatost men,
and remembered him only as a renegnde, whose heirs
nand their belongings were to be treated as they would
have treated him. Every sort of insult was offered to
Francisco da Silva; his namo was execrated, and stones
were thrown at him in the streets. Ultimately he was
compelled to leave the country, and it was in the far-off
province of Maranham, in Brazil, that he dictated the
will to which allusion has just besn made.

The house, deserted by its owners, fell eventually to
ruin. The family vemained for long expatriated. It
was not until much later —towards the eni of the seven-
teenth century, in fact-—that any of its members resumed
the name. About that time Jon Pedro II. gave the
title of Visconde de Fonte Arcada to a certain Pedro
Jaques de Magalhaes. But the family appear never to
bave returned to Subrosa. The old house, or rather its
ruing, passed into other hands. A modern building has
taken its place, constructed in part from the stones of
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the older mansion. One of these was that bearing the
coat-of-arms “ rasadas por ordem de Bl Ry Torn from
its place over the doorway, it now occupies an ignoble
position at the cornex of the house.

Of Sabrosa and its belongings little moro need be
said. Upon Magellan's actual life there history is
silent. We can picture him amid his native moun-
tains, riding the horses for which the distriet is still so
famous, and hunting the game with which its woods
abound. We feel that in some such way his youth
must have been spent, in active and vigorous cxercises
such as these, for, as we shall see, action and vigour
swere the two most marked featurcs of his temperament.
But however probable tho assumption, it will never
pass within the domain of proof, for even Correa—most
diffuse and garrulous of historians—treats us to no
deteils of this period of his life.

Neither student nor courtier by nature, it was never-
tholess Magellan’s fate to become both in the course of
his carcer. From the wilds of the Trazos-Montes he
was early transplanted to the capital. As in other
courts, 50 in that of Portugal it was the custom af that
period for the heirs of noble families to receive their
education under the eye of their sovereign, their studies
directed by him, and their successes rewarded by his
approval.  “(Cyiose Magallanes en seruicio de la Reyna
dofia Leonor,” Argensoln briefly tells us;! and from
the Anales de Aragon of Curita we learn that he was
brought up as one of the pages of this queen, the widow
of D. Jofio IL, “ the Pexfect.”

He did not long retain the post. In r495 the King
Dom Manoe], first of the House of Vizeu, came to the

1 Argensols, Conquirta de las Motucas, liv. 1. p. 6.
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throne, and young Ferdinand Magelian passed into his
service. In the whole course of the history of Portugal,
10 one—alone excepting Prince Honry the Navigator
—lad more to do with the foundation of her mari-
time power and the extension of her dominion than
this king. Iis idée mére was to establish Portuguese
influence i the East. In the half century immediately
preceding, the aim and object of Prince Henry’s work
had to some extent been lost sight of. Lxploration had
indeed been going on, but in a more desultory manner.
Bartholomew Disz, it is true, had doubled the Cupe of
Good Hope, but eight long years had already elapsed
when Dom Manoel came to the throne, and no action
liad as yet followed upon that event. Dom Jofo 11, a
great geographer, a princo of tho widest views upon the
foreign policy of Portugal, and one of the most intel-
Jectual of her rulers, was, however, less & man of action
than Dom Manoel, With the advent of the latter the
haif-awakened energies of the Portuguese leapt suddenly
into life, and within the short space of two decades the
nation had reached the zenith of its glory, and had
become the greatest maritime power of Kurope.

Even at the present day, habituated a8 we are to the
rapid march of events, and with the remembrance of the
presto-like unfolding of the secrets of an almost unknown
continent fresh in our memory, we find it hard to grasp
the sudd of this develop of the P
dominion ; still harder, perhaps, to realiso the bound-
less enthusiasm which it must have ereated. Tet us
turn for a moment to the consideration of actual facts—
to a list of the expeditions despatched about this period
from the shoxes of the mother country. Vasco di Gama,
passing the Cape ten years after Bartholomew Diaz,
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had brought Indiu from the shadowy regions of romance
into those of vivid reality, and the Peninsula was ring-
ing with his fame, Cabral, sailing for India in 1500,
had discovered Brazil, and Gaspar Cortereal, almost at
the same time, was coasting Lahrador. In the follow-
ing year the fleet of Jofio da Nova discovered St. 1lelena,
and in 1502 the second expedition of Vasco da Gama
Ieft the Tagus for India, combined with the flect of
Vicente Sodre. Two months later a second Indian
expedition was despatched under Estevio da Gama, and
when the season was sufficiently advanced, ships wero
sent to the *Terra de Bacalhaos” and Labradoer to
carry on the work of exploration, and to search for the
missing Cortereals. In 1503 Alfonso and Francisco
d'Albuquerque captained wnother armads for the East,
and Gonzalo Coelho ventured far southwarls along the
unknown coasts of South America, From year to year
this activity increased rather than diminished, and in
1504 mo less than three great expeditions were de-
spatched ; an armada of thirteen ships proceeded to
India under Lopo Soarez d'Alvarenga; Don Joio de
Moneses headed an expedition against the Moors of
Lavache; and Antonio de Saldanha left the kingdom
2 few weeks later with another Indian fleet.

Such, in a few words, is the bave list of expeditions
which must have been fitted out and despatched pnder
tho very eyes of Magellan at the most impressionable
period of his life. Of their coming and going, of their
many victories and rare defeats, of their successful ven-
ture or disastrgus loss, how much he must Lave heard !
The whole country was seething with excitement. ‘The
new worlds, alike of the Kast and of the West, held out
a brilliant picture of infinite possibilities to the humblest
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in rank. The dockyards rang with the sound of aze
and hammer, and the ships were barely lannched ere
they sailed for the lands that were to bring riches and
distinction to every one—to every one, at least, who lived.
One had but to be equipped with youth, and health, and
ambition, Men left their country in shoals, careless
of danger, heedless of death-rates, mindfal only of the
possible glory that awaited them. We can imagine the
effect that expeviences such as these must have had upon
one 50 adventurous as Magellan. At such a time, when
all around him were up and doing, it was impossible
that he should remain  mere spectator. Tle did not
hesitate for long. Applying to his sovereign for leave
of absence, he bade adieu to court life, and et the end of
1504 enlisted as & volunteer in the great armada of Dom
Francisco d’Almeida, at that time preparing to sail for
India.

Almeida’s flect was the largest that had litherto set
out for that promised land.  Successful as other expedi-
tions had been upon the whole, they had from time to
time met with such difficulties and opposition as had
served to warn Dom Manoel that a stronger hand would
be advisable, and that the time had come for the nppoint-
ment of o resident official who should hold the reins of
government. The distance of the mother country from
her Eastern possessions was indeed so great and the
latter so seattered, that this had become an impera-
tive necessity. The King’s choice fell npon Francisco
d’Almeida,! son of the first Conde d’Abrantes, and it would

1 Dom Manoel had at first solected Tristan da Cunha for the post,
but owing to his having becomo suddenly afflictod with complete blind-
ncss, ho was unablo to accept it. Castanhed, Historws do Descobri-
mento ¢ Conquista da India pelos Portugueses, liv. ii, chap. 1 ; and
Correa, op. cit., tom. 3. pt. i, cap. i.
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have been hardly possible to make a better selection.
To him, as first Vieeroy of India, feli the task—Hercu-
lean in difficulty—of organising and ruling countries
and peoples as yet almost unkmown to their conquerors,
and nobly he fulfilled it. Ilis name—extinguished by
the greater glory claimed for his successor, Albuguerquo
—is unfamiliar to many of us, but few, if any, have left
the East with cleaner hands and a record more unsullied
than Almeida, *Much did they love him,” says Correa,
“as being one blameless in his actions . . . a man
without a shadow of deceit.”! Snch a man naturally
attracted to hin persons of like qualities, and his ships
were not long in being manned. From all parts of the
kingdom there flocked to him “ many fidalgos and cava-
liers, and people of distinction,” says Correa—* many
gallant men and cavaliers experienced in war,” another
writer tells us, Magellan could flot well have begun
his Indian experiences under better auspices or with
better comrades.

The preparations made for Dem Franeisco’s fleet in
the way of stores and outfit were in keeping with the
importance of the expedition. Never before had things
been done upona larger scale. Of the exact number of
ships of whicli the armada itself consisted, the historians

1 4 Muyto amaugo o Visorey, por ser homem muy porfeito on suas
e R Tt e e 9

sem nenhum cngano, e quo muyto extimana e louvaua os seruigos dos
homens ; homerm manso, prudente, e muytosczudo, 6 de bom saber con
que governaua India”—Correa, op. cit., vol. i. p. 790. Nor is Pedro
de Mariz less laudator, Era D. Franeisco homem do graue & honrada.
Prosensa, bom cavalleyro, & muyto prudente & sagaz, em quanto andou
na India, onde ha materia de muytos vicjos, foy castissima, nunqua
The ninguem sentio cobiga, senso de honra,”—Pedro de Mariz, Dia-
logos de veria Historia, Gial. iv. chap, xxv.
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of the period have left us in doubt.! There were, how-
ever, at least twenty. Correa speaks of them as eight
large ships (naos) for eargo, six of smaller size (nauetas),
and six caravels; and in addition wood was carried—
already shaped into the necessary planks and beams—
for two galleys and a “bargantym,” which were to be
constructed on the arrival of the fleet in Indin. They
bore fifbeen hundred men-at-arms, two hundred bom-
bardiers, and four hundred seamen as supernumeraries
for Indian commissions. Artisans of almost every kind
were taken, and among them many carpenters, rope-
mekers, and blacksmiths, The artiilery and ammuni-
tion were “ em muyte abastanza "—in great plenty—as
indecd might be expected, for Vaseo da Gama, in virtue
of his new appointment as Admiral of India, gave to
them his especial supervision. The daily presence of
the King stimulated the labours of his subjects. The
preparations advanced with great rapidity, and almost
bofore the winter was over the ships were ready for
sea.

In those days the departure upon an expedition such
as this was looked upon as a sericus matter. The most
limited acquaintance with the histerians of that date
leaves no cause for wonder upon the subject. Sword and
fever on land, and scurvy and shipwreck at sea thinned
the ranks in a manner that was positively appalling. 1t
would be interesting to know the usual percentage of
survivors in these armadas, In some cases we do know
it—in the final voyage of Magelian, for example, when

1 * 4 armada que foy do quinzo baos e seis carauolas, "~ Custankeda,
i §i. cap. i. ““Dezarols nuos, & seis caranellas."—Damifio do Goas,
Chronica de Dom Manoel, 2da parte, fol, 1. Osorius is silent upon
the subject, and Correa gives twenty as the number.
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we find thet for every man who returned, six, or nearly
six, perished. And so we scarcely wonder at the solem-
nities which custom demanded of those who took part in
them—at the special confession and mass, at which
attendance was enjoined. On this present occasion the
ceremony was invested with a more than ordinary inte-
rest, for the standard of the Viceroy of India, after
having been blessed by the bishop, was ta be formally
presented to Almeida by the King. Correa relates the
function at some length, in words quaint and bald enough
oven for the days in which he wrote, but quite a8 power-
fully deseviptive, perbaps, as those from some more florid
pen.  We have little difficulty in realising the scene: —
the cathedral, filled almost to the doors with the mem-
hers of the expedition alone; the king-at-arms “elad in
his rich habit,” holding above Dom Manoel the * royal
flag of white damask with Christ’s eross in erimson satin
bordered with gold;” Almeida kneeling at the King's
feet and receiving it into his solemn care and keeping ;
his silent prayer before the high altar with the standard
in his hand; and finally, the loud-voiced proclamation
by the herald, “Dom Francisco d’Almeida, Governar,
Viceroy of Indh for our lord the King.” ! Tpon a mind
like that of Magellan, in which religion had {aken deep
root, the scene must liave made a strong impression, not
less from the fact that it was the last day he was destined
10 spend upon his native soil for some time to come—
for seven long years it actually proved.

Things temporal were nevertheless not entirely ex-
eluded from Magellan’s mind by the pomp and cere-
monial of religion, and before leaving Portugal he
executed the will to which allusion bas already been

3 Correa, op. 6it., vol. i pb. ii. p. 532 et seq.
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made. In it he makes his sister, Dofia Thereza, wife
of Joio da Silva Telles, his sole heir, with instructions
for the saying of bwelve masses yearly at his altar of
Our Lord Jesus in the Church of Santo Salvader ab
Sabrosa. He speaks of the “pouquidade dos bens que
tenho "—of the smallness of his property—but there
is little else of interest in the document save at the
beginning, where he desires that his funeral *shall be
conducted as that of an ordinary sailor, giving to the
chaplain of the ship my clothes and arms to say three
requiem masses.”

The blessing of the flag over, the fieet dropped down
the river {0 Belem, and anchored off the church for
which it. was then, as now, so famous—a building in-

parabl d with the ies of the great
Portuguese explorers. Here, in the days of Prince
Henry the Navigator, and erected by him, stood a little
chapel, much favoured by sailors, in which—only eight
years before—Vasco du Gama had prayed for his success
ere starting on his memorable voyage. Now the pile of
florid Gothic, built in gratitude therefor, hiad usurped
its place, white and new from the builder's hands, the
Iast monument upon which the sailor’s eye would rest on
Jeaving his native land. Within it the bones of Gama,
of (amoens who sang his snccesses, and of Dom Manoet
who inspired them, were destined ultimately to rest.
It was an ideal spot for the start ef such an expedition.
Next day—the 25th March 1505—the final departure
took place. The King came down in state from the
city and went on board the Viceroy's ship; anchors
were then weighed and the whole fleet, proceeded slowly
towards the bar, the King accompanying them, “going

! Sco Appendix I.
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from ship to ship and speaking to the captains, taking
leave of them and wishing them a prosperous voyage.”1

Clearing the mouth of the Tagus, the fleet procecded
southwards and tonched at Port Dale on the Guinea
Coast, where they took water and lay at anchor mine
days. Here the Viceroy, finding that some of the ships
were much more speedy than the others, divided the
fleet into two squadrons. They crossed the line the 2gth
April,? and continuing  their voyage, possed the Cape as
far south as lat, 40° 8., where they encountered severe
weather and underwent great hardships® On the 2oth
June, Almeida, estimating that they had cleared the
meridian of the Cape, shaped lis course northward.!
They had alteady met with one misfortune, for the ship
of Pero Ferveira had foundered in the squatorial calms,
and now, on reaching the Indian Ocean, Lopo Sanchez

1 Castanheds, op. cit., lib. ii. cap. 7, relates sn amusing incident
that took place at tho moment of departuro, which is at thesame
time interesting as posibly marking the dato of tho introduction of
the worde larboaxd (bombordo) and starboand (estribordo) inte the
Portuguoso navy. It appears that on weighing anchor, and on tho
pilots giving their orders larboard or starbozrd to the helmsmen, the
Intter were ‘“greatly cmbarrassed in their minds, as not bewng a3 yot
learned in sueh expressions,” and in consequenco got into difficulties
owing to the number of eraft sround them, Upon which Jodo Homenm,
captain of one of the caravels, ““ordered the pilot that he should
spoak to the sailors in & language tiat they could understand, and
that when he wished to steer starboard, ho should say ‘garlic,’ and
when to larboard, “onions,’ and on either side (of the helm) Lo ordered
a string of theso things to be hung.”

2 Dariio de Goos, op. cit., adw parto, eap. ii. fol. 3; but Castan.
heda gives tho zoth of April ns the date.

* Osons, De Rebus Emmanuelis Geslss, lib, iv, fol. 136 v.: Facisbat
donsa caligo, ot imbres immodici, ot nives immen:®, qum nostris
intolerands frigoribus grouissimam molestiam exhibebant. >

+ In the account given by Castanheda the fleet are said to have gono
tolat. 44° S (** passando alamar céto & setenta & onco legons”), and to
have pasecd the moridian of the Cape on the 26th Juno, Lib. ii. cap. . . 5.

¢
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was forced to run his vessel ashore, after having in vain
tricd to overcome a leak, The survivors, although many
perished on the wa, eventually reached Mozambitue in
safoty, where thoy were picked up by their countrymen.

Before leaving Portugal, the fullest instructions had
been given as to the disposal and action of the fleet;
instructions which show how gigantic was the scale upon
which the subjugation of India and Enstern Africa had
been planned.  Arriving at Sofala, a fovtress was to be
erected and garrisoned ; and this done, the fleet was to
sail for Quiloa without loss of time. llere the same
steps were to b taken, but, in addition, two ships—a
caravel and a “bargantym ”—were to remain, in order
to patrol the coast north and south of the port. Pro-
ceeding then to the farther shores of the Indian Ocean,
tho Viceroy was instructed to build a strong fortress upon
the island of Anchediva. The two galleys—the timbers
of which had been brought in the flect—were to be put
together here, and two caravels were appointed to patrol
the coast around the station, which was regarded as
of greal importance. lience they wers to pass south-
wards along the coast to Cochim, seeking for ships of tho
King of Calicut, “ with whom the King for ever waged
bitter war ;” and visiting Coulfio, were by every means
in their power to obtain leave to make a fortified settle-
ment in that city. Finally, after the despatch of the
annual } I-bound fleet, an expedilion was fo be
sent to the kingdom of Ormuz and the mouth of the
Red Sea, to seek a site for a fortress which should act
in some degreo as a check upon the stream of Arab
trade, which at that time bore not only the gold aud
silks of 1lindostan but the spices of the Farther Kast to
Mecea and the * Sultan of Babylonia.”
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Such were the orders under which Almeida sailed.
If e reflect that less than six years previously India
was a fe17a incognita, and the Cape only known by the
ferceness of its stovms, they appear mavvellous in their
comprehensiveness. We see, too, how wise was the
policy that dictated them. Short as was Dom Manoel’s
acquaintance with the new world into which he adven-
tured himself so boldly, it would seem that he had made
himself master of the situation almost at a glance. The
traffic of the East was to pour into Burope through the
gates of the Lisbon Aifandega, and in order that this
object might be attained, it was necessary that the first
blow should be struck at Arab influence  Gama, in
the course of his memorable voyage, had found these
“Mouros” in every city, and had not noted their riches
and the extent of their influence in vain. The more
important of the native monavchs, therefore, were to bo
conciliated with the special view of obtaining leave to
build strong fortresses, which, connected by cruising
bavgantyms and caravels, should form a chain of nuclei
of Portuguese influence. The “Mouros,” when too
strong, were o be temporised with ; but, for the most
part, the “étetor, que je m'y mette” policy was that
adopted.  From the very beginning Dom Manoel révog-
nised the enormous importance of mastering the en-
trance and the exits of the Indian Ocean. It was reserved
for Albuguerque to conquer Malacea, but Almeida was
charged to reduce Ormuz and gain possession of the
strongholds round the Straits of Bab-cl-Mandeb swithout
loss of time. It was the oubgoing streams of traffic that
first demanded attention,

Upon the deeds of the Vieeroy and his captains at
this period we can only touch lightly, So rapid was the
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succession of events, and so packed with incident the
history of his administration, that volumes, not pages,
would be necessary torecord them. It is not often that
we hear of Magellan. Amid so large a company of dis-
tinguished men, of “fidnlgos o cavalleiros experimen?
tados na guerra,” of whom many had already served
under Gama, it could hardly be otherwise. His post
could only have Leen a subordinate one, and we do not
even know in which ship he sailed. But that he made
the best use of his opportunities is evident from the fact
that he eventually became a most expert navigator.}
Later, when his name appears more frequently in the
pages of the historiuns of that opoch, it i generally

in ion with some disti d act of

bravery.
On the 22nd July the ships anived off the bar of
Quiloa, They were received badly, and the king declin-
ing to meot the Viceroy, the latter landed lis forces and
stormed the city, which was taken without the loss of
a single Portuguese. No time was wasted, and the
construction of the fort was begun upon the following
day, the Viceroy himself personally aiding. On the 8th
August,? a large garrison baving been left to completo
the work, and the tightful king, Mohammed Anconi,
restored to his throne, the fleet started for Mombaza.
‘The city of Mombaza was one of the most important
on the cosst of Africa; it carried on a large trade with
the interior, and was strongly fortified. Such a nut
\was no easy one ta crack. The exouse for the attempt,

2 “Tinba wuyto saber n'arte de Bauogacao, 6 espirito quo so langou
a ysso.”—Correa, ii. pt.i. p. 28.

* Mianool do Faria y Sovsa, Asia Portuguesa, vol . k. i. cap. 8
Corren, yol. i. pt. ii. cup. 2, tells us thut the flect loft on the x3th.
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however, was not long wanting, for the ships were fired
upon as they arrived. Two days later the city was
stormed, and the Moors, although numbering ten thou-
sand men, were overpowered by the superior skill and
courage of their enemics. The fighting was severe, and
the Portugaess had o very large mumber of wounded.
Dom Lourengo, the only son of the Viceroy, first made
hinself famons at the assault. Ilis great strength and
extraordinary courage combined to make him almost
wworshipped by the men he led. Short ag was hig career,
for he died in battle only two years later, his name
became even more renowned throughout the East than
did, later, that of Albuquerque ; and there is little douht
that the Portuguese owed their suecess in many cases to
his personal influence and to their enemies’ belief in his
invincibility. After the full of the city the king formally
tendered his submission, agreeing to pay a yearly tribute
of 10,000 serafins, and a column of white marble was
erected by the Viceroy to commemorate the event.!
Victors and vanquished became firm friends, and the
king, “for the great love he bore Dom Lourengo,” pre-
sented him with a valuable sword and a collar of pearls,
worth 30,000 eruzados, upon his departure,

Tt was the Viceroy's wish to visit both Melinde and
Magadoxo, but the season heing now so far advanced,

! Tho custom of setting up a oross or a column in tho countries
vitited or conquered was early adopted by the Portuguese, * Porquo
mandou El REy o Visorey que em todas a5 torras que conquistasse, o
metesse 6 sun obedioncia, puicso huma eoluma pera lembranga e
sinal que ero de sua conquista.”—Corren, ap. cit.. ¥ol. i. P ii. P. 559,
Thoy hod always been of wood, but in the early part of his reign
Dom Joso 1. gavo orders that they should be eonstructed of stone,
and the first was crected at tho mouth of tho Congo in tho year 1484,
Faria y Souss, Aséa Portugucza, ol. i. pt. i cap. 3.
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the pilots were strongly opposed to such a step. The
plan was accordingly relinguished, and the fleet shaped
its course across the Indian Ocean to the island of Anehe-
diva, whither they anived on the 13th September. Tho
fame of their successes had preceded them, and the’
Viceroy found letters from the iing of Cananor in-
forming him that there were 20,0co quintals of spice
in his port ready for the homeward-bound ships, and
thab three rich Mecca galleous were daily expected in
Calicut.  Alneida began work, as usual, without the
loss of a moment’s time. ‘The very next day after his
areival, the construetion of the fortress was commenced ;
ships were sent off to eruise in search of the Mecca
squadron ; the keels of & galleonand two  bargantyms”
were lnid down, and letters were sent to Cananr, Cocliim,
and Coulfo to make known the Viceroy's advent. In
twenty days the fortress was completed. The loot taken
at Mombaza was sold by publie auction, and the money
lianded to the treasurer of the flect.

he King of Onor, a province lying about thirty miles
to tho sonth, had slready made a troaty of peace with
the Viceroy. 1Its duration was, however, of 10 great
length, for being unwise enough to send an insolent
message in reply to a request made to him by the
Viceroy, the latter at once brought his fleet against liim,
and entering the viver on the 16th October, burnt his
ships and took the town with a readiness which soon
brought the monarch to Lis senses. Do Lonrengo took
his wonted place at the head of the storiming pacty, but
Lie had little opportunity of displaying his prowess, for
the enemy yielded almost without striking a blow, and
the Portugucse lost only one man in the assault. The
king, whose sin had been that of cnpidity rather than
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an open defiance of the Viceroy, made a most amplo
submission, and the latter behaved so generously to his
adversary, that all former differences were forgotten in
the friendship thus hegun.

The rapidity of Almeida’s movements, although char-
acteristic of the man himself, owned at the same time
another cause. The winter was fast approaching, and
with it the north-east monsoon, whose favouring gales
were to waft the ome-returning flect upon their voyage.
But as yet the Viceroy had not reached Cananor, still
less Cochitm, where he was to assume the reins of govern-
ment. There was, therefore, no time for delay at Onor,
and leaving this port as soon as possible, the fleet pro-
ceeded sonthwards to Cananor and came to anchor off
the town on the 2znd October. The Portuguese had been
upon the most friendly terms with the king of this
country since the time of Gama’s first visit, and the
Viceroy’s arvival was welcomed with the greatest enthu-
siosm. The armada entered  gay with flags and stan-
dards, discharging salvos of artillery, the larger vessels
remaining outside, but those of lesser draught anehoring
in the bay, the galleys and the bargantym rowing—a
sight that many people came to see, for in India they
had not as yet seen galleys, the which arc rowed with a
great precision in the stroke,” !

The usual visits of ceremeny having been paid, Almeida,
who had hitherto called himself Governor, assumed the
full rank and title of Viceroy. Next day he received an
embassy from the powerful King of Narsinga, who was
desirous of making a treaty with him. Learning from
the resident Portuguese factor that nothing could be
done in Cananor without s fortress —for the Arab

1 Corres, op. cit., i. ph, 2, cap. vi, p. s8o.
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merchants of the city had become grently ineensed with
the growing influence of the new-comers, and had already
plotted to kill the king—he sought leave to consbract
one. Ii was at once gramted to him, and in five days,
with the assistance of the natives, the erection of its
walls, together with bastions to earry cannon, were com-
pleted. A day ov two later it received its namo—the
Fort Suint Angelo—and Lourengo de Brito, with a gar-
rison of 150 men, entered into possession.!

Delaying o bare five days ab Cananor—where two
caravels were leit to guard tho const—the fleet of
Almeida, now much reduced in numbers, at length
arrived at Cochim. Of the meeting between King
Nambeadora. and the Viceroy Correa gives us a long
acoount —the “ king on his elephant with its trappings,
and much people, the which the Viceroy left the fort
to receive, accompanied by all his men, and before him
bis guard with trumpets and kettledrums, his captains
dressed very gaily, the Viceroy himself clad in a coat of
red sabin, with a narrow black sash worked with gold,
black buskins, a round cap, and an open black damask
cassock, which formed a train, as was then the custom.”2
Almeida next day publicly crowned the king with the
greatest display of ceremonial that lay within his power.
With the neighbouring states in a condition of hostility,
overt or covert, it was of the ubmost importance to lose
no chance of strengthening the bonds of alliance with
s0 powerful a prince. Almost ab this moment, indeed,
news arrived of the rising of the Moors at Couldo—a

1 Damiso do Goes, op. eit., 2da parte, cap, vii fol. 12 v, ; but Corron
gives a sery different account, stating that only o diteh and palisade
were mads, snd this almost surroptitiously, *' isto fisesso deuager por

milhor dissimulacge,”
% Gorren, op. ¢it., i, ph. il cap. 10, p. 606,
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port same sixty miles farther south—and the murder of
the Portugueso garrison, an ach which the Viceroy was
not the man to leave long unpunished. The duty de-
volved upon Dom Lourenco, and he performed it with
his usual quickness and success. In two or three days
he reburned o Cochim, having burnt twenty-seven ships
and killed numbers of the enemy without the loss of a
single man,

Meanwhile tho Viceroy was busy with the despatch
of the homeward-bound squadron under Fernio Soarez.
Having loaded all the pepper and spices in the Cochim
factories, the ships proceaded to Cananor, and took the
remainder of their cargo from that port, which they
left on the 2nd January, 1506, taking with them only
sufficient men for the navigation of the vessels ; for, with
the daily losses by fighting and disease, and the scat-
tored disposition of their fovees, every sword was of
importance. The voyage was noteworthy from the fact
that the eastern coast of Madagasear was discovered for
the first time. *They arrived,” says Goes, “ofl a land
which not one of the pilots had ever seen before, . . .
and having sailed in sight of i for seventeen days, they
cleared it on the 18th February—the which, although at
thab time it was not known, they found afteuwards to be
an islnd which the old cosmographers call Madagnsear,
and the Moors the Xsland of the Moon.”! The ships
arrived safely in Lisbon on the 23vd May, 1506.

With the departure of the homeward-bound fleet, and
the reduction of Couldo, the Viceroy doubtless looked
forwand to « move peaceful period in which to consider
the many political ions that y 2 th
for solution. He was not destmed to enjoy it either

1 Damiso de Gocs, op. ci., 2dn parte, fols. 13 7, 14.
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then or indeed at any future time, for at the very
moment when he least expected it, a danger greater than
any hitherto encountered menaced the Portugnese power
in India. The advent of the Viceroy’s fleet, the uniform
success that had attended him in Africa, and the almost
superhwman strength and courage with which Dom
Lourengo was credited, had filled both the Moors and
the Zumorim of Calicut with consternation. It was
felt that if action was to be tuken at all, it should be
taken then, The liomeward fleet had started, the Por-
tuguese were considerably rednced in numbers, and no
reinforcements were possible Lefore the onset of the
south-west monsoon. If a decisive blow could only be
struck, if the fleet of the hated infidels could once be fairly
annihilated, it might put an end fov ever to their power
in india. Ttwas at all events worth tiying. The Arabs
saw ruin staring them in the face. and neither their
creed nor their feelings inelined them to tame submission.

The Zamorim of Calicut accordingly summoned a
meeting of all the leading Moors. Opinion was divided
as to the course to be puvsned. Some, recognising the
formidable strength of the enemy, and mindful of the
almost uninterrupted series of successes they had ob-
tained, counselled alliance with the King of Portugal.
They were overruled. It was felt that the time for this
had passed, and that no alternative now lay before them
but to eross swords. It was resolved, therefore, that &
great armada should be equipped, which should attempt
the conquest of Cochim itself, the very stronghold and
seat of government of their enemies. Measures were
accordingly taken to inform the Moors at every port of
the plot and to request their aid. The vessels thus
raised were to collect in Calicut.
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Buch a design could not long remain concealed. Dom
Lourengo, being in Cananor, was visited by a man in the
habit of a Moor, who, on being granted a private inter-
view, revealed himself as an Italian, one Ludovico Var-
tema, & great travellr—¢qui studio orbis terrarum
cognoseendi multas regiones peragravit,” as Osorius tells
ws.!  This man had escaped from Calicu, and hastened
to bring the news of the preparation of the armada.
TUnexpected and harassing as it was, Dom Lourengo did
not lose heart. Desvatching Vartema without loss of
time to the Viceroy, who was then at Cochim, he set
about the organisation of his own forces. The orders
sent back by the Viceroy were not other than he had
expected ; that he was to fight  for the Catholic faith
and for his honour, and bear himself as a Christian and
his son.””

The battle that ensued was one of the most celebrated
of the many fought by the Portuguess in India. The
avmada, which was composed of 209 vessels—84 being

1 Qsoriug, op. cit., lib. iv. fol. 1gov. Luigi di Vartema (Luis
Vuartman or Barthema, or Luis Patricio, as he is variously called) was
& Roman who loft Europe in 1502 to wander for many years in tho
Bost. His travels were published in 510 in Italian, and were after-
wards given to tho world by Rawusio in bis Navigation: ct ¥iagyi.
In them Lie spenks at some length of the incidents here narrated
{edit. of Venico, 1613, fol. 170 ¢t scg.). Both the traveller znd his
narrativo, howover, are interesting on othor grounds. I¢ is to him
that we owe the first description of Borneo, and he also visited the
Moluceaa. Thero is overy probability that the Portugnese at this
timo obtained from kam the information which led Albuguerque fire
yeare latdr to despateh Abreu's expodtion—in which Magellan is sup-
poed to have sailed—to theso islands, Vartema was knighted by
Almeidn after tho fight at Galiout, and returned to Portugal m tho
fleet of Tristio de Cunba, FHe arrived ot Lisbon in July, 1508, and
Tecuiving confirmation of his knighthood from Dom Mancol, returned
to Roma. Damido de Gocs, op. vit., ada parte, cap. Txiv. fol. 4x v.
Bamusio, Navigationi, fol. 173
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ships and the rest large praus—encountered Dom Lou-
rengo’s valiant little fleet on the 16th Blarch, 1506, a
short distance to the north of Cananor. “1If seemed,”
says Vartema,  like some huge forest, from the great
mastg of the ships’’ But so little did Dom Lourengo
fear the result, that he permitted his adversaries to pass
until they were off Cananor—* per mostrarli quantoera
Vanimo de’ Christiani.” It was not until they were
within a bombard-shot of the town that he commenced
the engagement.
Against such an overwhelming force the P

could bring only eleven ships.! They were manned, how-
ever, by men as brave as they were experienced,—all
distinguished men, educated at the King’s court—very
noble men,” Correa tells vs. And very nobly indeed did
they bear themselves. * I‘or really, to say the truth, T
bave been in 1any a fight in my day, and seen many a
fierce encounter,” says Vartema, *but never have I seen
braver men than these Portuguese.”? They had need
of their courage, for they wero bub eight bundred fight-
ing men against some thousands. The grest ship of
Rodrigo Rebello, in which sailed Dom Lourengo and the
flower of his men, led the van, and turning neither to
the right nor left, made straight for the enemy’s flag-
ship. Three times did she grapple with her, and thres
times were her greppling-irons cast off. At length their
attempts were successful, and the Portuguese sprang on

1 Cateanheds, Osorius, Do (ioss, and Vartema (who was himself pro-
sent at tho engagement) all state that. the number of 1%, Lourengo's
faxeo was only cloven «hips, but Correa gives it as bwenty-sight. The
accounts of tho affarr are in other ways difforently given by the old
historians ; but that of Vartema, 88 being an eye-witnoss, has been
chiefly followed in the present narmative.

2 Itineraa io di Indovico Barthena, 1D, v, cap. xxxvii.
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board, headed by their beloved chief, who “fought with
his little halberd.” The result was for the moment
doubtful, for they found themselves engaged with six
bundred of the enemy. It was not for long. Lourenco’s
valour bore cverything before it, and cre many minutes
had elapsed, every man of the six hundred had been
killed or driven into the sea.

Meanwhile the others had not been idle. Jodo Serriio,
brother to the Francisco Serriio who afterwards hecame
the great friend of Magellan, was fighting as lie never
fought before, his ship attacked by more than fifty praus,
from which he eventually shook bitself free, though at
the price of having almost all his men wounded. Simon
Martius, the most daring of the Viceroy's captains, was
in an even more desperate case, his low sloop being
surrounded by four much larger vessels, who poured in
a galling fire, until the Portugueso—their men all dead
or wounded, and all their powder expended—iere com-
pelled to take refuge below deck. The Moors boarded,
thinking she had struck, but they were quickly unde-
ceived, for the captain, waking « sally at the head of
the survivors, cut down seven of them with his own
hand, and the remainder were quickly driven overboard,

While these two desperate struggles wezp continui
Dom Lourengo had laid his ship alongside a second
antagonist. She proved to be a heavier craft than his
first prize, and carried over fifteen bundred men. Their
very number was probably ageinst them, and Nuiio Vaz
Pereira boarding at the same time on the other side of
the ship, the Moors found themselves between tivo fives,
and were very soon overpowered. The enemy perceiving
their two largest vessels taken, and many others either
disabled or sunk, resolved on flight. The delight of the
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Portuguese was unbounded, for the victory, however
much anticipated, was by no means safely within their
grasp.  “God be praised,” exclaimed Dom Lourengo;
“let, us foliow up our victory over these dogs;” and the
order was ab once given. A scene of the most frightful
slaughter ensued. Quarter was neithcr given nor asked.
The sea was dyed with blood, and the bodies washed
ashore next day ““formed as it were a hedge” upon the
beach. More than 3600 of them wers counted.

Upon the Portuguese side between seventy and cighty
fell, and over two hundred were wounded. Among the
latter was Magellun, who, indeed, appears to have been
habivually unfortunate in this respect, to judge from the
expression used by Gaspar Correa—and af the affair
with the Turks, and always in the armadas, and in
Calieut. was he much wounded”! He was cared for,
no doubt, at the hospital at Cananor, whither, we are
told, all the wounded were brought. The dead were
buried ab see, in ovder that the Moors might not dis-
cover the extent of their antagonists losses.

A victory so decisive was not without its effect, not
only upon the Moors, but upon the native rulers, and
matters now appearing more settled, Dom Tourengo was
despatched at the head of a small squadron to the
Maldives. Owing to Lad navigation, they missed their
destination, but sighting Cape Comorin, eventually cume
to anchor off Point de Galle, and for the first time reka-
tions weve established between Portugal and Ceylon.
Magollan, meanwhile, was sent to Sofala under Nuiio
Vaz Pereira.?  As has already been stated, Dom Manoel’s

1 <E foy no feito dos Rumes, ¢ sompre nas armadas, € om Calicut,
muyto forido.”~Correa, ii. cap. i¥. p. 8.
# Faria y Sousa, sia Portuguez+, tom. i. pt. i, cap. x. § 6,
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orders on the Viceroy’s departure were that a fortress
should be constructed in this eity, but it will bs remem-
bered that the first port the latter entered in Eastern
Africa was Quiloa. This was through no disobedience
on the Viceroy’s part, but the ship of Pero d’Auhais,
who accompanied Almeida as the future captain of
Sofala, having gone ashore at the very moment of the
sailing of the Viceroy’s fleet, her officers and crew were
forced to defer their voyage. Ultimately Sofala was
rveached and the fortress built, but Pero d’Anbaia's
administration was a short one, for he was killed in the
following year by the Moors.

Nuiio Vaz sailed with instructions to take over the
command. s orders, however, were that he should
first visit Quilon. In thut port the greatest disorder
prevailed, owing to o dispute as to the succession to the
throne, and on his arrival he had to decide upon the
merits of the two claimants, Sailing thenes for Sofala,
he established himself as captain of the settlement, but
his term of office was even shorter than that of his pre-
decessor. On the 8th September, 1507, the fleet of Vasco
Gomezd’Abreu arvived from Lisbon, and he had to resign
his post. A few days later he left for Mozumbique in
the ship of Rui Gongalvez de Valadares. The pestilen-
tial climate of the coast had told terribly upon his men,
and he landed with a great number of sick. So nume-
Tous were they, indeed, that his first care was to build an
liospital.  The captains themselves took tarns in attend-
anec upon the patients. Correa naively describes the
treabment adopted ; “ Much did they oceupy themselves,”
he tells us,! “ with the care and healing of the sick, to
whom they gave many marmalades and conserves, in

+ Corven, op. eit., i. pt. i, 1507, cap. i. p 785.
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the eating of which they weie greatly benefited.” ‘he
season being now far advanced, and the north-east mon-
soon esteblished, Nufio Vaz Deveira and his eomrades,
unable to return to India. were forced to prolong their
stoy in Mozambique. They occupied themselves in
building a church, and, it is needless to say, a fortress.
Upon the change of the monsoon {hey sailed for Cochim,
leaving a mere handful of men in charge undex a feifor.!

Upon their arrival in India. Magellan and his comrades
found the aspect of affeirs much altered. 'They had left
the country soon after a defeat of the most crushing
kind had been inflicted upon their enemies. ‘The power
of Portugal seemed by it to have been fairly established
in the Mast, and some of the lesser potentates, whose
action appeared at one time donbtful, had formally
acknowledged the Viceroy. Now all was changed. The
fortress of Anchediva, which had cost them so much
anxiety and so many lives, had been given up and razed
to the ground. The King of Cananor, who had been
most friendly, had been replaced by a successor whose
sympathies were with tle Zamorim of Calicut, and the
Portuguese had undergone a siege of many months in
their fortress, and suffered unusual hardships. But a
far more serious danger confronted them. Ilitherto the
Moors had been the only foemen worthy of their steel.
Now they were suddenly brought face to face with other
enemies, who, at the very first rencontre, had put to fight
their ships and slain their heloved leader, Dom Lourengo.

1 From this fact it is evident that Magollan could Dot havo been
present at the defeat of Dom Louronge by Mir Hoseyn and Malik Jaz
at Chaul in the spring of 1508, The expression already alluded to,
that he was wounded “no feito dos Bumes,” “*in the affair with the

Turks,” must therefore refor to tho great battle off Div, in which D,
Francisco d'Almeids svenged the death of his beloved son.
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Their new foe was the Sultan of Egypt, or rather bis
admiral, Mir Iloseyn. The Moors, finding themselves
powerless to cope unaided with their adversaries, sought
help from Cairo. It was readily afforded them. Not
only were tiie Sultan’s revenues affected by the check in
the stream of traffic that poured into the Mediterranean
through his dominions, but the enemy was at his very
gates, and action of some kind had become an imperative
necessity. Unprorided, however, with a flect in the Red
Sea, and without wood wherewith to build it, he was forced
tocut the Jatter in Asia Minor, and transport it on camels
from Al dris to Suez. Despite these difficulties, a fleet
of ten ships was constructed at this port ; ib was placed
under the command of the Emir Hoseyn, and at the
end of December, 1507, it came to anchor off the great
city of Diu, ab the mouth of the Gulf of Cambay. Hlere
the Emir joined forces with alik Jaz, the governor of
Diu, and a few weeks later the armada sailed for Chaul,
in which river the Portuguese fleet under Dom Lourengo
was at that time lying. The action that ensued, albeit a
defeat for the Portuguese, was ong of which they might
justly be proud. Dom Lowrengo, cut off from the rest
of his fleet, and with his leg shattered by a cagnon-ball,
fought his sinking ship until her decks were nearly level
with the water, and perished with the flower of his men,
his end a fitting termination to a life billiant in its
untarnished honour, and conspicuous for deeds of the
coolest daving,

Against these reverses the Portuguese would have
found it hard to make headway, had it not been that
upon the northern shores of the Indian Ocean the name
of Affonso ¢’ Albuquerque had already become a terror
to the Mussulmans, Albuquerque had left Portugal

»
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with the understanding that he was eventually to super-
sedo Almeida as Viceroy, and having finished his cruise
upon the coasts of Arabin, turned southwards to India
to deliver his papers. ‘The two great captains meb at
Cananor on the 5th December, 1508, but Almeida refused
to hand over his seal of office until he should have taken
his revenge on Hoseyn and Malik Jaz—with which end
in view he was then sailing for Diu—and Albuquerque
bad no alternative but to give way.

Nufio Vaz Pereira—and with him, no doubt, Magellan
—had meauwhile returned safely from Mozambique to
India in the summer, and had been almost immediately
despatched to Ceylon. Whether Magellan went thither
with him or not we do not learn from the records of con-
temporary historians, but it is more than probable that
he accompanied his old commander, who got back from
Ceylon just in time to join Almeida’s avenging fleet.
On the 12th December the armada sailed. It consisted
of nineteen ships,! which carried thirteen hundred Por-
tuguese and four hundred Balabaris. On his way, the
Viceroy, after touehing at Baticala and Onor, made a
descent upon Dabul, and so completely destroyed the
city, that the action passed into a proverb, *May the
vengeance of the Franks overtake you, a3 it overtook
Dabul”

Arriving off Diu on the 2nd February, 1509, the Vice-
roy found both Mir Hoseyn and Malik Jaz awaiting
bim. The former, thinking that the open sea offered
the best ehances of success, crossed the bar to meet the
enomy. An engagement followed which advantnged
neither party, and on the approach of night Mir Ioseyn

1 Do Gioes, op. cit., 20dn parte, fol 635 but Corres, vol. §
924, says, ““partio . - . . com vinte o uma velus armadas.”

i p.
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retired to the harbour, resolving there to await the
renewal of the Viceroy’s attack. Next day the Por-
tuguese boldly entered the river and the two flests
engaged. Almeida found opposed to him a force number-
ing over a hundred sail, which bore eight hundred Mame-
Iukes, and many Christian soldiers, Venetian and Sclav,
all of whom were clad in chain-armour. A large num-
ber of Malabaris from Calicut and the formidable con-
tingent of Malik Jnz crowded the smaller vessels. The
Vicoroy wished personally to engage the ship of Mir
Hoseyn, but, at the enrnest entveaty of his officers,
allowed Iimself to be dissuaded, and deputed the
task to hig beloved captain Nuflo Viz Pereira, With
him, there is little doubt, went Magellan, in company
with many of the most distinguished of the Viceroys
Heutenants, Thus manned, the Holy G'host led the van,
and fought hor way to the great galleon of 3ir Hoseyn.
Desperate as was the struggle that ensued, the issue was
not for long doubtful. The Egyptian admiral, boarded
on both sides, was soon forced to yield, and the loss of
the flag-ship so disheartened the captains of his other
vessels, that the battle was from'that moment practically
decided. 'The ship of Malik Jaz, owing to her unusual
strength, for a long time bade defiance to the Portuguese,
but she yas at length sunk by a broadside from the large
bombards. The slaughter was even greater than on the
oceasion of the defeat of the Zamorim of Calicut. Be-
tween three md four thousand men were killed, and of
the eight hundred Mamelukes but twenty-two survived.
The victory was decisive ; Malik Jaz submitted, and Diu
was entered in triumph by Almeida. But it was not
without its eost. Nufio Vaz Pereir fell, shot in the
throat, and other brave souls with him. Great numbers,
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t00, were wounded, and among them, Correa tells us,
was Magellan. The engngement over, and a treaty of
peace having been signed with Malik Jaz, the Viceroy
returned with the flest to Cochim. The power of the
Portuguese in India was now fairly and indisputably
established



CHAPTER III.

SERVICE WITH ALBUQUERQUE AND IN MOROCCO
—DENATURALISATION.

ApMEIDA, who had not yet delivered the seal of office to
Albuquerque, returned to Cochim on the 8th Mareh, 1509,
and found his suceessor awaiting him. After his yeers
of loyal service, after having at length brought security
and success almost within measurable distance, he was
called upon to resign his post. He had borne the burden
and hest of tho day, and now another was to reap tho
benefit of his toil. The trial was a most bitter one for
him, and the differences in which he soon found himself
involved with Albuquerque were mot without excuse,
Instead of resigning, he placed Albuguerque under arrest,
and sent him to Cananor,

Whether Magelian joined with others in openly ex-
pressing disnpproval of this action we do not know, but
there is some reason to believe that he did so. On'the 21sb
April there arrived at Cochim from Lisbon an armad
destined for the reconnaissance of Malacea, under the com-
mand of Diogo Lopes de Sequeira. Almeida affected to
think that this force was insufficient, and added another
vessel, with a crew of seventy men, under the command
of Garcia de Sousa, with whom he was not npon the best
of terms, Some of the oflicers aro mentioned by Barros
and De Goes ; among them Nuiio Vaz de Castellobranco,
who was sent “on account of the differences hetween

58
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him and the Viceroy; ” and we learn that Magellan and
Francisco Serfio, who later became his bosom fiiend,
also sailed in the same vessol.!

The little fleet, consisting of four ships of about 150
tons, and a “fajore,”—a sort of barge—sailed from
Cochim on the 1gth August,? and sighting Ceylon upon
the 21¢t, made for Sumatra. Sequeira was mow in
unknown seas—sens, at least, which had never before
heen nuvigated by Huropean vesscls. 1Iis first port was
Pedir, at the northern extremity of Sumatra, and having
made a treaty of peace with the king both of this placo
and of the neighbouring ity of Pacem, he proceeded
without loss of time to Malacca, and anchored in the
port on the 11th September, 150g.

Malacea had been for years a familiar name to the
Portugueso as the great mart for all the merchandise of
the far East. Now that they lind at last reached it,
they found that it in no way fell short of their expec-
tations. lither, Barros tells us, had gathered Arabs,
Persians, Gujavatis, Bengalis, Burmese, Liu-kinans,
Javanese, Chinese, and natives of the Philippines; and

* Do Barros Arana, op. eit., p. 14, speaking of Magellan, aays, “ Bm
e volta om Portugal,” and tolia us that

) concurs with De Goos, who writes : ** Por lhe
pareger que lonaua pouca gite pera bum famankio negogio, Ihe deu
hila taforea com sessita homes, capitio Gareia do Sousa, com que iha
Ferndo de Magalbde & Frigi-co Serréo,” Barros usos nearly tho
same words. 1 Magellan accompunied Nufio Vaz Persira to the East
African coast in October 1306, and went vith him tho following year
to Mozambique, and if o was < no feito dos Rumes” in the beginning.
of 1509, as e gather from Faria  Sousn (Asia Port., vol, 1. pt i cap.
x.) and Correa (ii. cap. iv. p. 28), ho cortaialy could not have returned
to Portugal at the date mentioned by Arana.

2 + Purtido Dhogo Lopos de Cochij & oito do Setembro, says Barros,
Dee, fi. bk, iv. cap. iii., thns differing from Castanbeda and De Goes,
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the city, although not of any great depth, extended
along the coast for a vast distance. The port was
crowded with shipping, and the enormous trade carried
on with all parts of the world was evinced by the busy
scencs upon its quays. The advent of the Liwropeans,
whose deeds in India were not unknown, was productive
of a temporary panic. Confidence was soon restored,
and on the third day the king formally received the
envoys of Dom Manoel, and appeaved desirous of show-
ing them the greatest kindness and respect. His atti-
tude was nevertheless intended to conceal his real designs,
which were to seize Sequeira’s fleet at the first oppor-
tunity, and inflict such a decisive biow upon the Portu-
guese a8 should effectually check their threatened move
upon the gates of the Pacific.

Sequeira, it must be confessed, did his best to further
them. Noone ever d himself more confidingl
into n nest of bornets. Warned that the Malays were
not to be trusted by some friendly Chinese captains and
again by 2 Persian woman, of whom one of the Portu-
guese was the lover, he persisted in ignoring the advice,
and his men visited the city and the natives Sequeira’s
ships a5 though they had been at anchor off the city
of Lisbon,” The king's first plot was to invke the
Claptain-general and a large number of his people to &
banquet, and, their forces thus weakened, simultaneously
to attack his guests and (he ships. Even Sequeira,
however, declined to fall into so transparent a trap, aud
another ruse had to be adopted.

‘The Portuguese had expressed their desire of leav-
ing ns soon as they could get their cargo of spices, in
order that they might not miss the monsoon for theiv
homeward voyage, 'laking advantage of this, the king
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informed Seqaeira that he had got together a large quan-
tity of pepper and other goods, which he would deliver
to him if he would send all his boats ashore on the fol-
lowing day, together with plenty of men to load them.
The Captain-general gladly acceded. Francisco Serrfio
in command of a large party, and with all the boats
except that of the “faforea,” proceeded ashore, and the
strength of the fleet being thus reduced, the natives
crowded to tho ships with the ostensible purpose of
trading, and awaited the signal for a general onslaught,
which was to be given from the citadel.

Gareia de Sousa, more quick-witted than his com-
mander, was not long in realising the impending danger.
Without the loss of a moment’s time, he drove the
Malays out of his ship, and sent Ferdinand Magellan in
the only remaining boat to the flag-ship to put Sequeira
on his guard. Magellan found the Chptain-general
playing at chess, surrounded by eight Malays, even
then unwilling to believe that any trenchery was con-
templated. Hludly taking his eyes from the board,
Sequeira merely ordered one of the sailors into the main-
top to sce if all wero well with the shove party, and
Magellan at the same moment left the ship.  While
aloft, the sailor chanced to look down, and saw a Malay
standing behind Sequeira with his kris half drawn,
while a comrade in front metioned to him not to strike,
a3 the signal had not then been given. At the same
moment, Francisco Serrfio and two or thres others were
seen running for thoir lives to the beach, and tho paff
of white smoke—the signal for the massacre—floated
from the summit of the citadel. The sailor's warning
cry of “Treachery ! treachery |” came not an instant too
soon.  Sequeira bounded from his seat, and escaping
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the blow from the kris of his would-be murderor, ran
toarms. The Malays, seeing themselves outnumbered,
jumped overboard. Serrio meanwhile, in a swall skiff
and almost unarmed, was making desperate efforts to
shake himsclf clear of a number of boats by which he
was hard pressed. Already one of his men had Leen
soveroly wounded, and the enemy had boarded their craft,
when Magellan and Nuiio Vaz de Castelbranco came to
their rescue. Although a bare handful of men, they
fought so desperately that the Malays were driven over-
board, and the Portuguese reached their ship in safety.
It is not too much to believe that the courage and
presence of mind of Magellan on this occasion greatly
strengthened the bond of friendship between him and
Serrfio, and to this friendship, as we shall see later, the
great voyage of the greatest of navigators was more or
less due.

"The situation of the Portuguese at this moment was
critical. Not only had the greater number of those on
shore been captured or murdered, but a second party,
who had landed upon a little island hard by, had also
been cut off. Sequeica had hardly realised his position,
when a large fleet of armed prans was seen rounding a
corner and making for the vessels of the Portdguese.
However great his folly, the Captain-general was no
coward. Instant action was necessary, and he took it.
Slipping his cables, he at once bore down upon the
enemy, and sowwell were his guns served that the Malays
were soon only too glad to vetire, many of their ships
being sunk and others hopelessly crippled.

Sequeira waited a day or two in the hope of ransom-
ing some of his men. Sixty were missing, and although
many were known to have been killed, he had reason to
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suspect that as many as thirty were prisoners. His
efforts were fruitless, and accordingly, putting ashore
two of his captives with an mvow through their brains
aud a message aflixed to their bodies that « thus the
King of Portugal avenged the treason of his enemics,”
he sailed for India.!

The homeward voyage of the fleet was signalised by
the capture of several junks. In one of these actions
Magelian again distinguished himself in the same
manner as at Malacea; for the Portuguese of Nuiio
Godin’s ship being almost overpowered, Castelbranco
and himself, with only four sailors, went to their
assistance in the small boat of the “fafore,” and
brought the fight to a successful issve? In January,
1510, the fleet arrived at Travancore, reduced to three
vessels—one having gone ashore in the Straits, and one
having been purposely burnt. In this port they learned
the news of Almeida’s departure from India,3 where-
upon Sequeira, who had sided with him in his quarrel
with Albuquerque, thought it better to sail direct for
Portugal  Teixera's ship and the “fgforea,” bearing
Magellan and his friend Serriio, proceeded on their
course, and anchored a few days later in the harbour
of Cochim.

3 Correa's nccount of the Malacea difficulties differs in fofo from
tho above, which, with the cxception of a few unimportant. details, is
that given by all tho other old historians. In tho Lendas da India
the Portugucse are attacked by night in a smail fortress which they
had previously obtained pennim‘m to erect.

2 Cnstanheda, op. ait., liv. ii. cap, exvi.

2 Almeida, ““tho enemy of avarice,” a groat man in the bost ssnse
of tho term, wis destmed never to reach home, Landing o small
porty m Saldanhn Bay in search of water and provisions, & fracas
occurred witl: the Kafirs, and in an attempt o rovenge themsolves
next day (Maxch 1, 1510), the Portuguese lost sixty-five men, among
whom woro eleven captaing and their beloved chief,
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Magellen and his comrades must have renched that
capital almost simultaneously with Albuguerque. How-
ever great n failure Sequeira’s expedition had been,
that of the Viceroy to Calicut, whence he was now
returning, had been even greater. Upon the 2nd
January he had arrived off the city with a large
armadn. A fow days later he left it, himself badly
wounded, seventy-eight of his best men killed, and over
three hundred fiors de combal, with no advantage, save
the slaughter of a large number of Moors, accruing to
Lis side. Neither his wounds nor his defeat, however,
prevented Albuquerque from busying himself in the exe-
cution of his projects. He ab once ordered an armada
t0 bo got ready to proceed against ihe cities at the
entrance of the Red Sea, and despatched the rest of
the homeward-bound fleet—tho fitst park of which had
already sailed—to Portugal vid My

The three vessels of which this second division of the
fleot was composed left Cochim about the middle of
January! One ship, commanded by Gomes Freire,
sailing a little before her companions, had a prosperons

1 Tho chronology of thia poriod of Mogellan’s history is a little
obseure.  After the fight at Calicut, Albuquerque is mentioned by
Corzea(sol. . 1, . 25) 0s sending Rebello theneo to Gaaanor
on the roth January, and the historian adds, 0 gouernador esteue no
porto de Caleout dous dins, despachando as cousas como j6 disse, @ 50
partio pera Coehym.” It is probable, therefore, that ho arrived at
the lattor city aboat the 14th. But De Goes (3ra parto, cap. iii. fol. §
v.) tells us that “partio Afonso dalbuguerque de Coehim na fim de
Jaticito "—a not Mmpossible date, sinco we know that be occupied Goa
Fobruary t7th. If Magellan was with the Viecroy in his first descent
upon Gos, a3 Arna {op. ci., p. 17) statos, there is little cnough of
intorvening time left for the preparation and despatel of the homo-
ward fleat, the wreck upon the Padua Bank, the reaching of the
mainlaud in the bonts, the sending of tio carwvel to succour th
slupwrecked party, and their return to Cananor. Most probably
Bagolian was not pro-ent at the first oceupation of Goa.
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voyage, reaching Mozambique in safety, but the others
—in one of which Magellan sailed—ran at night upon
& shoal of the Great Padua Back,! and remained. The
weather was good, and though the ships filled, they
did not break up, and the captains, Sebastian de Sousa
and Francisco de S84, were able to save not only suffi-
cient provisions, but @ good deal of the eargo also, The
crews landed with their belongings upon a small island
which was elose at hand, and at daybreak a discussion
took place as to the course to be pursued, It was
resolved to make for the coast of India—distant about
2 hundred miles—in the boats, but owing to the want
of room “there was mnch contention among them con-
cerning whieh of them should go first, The captains,
fidalgos, and persons of position desired so to do, but
the sailors said that they should not unless they went
also.”? In this state of affairs Magellan came to the
rescue, promising, with the ready coolness which, as we
Jearn later, was so characteristic of him, that he would
remain with the crews if they would swear to him that
assistance should be sent immediately on the arrival of
the boats in India. This was done, and the boats de-
parted, reaching Cananor in eight days. Sebastian de
Sousa kept his word, and sent Antonio Pacheco to their

1 Tho Padua Bank or Pedro Reef has now twonty-ono fathoms ag its
minimum dopth of water, and it would natarally be conluded that tho
ships went ashore at some other placa in the Lakadivhs ; moro eepo.
cially from the fact that, nceording to one writor, the crew landed on
an island o rock close at hand. But it appows that the banks off
this part of tho const are gradaally sivkiog. On the Flicapeni Bank,
in lat. 12° 12’ N, long, 75° s8' E., thers is now from 8-x3 fathoms,
whilo 10 x835 Captain Byrom found only 3§-9 fathoms, Such n rapid
alteration ronders it quite possiblo for the wreek to have scourred on
the ** Bassas de Pedro, "

* Herrera, Dec. ii. lib. ti. cap. xix.
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relief in a caravel without loss of time. Crew and
eargo were safely got on board, and eventually the coast
was reached with little more loss than that of the two
vessels.

From Barros we learn one possible reason for Magel-
lan’s action on this occasion—that there was a friend
whom, “since he was a person of no great importance,”
the captain was about to Jeave behind. We are not told
his name, but there is little doubt, that it was Francisco
Serrfio, and that it was his loyalty to him as a friend
that prevented Magellan from considering his own
safety.] Whatever may have been the case, however,
the deed was that of a cool, unselfish man, and it is
vecognised as such even by historians so adverse to him
as Barros and Castanheda.®

At the moment of the rescue of Magellan and his
comrades, Albuquerque was bound northwards with an
armada of twenty-three ships for Ormuz, touching at
Cananor and other neighbouring ports on his voyage.
‘Whether the shipwrecked crews were incorporated with

7 This ineident is related by Herrera (Dec. ii. lib. ii. mp xix),
Barros {(Deo. iit. lib, iv. cap. i), Castanheda (lib. and
Damigio de Goes {ada parte, cap. xliii. fol. 73), but me mm doou
nat mention Magellan, Correa (vol. ii, pt. i. cap. iv. p. 27) git
account which differs su many particulars from that of the e
Nistoriane, statiog {a far from probablo ccenrrence) that the crow
reuiained in the vessels, which {lioy shorod up by means of the yards ;
that all this was apranged and ordered by Magellan ; and that Gon-
a0 dé Crasto—ngh Pncheco returncd with the caravel, See also
Lord Stanley’s Magellan. Hikluyt Soo., p. x5ii.

21t 1 worthy of romark that, in Herrera's laudatory comuents
tpon Mageliun's action on this oocasion, wo lcarn one of the few
facta concorning his personal aspect to which history has treated
us i~ Albeit his appearance was ot grently in his favour, since Le
a3 of smull stature” (iunque 20 lo ayudaua mucho la porsona. por-
9us éra do cuorpo pequedo”).
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this fleet or not is unceitain, but it is by no means im-
possible that such was the casel The Vieeroy altered
bis plans en route, and leaving the siege of Ormuz for a
future occasion, made a descent upon Goa, which yielded
to him on the 17th February, 1510, almost without strik-
ing & blow. Ho was not at that time, however, in a
position to hold the city against a large fores, and threo
months later—NMay 3oth—was compelled to evacuate it.
It was only for a time. During his short temure of the
place Albuquerque had realised its importance, and the
next oocasion on which Magellan appears upan the scene
is at a council held by the Viceroy on the roth October,
1510, upon questions conneoted with a second siego he
kad then resolved on.?

The council was held at Cochin, and was composed of
@ all the eaptains of the King,” to whieh rank it may be
concluded that Magellan had by this time attained. The
question for decision was whether the merchant ships—
then loading in Cochim—should assist at the intended
siege of Gon or not. Magellan, called upon to speak,
gave a very decided opinion on the subject, saying that
they “ought not to take the ships of burden to Goa,
inasmuch as, if they went thither, they could not pass
this year to Povtugal, . . . and that there would not
remain time for them to lay oub their money, nor to do
anything of what was necessary for the voyage.”  Albu-
querque was of a diffevent opinion, and said that «he

1 Corren tays that they returned to Cochim, whilo Castanbeda
tmplies that they went toCananor, Barros, howover, distinetly statos
tht Pacheco retarned with the roscued orew to Gos, and that they
there found Alfonso d'Albuquerque.

2 The document, recording this couneil is preserved in the Terro do
Tombo at Lixbon {Cinrp. Chron., pt. 28, mag. 23, doo, 190), and a trans-
lation appears in Lord Stanley's Magetian, p. xvi.
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would sail with ag many ships and men as he could get
together, and would go and take Goa, as he trusted in
our Saviour’s Passion that He would aid him;” but he
added that he would not take any one away with him
against his will. The captains, Corvea tells us, paid little
abtention to this, being ocenpied with the profits result-
ing from the sale and embarkation of the goods which
they had to convey to Portugal.X

Magellan, we know, did not belong either actually or
in spirit to such men as these, and although we do not
find him mentioned by name in Corre’s list of the
“valentes caunlleiros” who accompanied Albuguerque in
(his expedition, he may well have come under the head
of the “ outros caualleiros honrados” who were present.
The Viceroy amived off Goa on the 24th November.
The fleeb consisted of thirty-four sail, which carvied
fiftcen hundred Portugueso troops and three hundred
Malabaris.  On the following day the assault took place
~—2 splendidly fought action, which resulted in tle fall
of the city and its oceupation for the second time by
Albuquerque. Under his admini order and pro-
spority were rapidly restored. Money was coined; the
ambassadors of the kings of Narsinga and Cambay
awrived to establish relations with the Viceroy; the
native women, embracing the Christian religion, hecame

! Lond Stanlay, op. cit., p. Xxiv., suggosts that the adverse opinion
Biven by Magollan on $his occasion was tho cause of the subsequent
eoldnoss and ill-wil of his sovereign, and honce al«o of the great navi-
@ator’s desertion of s country for Spain ; bub this is hardly probablo,
Nono of the contemporaneous historians mahe any adverse comment
pon the subject. An incident &0 drivial, unaccompanied by guarrel
of any kind, would have passed almout unnoticed in such stirring
times. The explanation of the King’s attitude is moro probably to be
Iloumi & fow years later in Mogellan's roturn from Africa without
ave.
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the wives of the conquerors, and trade was once more
resumed.

Affairs once setisfactorily settled in Goa, Albuquerque,
who in energy and ambition was no whit inferior to
Almeida, determined on fitting ont an armada “a buscar
hos Rumes.” Not only were the ships of the Caliph—
the bitter enemy of Lusitanian influence in the East—to
be sought for and destroyed, but a fort was tobe built ab
Aden, and another upon the Kamaran Islands in the
Red Sea. The fleet left Goa at the end of March, 1511,
but in doubling the Padua reefs they encountered such
continued bad weather that they were forced to return,
and it was ultimately sottled that they should proceed to
Malacea instead. In August, therefore—just two years
subsequent to the sailing of Sequeira’s expedition—an
armada of nineteen vessels left Cochim for that city, bent
on taking & full though tardy revenge for the treacherous
slanghter of Serrio’s comrades. During their voyage
they captured no less than five ships from Cambay, and
having lost the galley of Simon Martins in a storm, they
touched, as before, at Pedir in Atjeh, and confirmed
their treaties with the king. At Pagem (Passit) they
were again well received. Farther south they encoun-
tered two junks and a caravel, all of which thoy cap-
tured. Unwittingly they had begun their vevenge, for
upon the latter ship, after she had struck, they found
the body of Nahodabegues, the organiser of the plot
against Sequeira.!

1 D6 Goes relatos a fable concornivg this occurronce, embodying &
Deliof which is not uncommon in many parts of the world. ‘Fhey find
the body hacked to pieces, but no blood flows. On his wrist is o
bracclet in which is set the ** bone of a species of largo cattlo found
in Siam, ealled  Cabis' " On pulling this off, the blood gushes out
and Nahodaboguea dies instantly.
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On the 15t July, 1511, the fleet arrived off Malacea!
It was not until six weeks later that the city fell.
Although unprovided with fortifications, the number of
caunon it mounted and of fighting men by whom it was
garrisoned made its reduction no easy matter. In the
history of Portuguese India the taking of Malacca by
Albuquerque is perhaps the most striking event, not
Tess from its political import than from the diffculty of
the task and the richness of the booty.s Upon the pro-

MALACCA (from Correa).

tracted struggle which ended so fortunately for the
Viceroy's forces it is unnccessary to dwell. Even at this
period Magellan had not yet fought himself ind the
first half-dozen or so of distinguished captains whose
names and individval deeds were_thought worthy of
mentjon by the chroniclers of that date. ¥or the present,
he remained for the most part hidden in the obscurity

1 Corren statos that tho fleet arrived m mid-June (vol. ii. pt. i
P- 219),

2 ©So tomou despojo de grio valor, o mér que munqua go tomoun
wostas partes, nem outro tal tomars "—Correa, Lendas de India,
Yol ii. pt. 1. p. 245. Soe also Comentarivs do grande Afonso  Albu-
querquc, cap. xxvii,

E
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of the “outros cavalleivos valentes ” whose presence in
the is only rarely otherwiso recorded. One
writer, however, speaks of him as ¢ giving a very good
account of himself ” on this occasion. It is only what
might have been expected from him, or indeed from any
one of the courageous band who effected the downfall
of the most important city of the Kast. Against the
twenty thousand fighting men, with three thousand pieces
of artillery, whose workmanship, as we learn from the
Commentaries of Albuquerque, could not be excelled
even in Portugal, the Viceroy could bring a bare eight
hundred Portuguese-and siz hundred Malabar archers.
They had indeed need to give & good account of them-
selves, and for a protracted period the issue hung in the
balance. ¢ Assuredly,” says Castanheds, ¢ from the time
wo began the conquest of India until now was no affair
undertaken so arduous as this battle, . . . nor one in
which so much artillery was employed, or in which so
many were engaged in the defence.”

The fall of Malacea was of greater political importance
than that of Goa. Not only was the city the key to the
Eastern gate of the Indian Qcean-—the gate through
which the whole commerce of the Moluccas, the Philip-
pines, Japan, and ¢ far Clathay ” passed on its road to
the Mediterranean—but it was at the same tims one
of the largest marts in Asia. In its harbour rode the
ships of countless nations and peoples, from “ Cipangu”
to Timor. Tt is little surprising, therefore, that the
news of Albuquerque’s success spread far and wide
thronghont the Bastern world, and that the sovereigns
of the nsighbouring countries were anxious to solioit his

1 Herrera, op. tt . Doc. ii. liv, ii. cap, xix. p. 66: “Dando do si
muy buenas muestras,
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protection. The alliances concluded with them tempted
—if not to fresh conquests—at least to further explo-
rations. The Spice Islands—an Eldorado even more
glittering than the New World—had by tlis time
passed from the cloud of uncertainty that hung around
them, to become a reality almost within grasp. The
Viceroy and his comrades had doubtless talked over
their riches a hundred times, had met their ships and
men, and had made themselves acquainted with such
details as were possible of their mavigation. But it
must have been from Luigi Varthema, the Italian—the
first Buropean who had ever sailed into these waters
—the traveller who had seen with his own eyes the
hitherto unknown wonders of the Moluccas—that they
derived their most trustworthy information. Ilis
accounts of *Maluch ” and its cloves ; of Banda—the
“isola molto brutta & trista”—and its nutmegs, must
have been fresh in their memories. Little wonder,
then, that we find Albuquerque fitting ont and despateh-
ing an expedition to theso long-songht-for lands without
 moment's delay. The streets of Malacca were hardly
cleared of the débris of the assault, the conquerors hardly
rested from their labours, ere Antonio d’Abren weighed
anchor with his three galleons, and sailed in gwest of
the unknown islands whose perfumed products were
even more coveted than the gold of America.

The captains of the other ships were Francisco Serzio
and—according to Argensola —Ferdinand Mageflan
The Portuguese forces had been so weakened by battle
and disease that it was impossible further to reduce

! According to De Goes and Corren, tho third vessel was commanded

by Smfio Afonso Bisagude (Chronica de D. Manoel, gra. patte, cap.
v, fol. 51).
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them to any considerable extent, and barely a hundred
European soldiers sailed. The ships, however, bore

Malabaris and other jes upon their
roll, in addition to their ordinary complement of sea-
men. Leaving Malacca at the end of December, 1511,
the flect followed a southern track, skirting the north
coast of Java.? They passed between that islnd and
Madura, and holding an casterly courss, left Celebes on
their port-hand and entered the Banda Sea. The in-
structions given by Albuquerque were most explicit.
No prizes were to be taken, no vessel was to be chased
ov boanled, and at every port the greatest respect was to
be shown for the authorities and eustoms of the country.
Further to secure their good reception, n junk preceded
them, having on board a certnin Nakoda Tsmnel, well
versed in tlie navigation of these seas and in the com-
merce of their islinds. Passing to the morth of the

1 *Em nonembro d'esta auo de 1511 ” (Correa, vol. 1. pt. i. p. 265),
perhiaps a more probable date, as Albuguerque left Malacea for Tudia.

3 With rogavd to this first voyago of the Portuguoso to tho Moluccas

xist, in spite of it narra-
nporancous historians, and tho extremo im-
portance of the enterprise. Iho question iy whethor Magellan really
did sail with D'Sbreu upon this occasion or mot. Barros doos not
mention bis presence, nor docs the almost equally prolix Castanbeds,
and Correa, De Goes, and Galvdo aro also siicnt npon the subject.
Again, from a document found in the Lisbon archives, it is known
that Magellan was in thav city in June, 1512, 1f the expedition loft
Malaeea for the Spice Islands in Decombor, 1511, ot oven in tho middlo.
of November, n very limited spaco of time is left for tho completion
of its work and tho rotarn of Magellan to Portogal, On the other
hand, Argeosola tolls us very plainly that Magollan went ascaptain of
tho third ship, and a fow pages farther on says, ** Auiendo Magallanes
possado seyscicntas leguas adelante hizia Malaca, so hallaua en uins
islas desde donde so correspondia ¢d Serrano” {op. cit., lib. i, p. 1),
Oviedo also, referring to Magellan, calls il ** diestro en lus cosss o
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voleanic islet of Gunong Api, they touched at Bouru,
and finally veached Amboins. in safety.

The distance between Amboins and Banda is such as,
with a faix wind, might be easily nccomplished in one
day, even by the clumsily-built galleons of that period.
Abreu chose, therefore, to visit this group, the home of
the nutmeg, before proceeding northward to ernate.
Serrio’s command—a Cambay ship taken at the siege
of Goa—had, however, become so unseaworthy that it
was found necessary to abandon her, Officers and crew
were taken on board the Sanfa Cataling to Banda, whero
a junk was purchased to take ler place. o abundant
was the supply of spice in that port, that they were able
fully to Jade their ships, and Antonio d’Abreu resolved
to return to Malacea without visiting Ternate, not only
because he was unable to take more cargo, but also on
account of the weather! On the return voyage Serrfio

Ia mar, y que por vista de ojos tonia muchn noticia do 1a India oriental,
¥ de las Ishs del Maluco y Lspocieria” (Oviedo y Valdes, Hist.
General de las Indias, lib, xx cap. 1), A still strongor argument,
perhaps, exists in Magelian’s ovn letter to Chatles V. in Scptember
75t9 (Log. T of Molucoa documents, Scville-archivos; Navarreto, vol.
iv. p. 188), in which he speaks authdrirativoly of tho geographical
‘position of the different islands of the Moluccns.

Tiese arguments i their turn are open t ebjection. Angonsola it
the least aecurate of all the historians, and an obvious anachronism
curs in the eamo sontenco with the passage quoted. Magellan's
knowledge of the Moluocas, too, may very weil bave beon obtained
through his friend Francisco Serriio, who at that time had been resi-
dont in Tornato for nearly eight vears, Tho quostion, having regard
to probabiliticstmust be answered in the negative, but it is of great
intorest, For, if Magellan did reach Banda, it may be justly elaimed
Sor hin that ok the poriod of his denth in tho Philippines lie had in his
own person completed the ciremnnavigation of the globe—an honour
that is in genoral assignod to his suscss-or, Sobastian del Cavo,

1 < Por culpa dos tompos Tho torgard mal,” says Castanheda. Por-
Hnps the strongost argument against Magellan having sailed on this
expodition with d’Abreu is afforded us by o consideration of the
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was destined again to meet with misfortune, or at least
with what appeared at the time to be such. Getting
separated from the rest of the fleet in heavy weather,
his vessel struck on the reefs of the Schildpad Islands,!
and became a total wreck.

Of Serrio’s future history, romantic and interesting
a8 it is, it is impossible here to give a detailed account,
though, from its connection with that of his friend
Magellan, & glance at it is perhaps necessary. Thrown
upon o deserted island, famous as the resort of pirates
and wreckers who reaped the harvest of its formidable
reefs, they feared that ““if they met not their death
from thirst and hunger, they might expect it from these
corsaivs,” The very thing they most dreaded proved
their salvation, and Serrio extricated himself from his
dangerous position by a ruse as clever as it was laugh-
able. Some pirates, having sighted the wreck, landed
to hunt down the survivors. Serio, meanwhile, had
hidden his men close to the beach, and jaiting wuntil
the new-comers had disembarked, quictly cmerged from
his place of concealment and took possession of their ship.
His antagonists, with the prospect of being left without
food or water, begged for merey, which was granted
upon condition that they should repair the wrecked
junk., All reached Amboina in safety, and were well
treated by the natives. The kings of Ternate and Tidor
prevaling winds of thososeas. Even had the floet sailed in November,
and roached Ambina in a fortnight, it is extremely unlikely that an
attempt would have been made to beat back agzainst the west monsoon.
The en't mon-con is fairly established in July, and it may be said,
wath o confidonco approaching cortainty, that such of the fleet os
returned to Malacea arranged their departare so that they might take
advantage of it.

1 The Schildpad Islands Ve in lat. 5° 30' 8., long. 127° 40/ E., and
about 140 miles W.S.W. of the Banda group,
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were at that time engaged in a dispute about their
boundaries, and not unwilling to obtain an aid of which
both were wise enough to perceive the advantages, made
overtures to the powerful foreigners, whose fame had by
this time spread to the farthest boundaries of Malaysia.
Serrdio cast in his lob with that of the ruler of Ternate,
and for the remainder of his life established himself in
the Moluceas. From Ternate he wrote many letters to
his fiiends, and especially to Magellan, “ giving him to
understand that he had discovered yet another new
world, larger and vicher than that found by Vasco da
Gama.” These letters, joined possibly with a personal
knowledge of those regions, formed, it may safely be
conjectured, no slight inducement to the undertaking
of the voyage which ended our hero’s life and made his
name immortal.

Whether, then, Magellan did or did not see with his

1 #Dag qunes cartas comegou este Ferno de Magallides tomar huns
noves concentos qua Jhe caucfiram a morte, o mottea evto Roymo ew
algum dexgosto, como logo veremos” (Barros, Dec. 1ii. hv. v. eap, vi.).
“Eato Francisco Serriio foy o que wandou enformacio do Malueo &
Ferngio de Magalliics, quo fez despois treygfo aa cas roal do Portugal,
querendolhe tirar estas ilhas da. sua conquista & dlss o coron do
Castoln” (Castankeda, 1ib. 1ii, cap. Lxxxvi). Tho lottars written by
Bagellan to SerrEo wero found among the papers left at o Inttar's
donth, In them he promises ““that e will bowith hint soon, if not by
way of Portugal, by way of Spain, for to that issus his affairs scomed
40 bo leading ” (Nacarrete, vol. v, nota v. p. Lsxiv. ; Barros, Deo. i,
lib, v. cap. visi.). A certain mystery enwraps tho prolonged stay of
Sorrdio in tho Moluccas, 1t is quite possiblo-—nay, almost cortain—that
it waa contraryuto ondors, but that on tho next visit of the Portugneso
b6 w1 o percon of such influenco thut they found it advisable to leave
bitn alone. This is borne out by a doenment found by Mufior. in tho
Serillo archives, which says, * Francisco Sorrano, grande hombro do
navegacion, y muy amigo do Magallanes . . . cl qual con temor y
desagrado dol Rey de Portugal y de sos gentes huyé de Malaca en un
junoo de los quo solian ir n comereiar cn Maluco” (sce Navarvote,
iv. p. 371), .
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own eyes this promised land,! one thing at least is cer-
tein, that the two friends never met again. In what
slip or by what fleet he returned to Portugal we do not
know, bub that he did return about the peried is con-
clusively proved, not only from the fact that the historians
givo the length of his Indian service as seven years,®
but from the cvidence of certain documents of the Casa
eal de Portugal, brought to light by the historian
Muiioz. It was the custom in those days that all who
belonged to the king’s household—the “ecriagio de El
Rey”—should receive a stipend which, though merely
nominal in value, corresponded to their rank?® This
stipend was known as the meradia. Magellan, borne
on the books as “mogo fidalgo,” received a monthly
pension of a milreis,® and an alqueive of barley daily,
and on the 12th June, 1512, we find him signing a receipt
in Lisbon acknowledging the fact.5 It is probable that
this receipt was signed not long after his arrival in

1 Upon the Molucea axpedxhon 500 De Goes, 3ma parte, caps. xxv.
and xxvili. ; Argensola, lib. i. pp. 6 and 15; Barros, Dec. i, liv, 71,
cap. vik, and Dov. v. oap. ¥i. ; Castankeda, X, iil, caps, Ixxy.
and Ixxxvi. ; Correa, bk. ii. pt. i. pp 263, 267, and 280; Galm Des-
cobrimentos, lakluyt Soc., p. 115,

= Gomara, Hist. Generl de las Trudias, cap. xoi.

# Osorio, De Rebus Ewnanvelis, Jib. Xi. p. 397 (od Col. Agrip.
MDLXXVL), tells vs tho origin of this stipend. **Ofim erat npud
Lusitanos in moro positum, ut in Rogia, qui Regi sarviebant ipsiny
Regis sumptibus alorentur. Gl vord multitudo domesticorum tanta
fuissot, difficillimum videbatur cibos tanta wultitudini peaparare.
Quocirea fuit & Portugalvo Rogibus statutum, ub sumptum, quem
quilibot erat in Regia facturus, ipse sibi ox rogia pecunia facorot, Sic
autetn factum est, ut cuilibet corta pecunia summa, singulia mensibus
assignaretur.”

4 The raiireis or dollar, although st that period of considerably
greator value, is now worth about 4s. sd. of our English money, Tho
algqueire is 15 nearly as possiblo 28 Ibs.

3 Bk. vi. of Moradias da Cass Real, fol. 47 7.
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Portugal, as from a similar document, dated one month
later (Fuly t4, 1512), wo learn of his promotion to the
rank of ““fidalgo escudeiro,” which he presumably ob-
tained for his services in the Bast. The increase in
his pension was, P ki b
{850 reis), but of far more unpormnce was the improve-
ment in his position at court; for, as we learn from
Osorio, “each person was estecmed the more noble
according to the amount of salary that he received.”
Returned once more to his native land, Magellan
remained there for nearly a year. \Whether he retired
to his estate at Sabrosa or breathed the more stirring
air of the court at Lisbon, we are not informed. But
0 one of his temperament—one who for seven long years
had Jed a vivid life of adventure by sca and land, a life
of siege and shipwreck, of endless war and wandeving—
a country existonce must have become impossible. To be
with his fellows, with men who had tasted of the sweets
and bitters of the wider life, to be within reach of news
froma India, to watch the preparations for further and
perhaps greater expeditions—this must have been to
him as the breath of his life, and we cannot doubt that
he remained in Lisbon. It is wonderful that le should
have remained o long, That he was not the an to
sink into inaction either of mind or body we may be
quite sure, and we can picture him perfecting himself in
the art of navigation' or planning fresh explorations

3 Magollan's ability s a trained navigator is con tantly reforred to
by writers of the period, It is not actually stated that ho was o
pupil of Martin Bohaim, but he may quite well havo been so. That
cosmographer, after completing his globa in 1502, left Nuremberg for
the Asores +i Portugal, but returned to tha latter country shortly
aftetwards, He diod in Lisbon in 1506. Dotweon theso two dates—
with the excoption of 4 mission to Flandors—be is believed to have
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or in the vast island-seattered seas througl
which—well.nigh spenh\'lth hunger and scurvy—Le was
afterwards destined to wander for so many weary weeks.
It was to India, doubtless, that Magellan looked as the
scene of his future success—to the Farther India of which
Serrfio had written to him, and of which he himself later
said that he would find his way thither, “if not by way
of Portugal, then by way of Spain.” It was not, how-
ever, in India that he was next to serve. In the summer
of 1513 difficulties arose with the Moors of Azamor in
Morocco. In the time of Dom Jodio IL a treaty had
been concluded with them, Portuguese subjects resided
in the city, their ships entered the harbour free of dues,
and their goods passed the customs without charge.
The peace remsined wnbroken until, tired of paying
tribute, Muley Zeyara rebelled. Dom Manoel was not
the monarch to leave an insult long unavenged. An
armada was fitted out in Lisbon such as neither hefore
nor gince weighed anchor from the shores of Portugal.!
Why so large o fleet was despatched is not clear. It
consisted, all told, of more than four hundred ships,
which bore no less than eighteen thousand men-at-arms
in addition to the cavalry and sailors. The command
was given by Dom Manoel to his nephew Jayme, Duke
of Braganga. Leaving Belem on the 13th August, 1513,
the force arrived off Azamor on the 28th. A pretence
of fighting was gone through, but the Moors were wise
enough to realise that they had not sufficient strength

resided partly in Fayal snd partly in Lisbon. Magellan, a8 we know,
passed these yoars ab the Portugue-e capital. That the two nover
‘met is in tho lighest degree mprobable,

% Gurita, Anales de dragon, lib, x. cap. Ixxix, fol 374 v. Goes,
op. cit. 3ea parte, cap, xlvi.
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to cope with so formidable an enemy, and the city opened
its gates without further bloodshed.

Among the many distinguished captains who entered
them, we look in vain through the chronicler’s list of
names? for that of Magellan, although we know, from
his being mentioned in the pages of Barros very shortly
after, that he must have been present. The Duke of
Braganga returned in November to Portugal, and left
Dom Joiio de Meneses in command, a general noted for
valour and energy, of whom it was said that # he ceased
not for a moment from making cruel war against the
Moors.”# The city was scarcely settled ere a series of
“entradas” o nrmed reconnaissances was instituted,
which, making their descent where least expected,
greatly harassed the Moors and kept the country in a
perpotual state of terror. In one of these, under the
leadership of Jodo Soarez, Magellan was wounded in the
leg by a lance, which appears to have injured some
tendon belind the knee in such a manner that he re-
mained slightly lame for the rest of his life.?

Towards the end of March, 1514, the Portuguese
received informaﬁon that the kirtgs of Fez and Mequines
were | i g y for the recap of Azamor.
On the 12th Aprll the patrols sent out from tRM city
gave notice of the approach of the advance-gnard, and
Dom Jodo de Meneses led his troops at omce against
them. Although the Moors were completely routed,
leaving over $wo thousand of their men upon the field,

1 Faria y Sousa, Africa Portugucsa, cap. vii. ; Do Goes, op. cit.,
3ra parte, fol. 87.

2 Pedto do Mori, Dialigos de wuia Hitorie, dial. iv, cap. xvii.
fol. 286

# % Paroca quo Jhe toson e algum necva da juntura da curva, con
quo depois manquejava huu poso,” —Barros, Dec. i, liv. v. cap. .
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the Portuguese also suffered considerable loss, and the
advance of the enemy was unchecked. On Easter Eve
they arrived at the river of Azamor. So great were
their numbers, that seven days were occupied in the
crossing, while behind them ¢ everything was consumed,
Inid waste, and destroyed.” The very size of the army
was, however, the cause of its uin. Already au bout de
ses forces, it arrived in the neighbourhood of the city
only to find the wells destroyed and the country devas-
tated. The Portuguese had un easy task. With the
aid of their native allies the invading host was soon put
to flight. The booty was large. Over eight hundred
horses alone were captured and a thousand Moors made
prisoners.

Either on this oceasion or very shortly after an inci-
dent occurred which, if we may believe the historians,
was indirectly the cause of the differences between
Magellan and his sovercign. Owing partlyto his lamencss
and partly to his friendship with Jofio Soarez, our hero
was selected, in company with another captain, Alvaro
Monteiro, as guadsileiro mr in charge of the booty.
Whether he had refused to wink at irvegularities, and
had hence become unpopular and open to unfounded
accusations, or whether he was really guilty, it is impos-
sible with certainty to discover; but the fact remains,
that, together with his comrade, he was accused by
cortain people of selling the cattle to the Moors, and per-
mitting them to be carried off at night with hig full
knowledge and connivance. It is probable that under
his old commander, Dom Joflo de Meneses, he would
have had little difficulty in clearing himself, but the
sudden death of the latter and the succession of Pedro
de Sousa to the command of Azamor placed matters on
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a different footing. Magellan, desirous perhaps of per-
sonally explaining the affair, left Africa and returned to
Lisbon.

Dom Jofio de Meneses had died on the t5th May, 1514.
It must have been, therefore, at some date not far
removed from this that Magellan presented himself
before his sovereign. It is probable that he thought
little or mothing of the charge that had been brought
against him and that his conscience was clear, for we
axe told that he took the opportunity of preferring his
claims for promotion on account of his long service in
the East, and petitioning for an incrense of moradia.
It was perhaps not the wisest of actions. Dom Manoel
was by no means disposed Jightly to regard the matter,
the more 8o from the fact that he had received a letter
from Pedro de Sousn informing him that Magellan had
left Africa without his permission. It was in vain that
the supposed culprit tried to justify himself. The King
refused to listen to him, and ordered him at once to
return to Azamor to answer the charges of which he
stood accused.

Magellan had no alternativesbut to go, but on his
arrival the authorities declined to proceed against him.
No greater argument in favour of his innocencé could
be adduced, and he returned without loss of time to
Portugal, bearing the decuments which, he confidently
expected, would restore him to his sovereign’s favour.
Doubtless hew looked forward with certainty to the
coveted rise in the moradia—that minute increase
which, paltry though it was in actual value, meant so
much to those who were of the King’s household.!

1 Tho increase of stipend for which Magellan petitioned was a halt-
cruzado por month, about equisalent to x3d, of our meney. Subir
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Foremost in his mind, however, must have been the
hope of a eommand—of a return to India. He was
doomed to disappointment, * Sempre lho ElRey teve
hum entejo " the King slways loathed him,” Barros
tells us! His reception was not more gracious than it
had been on the occasion of their last meeting. Dom
Manoel turned a deaf ear to his entreaties, and Magllan,
eruelly hurt at the ingratitude shown him after his years
of honourable service, was left to realise that, so far as
hig king and country were concerned, his career was
over.

The lapse of nearly four hundred years renders it diffi-
eult, perhaps, for us to judge between the two, but there
is no doubt that such evidence as we have is in favour
of subject rather thun king. Mariz, in his Dialogos de
varia Historia,® hes treated us to o eulogy of the stereo-
typed kind upon the latter—a florid tribute which has
little genuineness in its tone. If we twrn to facts, how-
ever, the story reads differently. Vasco da Gama, to
whom must at least be conceded the honour of discovering
India, whatever may bo said with regard to his cruelties,
was left in obscurity by his royal master for eighteen
years, and his services only properly acknowledged on

cinco reales on dinero, os subir muchos grados en calidad,” however,
s Forin y Sousa tells us (dsie Portugucza, vol. i pt. . cap. v.)
That the rofusal of one king to mmiso tho pay of an old and faithful
sorsant thirteen shillings por annum led to cudless disagresments with
another, to  groat loss of profit to thio first poser of Furopo, and toa
still greater loss of glory, is a reflection not devoid of interest. *Que
mysterios de estreitozas fazem o3 Reys muytas vozes em cousas quo
poueo importso, sendo prodigios de prodigalidades em outras 1" re.
marks & Portugueso historinn.—Fr. Luiz do Sousn, Annaes de EiRei
Dom Jodo IIT., 1b. i. cap. . p. 4r.

I Decadas, Doo. iii. liv. 7. ey

3 Podro do Maris, ap. eit, dial. iv. eup. xix. fol. 305 5. et s¢q,
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the accession of the next monareh, Dom Jofio III. TLord
Stanley! describes Doma Manoel as “ of a most niggardly
disposition, suspicious of his servants, and very jealous
of directing personally all the details of government.”
That the former attribute was true there can be no
doubt, and no better instance eould be given than that
on the occasion of the great defeat inflicted upon the
Calicut armada, when the Viceroy doubled the pay of
the men who had been wounded in the engagement, the
King “ did not approve of his action in this matter.”2
Osorius would have us believe that, Magellan’s applica-
tion was refused on principle by the King;? but we
gather from Barros and others that while he himself
was denied, he was exposed to the double mortification
of seeing othevs promoted whase success “was duo to
intrigue and patronage rather than to any mevit of their
own.” The bitterness with which he felt the injustico
of his treatment was in no way mitigated by the insinua-
tion that his lmeness was feigned in order to support
his claims.

Of Magellan’s movements subsequent to this affair we
are unfortunately left for some time without any detailed
account ; but even without the general statement of the
historian Joo de Barros that he *“ was always “busied
with pilots, charts, and the question of longitudes,” we
should have bad little difficulty in guessing his occupa-
tion, e was unemployed, and was likely always to
remain so, soslong as Dom Manoel was on the throne;
but it is probable that this fact disturbed him very little,

? Viacco de Gama (llakl. Soc., 1869), p. xvii.

2 Corrua, vol. i. pt. i. cap. ix.

8 ¢ Rox, ne aditum ambitiosis np.uret i nogavit.”—Osorius, De
Rebus Evmanuelis, b, xi. fol. 327 .
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and that he had long decided what action he wouid
take. Tt is not by any means certain, indeed, that he
had not an alternative in his mind on the memorable
occasion of his interview with the King—a question to
which we shall have presently to return. Be that as it
may, however, his future action was probably not a little
influenced at this period by Liis becoming strongly united,
if not by the bonds of friendship, at least by those of
common interests, to a fellow-countryman, Ruy Faleiro.

Of Faleiro's antecedents we know little or nothing.
Of what happened to him after the paths of the two
lives diverged, we know almost less. But for two years
or moxe their histories were so closely linked together
that it is impossible not to feel an intevest in him.
Like Magellan, though not a native of the wild Traz-o0s-
Montes, he too was from the highlands of Portugal!
and like him he was in disfavour with his king. Both
had as mistress the science of cosmography. But while
Magellan—the soldier who had served under Dom Lou-
rengo, the sailor who was the first to navigate to Malacea
—was essentially the man of action, Faleiro was of & very
different staap. Student and dreamer, a lover of books
and theories, he was little fitted for the practical life,
His reputation as an and her was
nevertheless undoubted, although his enemics declared
it to Lo the work of a familiar spirit.2 His knowledge

1 In an ebligacion mado by Magellan and Fuleiro with Aranda,
dated February 23, 1518, and now in the archives of Simancas, the
place of residenco of Faleiro is given as Canilla. It should have been
Cubilla, & Navarreto {iv. p. 110} las spelt it, which ia a mere tran-
script of th Portuguose Comlh.

2 «Ruy Falero, quo mostraun ser gran Attrologo ¥ Cosmographo ;
del qual afirmanan los Portugnescs quo tenis va demonio familiar, y
qua de Astrologia 0o sabia nada."— Herrera, Dec i, lib, ii. cap. xix,
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of the principles of naiigation was probably as extensive
as that possessed by anybody at thab period; and his
treatise upon the means of caleulating longitude was
given to Magellan on his departure, to serve as guide
and text-book throughout the voyage. Each man doubt-
less found in the other much to be admired ; but, hile
Magellan benefited greatlyfrom his companion’s acquaint-
ance with the sciences, the fact thab the latter did not
accompany him upon his memorable voyage is not much
to be vegretted. Of uncertain temper, gloomy, and
jealous of Magellan’s infiuence and position, his presence
would have served but to add one more difficulty to the
many with which the indomitable navigator had to
contend,

At what exact period this friendship, or rather ac.
quaintanceship, oviginated does not appear. It is said by
a contemporary historian? that the two men had pre-
viously arranged to dematuralise themselves and offer
their services to Spain, and it is therefore move than
prabable that they were known to each other at the time
when Magellan’s humiliation at his sovereign’s hands
was still fresh in his memory. "hat that incident did
not consist in the mere refusal of moradia there inevery
reason to belisve, even had Barros nob strongly implied
the contrary.2 But he tells us that it was shortly after
his interview with the King that Magellan wrote to
Serrdo in the Moluceas, to tell him that he would be
with him soon—* if not by Lortugal, then by way of
Spain.”  There can be little or no doubt that for a long
time—perhaps for years, possibly ever since his Malacean

1 Burees, iii, )ib, v. cap. viii.; wide Navarrcte, op. eit., vol. iv.
P XXt

? Decadas, Dee, iii. Tib, v. cap. viii. p. 627 {edit. 3777)
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experionces had put him in relation with the farthest
East—the project of reaching the Spice Islands by the
western route had been the dée mére of the great navi-
gator’s restless brain. That it was this projeet that he
laid before Dom Manoel is almosh certai ‘Whether,
like Clolumbus, he was laughed at as a visionary and a
fool,! we do not know. All we know is, that his plans met
with a cold refusal. At seven-and-thirty, a born leader
of men, of varied Enstern experience, a master of the
art of navigation, his mind filled with an all-absorbing
project, Magellan found himself condemned to a lifo of
obscurity and inaction. The former might perhaps have
been possible to him—inaction was not. Still more in-
tolerable must have been the thought that, with his hands
thus fettered, another might come and grasp the prize
which he was now the only one to see. Already Chris-
tovio Jacques had led his ships far south along the coast
of Patagonia, and Vaseo Nunez de Balboa had seen the
vast Pacific lying at his feet from the summit of the
Darien sierra. To a man of Magellan’s character and
training but one course lay open, and that course he
took, Bidding adieu for ever to Portugal, he publicly
denaturalised himself, and passing into Spain, entered
the serviee of the Emperor Charles V.2

This action of Magellan drew down a perfect storm of
abuse and invective, not only from Portuguese writers

3 “Poniondo s Colon por ytalinno burlador,"—Garibay, Comp, Hist.
de las Chron.

2 From Corren we learn something of tho final severance of rela-
tions between Magelian and bis soveroign. The former “demanded
permission to go and live with somo one who would reward his ser-
vices, . . . The Kng said he might do what ho pleased. Upon this
Magollan desired to kiss his hand at parting, but the King would not
offer it to him,"—zi. Anno de 1521, cap. xiv.
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of that date, but from others to whom a more enlight-
ened age and absence of the odium patrium should have
taught broader views and a calmer judgment. With
these violent outpourings whole pages might be filled.
We have seen something of them in the will of Francisco
da Silva Telles,! and Osovius is perhaps even more
unmeasured in his language? André Thevel, borrowing
from the latter, reviles the offender as one who * imagina
en son esprit vn tel mes-contentement qu'oubliant toute
foy, pieté, et religion il ne cessa iusques & co que (entant
quen luy estost) il eut trahy le Roy, qui I'avoit eslené,
1o pays de sa naissance, et hazardant sa vie & de merueil-
leux dangers, eut mis Testat en extrdme danger.”$ But
all these ave put into the shade by a later writer of
Portuguese history. ¢ The two monsters Magellan and
Faleiro,” he says, “traitors to the King whom it was
their duty to serve, barbarians towards the country for
whieh it was their duty to die, conspired to bring about
a fatal war bebween two neighbouring and friendly
powers.”+ Manoel Faria y Sousa, and later Barbosa,

! Yide p. 23,

2 “ Ablura fidem quantum vole: perfidiam tuam publigis litoris
eontostar ; insignem momoriam sceleris infandi posteritati rolinque ;
nullis tamen testimoniie numinis offenslonem et dedecoris sompitorni
maculam vitare poteris” —Osoriuy, op. eit., lib. xi. fol 328.

3 Thevot, Les Vrais Porrtraits et Vies des Hommes Tilustres, p. 528.

4 D. Antonio de Lemos Faria o Castro, Historia Geral de Portugal,
Tiv. xli. cap. ¥ii tom. 3L p. 793 The continuation of this msinge is
still atronger, and possesses also the merit of being amusing. “ Agora
porem, nas primeirs ins, 03 dous hid
Delus suas dirensdes geographicas o astronomicas rospeetivas da Indias
Orientaes o Ocoidontaes, 2 que 0 odio @ & Faixso langava as linbas ¢
formava os triangulos o angulos quo {as leie do Liistoria me dario
Jicenga para dizer) tinh#o mais de agndos que de rector—elles perma-
dirlio no Roi Carlos o a0 Cardoal Ximenos yue as Molucsa pertenciso
A Castella.
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are among the few who refused to join in this cuckoo-
ery of traitor. The renderer of many a service to his
country,” says the latter, the owner of a name whose
glory be had made imperishable, he returned to Portugal,
where he besought from the King some increase in his
marvadia. . . . The King, to the lasting injury of his
country, refused this most just request, and Magellan,
deeply hurt at his refusal, left o country so unworthy of
such a well-deserving son.” -

Tt is hardly necessary at the present day to offer an
apology for Magellan’s act of denaturalisation. although,
were it 50, the elaborate arguments of Lord Staniey of
Alderley ? shonld prove more than sufficient. A. great
discoverer, whether in the realms of science or cosmo-
graphy, belongs to no country, and, moreover, has no
right to permit any false ideas of patriotism to check
the advance of knowledge. That they were false ideas,
and that Magellan in no way injured Portugal, is evident.
By the Tordesillas capitulation of 1494 the world had
been divided into two halves, of which Spain was to have
one, and Portugal the other. 'The western line of divi-
sion had been agreed upon, but where the eastern fell
geographical knowledge was not then sufficiently far
advanced to discover. Upon which side of it the Moluceas
\weve situated was unknown, But his countrymen appear
to have forgotten that no action of Magellan could affect;
the question. Either the islands belonged to Spain or they
did not, and the great explorer, with all his geographical
knowledge, was unable to shift their longitude one hair's-
breadth, Nor, even with the most eritical oye, can we
discover any ground for the anger of the historians save

1 Barboss, Billiothcea Lusitara, vol. i. p. 3t.
% irst Voyage Round the World by Magellan (115K, Soc.), p. ii.
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the extreme jealousy then existing between the two
nations, The custom of denmaturalisation was fully re-
cognised ; it was not regarded as blameworthy, and it
was at that period a common ocourrence. Among naviga-
tors especially the taking service under a foreign power
was almost as much a rule as an exception. Colum-
bus, Cabot, and Vespueci are only three of many in-
stances. But even with this, Magellan was careful not
to offend in the slightest degres against the country
which, after his long services, had treated bim so cava-
linly. ©Before consulting his own interests,” says
Farin, “he frst did everything that honour demanded of
him.”? By a clause in his agreement with the Emperor
of Spain he pledged himself to make no discoveries within
the boundaries of the King of Portugal, and to do no-
thing prejudicial to his interests. e did not sail upon
his great voyage until two years after Lo had signed the
act of dematuralisation. Finally, it should be remem-
bered that there was a sort of tacit understanding that
the Spanish were to prosecute their discoveries to the
west and the Portuguese to the east,? Magellan’s long-
planved expedition was to lead him into occidental
waters, and it is probable that this fact was not githout
its cffect upon his action. “Yet this,” says Faria, “is
the man whose henour has been so fiercely assailed by
the great writers.”$

1 \huml Furld y Sousn, Comentarios a la Lusiadu de Camdes, canto
%

+ Fhine factum est, ut Castellani per meridiom in_cocidenter
sempor ot
littors Besperidam, et woquatororm, et tropicum Capricomni practer-
cuntes fn »—Munster, Unavers.,

P xi03
3 Europa Portuguesa, vol. i, pte. iv. eaps i.
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But whether Magellan was justified in his action, or
whether he was not, matters little as far as regards the
result. The fact remains, that, for the second time, Por-
tugal threw away the chance that fate had offered her.
Hardly a quarter of a century before, King John IL
had ridiculed the ideas of Columbus, and regarded him
as a boasting adventurer. Now Magellan learnt from
his sucoessor that “he might do as he pleased.” The
discovery of the New World and the circumnavigation
of the globe are the two greatest deeds of geographical
history, but Portugal, who had both within her grasp,
cannot claim the credit of either of them.



CHAPTER IV.

MAGELLAN’S PROYECT AND ITS ADOPTION BY
CHARLES V.

Ir was for Seville, the centre of the West Indian trade
and the busiest city of Spain, that Magellan set out
upon leaving Portugal, taking with him other navigators
“guffering from a like disorder ” 1-—the neglect or enmity
of their king. TFaleiro, as we have seen, came under
this head, but he was unable to travel with his friend,
On the 20th October, 1517, Magellan arrived at his des-
tination. He found himself immediately among com-
patriots and men whose interests were of the same nature
ag his own. Foremost among them was one Diogo Bar-
boss, also o Portuguese, a commendador of the Order
of Santingo, alcaide of the arsenal, and a person of con-
siderable importance in Seville” At his hands Magellan
received the greatest kindness and assistance. lrom
his personal knowledge of the Bast this help was of
double value. Nor did he limit it to advice and counsel.
He persuaded Magellan to be his guest, and it appears
that the latter resided at his house until his departure,
three montlis Iater, for the Spanish court at Valladolid.

Diogo Barbosa, although he had held his post under
the Spanish flag for mearly fourteen years® and had

2 “Leovando alguns pilotoa tatborn doentes desta sua enfermidade.”

—Barros, Dee, iii. lib. v, cap, viii,
L e it o ol can e fexecaiel
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“gerved much and well in Granada and Navarre,” had
also drawn his sword for Dom Manoel and Portugal in
the far Bast. In 1501 he captained a ship of the fleet
of Joiio da Nova, and sailed for India.! Althongh this
armada returned almost immediately, the voyage was
conspicnous for the discovery of the two islands, Ascen-
sion and St Helena.? His son, Duarte Barbosa, was
even more distinguished. At what exact period he
had sailed from, and in what flest he returned to his
native land is unknown, but he had navigated the Indian
seas for years, making notes of all he saw and heard.
These notes—0 Livro de Duarte Barbosa—a deserip-
tion of all the ports then visited in the Indian Ocean,
and even beyond—he finished in the year 1516, a fow
months before Ferdinand Magellan came to live beneath
his father’s roof.3 Father and son were sailor-adven-

by a son, Jnime Barbosa, and now in the Archivo das India (1-2-3/3),
that Diogo was made * Aleside on los Aledzaros” in 1503, and con-
tinued to hold that post until his death in x525. Vide Medina, Coleccion
de Documentos inéditos para la Historia de Chile, 1888, vol. jt. p.

1 According to Correa. he was anly an eserivdo or clerk, and was
Yorne on the fag-shap. Vol. i.

s ot P o B outward voyage, the lattor on
their return home in 1502,

3 This work of Duarbe Barboss was first published, in an abbreviated
form, by Ramuio in his Nuvigationi et Viaggs. In 1813 the full text
‘waa given iu the Collccydo de Noticias para a Historia ¢ Geographica
das Nagles Ultramaranas, publishod by the Acud. Real das Scioneias,

X . vil. Bomo time ago a MS. was discovarod in Madrid with
the following title — *De-cripeion de lod roinos, costas, puertos e islas
que hay en el me da la ladia Oriental desdo ol Capo do Buens Espo-
ranza basta la Cliina, de 103 w03 y costumbres de sus natarzles; sa
gobierno, roligion, coiercio, y navegacion ; y de los frutos y ofeotes
que producen aquellas vasts regiones, con otrs noticias muy ouriosas ;
compuetto por Fernando Magallunes, piloto portugues que lo vio y
anduvo todo;” but it has beon conclusively proved by Virnhagen
and others to be only  copy of Barbosa's work.
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turers born and bred, and éven if no family connection
existed between them and Magellan,! the bond uniting
them must have been of no ordinary strength. It was,

of no disad tothe s that the
Alcaide-mér or chief of the arsenal was also » Portu-
guese, and o person of great distinction—Don Alvaro of
Portugal. A brother of the celebrated Duke of Bra-
gangn, who was executed by Joio LE, he was only one
of many such refugees; and, all things considered,
Magellan could scarcely have met with kinder or more
influential protectors than those who welecomed him on
his arival in the county of his adoption.

Close as was the friendship between host and guest,
the two were destined before very long to be still more
nearly connected. The life of Magellan had been, and
was yet to be, one of the most vivid interest. Full of
vigour and incident, kaleidoseopic in its change of scene,
never resting, it ended in a grand success and a great
disaster. Romantic in many ways it doubtless was, but
of romance in the present accsptution of the word little
or none has been handed down Ry the historians to
interest or amuse us. In the Hrama of life Magellan
was not one to be cast for the part of lover, although wo
feel that his character, from its vigour and undaunted
tenacity of purpose, must have strongly appealed to
women’s admiration. Such a rdle, however, it fell to
his lot at this period to play. He made the part as
short as possible. Before the year 1517 had elapsed,
within two months of his arrival in Seville, he married

! Such o conncetion, apart from that of his marriage, is suggestod
by Do Barros Arana (trad. da F. de M. Villas-Bozs, p. 26), though
pon what grounds is not stated, Horrara (Dee. i, lib. i cap, ix.)
spuaks of Duarte Barbosa as primo or cousin of Magellan, but the
tori was sometimes used moroly i the sanse of relation.
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Beatriz Barbosa, the daughter of his fiiend and
host.

We may finish the history of Magellan’s married life
here, so short is it, and so limited our information anent
it. A year and a half later he sailed on the voyage from
whiell he was destined never to return. A son, Rodrigo,
hed mesntime been born to him, who, at the time of his
departure, was about six months old. Neither mother
nor child were fated to live much longer than the father.
In September 1521, five months after the death of the
latter in the Philippines, Rodrigo died. In March of
the following yea—¢ having lived in great sorrow from.
the news which she had received of the death of her
husband ”—Beatriz died also.? Around the story we are
left to throw what halo of romanco we please, but it

1 Although the date of Magellan's marviage is given as 1518, there
is littlo doubt that it is incorrect. In his will of August 24, 1519,
ho speaks of his son boing at that time six months old. This would
fix tho date of the marringe at some time previous to May rsz8, But
we know that from January zoth unlil Angust of that year Magolian
was with the court at Valladolid and clsewhere, The probability is,
thereforo, that Beatriz was married in order to accompany her
band thither. This is made bearly certain by the ovidenco of her
brother, Jaime Barbo.a, on the 3rd Jume, 1520, “y 60 cas6 ¥ vels on
la dicha dofia, Beatriz Barboss en esta ciudad do Sovilla en un dia del
dicho aio” {1517). Vide Autos Fiscales de Jaime Barbosa, . cit. ;
Archico de Inddios, Medinn, op, cit., vol. ii. pp. 306-307. Gomura falls
into tho mistako of making Beatriz a doughter of “ Duardo” Bar-
bosa (cap. xci. p. 83). For an attempt at the genealogy of tho Bar-
bosa family see Appendix I L 315

2 * Porquo (yo, Guiomar do Silvers) Ia vido viva § con mueha pons
por Ia nuova que le habia venido de la mucrte del dicho su marido,”
"Dhis, the evidence of a witnoss in support of Jaime Barbosa’s claim to
Magelisu's estate (vide Medina, op. oit.. vol. i, p. 322), is oxtromely
interesting, as showinyy that the news of the artival of the Picloria
aud Trinidad in the Moluceas must in some manner bave reached
home vid the Portugucse Indies before March 1522. The Victoria
id not arive in Spain until September 6th of that year.
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seems more than probable that the loss of her husband,
child, and brother within so short a period muy have
had some connection with her own untimely death.

Magellan’s oourtship, it is to be presumed, had littlo
or no effect upon his plans. These had been carefully
pre-arranged, and he lost no time in furthering them Lo
the best of his ability. His agreement with Faleiro
before leaving Portugal had been most explicit. Both
were to be equal ; to stand on precisely the samo footing.
1t anything should oceur to either touching the project
they had in hand, he was bound to commnunicate with
his comrade within six hours, and if either desired to
rvenounce the arrangement and return to Portugal, he
could do so on fulfilling the same econditions, Their
project—the attempt to rench the Moluceas by way of
America—was to be revealed to no third party until the
arrival of Faleiro at Seville. However much its broad
outline might be surmised, the details and the actual
route were to remain a secret.

We have already consi the gradual develop
of tho 1Tispanc-Portnguese dificulty.? The line of divi-
sion fixed by the Bull of Pope Alexander V1. on the 4th
May, 1493, fell, it may b remembered, s hundred Jengues
west of the Azores and Cape Verde Islands. The pro-
tests of Dom Jofio 1L of Portugal ceused it, o year
later, to be placed about 21° further to the west, and
Brazil—as yet undiscovered—fell to his eountry’s shavo.
As the knowledge of the South American coast-line
gradually progressed, the continent was found to trend
wesbward until it was once more erossed by the dividing
line, and again became Spanish. It was to this part,
as yet dimly known from the explorations of Glongalo

1 Vide gate, p. 11.
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Coelho and Christoviio Jacques, and possibly from other
sources, that Magellan and his friend Faleiro proposed
to direct their course. Columbus, as we know, con-
sidered his new world only as a portion of the old.
Nor did his Iater discoveries undeceive him, It was
only when, on the one hand, the work of Gama and
Albuquerque had begun to give a definite outline to
the Indies, and, on the other, when each western-
sailing navigator found land at whatever latitude he
might cheose to cross the Atlantic, that the European
world realised the existence of & new continent, and
realised it as a vast, interminable barrier which stretched
apparently from pole to pole Then came the search
for some strait by which to pass it. The inward
trend of the land at the Isthmus of Darien led later
explorers to seek it there. Others, however, had tried
before them. Colurbus had attempted, upon leaving
Cuba on his fourth voyage, to navigate westward with
the idea of returning to Spain by sea. Far to the north,
400, efforts had been made, and made in vain, although
Sebastian Cabot, wrote to Ramusio that he believed the
whole of North America to be divided up inte islands.?
But the isthmus and the morth alike proved impene-
trable, and Magellan felt, even at that date, that it was
not through the ice of a north-west passage thet he was
likely to reach the Moluccas, His route lay by the far
south. Whether he actually knew of the existence of
the strait that bears his name is a question we shall
have presently to consider. One thing we do know;
that he went for the special purposeof seeking a passago
from the Atlantic to the already known Mar del Sur, or

1 Ramusio, op. eit., vol. i, preface, p. 6.
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Bouth Sea,' and that for the discovery of that passage
he was prepared to push on to 70" S,

Magellan, we have seen, allowed nothing to delay the
execution of his plans. Although bound not to reveal
them in detail by his promise to Faleiro, he was equally
engaged to bring them before the notice of those who
had to do with Indinn affairs. He offered, then, firstly
t0 show Spain the shoxtest route to the Spice Islands,
and, secondly, to prove that they lay within her Jegal
boundaries. With his i ductions he had no difficulty
in gaining access to the authorities. It was to the Casa
de Contratacion that he first applied.

On the history of this body—the India Office of Spain,
and of all corporate bodies the most impovtant at that
time—it is unnecessary here to dwell. It had, among
other rights and duties, the power of granting letters of

* Vasco Nunez de Balboa—the man sho ““knew not what it was to
he deterred” (“hombre que no sabi estar parado *)~—sas tho first
European to sight the Pacific from tho West. Taking with hini &
picked band of 190 Spaniards, he sailed from Daricn for Carrcto.
Leaving some of his men in charge of the ship, he took Indian guides
nnd started for the Siorras, At Quarcqua he was opposed by tho
chief Torceha, and in the cogagement which followed tho latter
perished with 600 of his men. Leaving the sk and wounded, Vasco
Nunez contwued his march with tho sixty-seven soldiers retaining to
him, and renched the summit of the Chain on the asth September,
1513, whore he knelt and gav thanks to God and besought help “a
conquistar este tierra i nueva mar que descubrimos.” Desconding, the
littlo bund of Spaniards reached tho sea nt the Gulf of San Miguel,
and it is rocorded that Alonso Martin do San Benito was the first
European to adscnturo himeelf upon its surfaca, (Peter Martyr,
De Orbe Now, Dec. iii. cap. 1. p. 182; Gomara, op, oit., cap. Ixii. ;
Herrors, op. it , Dec. i. lib. Balbion's reasons for calling it
the South Sen are very evident if tho sharp westvard turn of the
inthmus be taken into consideration. Tho Pacific must have appeared
8 . vast ocean lying directly to the south,

2 Fr. Luiz do Sousn, Anndes de ElRei Dom Jodo IT1, bk. i. cap.
X p.
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marque, of giving instruction in navigation, of collecting
information upon newly-discovered lands, and of settling
all legal diffienlties that might avise in connection with
these and kindred matters! Whether the Casa was at
that time too much taken up with other affairs—for it
was jush then the most eventful period of the history of
the New World—whether it really considered Magellan’s
project as that of o visionary and a faddist, or whether
it felt it unwise to ndventure upon thin ice and court
misunderstandings with the sister kingdom, we do not
know. The result, however, was that the scheme, if
not actually rejeeted, was shelved, and but for a chance
circumstance might never have been carried out.

It happened that one of the three chief officials *—a
certain Juan de Arsnda—was very much more astute
than his fellows. Possibly he saw his way to a share in
the future glory of the expedition, and, as we shall sce,
in its pecuniary benefits; possibly he had no interest
boyond the advaneement of his country. It is not
nccessary, ab this distance of time, to impute motives.
The fact has merely to be recorded that he took the
eartiest opportunity of questioning Magellan more
closely. Whether from his adroitness, or from the
Intter’s feeling that he could be trusted, does not appear,
but it was not long before he had persuaded the mavi-
gator to acquaint him with every detail. They were
such as to commend the plan still more strongly to his
favour. But he was cautious, Before taking further
steps he wiote privately to certain friends in Lisbon for

T For the fitst ordinances of the Casz de Contratacion (January
20, 1503), vide Navarrete, vol. ii. p. 285, and Hakluyt, Divers Foyapes,
Hak. Soc., p. .

4
3 Theso, wo learn from the Ordinances, were a lesyrera, a factor,
and an eseridbano.
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information about the two men! What he learnt was
in their favour, and from that moment he threw himself
heart and goul into the affair. He wrote instantly to
the Chancellor of Castile, warmly counselling the de-
spatch of an expedition, and recommending Magellan
as % one who might do a great service to his Highness.”

M hile, at the beginning of December, Faleiro
arrived in Seville. Aranda had as yet said nothing of
the letters, but he now told the two friends of the steps
he had taken. Magellan was merely vexed at his want
of straightforwardness, but Faleiro was furious, and hig
anger was especially directed against Magellan, whom
he uphraided for his ¢ Migere:a ” and failure in the fulfil-
ment of his promises. It was in vain that the latter
pleaded that he had only acted, as he thought, for the
best. Faleiro’s temper, as ready to take offence as it
was slow to forgive, caused & Tupture between the fwo,
which, though temporarily healed, was destined to break
out afresh at no very distant date. Magellan’s partner-
ship with such a firebrand as Faleiro rendered his

3 “Habia cserito 4 Cobarrubias mercader ¢ 4 Diego de Haro mer-

o0 eit., v, i p. 27. Our only source of nformation conesrang this
poriod of Magollan's lifo is this long procés-verbal, v which Aranda
wns arraigned for having, while an offieial of the Cas do Contratacion,
leiro and Magellan to receive o certain
ng from the expedition. The evidence
of the throe parties in the case is given ab length, followed by nine
lotitors from Arands to the King, bringing forward hisservices, how ho
had spent 1500 ducats over his two protégés, and had succceded in
proventing their roturn to Portugal, and finally how he had worked
to geb people to jon tho fech. At a mesting of the Consejo de lns
Tntias in Barcolono, June 25, 1519, under the presidency of the Biskop.
of Burgos, ho was severely censured, and again on tho 2nd July by
the King's fiveal, but. it seoms that the Affair was subsequontly allowed

The greater part of the very lengthy evidence tends to
cxonerato Aranda from blame.
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position most difficult, and such it remained almost up
to the moment of the departure of the expedition.

It was perhaps not the best of times to chooso for
the initiation of plans such as these. Affairs in Spain
were at this period in a condition which, at best, could
not be regarded as other than uncertain. Charles V.,
who had at last made up his mind to visit his kingdom,
had set out from Flanders, and landed in Villaviciosa,
on the north coast of Spain, on the 13th September,
1517.  Droceeding with the wmy to Santander, he
marched thence to San Vieente de la Barquera, and by
Burgos and Palencia to Tordesillas, where his unbappy
mother J for years hopel still re-
sided. On the 18th November he cntemd Valladolid.
Ten days previously the Regent of Chstile— Clardinal
Ximenes de Cisneiros—wisest and most capable of rulers,
had ended his long life while on his way to meet and
welcome his sovereign, and with his loss the affairs of
the kingdom became yet more complicated. The King
was surronnded by Flemings, anxious only to get what
pecuniary benefit; they could from their position. Him-
self hardly able to speak the language of his peopls, he
looked upon the country merely as a means of affording
supplies to aid him in lis designs in Bliddle Kurope.
Mistrustful of their sovereign and bitterly jealous of
his Flemish courtiers, the Cortes was summoned to
Valladolid. It was into this mixture of nationalities
and interests, this hotbed of drigue, that Magellan and
Faleiro proposed to adventure themselves in order to
expound their views upon an obseure point in geography,
concerning which it was more than probeble that no
single one of their auditors would be interested.

On the zoth January, 1518, the two men started
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together to ride from Seville to Valladolid.! Aranda
had arranged to go also. They joined the party of Dofia
Beatriz de Pacheco, Duchess de Arcos, and went by the
Toledo road. Faleiro, still unforgiving, refused to travel
in company with Aranda, and the Jattey, though he, left
at the same time, took another route.! He had begged
them to await the arrival of the answer to the letter he
had written to the Chancellor, but in vain. On his
journey he meb it, and finding that its tenor was in
every way favourable to his protégés, he sent it on to
them, together with a letter to say that he would wait
for them at Medina del Campo, a town some thirty
miles from Valladolid. The messenger met them as
they were crossing the Sierra de Guadarrama, at Puerto
de Herradon, and Faleiro’s resentment had sufficiently
cooled to permit of his seceding to Arande’s proposal,
They met at the town indicated, and went to the same
posada, and in a short time good relations were once
wmore established between the trio,

They were now within easy distance of the court, but,
a5 yet Aranda had not found an opportunity of bringing
forward a proposal he had doubtless long had in view.
Tt was hardly to bo supposed that such kindness s he
bad shown them  strangers, it must be remembered,
who had no claim whatever upon him-—should be entirely
disintevested. Unaided and alone, it was in the highest
dogreo unlikely that they would obtain the King’s car
when business of much greater moment remained un-
touched ; but to Aranda, the most important official

I Francisco Faleiro, Lrother of Ruy Falciro, went with thom, and
mast probably Beatriz, Magollun’s wife.
2 The *“Camino de lo Pinza” (?the Kstremadura road). Vide
Miagellan's ovidence in Aranda’s action already alluded to,
o
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of the India Iiouse, much was possible. o ensure ths
success of their scheme, he had undertaken a long and
wearisome journoy, had exposed himself to frequent
rudeness at Faleiro’s hands, and was now about to spend
still move time and pains in introducing them at court.
1is kindness, however, did not end here. At Seville he
bad offered them his purse, and he again renewed his
offer before arriving in Valladolil. Faleiro, Magellan
tells us, had actually taken advantage of it. And so,
2s the little party crossed the Duero, a few miles only
from their destination, Aranda asked them if they would
give him a share of the profits in the event of the King
deciding to despateh an armada,

The request was not an unfair one, and Magellan’s
frank and generous chavactor was ready to grant it at
once. Bot it was different with Faleiro. Suspicion
held in his mind the place that gratitude should have
occupied. A caveless half-astent given by his comrade
again avoused his anger. Precisely what occurred it is
not easy to make out from the conflicting accounts of
the three interested parties. It seems that Aranda
suggested that he should receive one-fifth of the profits
as his share, but only upon condition that the srmada
was commissioned at tho expense of the King. If the
cosb of it had to be borne by the two navigators and
their friends, he neither asked for nor expected any
veturn. Fuleiro at first would not hear of anything
leing promised, and his brother was of the sate opinion.
Magellan, wiser and less mean, proposed that Aranda
should have one-tenth. The ill-temper of Faleiro, how-
ever, was such as quickly to cause a rupture, Aranda
took it with his usual good-humows. «1f they did not
wish to give him anything, he did not want anyihing,
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and whether they gave it him or not, he would still ad-
vnues their cause to the best of his ability, since by so
doing he did a service to his sovereign.” With this he
rode on alone to Valladolid, while Magellan and his
comrade stopped at Simancas to talk the matber over.!
‘The result of theiv discussion was a resolve to offer
Avanda an eighth share. Three days later they rode
into Valladolid. Aranda came out to meet them, and
took them to his inn, where they lay that night as his
guests. Next day, anxious to be independent, they
sought anothier posada. Avanda lost no time. He took
them first to Sauvage, the Tord Iligh Chancellor, who
had succeeded to that post on the death of Ximenes, and
then introduced them to the Cardinal Adrian of Utrecht
and to the Bishop of Burgos, Finally, he procured
them a personal interview with Charles V. himself. Al
thie, we gather, was done upon the day following their
arrival, or if not, within a very slort period after it
Avanda liad gone a long way towards proving his title
a5 8 man of business. e went still further by having
a document ready for the two navigators to sigm, in
which they legally bound themsclves to fulfil the oral
promises of the day before. This agreement wa¥ exe-
cuted on the 23rd February, 15182 In it it is worthy

1 Navarrete, vol. iv, p. xxav. ; Medina, op. cit., vol. i. p. 21 ¢t seq.

2 4 Otosgamos & conoseomos,” the text runs, * que todo cl provecho
& inturese que hohisremos dol descubrimucnto de las biorras & islas que
placiendo 4 Dios hemos de descabrir ¢ de hallac en lus tierras 6 imites
& demarcaciones del Rey nuestro Sedor Don Cutlos, que vos la
cetava parte, & quo vos daremos de todo el intercse é provecho quo
dello nos suceds: en dincro,  en partimiento, 6 on renta, & e oficio, 6
en obra cunlgnier cosa que sca,”  (Navatrete, vol. iv. p. 170; Medina,
op. cit, vol. 1. p.2.) Tho wholo affair is instroctive, Whatevor thoir
motives, intorested or di-intorested. thoso who aided the armada:
those days wore apt to find their clims entircly ignored. The yesuls
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of note that Magellan has become Spanish even to his
signature. Ferngo de Blagalhfies has ceased to exist,
and we make acquaintance for the first time with
Fernando Magallanes.

Everything, so far, had gone well with the plans of
the two friends, and Magellan might have been exeused
in feeling that success was within his grasp. Had he
known more of those with whom he had to deal, he
would not have heen too sanguine. Three out of the
four were Flemings, and the fourth—Fonsece, Bishop of
Burgos—had made himself conspicuous for his bitter
enmity to Columbus and other explorers of the New
World, The Flemings were men of very unequal merit.
Far superior to the others in ability and force of character
was Charles’s minister and guardian, Guillaume de Croy,
Seigneur de Chidyres. A man of the court rather than
of the schools, he nevertheless encouraged Charles in the
study of history and the art of government, and, from
his early appointment as his tutor, had contrived to
gain extraordinary power over him. He exercised it
in keeping his charge as much as possible away from
Spanish influence, and, knowing and caring little for
foreign affairs other than European, was not likely to
interest himself much in projects of exploration. His
avarice, which was boundless, was perhaps ihe only
chennel by which he might be approached. In this he
was equalled, if not excelled, by Sauvage, the newly
appointed successor to Ximenes, of whose character
little more is known.!
of this venturo of Aranda was a lengthy lawsuit, a loss of all the monay
hio had advanced. and, s slready mentioned, a public censure by th
Consejo do las Tndius,

1 0f the corruption of Charlos Y.'s court at thix time history has
given us a full account. * Everything was venal and disposod of to
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The third—Cardinal Adrian of Utrecht, afterwards
Pope Advian VI, who was made Charles's precoptor
under De Croy—ywas o person of no real ability, Of low

ion, a theologian of a ional type, and a
person of weak character, his advancement must always
be regarded with wonder. Nominally he had acted in
conjunction with Ximenes as Regent of Castile, but the
Iatter, though on the best of terms with his coadjuter, had
never even pretended to consult him. His opinion upon
an affair of this kind was of little importance. That of
Fonseca, Bishop of Burgos, on the other hand—the last of
the four—was of very different weight. As President
of the India House, he took an assured position as an
authority upon colonial matters. Less a prelate than
a man of business, Las Casas tells us he was well suited
for such work as the fitting out of armadas. His char-
acter, nevertheless, was a despicable one. His hatred of
Columbus has already been referred to.! Ie thwarted
YLas Casas upon every point in his struggle to amelio-
rate the condition of the Indians.? Cortez he declared
o traitor and a rebel, and it is more than prohable that
he instigated & plot to assassinate him3 To Balbos he
was equally opposed. The most sanguine of pwoject-
mongers would have gone to him with something more
than diffidence.

These were the men, together with a boy-sovereign
of eighteen, op whom Magellan’s future depended. It

thio highest bidder.” (Reberbeon, Charles V., vol ii. p. s8.) Peter
Martyr, who, from his position, had spocial moans of information,
wrote that in ten montls 1,700,000 ducats wore remitted from Spaiu
into the Low Countrios, (Pet. Mart , Opus Epist., Ep. 608.)
b Trving, Columbus, i
* Betrers, op. cit., Doc.
3 Hervera, op. oit., Dec. iii. Jib, iv. cap, i
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might be imagined that support from the Flemings was
an accidental possibility, but that none could be expecterd
from Fonseca. Nothing is more certain, however, than
the unforeseen. Wlhether the Bishop, venal and avari-
cious like his fellows, looked to the possibilities of futnre
profit, or whether, having lost prestige from his oppo-
sition to the projects of Columbus, he was anxious to
win it back over an expedition whose probable success
he was wise enough to foresee, we do not know, but from
the beginning he took up the cause of tho two peti-
tioners. From that moment its success was ensnred.
Magellan came well prepared with arguments, animate
and inanimate, to support his project. At the first
formal meeting of the King’s ministers ho showed the
letters from his friend Prancisco Serrdo, in which le
told him that if he desired to get rich he should come
to the Moluceas. flo produced Vartema’s account of
his voyage to those islands; how they lay beneath the
Equator, and far distant from Malacea. He showed a
slave whom he had bought in the latter city, and who
was a native of the Spice Islands, and a slave-girl
from Sumatra, “who understood the tongues of many
islands.”  “Other bids for credence did he make,” we
are told by Gomara,! “conjecturing that the land
(ie., South America) tuined westward, in the same
manner as did thut of Good Tlope toward the east,
since Juan de Solis had coasted it up to 40° 8., with his
course always more ot less westerly. And since on the
track thus taken no passage existed, he would coast the
whole continent till he eame to the cape which corre-
sponds to the Cape of Good Mope, and wonld discover
many new lands, and the way to the Spice Islands, as
1 Op. cit.y cap. 3oi. p. 83
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he promised.” Sucl an expedition, Gomara goes on to
say, “would be long, difficult, and costly, and many did
not undexrstand it, and others did not believe in it;
lowever, the generality of people had faith in him
(Magellan) as a man who had been seven years in
India and in the spice trade, and because, being Por-
tuguese, be declared that Sumatra, Malacea, and other
Eastern lands where spices could he found belonged to
Castile” The arguments and projects of the two navi-
gators were illustrated by means of a globe that Magellan
had brought with him from Portugal! Upon it were
shown the continent, as he conceived it to exist, and his
intended route. But, according to Herrera, the stiait
which it was his purpose to seek was intentionally
omitted, in order that no one might anticipate him.”
Finally, when his companion had finished his demon-
strations, Faleiro took up the argument and proved to
his audience that the coveted islands lay within the line
of demareation arranged by the Tordesillas capitulacion
of 1494.

Tt was not to be expected that the project should meet
with entive and instant approval. Sowe of the mini-
sters. pooh-poohed it ; others took mo interest in it.
But upon further discussion the advice of Fonseca pre-
vailed, and it was finally agreed to recoramend the enter-
prise to the favourable consideration of the young King.

2 & planisphere according to Argensol (Cong. de lus Holucas, bk. i.
P X6)—“V pfnisterio dituzade por Pedro Reynel”

* ““Trahia Magellanes un globo bien pintado adondo so mostrna
bien toda la tierrn, y en ol scliald el camina quo pensava llouar ; ¥ do
iudustria dexd ol estrecho en blanco, porque 1o <o lo pudiesen
saltear” (Hfcrrera, Dec. ii. lib. ii. cap. %ix.}, Deaar en anco should,
of course, bo rendered “to omit,” but it is amusing to noto that
probably froin tho presumed antithesis of the bien pintado - it has been
literally translated by one author !
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‘We can understand the delight with which the news
of this resolution—tantemount to an actuat order for
the p ion of their %! t have been re-
ceived by Magellan and Faleiro, Tt only remained for
them now to lay their proposals in due form before the
King. Two ways—both commonly adopted at that timo
—were open to them. "They could either fit out the
expedition at their own cost, giving a certain percentago
of the profits to the Crown, or, leaving the expenses to
be borne by the King, sail as the captains of the ships,
investing a certain fixed amount in articles of barter,
and looking to their sovereign, upon their return, to
confer upon them what benefits he thought fit.

Neither of the applicants was in the position to pur-
chase and equip ships at Lis own expense. Faleiro was
a poor student. Magellan, though a noble and a land-
owner, had profited no whit by his seven years residence
in the Kast. Most of those who survived the glorious
uncertainties of that life made money. But Magellan
was not as other men, and whatever sin might be laid
to his charge, that of greed was not one. In the Kast,
we are told, “ perdeu a sua pobréza "—he lost the little
that be had. But there were plenty of rich and influ-
ential friends to assist him. Iis father-inlaw, Diogo
Barbosa, was 2 man of position, and Aranda was willing
enough to place himself, purso and voice, at his dis-
posal. Just at that moment, moxeover, be had made an
aequaintance which effectunily banished all anxieties on
the score of money. Iis acquaintanee, who afterwards
becawe his friend, was the great merchant Christopher
de Haro.

The Haros were an Antwerp firm of treders—the
Rothschilds of that day—who carried on an enormous
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and most profitable business with both the East and
‘West Indies. In the various towns of these countries
they had agents and clerks, who kept them informed
upon every point of interest in trade, politics, and geo-
graphy. Christopher de Haro resided in Lisbon, and
had an ag t with Portugal ing the Guinea
trade. For some reason which does not appear, he had
seven of his vessels sunk by the King's ships while on
the coast. He sought indemnification, but his claim was
ignored, and feeling that it would be wiser to quit a
country where so little justice could be had, returned to
Spain, his native land1 He had but recently arrived.
Magellan’s project was the one above all others to com-
mend itself to his favour. It gave him an opportunity
of indirectly rovenging himself upon Portugal, and at
the same time of making a very profitable speculation.
Mis ships had traded to the farthest East, had even
reached China,? and he knew what a monopoly of the
spice trade would mean. He did not hesitate to offer all
the aid that lay in his power.

Fortified with such strong support, the two Portuguese
addressed their proposals formally to the King3 They
fell under two heads—those made with the undgrstand-
ing that the King should charge himself with the entire

I 1t appoars from the letter of Maximilian Tronsylsanus that Haro
(who, it may be remarked, was bis father-inlaw's rother) corrobo-
ratod Magellan's ovidence boforo tho Council as o the pasition of the

Moluceas.  Caftari ostenderent (M. ot Haro) . . . sinum magnum ot
Sinarum populos ad Castellanorum nauigationom pertincro, Hoo
item haberi longe cortiimum, insulas quas Moluceas uocant . . . in

ccidente Castollanorum contineri.”

* ©Et tandem Sinarum populis moreaturam fecorat.”—Letter of
Maz. Transylvanus.

3 Arch. do Sevilla, Leg. 1, pap. d. Malueo, 1519 47 ; Meding, vol. i.
P 5i Navwrete, vol, iv. p. 113,
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cost of the armada, and those suggested in the case of
the expenses being borne by themselves.

In the first case they sought the concession of the fol-
lowing privileges :—That no othier exploring expeditions
should be sent ont to the Spice Islands for a period of ten
years, but that, if this could not Le granted, they should
have the right to a twentieth share of the resulting
profits ; that of all the lands and islands discovered by
them a twentieth share of the annual profit should be
theirs ; that in this and every other succeeding expedition
they should be permitted to send gonds to the value of a
thousand ducats for trading purposes ; that in the event
of the discovery of more than six islands, the Seiorio
of two should be conferred upon them ; that of this first
expedition, they should have one-fifth of the neb profits ;
and finally, that the title of Almirante should be con-
ferved upon them.

In the case of the armada being commissioned and
despatehed at their own expense, they besought the King
to grant them the trade and ownership (seior30) of all the
lands discovered by them, and the privilege of the sole
right of exploration and discovery for ten years. In
return, one-fifth of the profits were to be handed to the
Crown.

The document was returned, with comments nnder
each section, to Magellan, leasing the matter still un-
decided ; but a few days later, on the 2znd March, 1518,
a capitulacion was granted by Charles V. which defi-
nitely settled the terms under which the two explorers
were to sail.l

They were as follows :— First, the King engaged with-

1 Sovillo Archives, Leg. 4", Seo Navarreto, o), 1v. p. 116 ; Medina,
vol. i. p. &



1518.] MAGELLAN'S PROJECT. 107

out delny to fit out an armada of five ships, provisioned
for wo years, and bearing a complement of 234 officers
and cvew. Under certain restrictions and reservations,
he conceded the demand that no other explorers should
be sent out for ten years! Ie stipulated that no ex-
ploration should be proseeuted within the territories of
his ‘“dear and well-beloved uncle and brother the King of
Portugal.” Of all the profit arising from their disco-
veries, Magellan and Faleiro should receive the twentieth
part. Henceforward they might be permitted to send
goods to the value of a thousand ducats for trading pur-
poses in every armade, but for this voyage they were to
content themselves with one-fifth of the proceeds. 1f
more than six islands should be discovered, they might
¢hoose two, from which they would be permitted to receive
onc-fifteenth of the profits. Of the lands discovered
they were to have the titlo of governors or adelantados,
which title was to be hereditary. Finally, it should rest
with the King to appoint a factor, trensurer, confador,
and clerks, wlho should be responsible for the accounts of
the expedition.?

Accompanying this documert was another, by which
Magellan and his comrade were appointed Captains-
general of the armnda, entitled from that moment to

1 Part of this passage is interesting . —* Pero enticndeso quo si Nos
quiseriemos mandax dosenbrir & dar licencia para oflo 4 otrs personas
por la via del huesto, por las partos e las islas & tiera firme ¢ & todas
Ins otras partos quo estan decoubiortas hécia Ia parto que quisioremos
para buscar el Eatrecho de aguellos mares, 1o podames mandar.

% By o cedula of 30th March of the following year (1519) Charles
appointed Luis de Mendoza treasurer n$ a yearly salary of 60,000
maravedis, and Juan de Cartagena Veedor-yeneral 1t 70,000 maravedis,
and also captain of the third ship at 40,000 maravedis, On the zoth
April Antonio do Coca was made Contador of the armada at 50,000
maravedis.  Ronghly speaking, 1000 marnvedis were equivalent to
113, 6. of our money.
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draw pay at the rate of 50,000 maravedis per annum
from the Casa de Contratacion at Seville.

Charles, who in his bid for popularity had succeeded
but ill with the Castilians, now resolved to visit Aragon.
Summoning the Cortes of that country to meet him in
Zaragoza, he marched thither in the begianing of April.
Upon the way he stopped at Aranda de Duero, where
his brother Ferdinand was then living, a prince so great
a favourite with the Spaniards that the King’s design—
which was to send him out of the country—was no ill-
advised step. But, in spite of the many intrigues and
difficulties in which he found himself involved, and the
barrier to external influences intorposed by his Flemish
courtiers, Charles found time to interest himself in the
affairs of the future expedition. Magellan and Faleiro
had followed the court, and being in constant communi-
cation with the King, were enabled to eseape the delays
which must otherwise inevitably have arisen. By certain
cedulas issaed by Charles ot this time the pay of the two
captains was raised to 146,000 maravedis, and they were
granted a sum of 30,000 marvedis to defray initial
expenses. 'The privilege of appointing a pilot was given
to them, with the promise that, if approved by the Casa
de Contratacion, he should have the title of « piloto real
conferred upon him. Not less welcome was o grant to
the heirs of either navigator, in the event of his death,
of all the privileges and profits to which the latter was
entitled.!

Although charged to proceed to Seville in order that

3 This cedula, dated from Aranda do Duero, April 17, 1518, was
that upon which his relation, Lorenza de Magalhics, afterwards (1567)
founded Lis clsim to Magellan's ostate, Vide Medina, op. cit., val,
1. p. 356
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they might place themselves en rappor! with the officials
of the India House and forward the preparation of the
armada, Magellan and Faleiro wero led to defer their
journey. Leaving Aranda de Duero, Charles proceeded
by Calntayud to Zaragoza, into which city he made a
formal entry on the 15th May. The two friends followed
in his train, for a check hed lately come upon tho pro-
gress of their scheme. Against want of money and
intorest, against the apathy or opposition of those in
power, they had fought for months, and fought success-
fully ; but mow they were confronted by an obstacle not
less serions, though long foreseen—the silent intrigues
and loudly-expressed remonstrances of the Court of
Portugal.



CHAPTER V.
PREPARATIONS FOR THE VOYAGE.

Ir could hardly be otherwise than that the news of
Mugellan’s approaching voyage should reach Portugal.
The defection of two such well-known navigators, and the
fact that they took others with them *sick with o like
disorder,” could not be passed unnoticed, and the subse-
quent movements of the Consejo de las Indias at Seville
were, no doubt, fully reported to Dom Manoel by the
Portuguese ‘‘factor” resident in that city. But it
Liappened that a special cncumsc aneo brought the matter
still more 1y for: Iy, in fact,
that, advanced as were the prepmauons, the expedition
was within an ace of being countevmanded.

The question of the marriage of Dom Manoel to Dofia
Jeonor, sister of Charles V., was ab that time under
consideration,! and Alvaro da Costa, the ambassador of
Portugal ab the court of Spain,? was charged with the
arrangement of the alliance. The treaty was concluded
ab Zaragoza on the 22nd May, 1518, and ratified at the
same place on the 16th July. It was the very period

1 Blenncr became the third wifo of Dom Manoel in November 1558,
although at that timo obly twenty yenrs of age, and thirty years his
junior. After lis death in 152z, she marmed Francis L of France,
Who also predeceased her,
> Alvaro da Costa was chamberlain and Guarda-réups. Dor to Dom
Tinoel.
110
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when Charles was most taken up with the project of
Magellan, and Da Costa, naturally, was brought much
in contact both with the affair and the principals con-
cerned. They appear to have caused him far more
anxiety than the muriage. From a letter to his sove-
reign, still existing in the Torre do Tombo, we got a
glimpse of the means he employed o frustrate them.
It was not the first time that the Portuguese, having
been led by their ignorance and folly wilfully to roject
one of the world’s greatest chances, fonght tooth and
nail to counteract its outcome. When Columbus reached
the shelter of the Tagus upon his first reburn from the
New World, it was suggested by some of those at court
that much future trouble with Spain would be obviated
by his assassination. Not that these methods were con-
fined to Portugal. The value of each discovery, owing
perhaps to the rapidity with which it followed upon a
provious one, was so lictle understood, that either of the
two countries was ready at a moment's notice to take up
an attitude of protestation, if not of something worse.
At first Da Costa confined himself to simple dissussion.
In the course of various interviews with Magellan, he
told the latter that, if he persisted in his enterpxise, not
only would he sin against God and his King, but would
for ever stain the honour of his name, and, moreover, that
le would be the cause of dissension hetween two kings
who wonld otherwise, by the approaching marriage, still
further strengthen the ties of friendship which already
existed between them. Magellan’s answer was that his
first duty was to his King; that he had pledged his word
to him, and that he £oo would sin against his honour and
his conseience should he break it. Mo Da Closta’s temp-
tation of reward if he went back to Portugal he turned
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equally a deaf ear. Tailing thus both in threats and
persuasion, the Poituguese ambassador turned his atten-
tion to the King’s ministers. The Cardinal, Adrian
of Utrecht, weak and vacillating, half fearful of conse-
quences and half mistrustful of the success of the expedi-
tion, played into his hands. “The Cadinal,” writes
Alvaro to his sovereign, “is the best thing here.””
Chitvres, too, was hardly against him ; but Fonseca’s
convictions were so strong and his influence so great,
that it was impossible to ignore them. Again foiled,
Alvaro wrote to Dom Manoel. The news was received
with renewed irritation, and discussed in various juntas
and conselhos. Some advised that Magellan should be
bribed to return ; obhers were against this, as affording
a bad procedent. There were not wanting those who
advised that he should be put out of the way. One of
them was a bishop. Lafitau, in Lis Conguétes des Porfu-
gais, hides, as a Jesuit, the name of this honourable
counsellor ;? Favia and De Gous give it to us for eter
nal obloquy—it was Ferdinand V: llos, Bishop of
Lamego, who afterwards became Archbishep of Lisbon 8

The news of his contemplated assassination reached
Magellan while still in Zaragoza, but he paid but slight
attention toit, and pursued his daily avoeations, although
exposing himself as little as possible, and “ when night
surprised them in the house of the Lishop of Burgos,”
Herrera tells us © the latter sent his servants o guard

3 ¢ 3o, sonhor, o tynha ja bem pratieado com o cardeal que he o
milhor cousa que qus ba, ¢ ihe nom pareco bem evte negoeio, —Lettcr
of Du Custa, Toree do Tomho, fav. 18, mag. 8, num. 38,

# Latitau, op. cit., vol. 1. liv. viti. p. 3.

5 ¥aria y Souss, Buropa Portugezs, pt. iv. cap. i. tor. i. p. g4
0 birpo dixe que sen parccer ara que o nandas-o el Rei s
ferosso mercos, ou o mandasse matar, " —Goes, 4ta. pte. oap. xxxvii,
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them home”! Of Faleiro they made little account.
His odd manner and unceitain temper led people to the
conclusion that he was not quite of sound mind.2

‘There were other reasous bLesides those of eaution
which ealled for the departure of the two navigators from
Zaragoza. 'Their presence was needed in Seville. The
Casa de Contratacion, as a body, had never been very
favourable to their scheme. Some jealousy with Aranda
possibly stood in the way ; possibly the officials really did
not helieve in its chances of success. But they opposed
it, if not actively, at least with a dead wall of difficulties
which vendered the future prospects of the expedition
none of the brightest. Charles, with a quiet but firm
hand, now put all these obstacles aside. In a letter
written on the 20th July, 1518, he informed the India
ouse that it was his intention to carvy oub the pro-
posed expedition ; that certain moneys lately arrived
from the West Tndies were to be used for the purpose of
defraying the expenses ; and, finally, that ho desired the
armada should be fitted out in every way in conformity
with the ideas and wishes of Magellan and Ialeivo.”
But at the same time that he wrote the letter, anxious
t0 hasten these prepavations, ho intimated his wish that
the two captains should depart for Seville without delay.

In order to mark still further his sense of the impor-
tance of the expedition and of his confidence in those

1 Horrera, Dos. i, lib. if. cap. xxi.
“Polo beacharel nom dou eu muite que anda cas fora do seu
sys0."—Letter of Alcaro,
Y que de las s000 pesos do oro que habian llogado para S, M.
do la Isla Fernandina gastasen basta sois mil ducados & lo que fuese.
necesnrio conformo & dicho memorial, @ vista, contentamianto, ¥
parecer do lox mismos Magallanes y Falero,"— Arch. deSewille, 1ide
Navarrete, vol. iv. p. 123,

u
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to whom he had intrusted its command, Charles signified
his intention of conferring upon Magellan and his com-
rade the honour of the Order of Santiago. They were
decorated with the eross of Comendador in the presence
of the Council, and at the same time the conditions of
the agreement concluded at Valladolid on the zznd
Marxch were formally confirmed.! A few days later—at
the end of July—the tiwo Comendadores left the court
for Seville.

In answer to the remonstrances expressed by Alvaro
da Costa, Charles had written to Dom Manoel to explain
the object of Magellan’s voyage. 1In his letter he assured
his future brother-in-law that nothing should be done
in any way to the detriment of Portugal, and that if
he had not complied with his wish, it was because the
explorations proposed would not be carried beyond the
limits of Spanish waters.®> His reasoning was in vain.
Alvaro venewed his complaints and remenstrances, and
Chievres being ill, succeeded in obtaining a private
interview with the King. The sum and substanes of it
he gives in the letter addressed to Dom Manoel, and
dated from Zaragoza, September 28th, 1518, to which
allusion has already been made,

Ly

“ 81rE,—Concerning Ferdinand Magellan's affair, how much I
have done and how I have laboured, God kuows, as 1 have
written you at length; and now, Chievres being ill, I have
spoken upon the subject very strongly o the King, putting before
him all the inconveniences that in this case may arise, and also
representing to him what an ugly matter 1t was, and how un-
usual, for one king o receive the subjects of another king, his
friend, contrary $o his wish,—& thing unhieard of among cavaliers,

1 Herrera, Doc. ii. lib. iv. cap. ix.
2 Argensola, Anales de Aragon, i, caps, Tvii, and lxxsx.
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and accounted both ill-judged and ill-seeming. Yet I had just
put your Highness and your Highness's possessions at his service
in Valladolid at the moment that he was harbouring these per-
sons against your will. I begged him to consider that this was
not, the time to offend your Highness, the more 50 in an afiair
which was of such little importance and so uncertain ; and that
he would have plenty of subjects of his own and men to make
discoveries when the time came, without availing himself of
those malcontents of your Highness, whom your Highness could
not fail to believe likely to labour more for your dis-service than
for anything else; also that his Highness had bad until now so
much to do in discavering his own kingdoms and dominions, and
in settling them, that he onght not to turn bis attention to these
new afairs, from which dissensions and other matters, which
may sell be dispensed with, may result. I also represented to
him the bad appearance that this would have on the year and
at the very moment of the marriage,—the ratification of friend-
ship and aflection. And also that it scemed to me that your
Highness would much regret to learn that these men asked
leave of him to return,’ and that he did not grant it, the which
are two fanlts—the receiving Lhew contrary to your desire, and
the retaining them contrary to their own. And I begged of him,
both for his own and for your Highness's sake, that he would do
one of two things—eit her permit them to go, or put off the affair
for this year, by which he would not lose much ; and means
might be taken whereby he might be obliged. and your High-
ness might not be offended, as y8u would be were this scheme
carried ont.

“He was 5o surpriscd, sire, at what I told him, thatdl also was
surprised ; but he replied to me with the best words in the world,
saying that on no account did he wish to offend your Highness,
and many other good words; and he suggested that I should
speak to the Cardinal, and confide the whole matier to him.

«1, sire, hiad already talked the matter over with the Cardinal,
who is the best thing here, and who does not approve of the
business, and he promised me to do what he could to get off the
affuir. He spoke to the King, and thereupon they summoned the
Bishop of Burgos, who is the chief supporter of the scheme.
And with that certain two men of the Council succeeded in

1 'Ihis statement, there is ovory reason to belicve, was a pure fiction
of Da Gouta.



116 LIFE OF MAGELLAN. [cHAP. V.

making the King believe that he did your Highness no wrong,
since he only ordered exploration to be made within his own
limits, and far from your Highness’s possessions ; and that your
Highness should not take i I that he should make use of two
of your subj of no great i hile your
Highness bimself employed many Spaniards. Thoy adduced
many other arguments, and at last the Cardinal told me that the
Bishop and the others insisted so much upon the subject, that
the King could not now alter his determination.

“While Chievres was well, I kept Tepresenting this business
to him, as I have just said. and mach more, He lays the blame
upon those Spaniards who have pushed the King on. Withal he
will speak to the King, but on former oceasions I besought him
much on this subjeot, and he never came to any determination,
and thus, I think, he will act now. It seems to me, sire, that
your Highness might. get back Ferndo de Magalhdes, which
‘would be a great blow to these people. As for the bachelor &
0 not count him for much, for he i half crazy.

“Do not let your Highness think that I sent too farin what I
said to the King, for beside the fact that all I said was true,
these people do not perceive an; thing, nor has the King liberty
up to now to do anything of himself, and on that account his
actions may be less regarded (por 130 86 deue de syntyr menot wias
oousas). May the Lord increase the life and dominions of your
Highnoss to His holy service, From Saragoga, Tuesday night,
the 281h day of September.

“I kuss the hands of your Highness.
* ALUARO D COSTA."2

This Jetter was not the last of its kind, for though
the protestations of the Portuguese ceased for the time
Dbeing, they were again renewed upon the removal of the
court to Barcelona. Nor did they end until Magellan

1 Ruy Faleiro,

2 Arch. da Torre do Tombo, Gav. 18, Mago 8, No. 38. The Tetter
s given in the original Portogueso by Do Barros Arans, p, 181, and
also by Lord Steuley in bis First Voyage. Navarete {vol. 1v. p.
123) gives an excerpt, mnd Medina {op. cit , vol. i, p. 16) a bransiation
into Spamsh.
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fnally weighed anchor at 8. Tucar de Barrameda, and
started on bis voyage,

‘We must return to Seville, whither the two newly-
made knights had meanwhile arrived. Their presence was
regarded by Fonseca as likely to smooth the difficulties
made by the Cnsa. de Contratacion. This body, although
definitely instructed by the King's cedula in March,
as we have seen, demurred somewhat to the arrangement
therein contained, and wrote again asking for a confir-
mation of a despatch signed by the Chancellor of Bur-
gundy,! expressing themselves, however, as ready to fulfl
the King’s orders “ if we have at the time money of his
Highness ab our disposal” The reply was Chailes's letter
of July 2oth alveady mentioned, charging them to fit out
the fleet according to the ideas and wishes of its com-
manders, It is probable that they themselves carried
this document and presented it in person.? But what-
ever may have been the way it reached its destination,
its effect was magical “ We are greatly pleased,”
write the officials, “ ut the arrangement concluded ; . . .
it is & very honourable and advantageous undertaking,
as we inform the Bishop of Burgos.”$ They udd that a
certain gum of money had arrived from Indianand ask
whether it should be used for the expenses, Kverything
seemed to be coulewr de rose. But even at the hands of
the Casa de Contuu.a,cmn Mage!lan ;md his friend had
yet to i and and
to learn that the King of Spain—despite the lengthy
tities heading his cedilas—was not all-powerful.

! This )etf.er s dated Moy 31, 1518, Fide Lord Stanlay's First
Vnyq];{.a xxx

mos 1 do V.4, do 20 do julio eon el Comendador Magal-
lunes."  Vide Navarrote, vol. iv. p. Ixxvi.
3 Navarreto, idem.
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The altered attitude of the Iudia ITouse, together with
the energy of Magellan, gave an impulse to the work of
preparation which must have gone far towards compen-
sating the great navigator for the months of disappoiut-
ment and heart-burnings through which he had passed.
Now his way scemed clear before him, and he worked
with double vigour, writing leters to the King and the
Bishop of Burgos to inform them of the progress of
affairs. At the outset, good-natured and a hater of
quarrels, he had ceded to the fitful temper and morose
disposition of his comrade, and permitted him to take
the lead ; but when it came to practical werk—to the
fitting out of « fleet and to the choice of his men, then
the experience gained by years of service in the East
necessarily placed Magellan in a position of authority
which was beyond the power of Faleito to question. So
long as they had to bow the knee in kings’ houses,
petitioners and place seekers, they were equals; but
upon the ship’s deck in Scville, away from the flattery-
laden sir of the court and almost within sound of the
sea, there was little doubt as to which meant to com-
mand. And so, little by little, it came sbout that
Faleiro, albeit nominally on the same footing —the *con-
junta persma” with Magellan—fell insensibly into the
second place.

The preparations, then, were pushed on with ail apeed.
The King, in his letter of July zoth, 1318, had informed
the officials of the Casa de Contratacion that siuce so
many articles were to be obtained both better and cheaper
in Biscay, ho had sent thither to purchase them. Other
materials were appareutly brought from Flanders) The

3 Navarrete, iv. p. 123
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ships, as we learn from documents in the Seville archives,!
were all bought at Cadiz. The duty of purchasing them
devolved upon Aranda, who was probably totally lacking
in the technical knowledge necessary for such a respon-
sible task, for we learn from the Portuguess factor
Alvarez, then residing in Seville, that they were not in the
best condition. *They are very old and patched,” he says,
« ... and I would be sorry to sail even for the Cana-
ries in them, for their ribs are as soft as butter.”? In
Charles's original capitulacion Lo the two captains he
had promised that two should be of 130 tons, two of 9o,
and the fifth of 60.8 Those obtained for the expedition
weve tolerably close to the promised tonnage, being i
the aggregate only twenty tons short.

The names and burden of the five vessels were as
follows :—Santo Antonio, 120 tons ; Trinidad, 110 tons ;
Concepeion, go tons; Victoria, 85 tons; Santiago, 75
tons.! What they were, how vigged and masted, we do not
know. TFrom a few chance words of Ilerrera ® we learn
that the poop and forecastle of each was provided with

1 Papeles del Maluco, leg. i Vide Navarrete, iv. pp. 162, 3

% +Sam wuy velhos  Remdados porque o8 vy em monta corregeer,
ha onzo messes que 5¢ correjeram o est na agoa agora calefelam asy
nagoa eu entroy eles alguas vezes o gertifico a voss sHoza que |
canaria navegaria de maa vontads nelcs, porg’scus liames sam de
rebe,"— Letter of Altarez tothe Keng of Portugal. Vide Arana, p. 184
et seq.

$ Navarrete, iv. p. 119,

4 1t i difficult to assign an ezact value to those * tonelea do porte.”
They may péthaps be taken as roughly represcnting tho ordinary tous
of the present duy, Navarrete (vol. iv. p. 3) says that funcles and
unclasdas wust not e confused. “The Biscayans reckoned formorly
Ly tonctes and the Sevillians of tho Indian trade by toncladas, which
micasures are in tho relation of hve to six—ten toncles making twelve
tonilades” Tn Nutier's Dictionary, however, the lntter measure is
24id to be equivalent to two doneles.

5 Hesrera, Dec, ii. lib, ix. eap. xi., and Des,

b, i7. cap. ii.
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high obras muertas—with castles, in short—as was not
unusual at that period. Such vessels are seen in the
illustrations of De Bry, and indeed in Columbus’s own
sketch of the Oceanica Classis. It is, however, nearly
certain that all the ships in Magellan’s flest were decked,
while but one of the three which the discoverer of America
took on his memorable voyage was thus advantaged.

The ships once obteined, Magellan occupied’ himsel
unremittingly in overhauling them and putting them
in a seaworthy condition before starting upon his long
and dangerous voyage. It was when engaged in this
work, on the 22nd October, that an ineident occurred
which once move brought foreibly before him the fact
that the emissaries of Portugal were still at work to
thwart his plans. I1e had no longer Alvaro da Costa
at hand to tell him that he was a renegade to his face,
and to connive at his assassination in secret, but his
place was taken by an individual even more unserupu-
lous—RBebastian Alvarez, the factor of the King of Ior-
tugal at Seville, and it was probably at his instigation
that the incident arose.

On the day in question, Magellan had taken advantage
of the tide to careen the Trinidad at an early hour. At
daybresk ho ordered four flags bearing his own arms to
bo placed upon the four capstans. In this position it
was the customn always to carry the captain’s flag, while
the royal ensign and that of the vessel itself were flown
at the mast head. On this occasion these latter were not
Loisted, having been sent to be painted, and Mogellan,
engaged with his work, had not noticed their absence.

As the work proceeded, a gradually increasing crowd
of idlers wutched its progress. It was maliciously sug-
gested by some one that the capstan flags bore the arms



N HARBOUR (from De Bry).
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of the King of Portugal, and, in the midst of consider-
able disturbance and murmuring, an alcalde arrived upon
the scene. Without consulting Magellan, he incited the
bystanders to tear them down. The crew now summoned
their captain, till then engaged below, who explained
to the official that “ the arms were not those of the King
of Portugal; that they were his arms, and that be was
& vassal of the King of Spain.”” Sailor and aristocrat,
Magellan was not one to bandy words with an alcalde,
and he returned to his work withoub further discussion.
The alealde was not so easily satisfied, and insisted
upon the removal of the obnoxious flags, and Masienzo,!
the chief official of the Indiz Ylouse, who arrived at
this juncture, advised Magellan to yield for the sake
of calming the mob. He agreed, but the moment was
a bitter one for him, for among the erowd he recog-
nised an agent of the King of Portugal? whom he felt
to have been the instigator of the riot. Meanwhile the
sloalde bad gone in search of the port-captain (feniente
del alméranie), whose appearance was the signal for a
renewal of the tamult. Auwriving on the scene, he called
upon his men to “arrest the Portuguese captain who
flew the ensign of the King of Portugal,” at the same
time roughly demanding of the Comendador “whero
were the flangs, and why were they hoisted upon the
capstans 17 Magellan’s answer was that he was not

3 The learned doctor, Suncho Matienzo, n well-known porson at that
‘period, was a Canon of Seville and a porsonat friend of Magellan, who
appointed him as his exccutor in bis will of August 24th. xs19.

2 “ Pussto quo me ora afrenta hacerlo por estar alli presento un caba-
Nero del Rey do Portugal, que por su mandado vino & esta cindad &
contratar conmige que me volviese & Portugnl, 6 & bacer otra cosa
que no fuese mi provecho.”—Letter of Magellan to Charles V., 24th
October, x518 ; vide Navarrote, iv. p. 125, Thera is little doubt that
the cabalicro in question was Sebastian Alvarez,
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responsible to him for his actions. The port-captain
instantly called upon the alyuaciles to arrest him, but
Matienzo cautioned the irate official that if he laid hands
upon the King’s captain he would have to answer for it
to the King. Ilis interf 80 enraged the

and compaions of the feniente, that they rushed upon
him with their drawn swords, threatening to kill him.
Seeing the highest official of the Tndia Ilouse thus treated,
Magellan’s people—or such of them, he naively remarks,
as had been paid in advance—thought it best to decamp.

The ship was at the moment in a somewhat dangerous
position. Magellan, ever ready of resource, saw in this
fact a means of strengthening his hand. He threatened
to leave it, and to make the officials responsible for any
damage that might occur. Alrendy conscious, perhaps,
of having gone too far with Matienzo, the port-captain
thought it best to alter his tactics, and he eventually left
the ship, contenting himself with arresting some of the
erew and disarming others. The fendente del asistente,
to whom Magellan had appealed for support, refased to
interfere.

Two days later Magellan wrote a full aceount of the
affair to Charles V., begging him to order a searching
inquiry to be made. The fearlessness and independence
of the letter is characteristic of the man. e asks for
full satisfaction, reminding Charles that “ the insult was
offered not to Ferdinand Magellan, but to one of your
Highness's captains” He requests that the principal
actors in the émeude may be punished, and that for the
futare he may be secured against the recurrence of such
acts of violence.! We have not Charles’s answer, but

1 Seo Magellan's letter, alrendy referred to, Herrora also gives a
detailed account of the occurrence (Dec. fi. lib. iv. cap. ix.); and
Argensola also refers to it in the Anales de Aragon, Kb, i cap. lxxix.
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we have Herrera’s account of it. The King expressed
his regret at the incident, and his approval of Matienzo’s
action. He censured the {enicnte del asistente and the
Sevillians for refusing to aid Magellan, and ordered the
officials who had taken the chief part in the disturbance
tobeseverely punished. IIis prompt action and readiness
to support the two Portugnese on this occasion went far
towards smoothing their difficulties for some time to come,
In January, 1519, Charles V. left Zaragosa. He
arrived at Lerida in tho beginning of February, and
entered Barcelona on the 15th of that month, Fonseca,
the staunch friend and supporter of the explorers, accom-
panied hir, and kept their undertaking and its many
needs constantly before his notice. Fearing anticipation
by Portugal, he counselled the prompt despatch of the
fleet at all costs. At Seville the two treasurers of the
armada, Alonso Gutierres and Cristobal de Haro—the
great Iast India merchant already ioned
doing their best to forward the preparations, Money
was greatly needed. The coffers of the India House
were well-nigh exhausted, and Charles, who regarded
Spain as the milch-cow of the Netherlands, was not
likely, even if it lay within his power, to replenish them
from his own pocket. At this juncture Haro offered
Lis purse, and we learn from the letter of Alvares, by
which private information was given to the King of
Portugal of the affairs of the armada, that he advanced
four thousand ducats, the fifth part of the whole cost.?
Haro himself cleims to Lave given 1,616,781 maravedis.?

1 ¢ A qita pte deata armagi he de xpovi de haroo g naln meteo iij.
ducados.”—Vide Arana, gp. cit., p. 189.

% Medina, op. oit., vol. ii. p. 235. It ws nob a remuncrative ven-
tare, Iluro met with the not uncommon fate attending those who at.
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1Lis coadjutor, Gutierres, also aided, and, with permission
of the Bishop of Burgos, other Seville merchants joined
in the venturs. In this manner the entire cost of the
armada, 8,751,125 maravedis, or {5033, was finally
defrayed?

From the court in Barcelona the King’s cedulus were
now despatehed in quick succession. Whiting on the
1oth March, 1519, he grants to the merchants who have
advanced money the right of investing an equal sum. in
the three expeditions next succeeding.? On the joth of
the same month Luis de Mendosa was appointed trea-
surer to the fleet, with a salary of 60,000 maravedis per
annum during the voyage. At the same time Juan de
Cartagena was gazetted eaptain of the third ship and
Veedor-general, for which he was to receive pay at the
rate of 110,000 maravedis, Caspar de Quesada was
nominated captain of the fourth ov fifth ship on the 6th
April, and a few days later Antonio de Coca wus made
Contador of the armada at 50,000 mavavedis.

On the 18th April Charles orders that, ready or not
ready, the fleet must sail before the end of May, and on

that period were unwise enough to put their trust in princes. After
an interminable lawsuit with the Crown, ho at length got back hia
‘money, with no interest or profit whatsoever, after an cightecn yoars'
delay. e bad also boon unfortunate enough to invest 4 nearly equal
sum m the succceding expodition, which was also returned under the
same conditions.  Pide Medina, vol. i p. zg2. Othors who had lent
moncy weve ot even w0 lucky as Faro, Twenty years after the cxpe-
dition sailed the plaint of Antonio Fucar (Fugger) and Company was
brought before the conrts. Thoy had advanced 10,000 ducats, and
had not bad a maravedi. But thoy wero Germans, and the Consojo.
hod 1o hositetion. It declred the Crown free and quit of all liability,
“and from henceforth wo deeroe that the said Antonio Fucar y Ga
shall for evor hold their penoe ! i

1 Herreva, Dec. i. lib, iv. cal

* Navarrote, op. cit. iv. p. xivia
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the following day issues a species of sailing orders,
charging the officers and crew “to defer to the opinion
and orders of Magellan, and to proceed straight to the
“spicery.’”! The despatch of o second armada by the
seme route appears to have been early contemplated, for
in & cedula of the goth April, Franciseo, brother of Ruy
Faleiro, is assigned a salary of 35,000 maravedis to
reside in Seville and take in hand the affairs of the fleet
“which was to be sent after that of which Magellan
and bis brother were in command.” A week later, May
5th, the King desires that the number of the crew of the
squadron should be limited to two hundred and thirty-
five men, and directs that, if possible, it may further be
reduced. It was left to Magellan, “por cuanto tiene
mas experiencia,” to choose his men. The captains were
divected to declave in writing the course they meant to
take, and the rules to be followed in making observa-
tions. At the same date Charles granted certain entre-
tenimientos to Magellan’s wife, ordering that during the
voynge her husband’s pay should be received by her.
He also offered to reward the pilots and masters aceord-
ing to their services upon their return to Spain; but
whether he yielded to the petition of the fovmer to
raiso their pay to threo thousand maravedis per mensem
does not appear.

Such is the gist of some of the many cedulas that the
labour of Muioz disinterred from the mass of papers in
the Seville archives. The lost, and most lengthy of all,
was despatohed from Barcelona on the 8th May, and

I Py q los del armada sigan ol parecor y detormynacis do Magallafts
P q anks y P q & Otra pt Tayk & ln especorsa.” This document
appears fo have fallon into the bands of the Portuguese in Ternato

whon Antonio do Brito scrzod the Prinidad, Seo Lord Stavley's First
Foyuge, p. xxxiii., and Appondix, p. xii.
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contains the most minute instructions for the voyage.
So minute and diffuse are they indeed, that a bare refer-
ence to the subjects touched upon can only be given
here. The d is divided into ty-four heads,
and might with advantage have been furnished with an
index. The captains are cantioned not to overload their
ships, and to keep the orifice of their pumps well out of
the water. They are to communicate every day if the
weather permit, and to follow certain xules with regard
tolights at night, while in the case of a ship getting lost
full details are given a8 to the course to be pursued.
There are instructions about landing in unknown
countries, about making friends with the chiefs, about
dealing with ¢ Moros,” about prizes, and about the dis-
txibution of prize-money. The last article is specially
interesting as showing the comparative value of each
renk in the service at that time. The captains are
specially enjoined to treat their men @norosamente, to
personally visit the wounded and the sick, and to pre-
vent the surgeon from taking any fees. Stringent regu-
lations are given with regard to the rations, which are
to be issued every other day, and from time to time to
be carefully inspected. A dozen or more of the seventy-
four heads relate to trade and barter ; others guide the
morals of the crew, who are not to swear, and not to
play games of ehance, such as dice and cards, * for from
such often arise evil, and scandal, and strife.” Insult
and violence offered to women werc to be severely
punished, but a tolerable amount of liberty appears to
have been allowed to the crew, and every one was per-
mitted to write home as he thought fit. There are wise
regulations about guarding against fire, and still wiser
anent building houses in the tropics, counselling their
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erection in good air, on the slopes of the mountains, and
not on marshy ground or shut-in valleys. The docu-
ment ends with a long list of the “ quintaladas” per-
mitted to the different members of the ship’s company.!
Finally, while the King orders that # under no condition
whatsoever shall they touch at or explore land, or do
anything within the boundaries of the most Serene King
of Portugal,” he nevertheless takes care to direct that,
in the case of a Portuguese ship being found in Spanish
swaters, she should be called upon to quit the neighbour-
hood and to swrrender hex cargo.

Charles's strong support with regard to the émeufe
about the flags on the 22nd October had rendered in-
advisable, for the time being, at all events, any inter-
fexence on the part of the agents of the King of Portugal.
It is possible that another reason existed. Gomara?®
tells us that at one time Dom Manoel was not greatly
disturbed about Magellan’s projected voyage, being per-
suaded in his own mind that thero was no other route
to the Spice Islands save and excepting that taken by
his own ships. But as the months passed, and the
armada approached completion, this faith became less
secure, and before long unother attempt was mbde to
persuade Magellan to relinquish the expedition. ‘The
author was Sebastian Alvarez, the Portuguese factor at
Seville, and the instigator of the disturbance just men-
tioned. A letter written by him to Dom Manoel on the
18th July, 1519, is still existing, 1t throws a flood of
Jight upon the various plots surrounding the explorers,

1 Tho quintalada was the free freight allowed to officors and erewr.
1t was permitted to every one, from captain to cabin-boy, and varied
from 8000 to 75 Ibs. accordingtorank. It paid & duty of one-twenty-
fourth to the Crown,

# Gowara, op. it,, cap. xci. p. 83,
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After acknowledging two letters from his royal
master, from which it may be concluded that he had
not friled to keep Lim well informed with regard to
Seville affairs, he goes on to acquaint him of the arrival
of Cristobal de Haro and Juan de Cartegena, bringing
instructions more or less at variance with those of
Magellan, Upon this, he says, the officials of the Casa
de Contratacion summoned the latter, and demanded to
know, amongst other things, why he took so many Por-
tuguese with him, Magellan answered that, as captain
of the fleet, he should do as he chose, without rendering
an account to them. High words passed. The factors
of the India House ordered pay to be given to all
exeept, the Portuguess, and, charged with the complaints
of both parties, & messenger was despatched at once to
Charles V. to obtain his decision. Having put Dom
Manoel in possession of these details, Alvarez thus
proceeds :—

“And sceing the affair begun, and that it was a convenient
season for me ta say what your Highness commanded,? I went to
Magellan’a house, where I found him filling baskets and chests
with preserved victuals and other things I pressed him, pre-
tending that, as I found him thus engaged, it scemed to me that
his cvil design was settled, and since this would be the last word
1 shonld have with him, I desired to bring back to his memory
how many times, as & good Portuguese and his friend, I had
spoken to him, dissuading him from the great mistake he was
committing. And after asking pardon of him, lest he should be
offended at what I was about t0 say, I reminded him how many
timea I had spoken to him, and how well he had always replied
0 me, and that from his replies I always hoped that in the end
The would not go, to the 60 great injury of your Highness. And
what I always told him was, that the path he bhad chosen was
beset with as many dangers as the wheel of Saint Catherine, and

) Hence it appears cortain that Alvarcz acted undor the King's
ordors.
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that he ought to leave it and take that which led to Coimbra,
and roturn to his native land and to the favour of your Highness,
at whose hands he would always receive bencfits. In our conver-
sation I brought before him all the dangers I could think of, and
the mistakes he was making. He said to me that now, asan
hononrabie man, he could only follow the path he had chosen.
1 replied that unduly to gain honour, and to gain it with infamy,
was3 neither wisdom nor honour, but rather lack of wisdom and
‘honour, for be might be sure that the chief Castilians of tius
city in speaking of him held him for a low person and of no
breeding, since, to the dis-service of his true king and lord, he
embarked in such an undertaking, and so much the more since
it was set going, arranged, and petitioned for by him. And he
might be certain that he was considered as a traitor, engaging
himself thus in opposition to your Highness's country. Hero he
replied to me that he saw the mistake he made, but that he
hoped to observe your Highuess's service, and by his voyage to
be of assistance to you. I told him that whoever should praise
him for such an expression of opinion did not understand it;
for unless he tonched your Highness's possessions how was he
to discover wha he said t  Besides, it was a great injury to the
revenucs of your Highness, which would affeet the whoie king-
dom and cvery class of people, and it was a far more virtuous
thought that inspired him when he told me that if your High-
ness ordered him to return to Portugal that he would do it without
further guarantee of reward, and that when you granted nonc to
bim, there was Serradossa, and seven yards of grey cloth, and
some gall-nut beads open to him!  So then it seemed to me that
his heart was true as far as his honour and eonscience Wers con-
cerned. Our conversation was 5o long of duration that I cannot
write it.

* At this juncture, sire, he began to give me & sign, saying that
I should tell him more; that this did not come from me, and
that, if your Highness commanded me, that I should tell hira so,
and alo the reward that you would grant hiro. X told him that
I was not 2 person of such weight that yonr Highness would
employ me for such 2 purpose, but that I said it to him as I had

2 Magellan's irony is the more amusing from the fact that it 1
utterly lost upon Alvarer, who takes his alternativo of n betmit's Iife
au pied dela lettre.
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on many other oceasions. IHere he wished to pay me a compli-
ment, saying that if what I had begun with him was carried
on without the interference of others, your Highness would be
served, but that Nuiio Ribeiro bad told him one thing, which
meant nothing (g fie fora nadc), and Jolio Mendex another, which
bound him to nothing, and he told me the favours they offered
bhim on the part of your Highnesa He then bewailed himself
greatly, and said he was much concerned about it all, but that
he knew nothing which could justify his leaving a king who bad
shown bim such fayour. I told hi that it would be & more
certain matter, and attended with a truer honour, to do what he
ought to do, and not to lose his reputation and the favours your
Highess would grant him. And if he weighed his coming from
Portugal (which was for a hundred reals more or less of moradia
that your Highness did n6t grant him, in order not to break your
Taws), and that there had arrived two sets of orders at varianee
with bis 0wn, which he had at the hands of the King, Don Carlos,
he would see whether this insult (desprezo) did not outbalance
it—to go and do what it was his duty to do, rather than to
remain here for that for which he came,

“He was greatly astonished at my knowing so much, and then
he told me the truth, and how the messenger had left—all of
which T aiready knew. And he told me that certainly there was
no reason why he should abandon the nndertaking, unless thoy
failed to fulfil anything 1n the terms of the agreement ; but that
first he must gec what your Highness would do. I said to him,
what more did he desire to sce than the orders!—and Ruy
Taleiro, who said openly that he was not going to follow his
lantern,! and that he would navigate to the south, or he would
not sail with the fleet ; and that he (Magellan) thought he was
going as admiral, whereas I knew that others were being sent in
opposition to him, of whom he would know nothing, except at
atime when it would be too late to save his honour? {And I
told him) that he should pay no heed to the honey that the
Bishop of Burgos put to his Jips, and that now was the time for
him to choose his path, and that he should give me a Jetter to

1 The capitana or fing-ship always carred the farol or lantorn,

2 ¢Eu sabia quo avia out™ mandzdos em contreiro, os quaces elle nd
saboria send a po que nd pudese Remedear sua onrra,” From this
the previous plotting of the mutiny ia evident.
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your Highness, and that I, out of affection for him, would go to
your Highness and plead his cause, because I had no instraction
from your Highness concerning such business, and only said what
I thought I had often said before® Ife t0ld me that he would
say nothing to me until he had seen the answer that the mes-
senger brought, and with this our conversation finished. I will
watoh the fnterests of your Highness to the utmost of my power.

“, .. ¥spoke to Ruy Faleiro twice, bat he replied nothing to
e, save ‘how could he do such a thing against the King, his
lord, who conferred such benefits upon him ;' and to all that I
said to him he gave me no other answer. It scems to me hat
he is like a man affected in his reason, and that this his familiar
has taken away whatever wisdom he possessed. I think that if
Ferndo de Magalhiics were removed that Ruy Faleiro would
follow what Magalhfies did.”

The rest of the letter of Alvarez, which is one of great
length, need not be quoted e gives the King of
Portugal information about the ships and their arma-
ment, together with a list of the Portuguese who had at
that time taken service in the flect. A passage concern-
ing the proposed route and tho charts and instruments
provided is, hiowever, of interest :—

“ The route which it is reported they are to take is direct to
Cape ¥rio, leaving Brazil on the right, until they pass the boun-
dary-line, and thence to sail W. and W.N.W. direct g Maluco,
wiich land of Maluco I have seen laid down on the globe and
chart which Fernando 30 Reynell made here, the which was not
finished when his father came here for him, and his father
finished the whole and marked these lands of Maluco, and on
this pattern arc constraoted all the charts which Diogo Ribeiro
makes. And %he makes all the compasses, quadrants, and globes,
but does not sail with the fleet; nor does he desire anything
‘more than to gain his living by his skill.

“ From this Cape Frio to the islands of Maluco by this route
there are no kinds laid down in the charts they take, May God

1 That this was a direct untrath can be soen by u reforence to the
fiest sentonco of the letter.
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the Almighty grant that they make a voyage like that of the

Cortercals,! and that your Highness may rcmain at rest, and
ever be cnvied—as your lighnoss is—by all prmoes.”.

Such a letter as this gives us some idea of the diffi-
culties with which Magellan had to contend. They
were augmented by the relations existing between his
colleague and himself. Always of uncertain temper,
Faleiro had of late become still more difficult to deal
with, ‘What was his real condition it is impossible to
say. Although the suggestion has been stoutly com-
bated by some historians, the balance of evidence is in
favour of the fact that he became insane.  Both Acosta
and Selastian Alvarez in their letters to Dom Manoel
already quoted speak of him as being half-crazy. Irom
what we know of his previous history, the supposition is
not an impossible one—is even probable, perhaps. The
contemporary writers for the most part supporl it.
Argensola tells us that having gone out of his mind,
ke was sent to the madhouse in Seville, Gomara seys
that he went mad from the fear that he would be unable
to fulfil his promise, and Oviedo speaks of him as muy
loco, having lost both his health and his reason. By
others it is hinted that the madness may have been
feigned with the idea of commanding the squadron which
was to follow that of Magellan. Barros gives a still
more ingenious story—that Ruy Fuleiro, being an astro-
loger, cast his own horascope, and finding that the voyage
would be disastrous and end in his death, he feigned
madness at the last moment to avoid sailing.? Herrera

1 The Cortoreals sailod in Cabot’s track to find a north-west passage,
and of oither of them—Gaspar in 1gor and Miguel in the following
= BT o v

2 Argensola, Cong. de las Molusas, lib. i. p. 16 ; Gomam, op, cit.
cap. xci p. 83; Oviedo y Valdes, op. cit. I s eap. i.; Argens,
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tells us that differences arose Letween the two com-
manders, and it seems that Alvarez was instrumental in
fomenting them. But whatever may have been the
diffioulty, the King had ultimately to dismiss Faleiro,
By a cedula dated from Barcelona on the 26th July, 1519,
he ordered that he should remain in Seville to superin-
tend the preparations of the second fleet,! and Magellan
from this date remained practically in sole command, in
spito of Juan de Cartagena—to whom Faleiro’s ship was
given—being spoken of in some documents of the India
House as his “conjunta persona.” His position was
further strengthened by an order from the King that
Luis de Mendoza, the captain of the Victoria, and
treasurer of the fleet, who had been insolent and in-
clined to question his authority, should render unhesi-
tating obedience. We may be sure that with this
Mendoza’s hatred of Magellan was in o way mitigated.
It culminated hefore long, as we shall see, in the mutiny
of Port St. Julian, where a swift and terrible punish-
ment was the reward of his treason. It would lLave

tnates de Aragon, )i, i. cap. lxxix, ; Barros, op. eit. Dec. iii, lib. v.
cap, vill. p. 631

1 “Mandé elRey que pues Ruy Falero no so hallaua on enters
salud, s0 quodasse husta otro viage.”—/ferrera, Dec. ii. lib. iv. cap.
ix. Faleiro afterwards returned to Portugal, and was imprisoned
there. From prison ho wrote to the Cardinal Adrian, begging that ho
would interest himself with tho King to procuro his release, TPossibly
this was done we know at least that ho was in Seville on March 2z,
1523, and that he wrote thence two letters to the King upon the
importanee of retaining the spice trade, and begging that his pension
should bo paid, as ho had not received it, and was in want. Ha also
sought pormission to it out & amall armada, suggesting that with bis
cliarts and instruments bo would be of great service. Both theso
letters exist in the Soville archivos, fogothor with the letter to the
Cordinal, which is written in Latin, Vide Medina's Coleccion, vol. i.
P. 313. It is believed that, Faleiro died in Soville in 1523.
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been better for him had he been dismissed his ship, as
were two mutinous Portuguese at this period. The
plots of Alvarez had alveady begun to work, and dis-
affection was rife long ere the ships left the Guadal-
quivir.

One of the points upon which Charles V. had most
strongly insisted was that the number of Portugueso
borne upon the ship’s books should be reduced to the
smallest possible limits. In a letter written from Bar-
celona on the x7th June he gives orders that under no
circumstances whatever are these to be more than five in
number. Writing agein on the 5th July to Ruy Faleiro,
who had sought permission for his brother to accompany
him, the permission is given, but only on condition that
he should form one of these five. On the 26th July the
same order is reiterated. Nevertheless, circumstances
brought it about that many more ultimately sailed. Tt
may well be imagined that there were not wanting
people who aseribed the worst of motives to Magellan
with regard to the matter. To clear himself he pre-
sented an informacion to the India ITouse ou the gth
August, dvawn up in the then customary form of ques-
tion and answer, and giving the evidence of five men of
known position nnd character, among whom we find the
name of Sebastian del Cano. From it we learn several
facts of interost. Tt tells us how in the streets and
squares and quays of Seville the public crier announced
the departure of the fleet, and called for volunteers ; how
the people said the pay was too small, and would not go ;
how the officers were sent to Cadiz and Malaga and
other ports, and still could not get their complement ;
and how, finally, & number of foreigners—and among
them geveral Portuguese—were enrolled, with whom
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the captains were, nevertheless, quite satisfied. Of the
vaied nationalities aud tengues ths brought togothor
one reads with ) Besides tho Sp
Povtuguese, and Basques, there were Genoese, Siciliang,
French, Flemings, Germans, Greeks, Neapolitans, Cor-
fiotes, Negros, and Balags. One Lnglishman there
was, and one only, a certain Master Andrew of Bristol,
master-gunner of the flag:ship.! OF Portugueso there
ultimately sailed no less than thirty-seven—probably
indecd even more, for our sources of information, though
woundertally full, are not absolutely complete.®

Despite the difficulty in obtaining men, the prepava-
tions were by this time neatly finished. From o lebter
of Magellan to the India House we learn that his chief
anxiety was to obtain possession of Ruy Faleiro’s book
of the various methols of taking observations. He
desives to take Frunciseo Faleiro as captain in place of
his brother, but fears that even then the latter may not
see fit to put him in possession of the coveted book.
1lis fears, however, were groundless, for though Fran-
cisco Faleiro decided not to sail with him, but to await
the following expedition, the baok upon which Magellan
50 greatly depended for bis observations was prosented
to him by his former friend and comrade before sailing.®

Beforo starting upon an expedition of such magnitude

1 We cunnok elaim him as one of the immortals—the little band of
survivors who siared among them the glery of being the first cireum
navigators, Ho died on gth March, 1521, just after the fiect ad
rerehiod the Ladrono Istands.

% 800 Appendix, No. JTL.. for this and othor information concerning
the personnel of the oxpedition.

3 This book consisted of thirty chaptors, and is referred to at soe
longéh by Burros. in conjunction with the book of Audroes de San
Martin, who practically filled his place upon the expedition. Barios,
Dec. iii. Wb, ¥. cap. x.
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as this, it was the custom, as we have already seen, to
attend a solemn church service en masse. Upon this
occasion the cevemony was one of more than usual
interest. It must have been felt by all that the voyage
before them was of no ordinary character. They were
not bound for the now wellknown West Indies, nor
about to sail the trite waters of the Indian Occan.
ireir very first experiences would be in almost unknown
lands ond seas. And so, when the Corregidor of Seville,
Sanclio Martines do Leyve, solemnly entrusted Magellan
with the royal standard in the church of Santa Maria de
In Victoria, and received from him the oath that, as a good
subject of the King, he would carry out his enterprise,
there must have heen few of the onlookers to whose
minds the difficulties and dangers of their future path
did not present themselves. To Magellan the captoins
and officials of the armada swore a like oath of allegi-
ance, promising to follow the course ordered by him and
to obey him in everything. Alas for man's sincerity
and honour! Many of those who knelt before the altar
wero at that moment pledged to join in open mutiny
against their leader directly the fitting opportunity
should arrive.

The preparations were now sufficiently far advanced to
permit the fleet to leave the guays of Seville. On Wed-
nesday the roth August, 1519, the vessels weighed and
dropped down the river to the port of . Lucar de Bar-
rameda, ab its mouth. Here they remained for mora
than a month. It was now evident that, so far as the
actual start of the expedition was concerned, the efforts
of the Portuguese had failed, and their predictions
proved incorrect. To within a few months of his sailing,
Magellan had been vepresented to Dom Mancel as “a
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boaster and a man of little worth, who would not cavry
out his promises.”’! Now they formed a different
opinion. The plots and intrigues to let and hinder the
expedition did not therefore cense even with its depar-
ture. Dom Manoel sent ships to the Cape, and also to
Santa Maria in the Rio de ln Plata, with orders to
intercept their passage, and these having failed in their
object, Diogo Lopez de Sequeirs was instrucled to send
six ships from Cochim to the Moluccas for the same pur-
pose—an order he was unable to fulfil on account of
there being Do vessels available at the time.?

Unconscious of these added dangers, Magellan worked
hard at the innumerable matters of business connected
with his immedinte departure. Together with his cap-
tains, he went backwards and forwards between Seville
and the ships, supplying the various omissions which at
the last moment so frequently declaro themselves. One
of his last acts was to address a memorial to Charles V.,
assigning the geographical position of various places
move or less connected with the line of demarcation—
among them the Moluceas 3—giying as his reason “that
the King of Portugal may assert that they Jie within
his limit, and that no one understands the matter as ho
(3ageltan) understands it.”

On the z4th August he made his will. The document
is still in existence in the Beville archives. It Lears
evidence of gtrong religious influence, if not religious
focling. In it he desired that one-tenth part of his

1 Dezian los Portuguesos que el Roy de Castilla perderia of gasto,
porque Hornando de Magallanes ers hombre hablador y de poca sus-
tancia, y quo no ealdria con lo que prometia.”—Herrera.

9 Pigafetta, Iib. iii. p. 147, Milan edit. of 1800,

# Sevillo Archives, leg. i. of Molucea documents. Navarrete, i7.
p. 188,
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shave of the profits of the expedition (which share was
to be one-fifth of the whole) should be taken and divided
into three equal shares, one of which yas bequenthed to
the Convento delos Minimos of Victoria de Tiiana, where
he was to be buried if he died in Seville. The other two.
shaves were to be equally distributed between the monas-
tery of Monserrat in Barcelona, the convent of 8. Fran-
cisco in Aranda de Duero, and ., Domingo de las Duciias
in Oporto. Of the effects he might die possessed of in
the flect and of his real and personal property in Seville,
lie desired that a fifth share should be expended in saying
masses for his soul,

The rule and seigrorial rights of the lands he might
discover he desired should pass in regular succession, first
to his son Rodrigo, or, to the child which might be born
10 him—his wife being then pregnant—or, failing direct
descent, to his brother Diogo de Sous, or to his sister
Isabel. If the property should pass to the side branch,
the holder of the mayorazgo should, in the event of the
survival of Dofia Beatriz, his wife, pay to her annually
a fourtl part of the revenue and a sum of two hundred
ducats.?

Of the 50,000 maravedis of pension conferred by the
Casa de Contratacion upon his life and that of his wife,

7 Magelian's son Rodrigo died in xz1; his sccond child was still-
horn ; his wifo died in rz2; Duarte Barbosa was killed in tho sur-
prse of May 1, 1521, and the father, Diogo Barbosa, dying in 1525,
the Grown took possession of the estate, which wae cloimed by Jaime.
Barboss and other sons of Diogo. The case, aftor baving romained
seven yoars unbeard. was agnn brought forward on tho 6th June,
1540, The claimants had spent all thewr money and wero reduced to
want, and though Magellan had given his life in the sorvice of Spain
ninotoen years beforo, they had not received a maravedi. What was
the ultimato rosult we do not learn, but knowing what we do of
Spanish justico ab that period, wo can guoss,
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the latter was to pay annually to the said sister Tsabel
the sum of 5000 maravedis. His son or sons were left
residuary legatees. His heirs were to take the name
and arms of Magallanes, and to reside and marry in
Spain.!

Magellan appointed as his fatherin
Diogo Barbosa, and Don Sancho de Matienzo, the cand-
nigo of Seville who had supported him on the occasion
of the riot instigated by Alvarez. At the same tiwe
that he made his will he addressed a letter to the King,
asking that the 12,500 maravedis presented to him on
the occasion of his decoration with the Order of Santiago
might be paid to the convent of Victovia de la Triana,
he having already promised it to ther.

All sras now ready, and the Captain-general rejoined
his ship and hoisted his pennant. Every day, Pigafetta
tells us, officers and men had gone ashore to hear mass
at the church of Nossa Seilora de Barrameda, and now,
on the eve of sailing, Magellan gave orders that all
should confess, “in the which he himself showed the
way to the others.” Next day; Tuesday the zoth Sep-
tember, 1519, a favourable breeze having sprung up, he
gave the order to weigh, and a little later thé ships
cleared the river and commenced the memorable voyage
which, through almost unparalleled suffering and dis-
aster, was to win an immortal name for its survivors as
the first, circtrmnavigators of the globe.

1 Seo Appendix 1L



CIIAPTER VI.

THE LAST VOYAGE—I. SE. AMERICA AND TIIE
MUTINY IN PORT ST. JULIAN.

BeroRE entering upon the nairative of Magellan’s final
expudition, the issue of which was to stamp him as the
greatest of the world’s discoverers, we must turn for a
moment to consider the materials with which he was
provided. To the ships themselves allusion has already
been made.  They were for the most part, old, small, and
in anything but good condition. The Trinidad, thongh
not the largest, was the most seaworthy and most
suitable for capitana, and at her mast-head Magellan
accordingly flew his pennant. Juan de Cartagena cap-
tained the S. dntonio, the largest vessel of the fleet.
The Concepoion was commanded by Gaspar Quesada, and
the Vietoria by the traitor Luis de Mendoza, treasurer
of the armadsa, who had alrendy been reprimanded hy
the King for insolence to the Captain general. The little
Santiago was given to Jodio Serro, whose long experience
in the East and great knowledge of navigation rendered
hira one of the most important members of the expedi-
tion.

The command of the Santiago by Serrdo was, as il
happened, an affair of no little moment to Magellan.
But for his old friend and comrade it is more than pos-
sible that the mutiny of Port St. Julian might have
proved too mush for hir, and the great discovery of
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Magellan’s Straits might have been postponed to deck
another brow with laurels. Upon the Portuguess in
the fleet, despite his altered nationality, Magellan relied
even moro as friends than as navigators. By the time
the squadron had erossed the bar, the originally-permitted
number of five had greatly increased. Among the 280
men, more or less, who sailed, thirty-seven, as we have
seen, were Portuguese, and of these many held most
important posts. On the Zrinidad were Kstovio Gomes
the pilot, Magellan’s brother-in-law—Dusarte Barbosa—
Alvaro de la Mezquita, and eight others, The 8. Anfonio
bore the cosmographer Andres de San Martin and Jodo
Rodriguez de Mafra.  All the pilots of the fleet, indeed,
were Portuguese, just as the gunners werc foreigners ;
and Josio Lopez Carvalho and Vasco Callego navigated
respectively the Concepeion and the Victoria.

The armament of the fleet was on an extensive scale.
The artillery comprised sixty-two culverins, ten falconets,
and ten large bombards, Small firearms were not then
greatly used, and only fifty arquebuses were carried.
There were, however, a thousand lances, two hundred
pikes, ten dozen javelins, ninety-five dozen duits, sixty
crossbows, with 360 dozen arrows, and “ sundryswords
which the captain took.” One hundred corselets, with
gauntlets, shoulder-pieces, and casques, appear in the
list, together with an equal number of cuirasses. Finally,
we learn thad as much as 5600 lbs. of powder were put
on board.

The “ instrumentos ” with which the navigators were
provided were of the simplest nature. Twenty-threo
parchment charts by Nuiio Garcia, six pairs of compasses,
twvent; wooden quadl seven labes, thirty-
five compass-necdles, and eighteen hour-glasses formed the
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entire list ; and not all of these, we are told, were ulti-
mately taken. The number of articles for barter was,
however, very large. In the “ Privie Notes given by a
Gentleman to the Marchants of the Muscouie Com-
pany,” with which Haklugt has made us acyuainted,
the importance of such expeditions being provided with
“looking-glusses for women, great and fayre,” is dwelt
pon, and Magellan’s squadron was amply supplied with
these, together with 500 Ibs. of  crystals, which are
diamonds of all colours.” Knives, fish-hooks, stuffs,
and velvets, ivory, quicksilver (2240 lbs), and brass
bracelets all figure Jargely in the list; hut it appears
that bells were considered to be the most useful objects
of barter. Of these no less than 20,000 were taken.

The cost of the fleet, with its stores and armament, was
for those days considerable. From papers existing in
the Seville archives, we know the exact amount to a
maravedi. The entive expenditure was 8,751,125 mara-
vedis, or £5032, 6. 3. But some of the stores having
been left behind, the sum was reduced by 416,790 mara-
vedis, or about £240. The ships, together with their
mtillery, powder, and smallarms, cost £2249; the
victualling, £953; the articles of barter, £965, and
the instruments and minor expenses, £z38.1 Of the
whole sum, about one quarter was supplied by Cristobal
de Haro and his friends, the rest was at the King’s
expense.

Oux knowledge of the events of Magellan’s great yet
disastrous expedition is drayn from limited sources. Of
those persons who actually took part in it, enly four
have loft; any descxiption of its incidents. In Remusio’s

1 For modern monoy the equivaicnt would be about five times these
sums,
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Navigationi et Viaggi ocours an excecdingly brief account
by an unknown Portuguese, so brief, indeed, a8 to be
almost valueless. In the Seville archives there exists a
derrotero or log-book, supposed to be written by Fran-
cisco Albo, the contramaestre of the Trinidad, but it is
little more than a collection of nautical observations,
which, though of the greatest interest in furnishing
data for the actual course sailed by the vessels of the
fleet, tell us little or nothing of the ordinary incidents
of the voyage. A third account is that of the so-called
Gencese pilot.? From the fact that the manuscrip is
in the Portugnese language, and, moreover, in remark-
ably pure P Ty it has been b d that the
author was not a Genoese. The narrative is tolerably
full, but it bears no evidence of having been written by
a pilot, and it is further worthy of remark that no
Genoese sailed as pilot in the flect.

The chief source of information we have, however, is
neither of the foregoing. When the despatch of the
fleot, was finally decided wpon, a certain [talian gentle-
man—Antonio Pigafetta by name—a native of Vicenza,
being in Barcelona, and “desirous of seeing the wonder-
ful things of the ocean,” obtained permission to ageom-
pany Blagellan on his voyage. Through the many
adventurons months of wandering that fell to his lot,
he kept his journal, finally publishing it upon his return.
In it hensay evidence is largely mixed with personal
experience, but upon the whole it gives by far the best
and fullest account of the expedition. There are reasons
for supposing that it was originally published in French—
—reasons too lengthy to discuss here. It was dedicated

I Publishod i vol. iv. of the Collegdo de Hoticias of the Lisban
Academy. .
K
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to the celebrated Grand Master of Rhodes, Villiers de
Plsle Adam—Pigafetta himself being a Knight of
Rhodes—nd o copy was presented by him to the
Regent, Louise of Savoy, mother of Francis I.

"The most careful account written by mere historians
of the event, who had taken no part in the voyage, is
that of Maximilian T an und: tary
at the court of Oharles V. This person, who had
married Cristobal de Haro’s niece, was a natural son of
the Archbishop of Salzburg, and o pupil of the cele-
brated Peter Martyr.! Upon the arrival of the suryi.
vors of the expedition at Valladolid (whither they had
gone to present themselves to the Emperor), they were
carefully interrogated by both Peter Martyr and Maxi-
milian. The former, we aro told, wrote a long account
of the affair. “This viage,” says Bden in his trans-
lation of the Decades? “was written partieularly by
Don Peter Martyr of Angleria, being one of the coun-
sayle of Thempevours Indics, to whom also wos com-
mytted the wrytynge of the hystorie and examination of
ol suche as reburned from thense into Spayne to the
citio of Siuile in the yeare Mpxxrr. But sendynge it to
Rome to bee prynted in that miserable tyme when the
citie was sacked, it was lost, and not founde to this
day, or any memory remaynynge thereof, sauynge suche
as sum that redde the same haue borne in mynde.”

T Peter Martyr of Angliern, 50 callod from having been born in the
suburb of Milan in 1455, entere tho sorvice of Ferdinand and Jsabelia,
and was sent by them a5 ambassador to Venico and Bzypt. Ho lived.
tho greator partof his life in Castile, bocoming socratary to Charles V.,
and dying in 1525, As protonotary of the Consejo of the Indios,
ho was brought much in contact with geographical mattors, and
bosides tha woll-known Opus Epistolarum, wrote the De Navigatione
et Terris de Novo Repertis.
2 Rich, idon, 7he Decades of the Newe Worlde, 1353, fol, 214,
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Maximilian’s account, however, remains. It was written
on the 24th October, 1522, to his father, and reached him
in Nurembery in the following month. The deseription
of such a voyage naturally attracted much attention,
and the manuseript, which was in Latin, was printed
in Cologne in January of the following year, thus pro-
bably preceding the igation ot D of
Pigafetta.l

In addition to these sources, both Correa and Herrera
give descriptions of the voyage which bear evidence in
a greater or less degree of first-hand information ; and
among the mass of documents in the Seville archives are
sundry informaciones and other papers throwing consi-
derable light upon the mutiny and other salient incidents
of the expedition.

‘We must return to the squadron, whose course on
leaving Spain was shaped southward for the Canaries.
Tmmediately on getting to sen, Magellan instituted a
strich gysbem of signalling at night by means of lights,
and sppointed the watehes, as was even at that time
customary. The admiral’s ship led the van, bearing on
the poop the furol or lantern, which it was the duby of
his fleet to keep in sight. ‘Ihe night was divided into
three watclies—the firs at the beginning of night; the
second, called the medora, at midnight ; and the third
towards daybreak, ‘The last was known as la diane, or

I Tho prooiss date of the publication of Pigafotta’s narrative is not
known In August, 1524, be petitioned the Doge and Council of
‘Venice for permission to print his book in that city, and to have the
exclusive copyright for twenty yoars {vide Lord Stanley's First Popage,
Appendix, p. xiv.). The purmission was granted. But it will bo seen
that ample time existed for the publication of a proviousedition. The
edition for the most part referred to and used in these pages is that
of Amoretti, published in Milan 1n 1800,
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the wateh of the mowning star. Each night they were
changed ; those who had kept the first watch kept the
second on the following day, the sccond the third, and
soon. In accordance, too, with the customary rules laid
down by the India Fouse, the crew of each vessel was
divided into three conipanies—the first belonging to the
captain or contramaestre, who took it in turns to com-
mand ; the second to the pilob; and the third to the
maestre. * The Captain-genaral, a discreet and virtuous
‘man, careful of his honour,” says Pigafetta,  would not
commence his voyage without first making good and
wholesome ordinances.”

On the 26th September the flect arrived at Tenerife,!
and remaining three or four days to take in wood and
water, sailed for a port called Monte Rosso on the same
island,? where they agein delayed two days to supply

Ives with piteh, or, g to Herrera, to await
a caravel which was to bring them fish. It was while
they were in Tenerife that an incident occurved which
eatly brought home to the Captain-general the difficulties
which lay in his path.

Of the existence of disaffection among his erew Magel-
lan must have been well aware. Before starting, two of
his men had been dismissed for insubordination. We liave
seen how, in Scbastian Alvarez’ letter to Dom Manoel,
he hints at a prearranged conspiracy.® Pigafetta tells us
that the captains of the other ships hated their leader,’
and the fact must have been patent enough. But thougl
he may have been fully conscious of the danger which

1 Tho log-book of the ** Genacse pilot ™ gives the 20th us the date.

* 2 Punta Roxa, at the south end of Tenerife,

3 * Bu sabia que avis out® niandados em contrairo os quaces olle n
£aboria send a tpo que nd pudose Remedear sua onrea,”

+ Pigafetta, Primo Viaggio intorno al Globo, Milan, 1800, p. 8,
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threziened him, this danger had not as yet assumed de-
finite shape. Now, at the very beginning of his voyage,
at the moment of adventuring himself into unknown
seas, it was to do s0. A caravel arrived bearing a secret
message from his father-in-law, Diogo Barbosa, warning
him to “keep a good watch, since it had come to his
knowledge that his captains had told their friends and
relations that if they bad any trouble with him they
would kill him.”? Argensola gives us the same story—
that “ his captains had resolved not to obey him, parti-
cularly Juan de Cartagena.”? The news—which pro-
bably was no news to Magellan—did not dishearten him
one whit. Ile sent back answer to Barbosa that, were
they good men or evil, he would do his work as a servant
of the Emperor, and ¢ to this end,” le added, “he had
offered his life.” His letter, Correa tells us, was shown
by Barbosa to the Corregidores, ““ who greatly lauded
the stout heart of Magellan.”

Pigafetta, eve leaving the Cannries, duly chronicles the
semi.fabulous story of the island of Iierro-—old even in
those days, for Pliny records it—bow its single tree is
perpetually enveloped in & cloud from which it distils an
nnfailing supply of water—a story founded upen fact,
a5 we know now, for both in Madeira and the Canaries
the faurel and other heavy-folinged evergreens condense
abundant water from the daily mists, Tho flest left
Tenerife at midnight on the 3rd October,® running under
foresails only until they cleared the land, when they
closed and held & south-west course until noon on the
following day, when the observations taken placed

1 Corron, Lendas da India, vol. ii. p. 627.
* Argensol, Cong. de las Mol., lib, i. p. 16.
¢ On the 2nd, according te Herrera's account.
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them in 27" N. lat, having made a run of twelve
lengues.

From here they followed in the wake of the admiral’s
ship, steering sometimes south, sometimes south by west,
and early on the following morning the §. Antonio, run-
ning under the stern of the Trinidad, demanded the
course. The pilot replicd that it was south by west, It
having been previously settled, Herrera tells us, that,
until they reached the latitude of 24° N., the course was
to be south-west, Juan de Cartagena demanded to know
why it was changed, Magellan replied that “he was to
follow him and not ask questions.”! The captain of the
8. Antonio retorted that he ought to have consulted the
captains and pilots, and not to have acted thus avbi-
traxily, and added that it wag an error of judgment to
keep 50 near the African const, Magellan's reply was to
the same effect as his first answer—that the squadron
maust follow his fiag by day end bis lantern by night.

Tor fifteen days the fleet held good weather, passing
between Cape Verde and its islands without sighting
either, and running along the African coast. Between
the cape and Sierra Leono they encountered calms and
baffling winds for twenty days or more, during which
time they advanced only three leagnes upon their way.
Provided with few or no data in physical geography,
they had cliosen what we now know to be a disadvan-
tageous course, TFollowing on the calms they had an
entire month of head winds and very heavy sborms.
80 heavy indeed were some of theso squalls, thet the
vessels dipped their yardarms, and the captains were
more than onee on the point of ordering the masts to be

1 ' Que lo siguissen y no lo pidiossen mas cuenta.”—Herrera, ii v,
ap. x.
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cub away. Striking all sail, they ran under bave poles at
the mercy of the wind, Pigafetta, to whom the sea and
its matural phenomena were novelties, gives us a vivid
account of the terrors of this peried. * In these tem-
pests,” he says, “the Corpo Santo or St. Elmo’s fire
often appeared, and in one which we experienced
on a certain very dark night, it showed itself ab the
summit of the mainmast with such brightness that
it seemed lke a burning torch, remaining there for a
space of more than two lours; the which was of such
comtort to us that we wept for joy. And when it loft
us, it cast such a vivid light in our eyes that for newr a
quarter of an hour we remained as blind men, erying
out for merey, for we gave ourselves up for lost.” !

For nearly sixty days they encountered rain while in
the neighbourhood of the Line, “a thing very strange
and d to be seen,” ding to the ideas
prevalent at that time. Sharks often came round their
ships—*“luge fishes with terrible teeth”—and were
caught by hooks ; but the sailors do not seem to have
appreciated the flech, which they pronounced, in the ease
of the large ones, to be hardly fit to eat, while the smaller
fish were little better. Notes of a like naivenature
follow upon birds? The men had fitted the well-known
legend of the bird-of Paradise—heard doubtless by the
old hands in some far Kastern port—to some petrel or
diver. “They make no nest,” it ran, “because they have
no feet, and the hen lays her eggs on the back of the
cock, and there hatches them.”

1 Pigafotte, op. cit., p. 18.

2 ““Vidimo varic spocie d'uocellistrani : aleuni non banno culo. . . .
Altri ton dotti Cagassela perchd cibansi dello stereo d'altri necelli.”
Pigafetta, op. cit., p. 14.
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The slowness of their progress during this early part
of the voyago caused some anxiety as to the sufficiency
of provisions, and the crew were accordingly placed on
diminished rations. Four pints of water only were
allowed daily, & smaller measure of wine was given, and
the weight of bread reduced to a pound and a half. The
voyage was destined to be attended by unusual difficulties
and disasters, even for those perilous times—disasters
only equalled by the world-famed success of it issue—
and foreshadowings of the miseries awaiting the naviga-
tors in the Pacific early darkened their path.

Their ttoubles with regard to the insufficiency of stores
were, however, at that time of no very great moment.
They were forgotten before a ore serious diffienity than
any that had hitherto arisen. The disensions which
had already commenced between Juan de Cartagena and
his chiof hud shown no sign of abatement as the voyage
progressed.  Before the Line was reached they cul-
minated in open rupture. Tt was the custom, ordained
by the King and embodied in his letter of instructions
o Magellan,! that every cvening, whenever the weather
rendered it possible, the captains should communicate
with the flagship, to salute the admiral and to take his
orders. One day the quartermaster of the S Anfonio,
hailing the Zrinidad, gave as greeting, ** Dios vos salve,
seffor cepitan y maestre, é buena compafiia.” Magellan,
resonting the studied omission of his proper title of
Captain-general, informed Juan de Cartagena that he
expected to be rightly addressed in future. The latter

1 < Dareis luego por ordonanza § los capitanes do las otras naos que
cada din 4 las tardes vos den sus salvas, segund se acostumbra hacer
4 los capitancs mayores do cuslquior armada. "—Seritle Archives, Pap,
de Maluco, leg. i. ; Navarrete, 9, p. 131.
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replied that “ he had sent the best man in the ship to
salute him, and that another day, if he wished, he would
salute him through one of the pages.” For three days,
however, he failed altogether to comply with the rule.

Magellan, though nob the man tamely to submit to
insults from his subordinates, took no immediate action,
but a day or two later, a court-martial being held upon
a sailor of the Vicforia, Crrtagena was summoned with
the other captains to the flag-ship. The trial over,
discussion of the course to be steered followed. Carta-
genn, emboldened by Magellan’s quiescence and the
success of his former insults, remewed them without
more ado, But he had mistaken his man, The Captain-
general, scizing him by the breast, exclaimed, * You are
my prisoner.” Cartagena called in vain upon those pre-
sent to aid him and to seize Magellan. No one stirred,
and he was led off in custody to the stocks, and entrusted
to the keeping of Luis de Mendoza, captain of the Vie-
toria, The command of the S dniondio was given to
the contador, Antonio de Coca. It was a pity for the
offender that the prompt and.resolute action of the
admiral upon this oceasion did not serve as a warning
to deter him from future insebordination.

Steering a more westerly course, the fleet approached
the New World, and arrived off Cape 8t. Augustin, near
Pernambuco, on the 2gth November. They continued
to hug the cgast, and on December 8th were close to
Jand, and in only ten fathoms. Next day they found
themselves in lat. 21° 31’ 8, in sight of & very high
mountain near Cape St. Thomas. Rounding Cape Frio,
they anchored in Rio harbour, which, since they entered
it on the day of that saint, the 13th Decomber, they
called tho Bay of Santa Lucia. llere they remained
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& fortnight, taking in wood and water and trading with
the natives, “a good people and mumerous,” as Alvo
records.  Pigafetta has left a lengthy record of their stay
here, and of the customs and peculiarities of the country
and its people, partly from his own observation, partly
from that of former voyagers, notably Vespucei. The
pine-apples—“a very sweet fruit, moro tasteful than
any other —sweet potatoes, fowls, and tapir were much
appreciated by the sailors after their reduced rations.
They were to be had in abundance and wpon the
cagiest terms. For a knife or a fishhook five or six
fowls might be obtained ; for a comb or mirror encugh
fish for ten men, aud for a little bell a large basket
full of sweet potatoes. A still better bargain was made
by Pigafetta himself, who exchanged the king from a
pack of cards for six fowls. Besides articles of food,
parrots and other birds were brought for sale by the
natives, who were ready enough to barter away their
children for an axe or a large knife. The admiral, how-
ever, forbade the purchase of any slaves, not only on
account, of the diflieulty of feeding them, but in order
that the Portuguese, within whose country the territory
lay, should have no ground of complaint.

Tt is unnecessary to dwell on Pigafetta’s evidently
hearsay or borrowed account of the Indians and their
customs. e speaks of their sleeping in “ nets of cotton
that they call amache,” and of their boets called canoe.
On the authority of Joiio Carvalho, the pilot of the
Concepeion, who had resided with them for four years,!

) Brasil, it must be remembored, had been discovered bwenty years
at the time of Magellan's voyage, and it is worthy of record that Car-
valbo took with him upon this voyage » son whom he had by o native
wife during his former residence in Rio. Wo learn incidentally that
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ho describes their cannibal customs, and dilates upon the
wonders of the country. His account of his personal
experiences is more interesting. It had not rained for
two months befors the visit of the fleet, and the arrival
of the inciding with the ination of the
long drought, the people thought they had brought the
rain with them, and were easily converted to Chris-
tianity, Mass was said twice on shore while the ships
lay in the bay, and the natives assisted with the utmost
devotion at it, *remaining on their knees with their
hands joined in great reverence, so that it was a pleasure
and a pity to ses them.” It is remarkable that none of
the historians of the voyage mention the presence of
Portuguese in Rio de Janeiro, although there is every
probability thut some ray have been there at the time,
since  trading station had been established in the bay
some years hefore.

The flcet, well furnished with fresh provisions, resumed
its voyage on the 26th December’ Befare doing o,
however, an attempt had been made by the cosmo-
grapher Andres de San Martin to fix the longitude of
the bay. On the 17th December the altitude of the
moon and Jupiter were obsexved, and from theis posi-
tion it was computed that the latter was in eonjunction
with the moon at the place of observation at 7h. 15m. -
after noon of the previous day. The tables of Regio-
montanus weyp supposed to give the time of the con-
Jjunction at Seville. Herrera describes the observation
ab some length : it led to no definite conclusion, for the

another Brasilinn of somi-European parentago was borne on tho rolls,
QCarvalho's son nover roturned, having been made prisoner by Sri Pada,
King of Borneo,

3 O the 27th, *El dia do San Juan,” teste Horrora, ii. i¥, 10,
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result obtained was evidently erroneous, and Andres
aseribed the error to the almanac.

Sailing along the coast on a W.8. W. course, the ves-
sels arrived off the Bahia de los Reyes? upon the last
day of the year. No landing was effected, and they
continued their route to the southward, still hugging
the coast and constantly taking soundings. They were
well acquainted, even in those days, with the art of
arming the lesd, and Herrera tells us on more than one
occasion what bottom was found. On the 8th January,
being in shoal water, they anchored for the night. On
the roth? they were passing very low land, with no
landmarks save three hummocks, which appeared to be
islands. 'These the pilot Carvalho declared to be Cape
Santa Maria, saying that he recognised it from the
account of Jodo de Lisboa, who had been there. Losing
the land here on their then course, they ran back north-
wards in search of shelter—having met with a terrific
storm of thunder and lightning—and anchored. On the
following day they weighed and proceeded W. 3 N., but
the water becoming very shallow, the Santiago was sent
ahead. They were at the mouth of the great river
where Juan de Solig lost his life at the hands of the
cannibals—the Lio de la Plata of to-day.

Their explovation of the river was a careful one. The
account given of it by Herrera differs somewhat from
that of Alvo the pilot, but in general outline it is the
sume. For two days they followed up the stream. The
pilots grambled ab the risk, for the greatest depth they
found was thres fathoms, and Magellan gave the order
to anchor. They remained here six days, taking in water,

1 Probably the Bay of Paranagua, in lat, 25" a8’ S,
# January 11, Uerrera.
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and catching great quantities of fish. Many natives
gathered in canoes, and, mindful of the fate of Juan
do Solis, the Captain-general ordered three boats to be
manned and armed, upon which the people fied ashore.
The Spaniards landed and tried o catch them, but in
vain, % They made such encrmous strides,” says Piga-
fotta,  that with all our running and jumping we could
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not overtake them.” The country was found to be
Beautiful, but without sign of habitation. At night an
Indian dressed in goat-sking came alone in a canoe and
visited the flag-ship without a sign of fear. The admiral
presented him with a cobton shirt and a jersey of coloured
cloth, at the same time showing him s silver plato, to
ascertain if he knew the metal. The native gave him
to understand that there was much of it among his
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tribe, but Magellan's hopes of barter were doomed to
disappointment, for the man went away next day and
did not return.

By Alvo’s log-book we learn that the vessel or vessels
sent, on in advance were absent fifteen days, and that
two other ships were also sent southwards. Of these,
the S. Anfonio was one, and in her Magellan himself
went, anzious to examine the coast with his own eyest
Alvo’s description of this incident, especially when read
side by side with Pigafetta's account, is of great interest,
Both the reconnaissances were made with the object of
seeing if there might not by chance exist a strait leading
ioto the Pacific.? Such a strait, according to the Ttalian,
had been rumoured, or its possibility surmised. But
twenty lengues to the south the Captain-general reached
the opposite bank of the river, and fresh water still
washed the sides of his ships. He had to do, then, with
the mouth of & great river only, and with nothing more ;
and the fine della ferra, which Cape Santa Maria had
been supposed to form, was not yet.

Rejoining the other ships, and beating back against
strong head-winds to *“ Monte Vidi,” Magellan anchored
with his squadron off the site of the present city. On
the morning of February 3rd he weighed and resumed

1 Horeera, op. cit. Dec. ¥i. bk. ix. cap. x.

2 “Por ver si habia pasage,” **4 ver si habia pasage para pasar,”
aro tho two phrases used by Alvo. Lord Stanley of Alderloy, in his
First Voyage (p. 214), has rendercd pasage a5 *' roadstead "—<“to sao
if thore was  roadstond for staying at” Il Speaking of tho Rio de Ia
Plata and Cape Santa Maria, Pigatetts soys, “Si era oreduto una
volta ossor questo un sannlc cho mettesse nel mar del Sur, ciof det
mezzodi.” The raere fact that Mogellan sought for « atrait hiere (or
perbaps sought, to disprove its exitenco) proves nothing with regard
to the great quostion of what ho knew concarning tho strmits that now.
bear his name.
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Lis voyage to the south. Next day a leak was discovered
in the §. Anfonio, but it was gob under after a delay of
two days, and on the 6th the course was once more
resumed. Keeping close to the const off Cabo San
Antonio, they rounded what is now known as Cape Cor-
rientes, which, owing to its sandhills and shoals, they
called Punta de las Arenas. On the r2th February they
encountered a very severe storm of thunder and lightning
and rain, the worst of which being over, the “ gloriose
cuerpo” of 8. Klmo appeaved to them, “the which some
call that of 8. Pedro Gonzalez, others of Santa Clara, and
others again of 8. Nicholas.”” Whichever it may have
been, it afforded them much spiritual consolation, and
“many who held the matter in derision,” says Herrera,
“not only saw it, but believed in it, and affirmed its truth. "’

On the 13th February they found themselves among
shoals,! and the Ficforia bumped several times, but for-
tunately did not remain, Thay thought it best, however,
to keep off shore, and a course was steered which took
them out of sight of land for two or three days. It does
not appear whether Magellan thought that during this
time he may have missed the possibility of a strait, or
whether some other reason came into play, but either on
the 22nd or the 23rd he decided partially to retrace his
steps, and a W.N. W, course was set. It brought them,
February 24th, to the mouth of the Gulf of San Matias,
which they entered o soo if there were not an outlet for
the Moluceas.”2 None appeared, and at the approach
of night, finding no proper anchorage, they again stood
out to sea, The bay received its name from its discovery

1 The * Bajos anegados ' of Ribero’s map.

* Gunooso pilot, **Viondosi hiabia alguna salids para el Maluco.”
Seealio Horrers, Dec. ii. bk. ix.
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upon §. Matthias' Day. It was here that they appear
to have first felt the effects of the omcoming winter.
Herrera speaks of the great cold they experienced, and
chronicles a succession of storms which separated the-
ships for thres or four days.

Three days later, February 27th, they arrived at an
inlet to which they gave the name of Bahia le los Patos,
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or Duck Bay, from the number of penguins frequenting
it. A boot with six men was sent to geb wood and
swater, but, fearful of the natives, they went to a small
island instead of visiting the mainland. Upon it they
found &0 many “ sea wolves”’! and penguins that they
were astounded. The whole flect could have been laden

1 Theso *sea-wolves” were probably some species of the Otariide
or furseals,
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with them. TUnable to discover either weod or water,
the sailors filled their boat with these creatures, but a
storm springing up, they found themselves unable to
return, and they were forced to spend the night upon
the rock, fearing that they would either be devoured by
the “wolves” or die from the cold. Next morning a
nwnber of men were sent to their rescue, who found
their boat npon the rocks, and coneluded that they had
perished. On shouting out for their ccmrades an enou-
mous numbet of seals sprang out, of which they killed
many ; and searching farther, they came upon the missing
men buried beneath the seals they had killed, and balf
dead from cold and exposure. On their retwrn to the
fleet another storm came on, so heavy that the cables of
the Trinidad parted, and only one held. Close to the
rocks, and horzibly afraid, they promised a pilgrimage
to N.8. de la Vietoriz, and commended their souls
to God.  With morning the storm ceased, and there
was nol sufficient wind for them to get under way. But
their troubles were not over, and they liad yet to leamrn
the meaning of autumn and winter on the shores of
Patagonia. At midnight another storm burst upon
them, lasting three days, and carrying away theirMore-
castles and poops. Again they vowed pilgrimages in
their distress, and again their prayers were heard. The
three holy bodies, 8, Anselmo, 8. Nicholas, and 8. (lara
appeared at the mastheads, and the storm ceased.

Great as their anxiety and hardships had been, it
scemed that they were destined to grow worse as the
fleet advanced. A fow days later they arrived at a buy
with a nmarrow entrance, which appeared, since il was
roomy inside, to be suitable for them to winter in. They
entered it, and in six days encountered sevcrer storms

L
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and van greater danger than had yet fallen to their lot.
A boat that went ashore to water upon their arrival was
uuable to veturn, and the crew subsisted as best they
could upon shell-fish. At last,” —Ierrera tells us,—“ at
Tast it pleased God that they should leave that bay, and
they named it tle Bay of Toil.”! How long a time Lind
been passed in it does not appear, but considerable delay
must bave occurred either in the bay itself or its imme-
diate neighbourhood, for it was not until the 315t March,
1520, that the flest anchored for the winter in Port St.
Julian in lat. 49° 20’ 8. The weather had become too
sovere for a farther advance, and, well sheltered and
abounding in fish, the harbour seemed in every way a
suitable one. But it was destined to be no haven of rest
to Magellan, for it was here that the muting, so loog
planned and so long foreseen, at length broke out.
Upon their arvival, one of the first steps taken by
the Captain-general was to place officers and erew once
more upon diminished rations. Bearing in mind the
long winter they had before them, no wiser action eould
have been taken. Bub such actions, however wise or
even necessary they may be, ave raxely popular, and this
was no exception to the rule. The sailors grumbled, as
sailors will grumble, and, hating Magellan, and anxious
only for the failure of his expedition, it is little probable
that the Spanis captains showed much energy in check-
ing them. Matters grew daily worse. The extreme cold
they were beginning to experieice, the frequent storms
they encountered, their disbelief in the existence of a
strait, combined to render them oblivious alike of poten-
tial honours and of duty. They openly demanded either
that they should be put on full rations, or that the home-
1 % Bahia do los brabajos "—possibly B. do los Desvelos, in It, 48° 15'S.
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ward voyage should be at once commenced. It was evi-
dent, they said, that the land stretched without a brenk
to the Antarctic Pole, and that there was no hope of
finding any strait ; that the winter, from whose rigour
some had already died, was upon them; and that to
Temain meant the loss of ships and men, which were of
more importance than all the oloves and spices of the
Moluceas. They alleged that it was not the intention of
the King that they should continue to seelc the impos-
sible, and that it was sufficient that they had arrvived at
a point whither no one hitherto had been bold enough to
penetrate, adding that if they went farther south they
would in all probability be wrecked upon some inhospi-
table const, swhere every soul would perish.

Magellan's answer was such as we might expect from
him! Although so many were against him, nothing was
further from his intention than to yield. The voyage,
he said, was undertaken at the King’s orders, and come
what might, it was imperative to push on to the termiua-
tion of the continent and to the strait, which they could
not fail to find. The winter, indeed, made their task
impossible for the moment, but upon the advent of
spring they could continue, if they pleased, to latitudes
where the days were three months long. He marvelled
that Castilians should be guilty of such weakness; and
a3 for the want of provisions, there was little cause for
complaint, singe in the bay in which they lay at anchor
there was plenty of wood, good water, and an abundance
of fish and birds. Neither the bread nor wine had ns yet.
run short, nor would they. In fine, since he himself
was determined to die rather than shamefully to turn

1 “Magellan,”" saye Herrera, describing the incident, was “hombre
Prompto, y acudia luego al remedio do qualquiers novedad,"
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back, he felt sure that among such comrades as em-
barked on such an expedition there could be no lack
of that spirit of valowr which always animated the
Spanich nation, and he nsked them, therefore, to endure
patiently until the winter should pass. The greater
their labour and privation, the greater would be their
sovereign’s reward, They were o reveal to him, he
conciuded, an unknown world abounding in gold and
spices, which would bring wealth to each and all con-
cerned in its discovery.!

Tor a time, we learn, the crews were content, satisfied
with the arguments he had advanced, but it was not for
long. The treachery of his eaptains was at work, and
the murmurings broke out afresh, The men began to
talk o one another of the long-standing atred between
the Portuguese and Spaniards, and of Magellan being a
Portuguese, saving that he could do no greater service to
his country than to lose this fleet and all its sailors ; that
it was incredible that he should wish to find the Molue-
cas even if he could, and that it would be enough if he
could delude the Emperor for a year or two with false
hopes, Even their course, they said, was not towards
the Moluccas, but towards snow and ice and perpetual
storms.? This time Magellan took other measures to
repress the discontent. As a man of spirit and honour,
Gomara tells us, he showed his teeth, and seized and

1 The demands of the erew, and Mogellan's spoech in reply, are
almost identical in Oviedo and Herrera. Both perbaps azo borrowoed
from the letter of Muzimilian ‘Iransyisanus, Which they also resomblo
almast word for word. Faria y Sousn, in his Asia Portugucsa, puts
an absardly bombastio and B e D (D e
‘mouth, which, it is unnecessars to state, is purely imaginary. Asia
Portugiest, vol. 1. pt. . cap. v.

* Letter of Max. Transylvanus,
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punished the offenders.! His action was, however, too
late to ward off the blow that was sbout to fall. An
emrly warning of the coming storm was afforded not
long after the arrival of the fleet in Port St Julian.
Mogellan had given orders that upon Enster Day all
should go ashore and attend mass, and that afterwards
the eaptains of the ships should dine at his table. Some
changes had been efiected in the command. It will be
remembered that, upon the degradation of Cartagena,
Antonio de Coca had been appointed captain of the
8. dutonio. We do not learn what action of his de-
prived him in his turn of his post, but deprived he was.
Avana tells us? that Magellan mistrusted him. What-
ever may have boen the cause, his command was con-
ferved upon Alvaro de Mesquita— first cousin of tho
Captai L It is not improbable that the appoint-
ment, of a Portuguese was obnoxious to the Spaniard
At any rate, both Gaspar Quesadn and Luis de Mendoza
refused to attend mass, and Mesquita alone dined with
his kinsman on board the Trinidad. Magellan, we are
told, looked upon the affair as ofill augury, and his
suspicions proved only too well founded.

The blow fell the very same night. In the midtle
watch Gaspar Quesada, captain of the Concepeion, ac-
companied by Jusn de Cartagena, Juan Sehastian del
Cano, and some thirty armed men, boarded the S
Antonio, and entered the cabin of Alvaro de Mesquita
with drawn swords. Resistance wos useless. He was
immediately put in irons, secured in the cabin of Gero-
nimo Guerrs, and a guard placed over him. The dis-
turbance at ones brought the maestre, Juan de Lorriags,

1 Gomara, op. eit., ¢h. xcii. p. 84,
2 Op. cit., p. 66,
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upon the seene, a faithful Basque, who had no thought
of joining the rebels, even in face of such serious odds.
1o called upon Quesada instantly to leave the ship, and
upon his refusal, ordered the contramaesice, Diego
Hernandes, to summon the crew to arms. Quesada,
exelaiming, “ We cannot be foiled in our work by this
fool,” sprang at him and stabbed him repeatedly with a
dagger, leaving him for dead! The contramaestre had
meanwhile been overpowered and made prisoner. So
rapidly and unexpectedly had the affair taken place,
that the erew, deprived of their officers, lad no alter-
native but to submit. 'They were at once disarmed, and
the arms placed in the cabin of Antonio de Coca, who
had cast in his lot with the mutineers.

Measures were next taken to secure the ship against
recapture. The command was given to Juan Sebastian
del Cano, to whose name the stain of mutiny must ever
attach, despite the honour so justly won by him at a
later period. The artillery was mounted, and the decks
cleared for action under his orders. Antonio Fernandes
and Gongalo Rodvigues, two Portuguese who had re-
sisted Quesada’s authority, were put in irons, together
with a certain Diego Diaz, who had helped thexa. The
stores swere broken open, and the wine, bread, and obher
provisions freely distributed. In this and other matters
Antonio de Coca, the former captain of the 8. Anfoxio,
was active in assisting Quesada, as was also Luis del
Molino, the latter’s body-servant. The chaplain of the
ship, Pedvo de Valderrama, though occupied in confess-
ing the apparently dying maestra, observed them, and
mentioned the fact in his evidence before Magellan. It
obtained for Molino a sentence of death, but for lack of

1 Lorringa died from the effects of his wounds on rsth July.
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an executioner his life was spared, upon the condition
that he himself should execute his master,

The ship Vicloria, whose captain, Luis de Mendoza,
treasurer of the amada, had always been a bitter
enemy of Magellan, had from the beginning given in
its adherence to the mutineers, although a marked
element of loyalty existed among the crew. The suble-
vados were therefore in a very sbrong position. They
held the Comespeion, the S. Anfonio, and the Victoria,
and were hended by Quesada, Juan de Cartagena,
Autonio de Coca, and Mendoza. Of the little Santiago
we hear nothing. Her captain, Serrdio, was the brother
of Magellan's staunchest fiiend, and of her crew of
thirty-two, one-half only were Spanish. It is unlikely
that any attempt was made to interfere with her, either
by force or persuasion, Quesada and his party felt
strang enongh to carry out their plans without her
assistance.

Sucl was the state of affairs to which Magellan woke
upon the morning of the 2nd Apul. The 8. Antonio
Thad been carvied so rapidly and quietly that no suspicion
of the truth had occurred to the officers of the flag-ship.
Tt first dawned upon them, the chronicler Herrara tells
us, on Magellan sending & boat to the S. Anfonio to pick
up some men for & watering-puty. They were lailed
and told to keep off, and informed that the ship was
under the orders of Gaspar Quesada, and not Magellan.
Hearing the news, and at once suspecting the serions
nature of the affair with which he had to deal, the
Captain- general ordered the boat to go round to tho
ships and ask for whom they declared. Quesada’s reply
was, % For the King and for myself,” and like answers
were given from all except the Santiago. Shortly after-
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wards a boat arrived with a letter from Quesada. He had
seized the ships, he said, in ovder henceforward to do
away with the possibility of a repetition of the bad
treatment which officers and erew alike had received at
the bands of the Captain-general, but if Mageltan would
agree to their demands, they were ready onee more to
acknowlodge his authority. Magellan, in veply, said
that he would meet them on his ship, and would hear
what they had to say; but the mutineers, fearing that
they would be seized if they vountuved on board the
Trinidad, declined to see him, excepting on the S
Antonio.

Magellan had before him a task of which the difficulty
would have appeared to most men almost invingible.
Unless he won the day, the theories and hopes of his
lifetime were doomed to completa and final failure. With
the Santiago only the continuation of the voyage was
impossible. To return once more to the Seville quays,
having achieved nothing after so great o flourish of
trumpets at his departure, wag, of course, to return to
disgrace and oblivion. At any risk and cost, therefore,
the mutiny must be suppressed, but how it should be
suppressed was another matter. We have seen enough
of Magellan’s life and actions under Almeida to know
that in cool daring few men were his superiors. But
openly to attack the three revolted ships with no assist-
ance other than the little Sanfiago would have been
madness, and no one knew it better than he. If he was
to succeed ab all, it must be by finesse—by the exereiso
of that faculty which, JTerrera tells us, supplied him
with a way out of every new difficulty as it arose,

Magellan did suceeod. Periculosior quies quam feme-
ritas seemed fo him an apt motto for the occasion. His
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fivst action was to seize the boat of the S, Anfonto which
brought him Quesada's message. Bearing in mind the
large proportion of foreigners upon the Victoria, and the
fact that he knew many of them to be loyal to him, he
decided to address himself first to the captuve of that
vessel, hoping, if he weve successful, to be more than a
match for the others, The skiff, accordingly, carrying
the alguacil Gonzalo Gomez de Espinosa and five men
bearing concealed arms, was despatehed with a lotter to
Mendoza, summoning him at once to the flag-ship.
Mendoza smiled ab its contents—as though he would
say, “no me tomard all4”—“I am not to be caught
thus” He did not caleniabe upon the instructions
given by Magellan, As he shook his head in refusal
Hspinoss drew his dagger and stabbed him in the
throat, and at the same instant he was cut down by
another of Magellan’s men. He fell dead upon the
deck. The dangerous position of the alguacil and his
handful of men had, of course, been foreseen. A boat
with fifteen picked men of the Trimdad, captained by
the trusty Duarte Barbosa, brother-in-law of Magellan,
had been kept in readiness, and almosb at the mement
that Mendoza fell the Vicforia was boarded with »
rosh. lardly an effort ab resistance was made. Kither
overawed at the death of their captain or loyal in veality
to the leader of the armada, the crew surrendered at
once. Barbosa hoisted Mugellaw’s ensign, and, weigh-
ing anchor, placed the capturcd ship in close proximity
to the capitana at the entrance of theport. The Santiago
took up a similar position upon the other hand. The
three ships together effectually guarded the harbowr’s
mouth, preventing the escape of the others, and
Magellan held the game in his own hands,
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The i were d to but re-
fused, and it was conjectured that the two ships would
atbempt to escape under cover of darkness. Yarlyin
the day the 7'rénidad had been cleared for action. An
order had been issued to “ make & plentiful provision of
much darts, lances, stones, sud other weapons, both on
deck and in the tops.” The watch wes now doubled ;
the men were allowed a good meal, and the strictest
injunctions weve given to guard against the escape of
the vessels. A little after midnight the 8. Anfonio hove
in sight. She was supposed to be bearing down upon
the flag.ship, but was in reality dragging her anchors.
Upon the quarter-deck was Gaspar Quesada, who, armed
with lance and shield, called upon his men. No one
stirred, and the Twnidad, opening firo with her lorge
bombards, grappled her and poured her boarders over
her side. At the same moment she was boarded on the
starboard hand by the sailors of the Victoria. Their
cry “Por quien estais?” met with the answer, “ For the
King and Magellan.” Quesada and his fellow-mutineers
were quickly seized, and the captain and pilot, Alvaro
de Mesquita and Mafra, set at liberty. Not & man was
killed; hardly a blow struck. Mafra alone had any
narrow escape of denth, a bull from the flagship passing
between his legs as he sat imprisoned below deck.

The mutiny was now over. Juan de Cartagena, per-
ceiving the loss of the S. Anfonio and the surrender
of Quesada, realised that nothing was to be gained by
further resistance.  1When the boat from the Zrinidad
came alongside and called upon him to surrender, he
obeyed the order at once, He was placed in irons and
brought back to the Bag-ship, there to await his sentence.

Next day the body of Mendoza was brought ashore,
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Tfe was publicly cried as a traitor, the body was drawn
and quartered, and the quarters spitted on poles, An
inquiry was then held upon the circumstances of the
mutiny, of which no details are given us. Forty men
were found guilty of treason and condemned to death ;
but partly because they were necessary for the service of
the fleet;, partly because he did not wish to make him-
self unpopular by too severe mensures, Magellan par-
doned them. Such a clemency, however, could not be
extended to Quesada nor Cartagena, whose insubordi-
nation had been an affair of old date. Quesade, doubly
guilty by the brutal manner in which he had stabbed
the maestre of the 8. Anfonio, was sentenced to be
cxecuted  On Saturday, the 7¢h April, he was taken on
shore and the sentence carried out, his head being struck.
off by his servant, Luis del Molino, and his body quar-
tered, ag in the case of Mendoza. No more justifiable
punishment could have been inflicted.

A different fate was reserved for Juan de Cartagena.
Whether, since he had been directly appotuted by Chatles
V., Magellan did not wish to take his life, or whether
he considered that there were extenuating circumatances
connected with his case, we cannot tell. A violent death
ab least was spared him, and he was sentenced to be
marooned upon the departure of the fleet, With him
the priest Pexp Sanchez de Reina suffered a like punish-
ment.! 1lis offence was a grave one, for he was found

) Herrera speaks of n clerigo frances as being tho culprit, loaving
it %o be inforred thab it was Bernardo Calmeta, the chaplain of the
8. Antomio. Tn the “List of Deaths in the Fleot of Hernando do
Magallanes " it is, howover, distinetly montioned that tho offender
waa Poro Sanchez de Reiua. It is novertholess worthy of remark that
Calmota’s name is not to be fonnd among thoss who returned to
Spain, nor ameng those who perished in tho oxpedition.
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guilty of trying to incite the crew to mutiny for a
second time, even after the failure of the plot and the
justice executed upon its authors. No one would listen
to him, and he was soon denounced and made prisoner.
Of Antonio de Coca’s punishment we hear nothing.
‘We know only that he reached the Ladrone Islands with
the fleet and died there!

Magellan's action in the mutiny of Port St. Julian
has been made the subject of the severest strictures,
more especially by those of the school of fireside criti-
cism. His stratagem of capturing the FVzeforia has
been stigmatised as assassination, By one author he is
Qesoribed as “a man of oruel and savage disposition,”
who “rul laugt d his own des.” But
such expressions are as incorrect as they are violent.
In times of mutiny, when right is no longer might, and
the loyal crew are confronted by overpowering odds,
legal measures are. occasionally impossible, and fairness
worse than a mistake, Mendoza, a mutineer and 4pso
Jacto worthy of death, only met his punishment—and
met it, it should be remembered, at the hands of an
alguacil—a few hours before it would otherwise have
been inflicted. As a mutineer, moreover, he wag well
aware of the risks he ran—vwell aware that, if Magellan
could, he would kill hims. And finally, we cannot judge
sixteenth-century matters by ninetesnth-century stan-
dards. The taking of a man’s life was in those days
a small matéer. Bub in expeditions such as these, the

1 Others, among them Andres de San Martin, tho cosmographer, aro
said to bavo been punished by Magellan, but as we loarn this from
the evidence of the crow of the & Antoni, which ship desorted the
floet & fow montha later, and as wo know much of the cridenco to
bo untrue, no relinnce can be placed upon tho assertion. Soe Navare
reto, vol. iv. p. 206,
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preservation of discipline was an affair of vital import-
ance. In this case, had the attempt on the Victoria
failed, the complete collapse of the work of the armada.
must inevitably have followed.

Magellan bas also been accused of having acted ille-
gally in the punishment of the mutineers. In ihe letter
of Maximilian Transylvanus this charge is brought
against him.!  But though there may bo a diffevence of
apinion as to the justifiubility of Mendoza’s death, there
can be none whatever upon this question. The * Titulo
de Capitanes,” granted by Chatles to Magellan upon the
22nd March, 1518, gives the latter full power over the
persons and property of those sailing with him.* Corres,
too, is definite upon:the point. “The Emperor gave
him power ¢ of rope and knife’ over every person who
went, in the armada,”$ and it is satisfactory to find that
the punishments of Quesada and Cartagena were as
strictly legal as they were well-deserved.

The mutiny was the turning-point of Magellan’s
career. ‘Thenceforward, whatever~desire to question his
authority may have existed, it remained unexpressed.
The inflexible determination of the man, his strengdth of
will, his readiness of resource, showed officers and erews
alike that ohedienee was the best policy. Had they
known what suffering and what peril lay in their path,
it is doubtful whether the resolution and energy of any
single individual would bave availed to stop their defec-
tion. But Ruy Faleiro hud only east his own horoscope ;

1 Erant enim rogif quidan ministri, in quos nemo precter Casarom
ipsum, ejusve senatum, capitali peena animadsertors jore potest.’

* Vide Nusarrete, vol. iv. p. 122,

3 «J; Ihe deu poder de burago o cutello em toda’ pesson quo fosso
n'armada. "—Correa, ii. part it, p. 627.
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and so it happened that Magellan sailed southward to
the discovery of the strait that bears his name.t

I 1t is a singular fact that of the four persons who accompanied the
expedition and wrote an #ccount of it, two should bave remwined
absolutely eilent upon the subject of the mutiny, and two—the
“ Genocso pilot” and Pigafetta—have thought it worthy of only the
harostmontion. Thoaccount of the latter is remarkable for its oxtra-
ordinary inacouracy. ““The Captains of the other four ships,” he
writes, “ plotted to kill tho captain-gencral,” and be then goea on to
say that it was Cartagons who was exocuted and quurterd, while
Gaspar Quesada was marooned. 1t seoms incrediblo that an eye-
‘witnoss~which ho undoubtedly was—should have failed to remember
ciroumstancos such as theso, and the fact somewhat lessens tho value
of bis book as a ¢rodiblo narrative, although we know that such parts
of the diary as were written on the spot, detailing bis own experiances,
are almost alsays accurate, Our real knowledgo of the affair is dno
to threo documents existing in the Seville archives—an informacion
drawn up by Magellan at the time, giving the examunation of
witnosses ; & letter of the Contador Recaldo o the Bishop of Burgos,
containing the evidence of the deserters of the § Anfonio; and,
Tnstly, an account of the evidence taken in Valladolid, Octobor 18,
1522, coneerning cortain events of the voyage. The historian Herrera
has o tolerably full and correct accovnt of the tragedy, but that of
Corroa, though nearly 0s full, is inaceurate in many powts, as indecd
it is often wont to be,



CHAPTER VIL

THE LAST VOYAGE—I1. THE DISCOVERY OF
THE STRAIT.

ORpER having once more been established, Magellan
kept all hands busily ab work during the remainder of
hig sojourn in Port St. Julian. The vessels were careened
and caulked, and such repairs as were found nocessary
were carried out. The 8. dnfondo especially stood in
need of them. The mutineers, in chains, were kept
working at the pumps until the carpenters had rendered
sueh work no longer needful. It was not until the
day of departuve from the bay that they were set at
liberty.

Towards the end of April the Captain-general de-
termined to undertake a reconnaissanee of the coast in
the vicinity. The fear of a more or less proldnged
inaction and its effect upon the men most probubly led
him to this step. The Sandiago, from her handiness
and small draught, was chosen for the work, and her
choice was the.more indicated from the fact of Serrio
being hev commander. Few men were so well versed in
the art of seamanship and navigation ; fewen still were
endowed with his experience. He had long used the
Eastern seas both ns subaltern and captain. From the
time of his first command under Redrigo Rabello in
1506 until his departure on the expedition, he had been
constantly in active se”iel(;" Ag brother, moreover, of

5]
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Magellan’s great friend, Francisco Serr@o, the Captain-
general knew that every trust could be reposed in him.
He received instructions therefore to sail along the coast!
to the southward, examining each bay and inlet. He
was not to carry his explorations too far, and if after a
certain time nothing worthy of note was met with, he
was {o retrace his steps and once more rejoin his com-
rades in Port 8t. Julian.

It is to Ilerrera that we are indebted for an account
of the voyage The Santiago, working slowly along
the coast, arrived on the 3rd May at the mouth of a
river of considerable size, nearly sixty miles from the
harbour whence she had set out. Serrdo named it the
Rio de Banta Cruz. The fish were so abundant that he
was induced to prolong his stay for six days to lay in a
supply. The seals, or sea-wolves, as the suilors termed
them, were equally numerous. and of such Jarge size that
the Spaniards were astounded. One of them, deprived
of the skin, head, and cntrails, weighed nearly five
hund ight.! laving replenished their stock of pro-
visions, the explorers continued their voyage, but they
had barely gone three leagues, when, on the 22nd May,
they encountered one of the short but violent storms
which at this season render the coast of Putagonia so
dangerous. The ship was put under storm canvas, but
the rudder having become injured by {he heavy seas, she
refused to obey her helm, and a sudden squall from the
enst dvove her ashore. Fortunately she took the ground
in such a manner that the crew were able to save them-
selves by dropping from the end of the jib-boom, but
they had barely time to escape with their lives, In a

1 The great sizo of the old males of the fur scals, and their dis-
‘propertion to the femalex, is a marked feature of these creatures,
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few minutes the ill-fated Santiago was in pieces, and
her crew, to the number of thirty-seven men, found
themselves without provmons of any kind, exposed to
the hardships of a most incl t climate, and sep:

by seventy miles of pathless wilderness from the succowr
of their comrades. The only good fortune attending
them was of a negative kind. But one life was lost—
that of the negro slave of the captai

For eight days the castaways remained in the neigh-
bourhood of the wreck, hoping possibly to secure some

rbicl f food or oth hich might prove of
service in the desperate journey that lay before them.
Their hopes were vain. Among the jetsam, however,
were numerous planks, and, mindful of the fact that
between them and safety lay the river they had just dis-
covered—the great Rio de Santa Cruz, a barrier three
miles in width—they started on their march laden with
sufficient of these to enable them to construct a raft
wherewith to cross it. But short as was the distance
they had to traverse, they became so exhausted by
exposure and want of nourishment that they were forced
to abandon the greater part of their load, and did"not
arrive at the river until the fourth day.! ere at least
they were safe from starvation, for, as they had previously
discovered, its waters abounded in fish. It was resolved
that, the main bedy of the crew should encamp upon the
banks, while two of the strongest of their number should
eross in the little raft they had constzucted and endeavour
0 make their way to Port St. Julian,

1 Hervera, Dec. ii. lib, ix. cap, xiii. It may be wondered why such
toil and hardship woro undertaken when a raft might have been built
ab the river-side. It is probable, however, that the shipwrecked men
were unprovided with axes, and that there was also insufficient wood
for the purposs,

"
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Hovw these unfortunate men eventually reached their
destination, and how severe were their sufferings on the
march, we learn from the pages of the Spanish historiah
already quoted, For eleven days they struggled on,
living at one time upon roots and leaves, at another
upon such shelifish as they were able to eollect upon the
shore. At firsh they attempted to follow the coast-line,
as affording them better means of subsistence, but they
were soon obliged to relinguish this plan, owing to the
marshes that barred their passage and forced them to
strike inland. At Jength the welcome harbour was
reached. o altered wero they from the hardships they
had undergone, that they were vecognised with diificulty
by their old comrades.

The weather continued so unsettled, that Magellan
considered it better to try and reach the shipwrecked
party by land, rather than expose another of his vessels
to the risk of loss. e accordingly at once despatched
a velief party of twenty-four men, laden with wine and
biseuit. Like their two comrades, they experienced
great hardships from the rigours of the climate and the
roughness of the country. No water was to be found on
the road, and they were forced to melt the little snow
they could discover to supply themselves with dvink.
On arriving ab the river, they found their companions
safe, ithough exhausted by exposure and privation. In
parties of two or three—for the little raft could hold no
more—the castaways were brought across the river, and
the homeward march hegan. It speaks well for the
courage and endurance of the Spaniards that they even-
tually reached the fleet without the loss of a single man.
Good fortune afterwards attended them with regard to
the ship's stoves and artillery, the greater pavt of which
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were saved and picked up by the Captain-general on
resuming his voyage to the south.!

Upon their return, the crew of tho Santiago were

d among the four remaining ships, and Serdo,
who had displayed both courage and ability in his con-
duct of the shipwrecked crew, was rewarded by the
command of the Concepcion. The ultimate result of the
two disasters which had befallen Mageilan was greatly
to strengthen his hand. In lieu of three disaffected and
traitorous captains—Quesada, Cartagena, and Mendoza
—the commands were held by Portugnese, in whom he
could place complete and absolute reliance. Serrfo, as
we have seen, took the Concepeion, while the S. Antonio
and Victoria were captained by Alvaro de Mesquita and
Duarte Barbosa, the former of whom was Magellan’s
first cousin, the latter his brother-in-law.?

The winter was now fairly established, and the cold
became more severe.  Nor was the weather they experi-
enced such as to tempt to & renewal of their explorations
along the coast. But the Captaih-general, anxious to
Jearn something of the interior of the country, thought
it advisable to despatch a small expedition with that
object. Four men only were sent. They were well
armed, and were furnished with instructions to pene-
trate, if possiblo, to o distance of thirty leagues, to plant
2 eross, and to put themselves upon a footing of friend-

1 Log-book of the * Gonosse Pilot.” Medina, vol. ii. p. 4o1. Correa
gives a widely difforent account of the shipstreck, which, as is the
€ase in many instances, is manifestly incarrect.

# Gomara, and indeed Oviedo also, makes Mesquita to be the nephew
of tho Captain-general. * Alvaro de Mesquita queria catrar por ol
estracho, diciendo quo por alli 1ba su tio Nagallanes."—Gomara, ch,
Xeii. p, 85, 8o, tao, does Maximilian Transylvanus— Una ex his cui
ipiius Magellani ox fratre nepos Aluarus Meschita prefuit ;" and o
fow lines farthor the words “ pabrans Magollanus " aro used,
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ship with any natives they might happen to meot. The
nature of the country was, unfortunately, such as to
render the expedition a failure. Neither food nor water
was to be found. The men were forced to bo content with
the ascent of a high mountain at some little distance
from the coast. Planting a cross upon its summit, and
giving to it the name of the Mount of Christ, they re-
traced their steps, and arxived ab the ships, informing
Magellan that the country was intraversable and without
resources, and appeared to be entirely nnpeopled.

It was not long before the latter piece of information
at least was proved to be incorrect. The fleet had
vemained at anchor for weeks in Port 8t. Julian, and no
trace of natives had been seen. One morning, however,
the sailors wero astonished by the appearance of a man
of gigantic stature upon the beach, who sang and dunced,
pouring sand upon his head in token of amity. Magel-
lan sent A man ashore with instructions to imitate the
action of the savage, and, if possible, to make friends
with him. This he succeeded in doing, and the new-
comer was brought before the admiral. Spaniards and
native were equally surprised. The latter marvelled,
Gomara tells us, to see such large ships and such little
men, and pointing to the sky, seemed to inquire whether
they were not gods who had descended from heaven ;
while the Spaniards, wondering at the great stature of
their visitor, concluded that they had come upon a vace
of giants. “So tall was this man,” writes Pigafotta,
“that we came up to the level of his waistbelt. He was
well enough made, and had a broad face, painted red,
with yellow cireles round his eyes, and two heart-shaped
spots on his cheeks. His hair was short and coloured
white, and he was dressed in the skins of an animal
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cleverly sewn together.” The deseription given of this
animal leaves no doubt that it was the guanaco. The
skin of the same creaturs sorved to make boots for these
people, and it was the unwieldy appearance thus given
to the feet which led Magellan to apply to the race the
name of Patagio.

The man seemed most peaceably disposed, though he
did not lay aside his arms—a short, thick bow, and a
hundle of cane arrows tipped with black and white
stones. Magellan treated him kindly, and ordered that
he should be given food. 1Ie was shown some of their
objects for barter, among others a large steel mirror.
8o overcome was he on catching sight of himself, says
Pigafetts, that he jumped backwards with an unex-
pectedness and impetuosity which overset four of the
men who were standing round him, e was, neverthe-
theless, not unwilling to accept o small mirror as a
present, and some beads and bells having been added,
he was put ashore under the eare of four armed men.

A companion met him upon landing, and confidential
rvelations having been thus established, the Spaniards
had no difficulty in persuading the natives to visit heir
ships. Others, accompanied by their wives, were not
long in showing themselves, and eventually several eame
on board.  ““T'he women,” we are told, “ were loaded by
them with all their belongings, as if they were so many
beasts of burden. We could not behold them without
wonder.” They were not so tall as the men, but much
fatter, and had breasts half as long as a man’s arm.
‘With them “ they brought four of those little beasts of
which they make their clothing, leading them with o
cord Jike dogs coupled together.” ‘The use of these,
they said, vas to tie up and entice obhers within range of
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the arrows of the hunter, who was hidden near. The
Spaniards were anxious to secure some of these guanacos,
and getting together eighteen of the natives, sef half of
them to hunt on either side of the entrance of the har-
bour, but we are not told the result of their endeavours,

Many visits were thus paid by the patives to the fleet,
and Pigafetta was enabled to obtain a small vocabulary
of their language. One of them, who seemed especially
tractable and pleasing, remained with the ships some
days. He was taught the Paternoster and Ave Maria,
which he pronounced well, but in an exceedingly loud
voice, and the priest eventually baptized him with the
pame of Juan Gigante. The Captain-general gave him
a number of presents, with which he was much pleased,
and on the following day he returned bringing a guanaco.
Magellan, hoping to obtain some more of these animals,
directed that further presents shouvld be made him. The
man was never seen again, however, and it was suspected
that he had been murdered by his companions.

The mopners and customs of the Patagonians are
described at some length by the supposed Genoese pilot
as well as by Pigafetta. The fact that they devoured
with great relish the rats which were caught on the
ships filled the sailors with astonishment, which was not
lessened by perceiving that they did not stop to skin them.
Still more astonishing was their powex of thrusting arrows
down their throats without injury, which was apparently
cone more n a tour de force than for any definite purpose,
although Pigafetta regarded it as a species of medical
treatment,—*in luogho di purgarsi,” as he deseribes it

1 Pigafotta and Max. Transylvanus alone mention this story, and

Oviedo borrows it frope them. It is depicted in Do Bry's illustration of
Magellan passing the Straits, which is represented in this volume, p. 2¢1.
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In spite of Magellan's fixed 1ule that the fleet should
not be burdened with useless mouths, especially now that
the rations had been reduced, be was so much struck
with the gigantes, as they termed them, that he resolved
to bring some of them back with him to Spain a8 a pre-
sent to the Emperor. It was some litile time before he
was able to put bis project into execution, for fifteen
days elapsed before another native was seen. At length,
upon the 28th July, four appeared upon the beach, and
were brought on board the Trinidad. Magellan was
anxious to keep the two youngest, but having an idea
that their eapture might not be an eesy matter, he de-
cided to use strategy rather than force. Loading them
with presents, so that their hands were full, he then
offered them a pair of irons, and, as they were unable
to take them, showed (hem how they fitted upon the
legs. A couple of strokes of the hammer riveted the
holts, and the two nnlucky savages were prisoners hefore
they realised their position. When they did so, they
became farions, invoking Setebos,? their Greab Spirit,
to their aid. Their two companions were conducted
ashore with their arms bonnd by n party of men who
were instructed to bring the wife of one of the captives,
“ who greatly regretted her, as we saw by signs.” The
huts of the natives were reached the same day, but as it
was late, the pilot Carvallio, who was in charge of the
party, decided on waiting till the following day. It
hoppened that on the road one of their charges had
attempted to escape, and in the struggle which ensued
he was wounded in the head. IHis companions said

7 This namo is put into Caliban’s mouth by Shakespeare upon two

occasions, Tempest, ack 1. seenc 2, and act ¥, s0eno ¥, snd was doubt
loss borrowed {rom Pigafetta's narrative,
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nothing at the time, but next morning they spoke a fow
wouds to the women, and immedintely all took to fight,
At a little distance they halted to exchange shots with
the Spaniards, and in the encounter Diego de Barrasa,
man-at-arms of the Tvinidad, was struck in the thigh
by an arrow and died immediately.

Magellan d to follow the Pat; i either
with the idea of punishing them, or more prohably with
the hope of capturing & woman of the tribe, but he was
unsuccessful, and it seoms that—by nature 2 wandering
people—they disappeared for a time from the neighbour-
lood. The action of the Spaniards upon this occasion
was, of cowrse, totally unjustifiable according to our
ideas; but it must be remembered that the humani-
tarianism of the present day was at that time not even
in its infancy. A selugje was looked upon as hardly
other than an animal, and giants, such as these were
supposed to be! must have approximated them still
more closely. No doubt the Captain-general regarded
it as his duty to bring such curiosities to his Emperor,
and did not consider his breach of faith as other than a
perfectly justifisble proceeding. The bwo captives were
placed in different vessels, and we learn from the account
of the Genoese pilot that one arrived in Spain, brought

1 ‘Ihe sctual height and size of the Patagonians remained for a long
#ime a matter of dispute. An nssemblage of very tall people always
causes an over-cstimation of their height, and there i no doubt, that
Pigufotta's diary givos 8 bond fide rocord of the improssion produced
wpon tho mind of himself and his comrades. Lieutenant Musters, tho
greatest authority upon tho eountry, gives the average height of
tho men as six feet, whilo somo reach six foot four inchos or more.
‘Cheir museular development is very great, Darwin, moreovor, in his
Voyage of the Beagle, says,  On an average thoir heiht is about six
foot, with somo men taller, and only & few shorter. Their height
appoars groator thao it really is from thoir large gnannco mantles,
their long fowing hair, and general figure” {chap. xi.).
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thither in the S. Anfonio, when she deserted the rest of
the squadron in the Straits. According to other accounts,
however, he died before reaching that country.!

Weary, no doubt, of the continued inaction, and
anxions to leave a place which must each day have
brought the remembrance of the mutiny to his mind,
Meagellan resolved to pass the remainder of the winter
in the Rio de Santa Cruz, which had been discovered by
Serrio in the ill-fated Santiago. The ships were now
repaired and refitted, and in good order, and the admiral
hoped to make the passage without encountering one of
the frequent storms which render this coast so dangerous
in winter, e accordingly gave orders to prepare for
sea. Before their departure, however, a sentence had to
be carried into effect—that of the marooning of Juan
de Oartagena and his fellow-culprit, Pedro Sanchez de
Reina.? For some reason that we do mot learn, they
were put on shore nearly a fortnight before the sailing
of the fleet—on Saturday, August 11th. They were pro-
vided with “ an abundance of bread and wine,” Herrera
says;® but it must have been a bitter punishment for

1 Herrora’s necount of the infercourse of the Spaniards and Pata-
goniaus differs widely from the abovo in cortain points, Ho relates
their first meoting dilferently, describes the death of Diogo de
Barrasa as osourring in o chance reneontre with tho matives, and
recards the despatch of a punitive expedition of twenty men as a
sequel, adding that not one of the enemy was encountered {Dec. ii,
Iib, ix, caps. xiii-xv.). In the letter of Maximilian Transylvanus
thero oceurs o lengthy description of 4 visit of seven men of the flest.
10 & Patagonian hut some distance ialand, followed by an attompt to
capturo three of the suvagex One only was canght and brought on
oard, but his death occurrod within a few days, Neither of thess
20counts, it should be remembered, are first hand.

1o the pay list of the voyago, published by Medina, this namo
appears as Podro Sanchez de Viena. Medina, vol, i p. 193

# Herrera, Doc. fi. lib. ix, cap. xiv.
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them to watch the departure of their comrades and to
reflect how small was their chance of life—a chance
still further diminished by the altered relations of the
Spaniards with the natives. They were ¢ judged to be
worse off, considering the country in which they were
left, than the others who were drawn and quartered.”!
Such an opinion seems to have been held many years
later by another culprit, who, curiously cnoungh, in iden-
tically the same locality, found himself confronted by a
like alternative. In June, 1578, when Drake's little
squadron lay at anchor in Port St. Julian, Mr. Thomas
Doughtie was found guilty of a plot against the life of
the admiral. He was offered the choice of death, *“or
to be sot upen Jand on the main,” or to return to be tried
in England. e chose the first, giving as his reason
that the shame of his return as a traitor would be worse
than death, and that he would not endanger his soul by
consenting to be left among savages and infidels.

On the 24th August, every member of the expedition
having confessed and received the sacrament, the fleet
left the bay.? They shaped their course S.W. } W., and
two days later arrived off the mouth of the Santa Cruz
river. Their passage was not accompliched without
danger, for the ships were nearly lost in a heavy squall,
“God and the Corpi Santi, however,” writes Pigafetta,
“came to our aid,” and they reached the shelter of the
river and anchored in safety. The latitude was fixed,
with very tolerable accuracy, ab 50°. Tn this port, of
whose desolate character Daxrwin has left us a graphic

1 Letter of Recalde, See Navarrete, vol. iv. p. 206.

2 Before thoir departuro Andres de San Martin took observations to
deternine the Intitude, The result be obtained was 40° 18'S., which
is wonderfully correct. Herrern, op. cit., Dec. il. lib. iz cap. xiv.
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account,! two months were passed. The time \was spent
in provisioning the ships with such wood as could be
cbtnined, and with fish, of which there was abundance.
On the drying and preserving of a sufficient supply of
these their future comfort—perhaps even their future
plans—depended, for the stores of the flest had already
begun to Tench an alarming stage of diminution. Visits
were paid to the coast to the southward, where the wreck
of the Santiago had taken place, and such avticles as had
since been washed ashore were recovered.

No ocourrence worthy of note befell the navigators
during their delay in the river, if we except a supposed
eclipse of the sun, recorded by the historian Herrers,
but by no single one of those actually present who have
loft us an account of the voyage. In an age of writing
which erred even more in ellipsis than garrulity, this
latter circumstance could not, however, beadvanced as a

lusive proof of its “On the trth
QOctober,” we are told,” 2 # while in this river. an eclipse
of the sun was awaited, which in this meridian should
have occarred ab eight minutes past ten in the morning.
When the sun reached an altitude of 423°, it appeared
to alter in brillianey, and to change to a sombre colour,
as if inflamed of a dull erimson, and this without any
cloud intervening between ourselves and the solar hody.
Not that the body of the sun, either wholly or in part,
wwas obseured, but its clearness appeared as it might in
Castile in the months of July and August when they are
burning the straw in the snrrounding country. This
Tasted till it reached an altitude of 444", when it regained
its originai brilliancy.”

1 Voyage of the Beagle, chap. ix.
* Herrera, Dac, i 1ib, ix. cap. %iv.
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What conelusion to draw from the above passage it is
difficult to decide. The haziness of the sun could only
have been due to some atmospheric cause. An annular
eclipse of the sun certainly did take place October
11th, 1520, but it was not visible upon the ecoast of
Patagonia, the central line crossing the meridian of
the Santa Cruz river, more than 30° morth of the
Equator.!

With the advent of October the weather improved,
and on the 18th Magellan judged the spring to be suffi-
ciently far advanced for the continuation of his voyage.
“The fleet was gob under way. Feeling sure that he
wnust ere long come upon the object of his search, the
admiral ordered the ships to keep along the coast as
before. For two days they were bafled by head-winds
and bad weather, fighting their way southward inch Ly
inch. At length the wind shifted to the north, and
they ran before it on a 8.8.W. course for two days more.
On the 2186 October, 1520, they found themselves in
sight of land ; ““and there,” says the pilot Alvo, “we
saw an opening like unto a bay.” They were off Cabo
de las Virgenes, and Magellan had found his long-hoped-
for strait at last!

"We must pause here for a moment o consider a question
of the greatest interest—a question that has never yet
been satisfactorily answered. Did Magellan know, as a.
certain fact, of the existence of the strait? Or was his
discovery of it due to a carefully reasoned-out argument
based upon the presumed homology of the Cape of Good
Hope? Or was it from the blindest of chances, from

1 Oppolzer’s Canon der Finsternisse, published in the Donkschriften
of tho Vienns Academy, vol. li. For this information the writer is
indebted to tho kindness of Professor G, H, Darwin,
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the sort of fortune that guides a caged bird, panting for
liberty, to the broken bar of its prison §

In Pigafetta’s account of the voyage there occurs a
very remarkable passage, so clearly and definitely ex-
pressed, that, did it only emanate from a more accurate
author, the matter would seem at once and for ever set at:
vest, “We all believed,” it runs, speaking of the strait,
““that it was a cul-de-sac; but the captain knew that he
had to navigate through a very well-concealed strait,
having seen it in a c¢hart preserved in the trensury of
the King of Portugal, and mads by Martin of Bohemia,
a man of great parts.”! The matter is also alluded to
by Gomara,? but he throws doubt upon it, and says that
“the chart showed no strait whatever, as far as I could
learn ;” and his evidence, as that of a contemporary his-
torian, is not without weight. Herrera, speaking of the
offer made by Magellan and Faleiro ot the Spanish
court, tells us that they proposed to conduet their ships
to the Moluceas “ by means of & tertain strait, at that
time not known of by any one,” 8 and, a few lines farther
on, gives the story of Martin Behaim’s chart, and adds
that “from him they obtaincd much information con-
cerning this strait.” M. Ferdinand Denis, in his Porfu-
gal, gives us some information as to the provenance of
this chart. “On a affirmé,” he says, “que le détroit de
Magellan avait ét6 clairement indigué dés le r5me sitcle,

1 80 non fosse stato il sapero el capitano-generale, non &i sarcbbo
passato per quello strotto, perché tutti credevamo che fosse chiuso;
ma egli sapen di dovor navigare per uno stretto molto naseosto, avendo
¢id veduto in una carta serbata, nella tesoreria del Re di Portogallo, o
Eatta, du Marting di Boemia, uomo excellentissimo."—Pigafetta, Priso
Viaggio, Milan edit., p. 36.

* Historia de las Indias, cap. xci.

3 *“Bato soria por cierto estrocho de mar no conocido hasta entonces
de ninguna porsona.”~ Hervera, Dec. ii, hib. ii. cap. xix,
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sur une des deux cartes apportdes jadis en Portugal par
Don Pedro &’Alfarrobeira, et que Fon conservait pre
cieusement jadis dans le couvent d’Alcobaga;” but he
offers no opinion as to the truth of the statement. We
have yet another of the great historians who discusses
the possibilitics of Magellan’s foreknowledge of lis strait
—Oviedo, who wrote in 1546, a period which is within
measurable distance of the great navigator’s voyage. In
one passage he speaks with no uncertain voice—* of
which strait and voyage none had knowledge or remem-
brance until the renowned Cnptain Ferdinand Magellan
discovered and showed it to us.”1 But elsewhere the
claims of Martin Behaim are discussed, and he decides
that, whether the discovery was due to lis suggestion or
to the pluck of Magellun, the latter is worthy of all
praise, and “more is owing to his capacity than to the
science of the Bohemian,”

All the foregoing, it will be observed, are the opinions
of people writing affer the event, For the journal of
Pigafetta we know to be in many places no jowrnal at
all, but to have been written up some time after the
occurrence of the vaious incidents, possibly even not
till his arrival in Spain. The question will be asked,
Is theve any passage of a date anterior to the voyage
wlich would lead us to conclude that the great navigator
suspected the existence of an opening from the Atlantic
into the Pacific? and it may be answered in the afirma-
tive. ‘Whether that suspicion amounted to actual know-
ledge it is difficult to eny. Ilowever, not only have
we the record of Herrera as to the examination of
Magellan before Charles V.'s ministers, and the exhibi-
tion of Pedro Reynel's globe, in which “de industria

1 Oviedo, op. cit., Bk, xx. cap. i.
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dexd el estrecho en blanco,” bub a document is still
existing which places the matter beyond a doubt. In
the capitulacion granted by the King to Magellan and
Faleiro on the z2nd March, 1518, the phrase “para
buscar el estrecho de aquellas mares ”—io go in search of
the strait—is used, and it would seem from the use of
the definite article as if some actwal known or rumoured
straib was intended.

We may now turn to the evidence of various maps
and globes. There occwrs in the Zratado of Antonio
jalvio, which was afterwards englished by Richard
lekluyt in 1601, an account of ““a most rare and excel-
lent map of the woild, which was a great helps to Don
Henry (the Navigater) in his discoueries,” and which
may possibly have been the starting-point of Magellan’s
theory of the existence of o Pacifico-Atlantio passige.
“In the yeere 1428 it is written that Don Peter, the
King of Porbugal’s eldest sonne, was a great trausller.
He went into Lngland, France, Almaine, and from
thence into the Moly Land, and to other places; and
came home by Italie, taking Rome and Venica in his
way: from whence he brought a map of the world
which had all the parts of the world and earth described.
The Streight of Magelan was called in it the Dragon’s
taile”  Galvio, par parenthise, mentions another map,
which his friend Francisco de Sousa Tavarez had him-
self seen, made in 1408, which marke: the navigation of
the Indies and the Cape of Good Hope. These two are
doubtless those alluded to by Ferdinand Denis, and the
clear nccount of them renders them ab any rate worthy
of mention as a piece of evidence. But they ave, after
all, but of slight weight in the scale. Of quite another

1 Galvane, Hakinyt Sue.. p. 67.
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value are two still extant globes, which demand a careful
and detailed consideration,

These globes were constructed by Johann Schoner,
Professor of Mathematics in Nuremberg, in the years
1515 and 1520, Both are so alike in their outline of
South Amevica, that as far as concerns the question
under consideration they may be regarded as one.

A glance ab the planispheres here reproduced will
render o lengthy description unnecessery. Briefiy, a
Pacifico-Atlantie passage is in them boldly drawn. It
is represented in or about latitude 45° S, and in the
eaxlier, or Frankfort, globe a line is taced embracing
the coast beyond the strait and enclosing the legend
“ Terva ult. incognita,” thus implying—almost without a
shadow of doubt—that this strait had been at that date
already visited and recognised as a waterway between
the two oceans South of this an indefinite mass of
land is figured, to which the name of “ Brasilie regio”
or “ Brasilia Inferior ' is given, Some distanee off the
eastern mouth of the strait is placed a small group of
islands.

‘What bad Schoner in his mind when he gave this
strait o place upon his globes? What wore his sources
of information? Was it fact or conjecbure that guided
his pencil 7 These are the questions we have to answer.

Some light is thrown upon them by a work of the
cosmographer which was published at the same time as
his early globe, and intended to be in great measure
illustrative of it.! In it he speaks of his **Buasilie
regio”—that the country was not far from the Cape of
Good Hope ; that the Portuguese had explored it, and

1 Lnewlentisrima quadd lern totiug deseriptio. Schiner, Nurem-
berg, 1515, gto.
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had discovered © strait going from east to west; that
this strait resembled the strait of Gibraltar; and that
“Mallaqua ” was not far distant therefrom.!

All this information was, nevertheless, not gathered
at first hand by Schoner. Shortly before he wrote—
but how long we do not know, for the title-page bears
no date—was published a certain pamphlet in bad
German, anonymous, and apparently a confused trans-
lation of a Portuguese original—the * Copia der Newen
Zeytung aus Presilly Landt.” From this he apparently
took his description almost word for word, and the
cuestion thus shifts itself a point further back into the
examination of the provenance and anthorities of the
“ Copia.”

‘We do not get very much information from the work
itself, but what we do get is very interesting. The
captain of the ship, whose voyage it deseribes, was a
¥ fast giit frewndt” of the writer, and the expedition is
stated to have been fitted out under the auspices of the
Portuguese government by various private gentlemen,
among whom was * Olristoffel de Haro.” Tt is gxceed-
ingly probable then that it was cither that of Gonzalo
Coelho or of Christovio Jacques, and the probability
is in favour of the latter. That it was little known

i Sehoner, op. @it., Tract. 11 cap. 11, fol. 60 v. %A capite bonm
&pei (quod Itah Capo do bana speranza vocitant) parum distat. Cireum-
navigaverunt itaque Portugalienses cam regionem, ot comperiorunt
illum tranvitum fore conformem nostre Europw (qusm nos incoliraus)
et lnteraliter infra ariontem et cecdenter situm. Ex altero intuper
Intere etinm torea visa ont, ot pencs caput hujus regionis circa miliaria
0, €0 vidolicot modo: ne xi quis navigaret oricntem versus ot tran-
situn ¢ive strictum Git ol terrm aut Sibiliv navigarot, ot Babarinio,
hoe et iam in A phrica i t ostond
versus polum_ antaretiounn.  Insuper modica est dumnm ab hoo
Brasliro regiono ad Mallaquam.”

N
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about, and only chronicled en passant by the historians,
was no doubt owing to the fact that it was a purely,
commercial venture, in which the obtaining of a good
cargo of Brazil-wood and slaves was of greater importance
than cosmography.

Dr. Wieser, although admitting that there is strong
reason to believe the “ Copia” to be the outeome of the
voyage of Christovao Jaeques, and consequently allowing
the strait depicted on Schiner’s globes to have been
discovered by that explorer, does not admit that it was
the strait of Magellan. He dismisses all possibility of
such being the case upon the one argument that the
“Copia ” speaks of it as being in 40° 8. The Nuremberg
globes and this “ Zeytung” can no longer, he says, be
adduced in proof of the sbrait having been discovered
before the voyage of Magellan.!

A careful consideration of the facts will not necessarily
lead every one to the same conclusion as that arrived at
by Dr. Wieser. The “Zeytung” is no learned geogra-
phical disquisition published by some king's pilot or
great cosmographer. It is a very sketchy and mediocre
work, written by one who was merely o “fast git
Jrewndt” of the captain, and we canuot therefore place
too great dependence upon the acenracy of his “wiertziy
grad hock.” Tt is easy to see that the cxact position of
the strait did not interest the author s much as the
animals and products of the “ Presilly Landt” be
describes.  Schoner, too, although adopting his text
alinost word for word, does not accept his latitudes, and
the strait is figured in 45° 8. Why le should not have
placed it yeb further to the south it is difficult to say,
for if we turn to Ruysel’s mappamundi, made in 1507,

1 Wiesor, Magaltaies-Strasse, Tnnsbruck, 188x, pp. 41, 47-
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we find, written across the lower part of the “Terra
Sancte Crucis,” a statoment to the effect that the Portu-
guese ships had at that time penetrated as far squth as
lat. 50°

The fact that certain islands are figured in Schoner’s
globes in the neighbowrhood of the strait is of some
interest. Whether they are or are not the Falklands it
is difficult to say. In the 1520 globe they bear the text
‘ Ins. delle Pulzelle.” 'That Davis, for whom the honour
of the discovery of the Falkland Islands is claimed,
should have called them the Virgin’s Land, if a coinei-
dence, is at least a curious one.

Perbaps the most important fact in connection with
the question of lagellan’s foreknowledge of his strait,
is that of Christopher de Haro having been the chief
person concerned in the fitting out and despateh of the
ship whose voyage was the cause of the publication of
the “Zeytung” We must not forget the friendship
existing between him and Magellan, nor that he con-
tributed more than a fifth part of the cost of his armada,
nor that the great house of which he was one of the
leading members, had probably more sources of. infor-
mation at command than any monarch. Look at the
matter how we may, certain broad facts remain :—that
both Coclho and Christovio Jacques pushed far south
along the sheres of South America before Magellan
sailed on his great voyage, though how far is wnknown ;
that a pamphlet, likewise indisputably of an antevior
date, describes a Pacifico-Atlantic strait ab some length ;
and finally, that Schoner considered the information he
was possessed of to be sufficiently trustworthy to figure
this strait upon his two globes of 1515 and 1520,

Shortly, then, we have three reasons, or groups of
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reasons, for supposing that the existence of Magellan's
Strait was known prior to the visit of that mavigator.
Firstly, the passage in Pigafetta deliberately stating
that such was the case, and the mention of the fact by
various historians ; secondly, the use of the phrase ““to
go in search of the strait” in Charles V.’s capitulacion
of 1518; and lastly, the evidence of various maps and
globes and the  Zeytung aus Presilly Landt.” Letus
now consider the arguments that can be adduced on the
other side of the question.

According to Pigafette, Magellan derived his informa-
tion from a chart existing in the King’s trensury. We
are not told when he saw it. Towards the cnd of his
service with Portugal he was out of favour with the
King, Ho was, indeed, never regarded by him with
anything but dislike, and it is therefore improbable
that he would be the only person permitted to see it.
Gomara, t00, says that when Magellen passed into the
service of Spain, and his intention of visiting the
Moluceas became known, Dom Manoel remained con-
tent when he learned that he had promised not to take
the route by the Cape, * thinking that he could find no
other way nov navigation for the Spices other than that
which he (the King) had.” Dom Manoel would hardly
have felt so reassured had he a chart depicting the
straits in his possession, and knew that Magellan had
consulted it.

The uncertain, slow, and groping route followed by
the fleet is also apparently in favour of a want of definite
knowledge on the subject ; but it is quite possible that
Magellan wished either to assure himself thet no more
northerly passage had eseaped notics, or to make a
tolerably complete survey of the coast. Finally, the
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assertion made hy the admiral that he would push on
even to lat. 75° S. to find the object of his search shows
considerable indefiniteness. And we must not forget
that the historians are—save Galvio—one and all silent
as to its former discovery.

On the whole, then, the balance of evidence is in favour
of a more or less inexact knowledge of the existence of
some antarctic break in the vast barrier which America
opposed to a western passage. No less indefinite state-
ment can be made with any certainty. It is indeed pos-
sible that the wish was father to the thought, and that
the explorers of those days, having tried Central and
Northern America in vain, and feeling that the land to
the south of the Terra Sanct Crucis alone offered them
a chance, eventually persuaded themselves into a helief
in the real existence of the object of their desire. There
were reasonable arguments in favowr of it also. The
fact that the southern part of the continent ever trended
1o tho west, that the vast mass of Africa terminated in a
cape, appeared of no little import to navigators at the
beginning of the sixteenth century. An idée mige docs
not take long in growing into a conviction. The shortest
Touts to the enchanted Mast was the problem which filled
the mind of every one. And so they were ready to push
their explorations to the farthest limits, that their ships
might float on the waters of the Pacific. 8o absorbing
was this idea that it led them to contemplate the most
gigantic of projects. 1f no strait could be found, they
would see what hmmen labour would do. They would
attempt a task which we, with all the money and re-
sources and i ing skill of the ni h century
have attempted, only to fail—they would cut a Panama
canal. No weightier evidence of the all-absorbing nature
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of the work of discovery in those days eould be adduced !
\Whether Magellan had = previous knowledge of bis
strait or mot, we can understand how strong was his
determination to do his best to find one.

* Qomarn, Hist. Gencral de las Indias, cap. civ., under the heading
“Concerning tho Strait which could be made in order to go moro.
dircctly to the Moluceas,” dis:wsses the construgtion of a Panama
canal at considerable length. ‘Fho passage is one of great interest.
Four alternativo plans are given, and tho undortaking is steongly
recommendod. " Siorras son, poro manos i, Dadme quien loquiora,
hiacer, que hacer s puedo : no falta wnimo, que no faltor dinero, 1 las
Indias, donde so ba do hacer, lo dan. Para ln Contratacion do Ta
Iinpeceani, para la riquoza do las Indias, i para un Reino de Castilla
Poco es 1o posible.” Galvao, at noarly the same date, discusses the
sume question (Hokl Soc. edit., p. 180).
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CITAPTER VIIL

THE LAST VOYAGE—III. THE PASSAGE OF THE
STRAIT,

TaE explorers, we have seen, reached the entrance of the
Straits on October 21, 1520. According to Thevet, it
was Magellan himself who first descried it} “Ce fut
luy qui premier le descounrit sur la minuiet, encores que
les capitaines des aultres nauires estimassent que C'estoit
quelque goulfe, qui n'zuoit point d'issué” It is not im-
probable that tho great desire of his life should lend fhe
leader of the expedition a preternatural keenness of
vision, and reward him as it rewarded Columbus.? Be
that as it may, however, the omler was given for the
fleet to enter. On their starboard hand they passed a
cape, which, since it was St. Ursula’s day, theyaealled
the Cape of the Eleven Thousand Virgins. The pilot
Alvo took the latitude, and found it to be 52° 5.3 The
bay within was spacious, and seemed to afford good
shelter. Thewadmiral gave orders that Serrdio and Mes-
quita should continue the reconnaissance in the Concep-
cion and S, Antonio. Meanwhile the flagship anchored
in company with the Vicforia to await their return,
which was not to be deferred for more than five days.*

1 A. Thevet, Les Vrais Pourtraits et Viesdes Hommes Iilusires, p. 529,

*In th namrative of tho anonymous Portuguose published by
Ratnusio, the strait is called after the Victoria, **lecause the ship
Victoria was the first that saw it.”

3 Capo Virging s in lat. §2° 20 §,

41t is probable, nseuming Pigafotta’s account to bo correct, that
ko veseols anvhored i Lamas Bay, uoon tho south ido of tha strait
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During the night one of the cheracteristic storms of
these regions broke upon them, lasting until noon upon
the following day. It blew, most probably, from the
north-east, for they were forced to weigh anchor and
make an offing, standing on and off until the weather
moderated. The 8. 4nfonio and Concepoion were in equally
bad case. Endesvouring to rejoin the others, they found
themselves unable to weather the cape which separated
them from the anchorage, and were obliged to put about,
seeing nothing but cextain destruction before them, for
the bay, s they thought it, appeared as such—no open-
ing being visible at its head. As they gave themselves
up for lost, they rounded Anegada Point, and the entrance
of tho * First Narzows ” revealed itself. Up these they
ran, thankful for their escape, and emerged from them to
find themselves in the great bay beyond* ‘I'hey prose-
cuted their explorations to the entrance of Broad Reach,
and then rotwrmed, having rapidly surveyed the neigh-
bouring waters, and assured themselves that the strait
led onwards for an immense distance to the south,

Magellan had meanwhile awaited them with more
than ordinary anxiety. It waes feared that they had
been lost in the storm, more especially from the fact
that certain “ smokes ” had been noticed on shore. These
they afterwards learnt weve caused by fires lit by two
men from the missing ships, with the object of revealing
their presence, but at the time they weve considered to

For ho distinetiy tells us that the mouth of tho *First Narrows”
romained unknown o them until discovered by the 8. Antonio and
bor eonsort, 'This could not havo been the case bad they anchored in
Possession Bay, and they could not woll have chosen any obher spot.
Lomas Bay s also the most natural shelter for a ship~sading, it must
bo remembored, upon unknown waters—to solect.

1 Probably the eastern horn of the Great Orange Bant,

* §t. Philip or Boucant Bsy,—tho Lago de los Estreehos of Oviedo,
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point rather to the conclu-

sion that a shipwreck had b =i
occurred.  While the crews E |
of the two vessels were et L
speculating upon the fate L ‘ 4

of their comrades, the S,
Antonio and Concepoion sud-
denly hove in sight, crowd-
ing all sail and gay with
flags. As they approached,
they discharged their largo 1 |

bombards and shouted for
joy, “upon which,” says
Pigafetts, “ we united our

shouts to theirs, and thank- IR 4

ing God and the Blessed SRR

YViegin Mary, resumed our o 4

journey.” ' 3
The aceounts given by the

two crows were so different
that it is probable that the
vessels seprated during
their reconnaissance, and
that one pushed on much in
advance of theother. They
gwve it as their opinion
that the inlet led onward
to the Pacific Not only
had they ascended it for
three days without finding
any sign of its termination,
but the soundings in the
channel were of very great depth, and in many cases they
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could get no bottom. The flood, moreover, appeared
stronger than the ebb. It was impossible, they said,
that the Strait should not be found to continue!

After penetrating three or four miles within the
<¢ First Narrows,” the admiral signalled the fieet again
to anchor, and despatched a boat sshore to survey the
country. Most likely the appearance of babitations had
attracted his eyc, for Herrera tells us that af the dis-
tance of a mile inland the men came upon a building
containing more than two hundred native graves. On the
coast, they found a dead whale of gigantic size, together
with a great quantity of the bones of these animals, from
which they concluded that the storms of that region were
both frequent and severe. Passing the Second Narrows,
the squadron entered Broad Reach. and anchored on
the 28th October off an island at its head.?

From the sketchy and confused accounts that have
come down to us, it is impossible to reconstruct an exact
itinerary of the passage of the Strait, or to present events
in any certain chronologieal order. W arein possession.
of a fow facts which are practically incontestable, We
know that the fleet emerged from the straits upon the
28th November ; that on z1st November Magellan issued
a general order demanding the opinion of his captaing and
pilots upon the question of continuing the voynge ; that
the S, Anfondo deserted, and that she deserted almost
without doubt in the beginning of November. But

3 ¢ Porqno las corrientes eran maiores quelas Niengoantes cra impo-
sible que aquel brago de marno pasase mes adelante.”—Herrera, Dee,
ii. b, ix. cap, iv.

2 Alvols diary. Thore is evers prolability that the anchorago at the
north of Elizabeth Island, now known as Royal Road, was that chosen
Dy Magsllan. Cape 8. Severin of Herrera is either Cape St Vincont

or tho headland of Gente Grande Bay.
3 Horrora (Dec. it lib, ix. eap. xv.) gives an account of a council
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with regard to the chronology of minor events we have
to confine 3 to probabiliti A ding to Her-
rors, Magellan took the opinion of his officers ab an carly
period of his passage through the straits. AlL with one
exception were for pushing on. They had provisions for
three months still remaining. Kired by the spirit of
their chief, it scemed to them a disgrace to return to
Spain at this juncture. What had they to show for all
the bitter months of hardship through which they had
passed ! Where were the riches of which they wexo in
search, the islands over which they had been granted
seignorial rights? So ubterly unknown was the Pacific,
50 vague the idens at that time prevalent as to the actual
sizo of the globe they were then circumnavigating for
the first time, that there seemed to them mo impossi-
bility in the idea that the Spice Islands wove already
almost within their reach. It were folly at least not to
carry on their explorations a little farther now that the
summex was before them. ]

The only voice rised in opposition was that of Estevio
Gomes, pilot of the S Anionio. Although a country-
man of the admiral, and indeed a kinsman also,! he had
been for some time upon bad terms with his relative.
Pigafetta tells us the hatred he bore him arcse from the
fact that the despatch of Magellan’s expedition did away

held by Magollan with regard to the advisability of the proscoution of
the voyave m whick Estevdo Gomes, pilot of the 8. Autonin, spoke.
But, Barros (Dec. 5. oap. xix.) gives Magella's Order of the
Day” in extensn, which hears dote a1st November. It scems hardly
probable that there wera two councils upon this subject. or that, if
there were, some reference to tho fact siould not have been made,
but it i of course possible. It is also sngular that in Magellan's
“Ordor ” of 218t November, and Andros de San Martiu's reply to t,
thoro should be no allusion to the desertion of the 5. Antonic.
1 Darros Arana, op, cit., p. 89,
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with hopes he had formed of himself leading a voyage of
exploration.! Whatever ill-will may have pre-existed
was probably increased by the command of the S. Anfonio
having been conferred upon Alvaro de Mesquita instead
of himself, the king's pilot. The slight was none the
less galling from the fact that his rival was a mere
supernumerary borne upon the books of the Zrinidad,
and probably owed bis fortune rather to his near rela-
tionship to the admiral than to any skill as a navigator
or seaman,

The arguments brought forward by Gomes were plau-
sible cnough. Now that they had apparently found the
strait, he said, it would be better to go back to Spain
and return with another armada. For the way that lny
before them was no small matter, and, if they encountered
any lengthened period either of calms or storms, it was
probable that all would perish. Magellan veplied as
those who knew him probably expected him to reply,
albeit unmoved in manner—“ con semblante muy com-
puesto”—* tbat if they had to eat the leather on the ships’
yards he would still go on, and discover what he bad
promised to the Emperor, and that he trusted that God
would aid them and give them good fortune.” But the
opposition of Gomes, whose skill as a pilot was beyond
uestion, must have rendered his position a diffieult one.

the possibilities of further grumbling, if not
moting, ho issted an order that no one, under pain of
death, should discuss the difficulties of the task that luy
before them, or the scarcity of provisions with which
they were threatened. 1t is doubtful how far this would
have availed had his erews known what misery was in

1 “Molto odinva il Crpitano-Generalo, il i progetto fatto alla Corte
di Spagma ers stato cagione che Flmyeratore non affdasse a In aleuno
caravello por iscoprire nuove terre."—Pigafetta, p. 38, od. cit.
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store for them. For the admiral’s words came literally
t1ue ; and, broken down with scurvy and privation in
their long passage across the Pacific, the men did eat
the lenther on the yards, and the ships still pressed
onward for the Moluceas,

Next day the fleet made sail on a S.8E. course
down Broad Reach, approaching a point on their port
hand.! Beyond they came to three channels, of which,

ding to Herrera, intelli had been alveady
brought by the Concepeion and 8. Antonio—which two
ships had been despatched on a second reconnaissance
from Elizabeth Island. Of these three fjords, ¢ one led
in the direction of the Seirocco (S.E.), one to the
Libeccio (3.W.) and the third towards the Moluccas.”
The flect anchored at some place in the neighbourhood
of their mouths, and Magcllan ordered the two pilot
ships to explore the south-eastqrn arm. Meanwhile,
in company with the Victoria, the flagship followed
up the main channel, having left instructions fox the
future comrse to be pursued by Mesquite and Serrio.

Rounding Oape Froward, the admiral continued onward
for fifteen leagues, when he anchored in a river to which
Jie gave the ngme of the River of Sardines, from the
abundancs of those fish they obtained there. The ships
watered and cut wood, which they found so fragrant
in burning, that “it afforded them much consolation.”
Shortly after tleir arrival in this port they sent on a
boat well manned and provisioned to explore the chan-
nel further, In three days it returned with the joyful

3 Somo point between Gente Grando and Usolow Bays, possibly
Capo Monmouth.

# Admirsity and Mogdalen Sounds, and Froward Reach of the main
chanuel,
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intelligence that they had sighted the cape which ter-
minated the strait, and had seen the open sea beyond.!
So delighted were the explorers with this happy terri-
nation to their anxieties, that salvoes of artillery were
discharged, and Magellan and those with him wept for
very joy.

Four days or more had now elapsed® without sign
of the two other vessels, and the admiral accordingly
decided to leave the River of Sardines® and retrace his
steps in search of them. On their way they had leisure
to examine the striking scenery by which they were sur-
rounded. On entering the straits, they had found the
country desolate and poor, more or less devoid of vegeta-

) “Dopa tre giorni essi tornarono, e e riferirono d'aver veduto il
capo & cui terminava lo stretto, o quindi it mare ampio, ciod loconno.”
—Pigafatta, od. cit., p. 38.

2 According to Herrera, a stay of six dnys was mads hers, ii. 9, 15

* It is difficuls to identify the River of Sardinos with any degree of
accuracy. From Pigafetta's evidence it would be such a distancs from
the exit of the straits that the bost journey there and back would
tako three days. It would mot bo ncessary to proceed beyond
Tamar Island to sight Capo Descado and the opon son, and it is
possiblo o reach Tamar Ishusd from any point in the nmghbourhood
of Carlos ITL. Tslwd and return within the timo given, Herrers te
us that after loaving the §. Anfonio ot Cape Valentyn, the ndmu—nl,
@nduvo un dia—went forward for one day—and then anchored in o
rivor which is cvidontly the River of Sardines. Alvo says that after
rounding Cape Froward they wont on about fifteen lengues {obre de
15 loguas) and anchored. His journal rendors it probablo hat it lay
enst of the entrance to Otway Water, A passage farther on in Piga-
fotte tells us that tho River of Sardines was oloso to the River of lsles,
and that the Intter bad an iskad opposite to it, upon which Magellan
planted a oross as o signal. This island must almost certainly have
boen one of the Charles Islands, which are full in the fairway of the
channel, and admirably snited for the construction of a cairn or signal
to attract the notice of any passiog ship. Port Gallant and Port 8.
Miguel, therefore, most probably correspond to the River of Sardines.
and the River of Tales. In the Anuario Hidrograpidco de Chile, Yol.
. p. 303, Androws Bay is suggested as the River of Sardines,
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tion, and consisting of nearly level plains Here they
were, as Herrera tells us, in the most beautiful country
in the world—the strait a gunsho across,” separating
high sierras covered with perpetual snow, whose lower
slopes were clothed with magnificent trecs.! Tt was not
long before they met with Setréio’s ship, the Concepeion,
but she was alone. Magellan, suspecting perhaps that
some accident had happened to the S. dntonio, at once
hailed and demanded news of her. Serrio had none to

0BT FAMINE, MAGELLANS STRAITS.

give. She had outsailed them almost from the moment
of their departure from Cape Valentyn, and they had
not seen her siuce.

? The extraordinary suddenness of the chango in the scenery of th
straits is @welt upon by Darwin in his Voyge of the Beagle, chap.
xi. The distance between Port Famine and Cape Gregory in tho
““Becond Narrows" is about sixty miles. ** At tho formor place we
liwo rounded mountains concealed by impervions forests, which aro
drenched with the rain brought by an ondless succession of gales ;
while at Capo Gragory thoro is a cloar and bright bluo sky over the
dry and storile plajos.”



208 LIFE OF MAGELLAN. [onar. varr

Upon receiving the news, Magellan at once instituted
a search. Admiralty Sound, for the exploration of which
the 8. Antonio had been detailed, was examined to its
inmost recesses without result, and the FPictoria was
then despatched northiwards with the idea that the
missing ship, having misunderstood orders, might return
upon her track under the belief that she would meet her
consorts at Elizabeth Island. But Broad Reach was
found to be deserted, and though the Vicloria sailed back
to the very entrance of the straits, no trace of the vessel
was to be seen.

It wag scarcely possible that any misunderstanding
could have occurred. In the  Tnstruccion” given by the
Emperor to Magellan and Faleiro on the 8th May, 1519,
the fullest rules were laid down with regard to the course
to be pursued upon the accidental sepavation of a ship
from the squadron.! One of two things had happened
—the S. Anfonio had either been lost, and lost with all
hands, for otherwise their search must have revealed
some traces of her, or she had deserted. The men of
the Victoria, baving placed ensigns in wo conspicuous
positions with letters of instruction buried at their feet,
returned to the admiral with the news. Ile wns awaiting
them with the other ship in the River of Isles, in close
proximity to s former anchorage, the River of Sardines.

The intelligence was a great blow to Magellan, the
greater because it occurred at the very moment of his
success, and at a time when every ounce of food was of
importance in the further prosecution of his journey.
Unwilling to realise it, he was anxious to delay some
time longer, in the hope that some unforcseen circum-
stance might have happened, and that at any moment

3 Seo Navarrote, vol. iv. p. 133, art. 1x.
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the missing ship might return. But reflection convineed
him of the uselessness of so doing, and he resolved to
continue his journey. Barros tells us that, wishing to
know what had occurred, the Captain-general requested
the astrologer, Andves de San Martin, to cast the horo-
scope. He was informed that the ship had returned to
Spain, and that her captain was a prisoner.}

There were now but three vessels of the fleet remain-
ing—the capitana or flagship, the Victoria, and the
Concepeion. The desertion of the S, Anfonio had doubt-
less caused a new fear in the heart of the leader of the
expedition—the fear that her example might be not
without its effect, and that even now that he held sue-
cess in his grasp, it might at any moment be wrested
from him, He was no man of inactivity, masterly or
otherwise, Xis custom was ever $0 meet his dangers
and difficulties half-way, and disarm them. And so,
rather than permit the thoughts of officers and men to
dwell upon the weakened condition of the fleet, andthe
still more serious loss of provisions,? without discussion,
ke sent an order to each ship that the various authorities
should express their opinion upon the advisability of
continuing the vgyage.

This order, to which allusion has been already made,
came into the hands of the historian Barros among
various papers of Andres de San Martin, Tt was promul-
gated on the 215t November in the River of Isles. The
astrologer’s reply was subjoined, and is the only one
remaining to us. e was of opinion that they should
go forward, “so long as they *had the full bloom of

1 Barros, Dec. iii. lib, v, cap. ix. Correa also has this atory,
2 Tho §. Andonio was tho largest vessel of tha armada, and carried
2 proportionately lare quantity of stores,
°
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summer with them,” 1 and continue their discoveries until
mid-January, albeit he did not consider that the straits
offered a proper route to the Moluceas. e strongly
counselled that the ships should always anchor at night,
not only for security’s sake, but in order that the crew,
toil-worn and weak as they were, should obtain sufficient
rest. It is almost incredible that the ships—and sallmg
ships, it must be bered—should have
such difficalt navigation in unknown waters by night. Yet
from this we can only conclude that such was the case.
Whether the suggestion was adopted or not, Barros
does not inform us, but he gives us the general tenor
of Magellan’s reply, which was of the usual character.
The admiral, it is suggested, only requested the opinions
of his ofticers as a mere matter of conrtesy, his intention
being to turn back for no one He gave many reasons
for pushing on, adding that God, who bad brought them
thus far to the discovery of their long-looked-for srait,
would in due and fitting time bring them to the ulti-
mate reslisation of their desives. Nexl day, having
given o general notification of his opinion, he weighed
anchor amid salvoes of arlillery, aud made his way
towards the Pacific.?

t “Pareco quo vossa mored dove ir adiante por elle agors, em
quanto temos 3 rol do vorko na mAo."—Barrus, Dec. iii, 1ib. v. eap. ix.

* From passoges in tho diary of Alvo and the so-calied Genoeso
pilot, Magellan is supposed to havo pussed on the south side of Carlos
1IL Island (Anwar. Hidrogr. de Chile, vol. v. p. 394, note 41), but
thero are not sufficiont grounds for this supponition. Presuming tho
fieet to have sailed from Port S, Miguel, it is unlikely that they wonld
havo orossed the straits to navigato a much less evident pa:sige.
Had they passed on th north side, it is argued, they would have been
led off the track into Otway Wator. But the entrance to Otway.
Water is 50 obviously nob the main ehannol, that it would nover linve
led thom to an oxploration of its rocesses,  Morcovor, thoy knew the
way from the erow of the buat who had already siglitad tho Pacilic.
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The constant fires seen upon the southern side of the
straits had led Magellan to give to the land the name
which it bears to this day, the “ Tierra del Fuego.” It
remained for Schouten and Le Maire, ncarly a hundred
years later, to prove the truth of his sumise concerning
it—that it was no continent, but merely an island or
group of islands. “To the left,” says the letter of
Maximilian, # they thought the land to consist of islands,
for on that side they sometimes heard the beating and
Yoaring of the sea, s though upon some farther shore”
They must have been nearing the exit. On the evening
of the 28th November, 1520, they passed Cape Deseado
—the longed-for cape,” as they termed ib-—and the
little armada sailed out upon the hitherto unknown
waters of the South Pacific.”

Before we leave the strait we must pause for a moment
to glance at ils nomenclature. Magellan, it has been
often said, conferred upon it his own name, but that this
was the case we do not learn from any conteimporary
narrative. Pigafotta figures ib as the **Streto Pata-
gonico,” and, according to the disry of the anonymous
Portuguese, it was called Victoria Strait, since that ship
first sighted it,=“though some called it the Strait of
Magalhiies, since our captain was named Fernio de
Magalhiies,” On the arrival of the vessels at the narrow
cliannel beyond Clarence Land the name of Todos os

1 Both Alvo and Digafetis agreo in this date. The anonymona
Portugueso gives the 27th as the day, and the Genoese pilot the 26th.

= The account given by Herrora of the passags of the straits differs
in certain particulars from that here given, Tho concurring state-
ments of Pigafotta and cithor of tho two pilots have, however, been
taken aa proferable whenover such concurrence cxists. Elsowhore,
what is evidently supplomenta in Horreras narrative has been intro-
duoed with as strict a regard for chronology as rare-occurring dates
ronder passible.
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Santos, or Todolos Sanctos, was conferred upon it—it
being All Saints’ Day, the 1st November. In 1580 Sar-
miento re-christened it the Strait of the Mother of God.
But, as may be imagined, the name of its discoverer was
too closely associated with it to be put aside, and it has
remained, and always will remain, the Strait of Magellan.

We must turn now to the S. Antomio, whose base
desertion had thrown still further difficulties in the path
of the explorers. It appears that, from the moment of

AUMIRALTY SOUND, MAGELLAK'S STRALTS,

scparating at Cape Valentyn, the pilot Gomes had de-
termined to put into execution his project of returning
to Spain.  On the third day, having proved Admiralty
Channel to be merely an inlet, the vessel turned north-
sward once more. They did not sight Serrio's ship, the
Conoepeion, which was probably already bound westward
up the straits. One author, indeed, teils us that the S
Antonio slipped past the entrance of the inlet at night,
with the express purpose of avoiding her. Whatever
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may have heen the case, when the time came to shape
their course for the rendezvous prescribed by the flag-
ship, Estevéio Gomes and Geronimo Guerra,!—who had
been made fesorero of tho ship by Mageilan himseli—
resisted Mesquita's authority, and proposed an immediate
return to Spain. What followed is nob clear. The
mutineers, who had laid their plans well, and won over
a large proportion of the crew to their side, declared on
their arrival in Seville that the captain stabbed Gomes,
and that he in turn retaliated by stabbing the captain.
The last at least was true. Mesquita was seized and
placed in irons,® and, according to Oviedo, put to the
torture in order that they might obtain from him a
to 1 the i

Geronimo Guerra was made captain, and with Glomes
as pilot the ship made snil to clear the straits as quickly
as possible. It was proposed at first to return to Port
8. Julian, in order to pick up their two comrades, Car-
tagena and the priest, who, it will be rememberd, had
been left there as a punishment for their share in the
mutiny. But whether it was thought better to procesd
at once to Spain, or whether a visit was actually paid
to the spot without finding their companions, the fact
remains that the S, Anfondo never brought them back
to their native land.? She shaped ber course for the

1 Guerra was a relation of Cristobal de Haro, and had boon trought,
up by him—* su pariente ¥ crindo,"” Recaldes letter, Nav. iv. p. 201.

# The date of this ooourrence is given in Recaldo's latter as the 8th
October—n mavifest error, as the fleet did not enter the straits until
tho2rst October. The incident must have occurred fully a month later.

3 Argensol, i. 17, says distinctly that theso mon did return in tho
8. Antonia. But bad they done #0, wo should have had somo mention
of the fact in the official letter of Recalde to the Bishop of
Moreaver, tho result of this letter, 88 wo learn from Horrera (ii. 1.
was an order from the Casa de Contratacion to serd a ship to rescuo
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coast of Guinea, where they took water and provisions,
the former having already failed from the protracted
length of the voyage. From this or other causes tho
Patagonian they were bringing home fell sick and died.
On Wedunesday, 6th May, 1521, the vessel arrived ab the
port of Seville.

Gomes and his comrades had, of course, a well-con-
cocted story to hide their treachery. They complained
that the flagship had failed at the rendezvous, and
having searched for her in vain they had no alternative
but to return to Spain. But they did not confine them-
selves to excuses. The gravest accusations were brought
against Magellan—that he was guilty of grent harshness
and oruelty, that he sailed at random, and that he lost
time and wasted the provisions by endless delays, and
that all this was to no good end or profit whatsoover.
“Tes absents ont toujours tort.” Magellan, unable to
make a defence, was held for a eulprit, and Mesquita—
whose loyalty had procured him some stabs from a
poignard, the rack, and six months in irons—was thrown
into prison as his accomplice. It was in vain that Ma-
gellan’s father-in-law, Diogo Barbosa, came to his aid,!
for he remained there until the return of the Victoria.
The result of the inquiry instituted by the India House,
however, was such that Gomes and Gueira, together with
two others more especially implicated in the mutiny, were
also incarcerated. Beatriz, Magellan’s wife, though not
actually placed under lock and key, was striotly watohed,
them. We hear nothing further of this roseuo. It ia more than
probabla that the ship was nover despatched, and that the two
utiners oxpinted their sins with their lives. Vide Navarrsto. iv.
. lexxii,

1 Diciendo que ¢] debrin ser suelto, y los que 1o trujeron presos.”
— Naverrete, iv. p. 20,
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““in order that she should not escape to Portugal until
the facts of the case are better understood.” 1

1t is from the letter of the Contador Lopez de Recalde,
already alluded to, that we gather most of the details of
the 8. Antonio incident. Two years later, in a memorial
presented to Charles V., Diogo Barbosa alludes to the
treatment allotted to the various persons concerned in it
with a blunt frankness which is unusual even for those
days. Ile complains that the mutineers “ were very well
received and treated ot the expense of Your Highness,
while the captain and others who were desirous of serv-
ing Your Highness were imprisoned and deprived of all
justice.”” It is from this,” he adds, “ that so many
bad examples arise—heart-breaking to those who try to
do their duty.” It must be allowed that his remarks, if
not those of a courtier, have at least the merit of being
true, and that had Spain treated better those who were
at that time only too ready to shed their blood in her
service, it would have been not without material ffect
upon the history of her colonies.

1 Fide Navarroto, iv. p. Lexxiii.



CHAPTER IX.

THE LAST VOYAGE—1V. THE LADRONES AND
PHILIPPINE ISLANDS.

Txx three remaining ships of the squadron, passing Cape
Deseado, directed their course to less inhospitable shores
and a warmer climate. Their passage of the strait had
cost them thirty-eight days! Althongh its length was
in reality not more than 320 miles, the many incidents
that had arisen and the protmeted time that they had
spent within its limits led them to exaggerate its size,
and the distance from mouth to mouth was variously
estimated ab from 350 to 400 miles.

On reaching the Pacific, the other Patagonian captured
in Port 8t. Julian died. He had been kept on board the
flagship, and had apparently reconciled himself in part
to his position, To Pigafetta he had become an object:
of curiosity and interest. T conversed by signs or as
Best T could with the Patagonian giant we had on board,
making him tell me the names of things in his language,
whence | was ablo to form a vocabulary. When he saw
me take the pen in my hand he used to tell me the
names of the objects around us, or of some action he

3 Herrera says they wero “veynte dias que navegd por aquella
estrechura,” and Oviedo and Maximilian give the period as twenty-
two days. This may possibly mean the actual time oceupied in snil-
ing, or perhaps the number of days pasced in traversing tho narrow
part to whieh the name “Canal do Todos Suntos” was moro particularly
applied, -
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might imitate. . . . When he felt himself gravely ill of
the malady from which he afterwards died, he embraced
the Cross and kissed it, and desived to become a Christian,
‘We baptized him, and gave him the name of Paul.”

Faring northward to escape the cold, the explorers
encountered such favourable weather that the difficulties
nnd privations they had passed through were well-nigh
forgotten. The sudden, violent tempests had given place
to steady winds which wafted them on their course over
the surface of a placid sea, and thankful for their deliver-
ance from their troubles they gave the name of the
Pacific to the vast ocean which had afforded them so
friendly a reception. ¢ Well was it named the Pacific,”
Pigafetta writes, “ for during this time (three months
and twenty days) we met with no storm.”} At first
their course led them elong the wild seaboard of western
Patagonia. On the 18t December they were some &fty
or sixby miles distant from the coast in lat. 48° 8., and
from that time to the 16th followed a direction“which
Jkept them within measurable distance of the land. The
abundance of fish astonished the sailors. Pigafetta de-
scribes the albacores and bonitos, *which pursue other
fish called colondrini? On being followed these spring
from the water and fly about & bowshot—so long as
their wings are wet—and then regain the sea. Mean-
while their enemies follow their shadow, and arviving at
the spot where they fall, seize upon them and devour
them—a. thing marvellous and agreeable to see.”

On the 16th December the general direction of the
course of the armada was altered for the first time.

1 Herrora’s statement: that * andunieron con gran torments hasta
Tos diez y ocho de Deziembre* is not borne out by any of those who

sailed with the armads.
* Tho fiying-fish i—Golondring (8p.) = a swaliow,
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Magellan, thinking be had pushed sufficiently far north-
waxd, bore away upon a more or less north-westerly track
for the lands and islands of which he was in search.
Day after day passed, but no land was met with to
break the monotony of the apparently endless waste of
waters that surrounded them. On the z4th January
1521, after neaxly two months’ sailing, an islet covered
with trees was sighted. On approaching, it was dis-
covered to be uninhabited, and, as they could find no
bottom with the iead, the course was once more resumed.
Tts latitude was fixed by the pilot Alvo at 16° 15 S, and
the name of St. Paul’s fsland was given to it

Eleven mors days of sailing upon a course varying
from N.W. to W.N.W., brought them again in sight of
Jand.! Small and uninhabited like the first, it afforded
them neither water nor fruit. “We found only birds
and trees,” says Pigafetta, “but we saw there many of
the fish called Tiburoni.” The island was accordingly
called the [sla de los Tiburones, or Shark Tsland, and
“since we found there neither people, nor consolation,
nor sustenance of any kind, the name of Desaventu-

das—tbe Unf Island: given to this and
St. Paul’s Tsland.” *

Leaving Shork Tsland® on the 4th February, a steady

1 Antonio do Brito, in his resumé of the voyage sent to the King of
Portugal, mentions this island as being 200 leagues from St. Poul's.
ccording to tho anonymous Portugueso, the distanco separating the
0 i3 800 miles.

2 Maximilion and Horrera record that the flect deluyed here two
days, but we know from Alvo's diary that this could not have boon
the case.

2 Meinicke identifies §. Pablo, or St. Paul's Island, with Poka-puka
in the Tuamotu Archipelago (1at. 14°4s' §, long. 138° 48' W.), and
Shark Island, or the Tiburones, with Flint Island in the Mantliki group
(lat, 11°20' S, loaw. 151°48' W.). Petermann’s Aitthed!, 1869, p. 376,
This identatication has been acecpted by Peschel.
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N.W. course was held. The disappointment felt at not
being able to obtain provisions was great, for the con-
dition of the majority of those in the fleet was now
most pitiable. The rations were reduced to the smallest
limits. “ Such a dearth of bread and water was there,”
writes Gomara, * that they ate by ounces, and held
their noses ag they drank the water for the stench of
it.” The Ttalian historian gives a still more vivid
account of their sufferings. “We ate biscuit, but in
truth it wes bisouit no longer, but a powder full of
worms, for the worms had devoured its whole substance,
and in addition it was stinking with the urine of rats.
So great was the want of food that we were forced to
eat the hides with which the main yard was covered to
prevent the chafing against the rigging. These hides,
exposed to the sun and main and wind, had become 50
hard, that we were obliged first to soften them by put-
ting them overboard for four ov five days, after,which
we put them on the embers and ate them thus. We
had also to make use of sawdust for food, and rats
became such a delicacy that we paid half a ducat apiece
for them.”1

The result of such privations may be easily imagined.
Seurvy broke out, and broke gut in its worst form. The
sufferings of the invalids were aggravated by the lack
of any reserve of suitable food for them, and many died.®
Others suffered greatly from pains in the arms and legs,
Few were altogether well, but Pigafetta was one of them.
«T ought to thank God,” he says, “for not having

2 Pigafotta, Primo Fiaggio, lib. ii.

 According to Herrera twenty men perished, but a consultation of
tho official * List of deaths” reveals the fact that only seven wore re-

cordod betsween the departure from the straits and the arrival of the
fleot at the Ladrone Islands. ¥ide Medina, i. p. 173
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had the slightest illness during the whole of the
period.”

Day after day the ships sailed onward—nihil unquam
nisi pontus et undique pontus”—until they reached the
Line.  Aware from the accounts of his friend Francisco
Serrio that the Moluecas did not offer such opportuni-
ties for victualiing and refitting as he now desired,
Magellan thought i best to shape his course further to
the north, in the hope, perhaps, of attaining some part
of China, with whose wealth and extent he was well
acquainted from the accounts of the Chinese traders with
whom he had mixed at Malacca. As they progressed
upon their voyage, great attention was paid to the navi-
gation. Hxact means of estimating their position, it is
true, they weve without, They were capable of calculat-
ing their latitude with tolerable aceuracy, nlthough then
errors in the esti; of longitude were
and the use of the log was known,? as well as the exist-
ence both of deviation and variation of the compass.
On the Iatter phenomenon Pigafetta has an interesting
passage. Magellan, having ordered a certain course,
inquived of the pilots how they had hid it off on the
charts, Uhey replied, “as he bad ordered it.” Upon
which he said that “ they had laid it off wrong, and that
they must apply corrections for the error of the compass
(che convenira ajutare Pago calamitato), which in this part
of the world was not attracted with such force as it is
in its own quarter—that is, the northern hemisphere.”

1 5o inaccurato were their mothods that Alvo, on arriving at: the
Philippines, was no loss than ffty-tico degrecs and fifty:ive minutes in
ervor.

3 That the log as in use in thosa days wo gather from Pigafetta.
“ According 1o the measuro wo mado of the ¥oyago by means of the
chiain at the pop, wo ran sixty or seventy leaguos a day.”
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Columbus upon his first voyage also noted the pheno-
menon, and endeavoured to explain it.

With its load of human suffering and anxiety, the
armada pressed on for yet another month with a steady
and favourable wind. Their position resembled that
of Columbus before sighting the new world, as day
after duy their despairing glances were bent westward
in hopes of land. Then came their reward, end an
end, or at at all events a temporary end, of all their
miseries. On the 6th Barch land was sighted. A
number of praus came out to meet them, and all
anxiety as to the existence of a population was at
onco set at rest. For ninety-cight days they had
sniled over an utterly unknown sea, “a sea so vast that
the human mind can scarcely grasp it,” Maximilian
writes in his Iotter.

The group of islands thus discovered by the fleet was
that now called the Mariannes,! or more often, the
Ladronos. To this day, although partially settled by
the Spaniards, they remain as little known, perhaps, as
any part of the accessible world. It is not absolutely
certain which island or islands Magellan first sighted
and visited, but there is not much doubt about the mat-
ter? In all probability the high peak of Rota was the
first Jand to show itself above the horizon. Stcering
for this, Guam must have come into view on their
port bow, and discovering it to be the larger of the two,

1 The islands were thus named in honour of Marianua of Austri,
widow of Philip 1V., and Regent of Castile in the minomity of
Carlos 1L

* Maximilian is the only author of any authority who gives indi-
vidual names to these islands. Oviedo and Gomara copy from him.
He calls thom Tnuagana and Acaca, The former is probably Agana in
Guam, and Acacn or Agaga way perhaps bo Sosan in Rota Island,
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Magellan altered course to 8,W., in order to approach
its shores.?

Their visit to the islnds was a short one. *The in-
habitants were a people of little truth,” as the Genoese
pilot describes them. 1Tardly had the ships come to an
anchor when the natives stole the skiff from under the
stern of the admiral’s ship, cutting the rope by which
she was made fast, and carrying her off with great speed

‘ ISLAS DE LAS so;nrr Rota
| VELAS LATINAS
[ (SOUTHERN LADRONES) — —— 1
Scale ) 2,500.000. _ .
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SOUTHERS LADRONE ISLANDS,

and adroitness. They boarded the vessels and robbed
the new-comers of everything that they could lay hands
on. 1t was impossible to keep them off. Before long
the order had to he given to eject them from the ships,
and they found themselves involved in a mélé, which,
according to Ilerrera, became so serious that the Span-
fards had to use their artillery, killing numbers of the

3 ¥ como fuimos in medio dollas, tiramos al suducste y dejamos

Ta una al noroeste.”—Diary of Alvo. This does not at all prove thnt
ho ships pasied between the twg islands, but ratber the eontrary.
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savages.! Magellan, much annoyed at the loss of bis
skiff, weighed anchor and stood on and off during the
night lest he should be surprised. JTn the morning he
returned, and landing in person with a force of fifty
or gixty men, burnt the village and a number of boats,
regained the skiff, and took & quantity of provisions.
The natives, who seemed at one time disposed to offer a
stout resistance, fled at the first discharge of the arque-
buses. N Ities occurred on the side of the Spaniard
but the islanders lost seven or eight men killed. They
appeor, from Pigafetta’s account, to have been quite
unacquainted with the use of bows and arrows, for when
wounded by one of the latter they would draw it out of
their bodies and look at it with great surprise, an inci-
dent which aroused the compassion of their antagonists,
Their only arms wexe spears tipped with fish-bone.

In the “ Primo Viaggio” we are treated to a short
description of the manners and customs of the inhabi-
tants of these islands which it is unnecessary to repro-
duce here. Their praus—stem and stern alike, and fitted
with an oubrigger —struck with nstonishment those who
saw this specics of boat for the first time.  Their speed
especinlly filled them with wonder, As the vessels left
the pott they were pursued by theso craft. So dexter-
ously were they handled that they passed between the
ships going at foll sail and the boats they towed astern.
“They did this so quickly and skilfully,” says Pigafetta,
“ that it was a marvel,” It scems still more curious that,
considering the relations existing between their visitors
and themselves, the people should bo quite willing to
engage in barter, and that immediately after Magellan
had burnt their village, boats should put off laden with

3 This incident is not given by any other narrater.
P
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provisions for that purpose. Possibly their love of gain

every other i i “ They are poor,
but ingenious, and, above all, thieves,” says the Italian
historian, “and so for that reason we called these islands
the Robber Islands.” !

Greatly improved in health from the fresh frait and
vegetables they had procured, the explorers left the
Ladrones on the morning of the gth March, On this
day the sole Englishman in the flcel—¢ Master Andrew
of Bristol "—died, the succour having come too late to
save his life. The course was set W. 1 8., and held for
seven days. On the 16th they saw land—the southern
point of Samar Tsland of the Philippines. Finding the
coast beset with shoals, they bore away to the southward
and fell in with the conspicuous island then, as now,
known by the name of Suluen. From thencs they
reached the neighbouring island of Malhou,? and an-
chored for the night, It appeared to be uninhabited,
and next day, being anxious to rest his sick, Magellan
ordered tents to be set up on shove and a pig to be killed
for them—which animal, no doubt, was obtained during
their stay at the Ladrone Islands. The sight of the fieet
attracted the notice of a passing prau, and on Monday,
March 18th, the Europeans made acquaintance for the
first time with the inhabitants of the Philippine Islands.
They were of a very different nature to those of the
Ladrone group. The boat contained some notebles from
the little island of Suluan, who welcomed the new-comers
without fear. Magellan ordered some caps, looking-

1 Wa Jearn from the divey of the Ganocse pilot that Magellan gavo
them tie namerof Lalas do las Volas Latinaa, or tho Lateen-sail Islands,
from the numbor of eralt thus rigged with which thoy abounded.

2 Humanu of Pigafotta, who calls their anchorage tho * Aquade des
bona sigcs.”
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glasses, bells, and other trifles to be given to them, and
in reburn was presented with fish and palm-wine. Piga-
fetta’s  figs a foot long, and two cocchi,” which he also
wentions among the gifts, we have little difficalty in
recognising as bananas and coco-nuts. Friendship with
the natives was still further cemented by their visiting
the ships, and the hopes of the Spaniards were roused
by being shown various spices, which must have enahled
them for the first time to realise the proximity of the
Moluceas,

To the archipelago thus discovered the Captain general
gave the name of St. Lazarus, for he had first sighted
the group upon the day sacred to that saint. It was
not till long after that the present appellation of the
Islas Philippinas was conferred upon them,! and mean-
while, curiously enough, they became known to the Portu-
guese as the Eastern Tslands while the Spaniards ealled
them the Islas del Poniente, for, as wo have s, the
latter power sailed westward round the world, and the
Lusitanians eastward. This circumstance was the cause
of yet another oddity. To the st circumnavigators the
necessity of altering their day on passing the meridian
of 180° was unknown, and so it came about that—the
error persisting until quite recent times—Hong-kong
and Manilo called the same day Monday and Sunday,
and it was not until the g1st December, 1844, that the
matter was rectified by the omission of that day from
the Manilan calendar,

The natives returned to the fieet on the 2and March
as they had promised. They brought an abundance of
fruit, coconuts, oranges and bananas, and a cock, © to
give us to understand that they possessed fowls in their

1 Fhey were thus ealled in 1542 after Philip 1., gon of Chiatles V.
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country.”1 Their chief, who accompanied them, had
gold rings in bis ears, and bracelets of the same metal,
worn by most of them, attracted the covetous eyes of the
Spaniards.  With the free supply of vegetable diet the
sick improved rapidly. Hach day the admiral went
ashore to visit them, and every morning gave them coco-
nut milk to drink with his own hands. It was as good
a treatment as could be preseribed by a physician of the
present day, and the personal visits of their leader no
doubt contributed not a little to their recovery. After
a rest of nine days it was considered that the voynge
might be safely resumed, and the order to weigh anchor
was accordingly given on the evening of Monday, 25th
March. While it was being carried out, an accident
happened to Digafetta which came near to bringing the
chevalier and his disry to an abrupt conclusion. ©1I
was going,” he says, “upon the bulwarks to fish, when
1 put my foob upon a spar wet with tain, and slipping,
fell overboard witlout heing perceived by any one.
When half drowned, it chanced that my hand touched
the sheet; of the mainsail which was in the water, and to
this T clang and began to shout out until they heard me
and came to my aid with the boat, the which help,” he
revevently adds, “ was nob due to any merits of my own,
but to the protection of that fount of pity, the Virgin
Mary.”*

Leaving Malhou, tho fleet struck across to the eastern
shores of Leyte, or Seilani, as it was then ealied, and
consting them arrived on the morning of March 28th at

11t is probablo that this bird was the jungle-fowl (Gatlus bankia),

*hich 13 caught and tamed in lange numbors by the natives of the
il and is used to this day for croming with the demestic

o u was the day of the Anmuneiation of the Blessed Virgin Mary.
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Mazzava or Mazaba, a small islnd which now appears
upon the charts as Limassava. Ilere for the first time
they exchanged sign language for a more satisfactory
means of communicution, for Magellan's slave, Enrique
of Malacea, found that his Malay was understood. The
natives were nevertheless so shy that they would not
approach the ship, aud the presents that Magellan de-
sired to give them had to be put upon o plank and
floated towards them. Tiwo hours afterwards the king
came in a large cance and had a long conversation with
the interpreter, Although declining to go on board the
Prinided, be permitted some of his men to do so. They
received good entertainment at the admiral’s hands, and
in return the king was desirous of presenting him with
a large bar of gold, but Magellan refused, although at
the same time thanking him much for his offer.

The next day, which was Good Friday, Enrique was
seut on shore to obtain provisions. He returned® with
the king, who brought dishes of fish and rice to the
Captain-general with his own hand. DMagellan gave
him a Turkish robe of red and yellow and a red cep, and
the ceremonysof accepting each other upon terms of
brotherbood, or casi-casi, was gone through.! The day
was spent in making o prodigal display of the wonders
of western civilisation ; exhibiting the objects of trade,
discharging the artillery, showing the charts and com-
passes, and describing the events of the voyage. At the
admiral’s account of the immense size of the Pacific the
king was greatly astonished. Equal astonishment was

1 Pigafetta doca not give us mora details. The ceremony was pro-
bably that of “blood brotherhood,” consisting iu each of the partics
tasting the blood of tho other, & widespread cusom in tho Malay
Archipelgo.
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caused by the men in suits of complete armour, who
received the cuts and thrusts of their comrades unharmed.
At the end of these performances Magellan asked if two
of his officers might go ashore with the king to see the
things of his country. Permission was given, and the
Chevalier Anthony Pigafetta was chosen to be one of
them, He has left us a very clear and detailed account
of their experiences.

“When we landed,” he says, ““the king raised his
hands to heaven, and then turned towards us. We did
the same, and so, indeed, did all the others. The king
then took me by the hand, while one of his chiefs took
my comrade’s, and we were led in this manner under a
canopy of canes where there was a balangai or canoe,
like a galley, on the poop of which we sat, conversing by
signs, for we had no interpreter. The king’s followers
remained standing, armed with swords, daggers, spears,
and shields. A dish of pork with a large vessel full of
wine Was brought, and at each mouthful we drank a eup
of wine. If, as rarely happened, any was left in our
eups, it was put into another vessel. The king’s cup
remained always covered, and no one drank from it but
he and I.  Before drinking he raised his hends to
heaven, and then turned to us, and at the moment that
he took the eup in bis right hand he extended towards
me the closed fist of his left, so that ab first T thought
e was about to strike me. Thus he drank, while I went
through tho same gestures towards him, seeing that
every one did the same towards his companion when
drinking. With these ceremonies or signs of friendship
we took our dinner, and I was unable to avoid eating
meat on Good Friday.

¢ Before the hour of supper I presented to the king
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the many presents I had brought with me. I enquired
the names of numerous objects, and wrote them down.
They were struek with astonishment on seeing me write,
and on hearing me repeat, in reading, the names they
kad given me. Then came supper time. They brought
two large china dishes, the one filled with rice, the other
with pork in its gravy. We ate our supper with the
same ceremonies and gestures ns before. We then
vepaired to the palace of the king, in shape like a sort
of hay-loft or riek, covered with bamana leaves, and
supported on four large bearos which raised it from the
ground, so that we had to ascend to it by means of
ladders. On our arrival the king made us sit npon a
cane mat with our legs crossed liko tailors on a beneh,
and after half an houra dish of fish was brought, cut in
pleces and roasted, another of freshly-gathered ginger,
and some wine. The king’s eldest son having entered,
he was made to sit next me, and tiwo more disheq were
then brought, one of fish with its sauce and the other
of rice, to eat with the prince, My companion, having
caten and drunk too much, became intoxicated.

«For candlgs they used the gum of a certain tree
called anime, wrapped up in leaves of the palm or banana.
The king now made a sign to us that he desired to retire
to rest, and doparted, leaving the prines with us, in
whose company we slept on cane mats with eushions
stuffed with leaves.

“ Next morning the king came to seek me, and taking
me by the hand led me to the place where we had supped
to have breakfast ; but the boat which had been sent to
take us off having found us, we took our departure at
once. The king was in the best of humours, and kissed
our hands on parting, while we kissed his. There caume
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with us a brother of his, the king of another country,
accompanied by threo other men. The Captain-genexal
kept them to dinner with him, snd made them presents
of various objects.”

The petly monarch last mentioued, Pigafetta learnt,
ruled over the district of Carnca in Mindanao, his juris-
diction extending to the island of Suluan, the land first
sighted by the flest. He was known as the Rajah
Calambu,! and his brother as the Rajah Siani. His
dress as described by the chevalier—the silk cloth on
his head, the dagger with a long handle which was
all of gold, the chewing of betel, aud so on—show
that in many ways the costume and customs of that
time were no whit different from those of the present
day.

The following Sunday, the 31st March, was Easter
day. It was the anniversary, too, of the mutiny in
Port St. Julian. If Magellan reflected, as he doubtless
did, upon the events of that day, it must have been to
thank Glod and his patron saint for the changed aspect
of affairs. Then the outlook for him was well-nigh as
dark and hopeless as it could be, and he was about to
stake his all upon one desperate chance, Now, though
disease and desertion had thinned his ranks, he had
practically won the game. Ilis great aim had been
accoxaplished, and he had found his straits.  The
bartier belisved to extend from pole to pole to separate
the Atlantic from the Pacific had been proved not to
exist, And now he had left behind him the perils of

1 Gotanra calls him tho Rejah Colasar, and says that they made
friends with hita * sacaudo sungre do Ia mano izquierda i tocando
con clia el rostro i longua, que nai so usa on aquellas tiorras "—tho
common coromony of “blood brotherhood.”
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that vast ocean which his ships bad been the first to
penetrate, and had erossed the meridian of the Spice
Islands. e had discovered an unknown and extensive
archipelago, as rich in gold, apparently, as it was
fertile, and had made friends with some of its kings.
Everything pointed to a happy issue of the voyage and
& continuation of the successes that he had so deservedly
won. No shadow had as yet orossed his path; no
warning of the blow that was so soon to fall.

Good Christian and devout Catholio as he was, there-
fors, Magellan gnve orders that the Haster services
should be celebrated with the utmost ceremonial. The
two kings attended, kissing the cross, and kneeling with
joined hands like their visitors, At the elevation all
the ships fired their broadsides. After mass had been
said, a oross and orown of thorns was brought and pre-
sented to the kings, with instruetions that it should be
st up on the summit of the highest mountain i the
neighbourhood, thal all might see and adore it. This
they expressed themselves most willing to receive, and
the Captain-general then asked if they were at war
with any one, fg if such were the case, he would go and
defeat their enemics with his men and ships, and render
them obedient to tbeir authority, ¢ The king answered
that there wers, indeed, two islands with which he was
at war, bub that it was not theu a fitting season to pro-
ceed against them, albeit they thanked him for his
offer. The captain replied that, if it pleased God that
he should return, he would bring enough men to cen-
quer all those countries. It was arranged that after
dinner the eross should be planted on the summit of the
mountain, and the festa having been concluded by a
volley from our musketeers who were drawn up in
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battalions, the kings and the captain embraced each
other, and we returned to the ship.”

“ After dinner, it being mid-day, we all went ashore
in our doublets, and in company with the two kings
ascended to the summit of the highest mountain in the
neighbourhood, and there planted the cross. The eap-
tain then explained the advantages it would bring them.
Each one of us adored it, reciting a Paternoster and an
Ave, whereupon we descended, crossing the cultivated
grounds and going to the lalangai, where the king
caused refreshment to be brought.”

Magellan was now anxious to resume Lis voyage, and
inquired which were the Lest ports for provisions and
trade, wishing to turn some of his many articles of
barter into gold and spices. He was told that there
were three—Ceylon, Zzubu, and Calagan,! but that
Zzubu was the largest and had the most traffic. “He
thanked them and deliberated to go thers,” says
Pigafetta, “for thus his unlucky fate willed that it
should be” Upon inquiring for pilots, the king offered
to conduet them himself if they would wait for a day
or two while he got in his rice harvest, at the same
time begging for assistance in the fields. This was
readily granted by the Spaniards, “but the kings had
caten and drunk so much the day before that, either
because they were intoxicated or because they wero ill,
they slept the whole day and we could do nothing.”
By dint of hard work upon the two following days,
however, the harvest was got in, and on ‘Thursday,
April 4th, the fleet weighed anchor and continued the
voyage, after a stay of 2 week at the island.

1 Ceylon is another name for the island of Leyte ; Zzubu is Sobu, and
Calagan tho district of Caraca in Mindanko,
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From Limassaua their course led them north-west-
ward along the shores of Leyte, which they hugged
closely to avoid the reefs barring the passage between
that island and Bohol. Passing the little island of
Canigan (Camigio), they touched at another to Which
Pigafetta gives the name of Gatigan, 2 name which it
is impossible with any certainty to identify.! Iere the
voyagers were much struck by the Pteropi or “flying
foxes"—the huge fruit-eating bats of which so many
species inhabit the Malay Avchipelago, Pigafetta de-
clares that they were as large as eagles, and describes
the capbure of one, saying its flesh resembled that of
a fowl in taste The mound-building Megapodes—
gallinaceous birds peeuliar to the Austro-Malayan sub-
region—were also meb with and their habits well
described. ¢« As large as fowls are certain black birds
with & long tail, which lay eggs like (ie. as big as)
those of & gaoso and cover them with sand, and leaving
them thus exposed to the sun’s heat the chicks are
hatched.” From Gatigan a westerly course was stecred,
but, having outsailed the prau of the King of Limas-
saua, who was piloting them according to his promise,
they bore away for the Camotes group, where they
awaited him, The good mavigation of the Spaniards
much astonished him on his rejoining them. At the
Captain-general’s invitation he went on board the
Trinidad, and on Sunday the 7th April the fieet entered
the port of Sebu.

Beforo arriving at the town many villages were

" passed ; evidenco that then, as now, the district was
one of the richest in the Archipelago. On reaching

1 Presumably this island lies somowhare between Camig§o and tho
Camotes lslands, 1t ia perhaps Jimuquitan or Apit Island.
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the anchorage Magellan commanded that the ships
should be dressed, and that simultancous broadsides
should be fired, * at which,” as may be imagined, “the
people were greatly frightened.” A messenger was ab
once sent ashore with the interpreter, who reassured the
natives by telling them that the artillery had been fired
in honour of the king, and as a sign of pence end
friendship. The kmg in answer asked the business of
the the i informed
him that his mnster was an officer of the greatest king
in the world, and that he was on his way to the
Moluceas, but upon heaving of his courtesy and good
fame from the King of Limassaua, he desired to visib
him, The King of Sebu, emboldened by the pacific
attitude of the Spaniards, replied that it was well, but
that he required that every one entering the port should
pay tribute. The interpreter was in no way intimi-
dated  Tlis king, he said, paid tribute to no one, and
if he wished for peace he could have peace, and if he
wished for war he could have war.

Tt happened that at that moment a Siamese trader
was in the port, a moro versed from boyhood in the
affairs of the Fast. The conquests of the Portuguese
in India and their widespread and inereasing influence
were well known to him, and, desirous of saving the
king from the results of a rupture with the Spaniards,
he informed him dof tho successes of the Europeans in
greater India, and counselled him to make peace. The
King of Limassaua added his influence to the same
end, and eventually the most cordial relations were

blished between the Captain-general and the king.
A formal treaty of peace was concluded, the ceremeny
of blood brotherh d, and an
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entered into whereby the Spaniards were to have the
exclusive privilege of trading in the king's dominions.

Magellan, from the very earliest accounts we have of
him, appears to have been 2 man in whom the religious
spirit, was very largely developed. On the occasion of
the conclusion of the treaty—which was arranged on
board the flagship by the nephew of the King of Sebu—
he clluded at some length to matters of the Christian
faith. The statement that when their parents were old
they paid no more attention to them, and the command
passed to the children, drew from him the rebuke that
the Creator expressly imposed upon sons the duty of
honouring their father and mother, threatening with
etornal punishment those who transgressed this precept.
1is impassioned address caused many of his auditors to
express their desive of becoming Christians, and %hey
begged that he would leave them two of his people to
teach them the principles of that religion. Megellan’s
answer was that of a man singularly fres from bigotry.
He warned them against adopting Christianity either
from fear or from the hope of deriving any temporal
advantage from if, and said that he would never harm
any one who desired to continue in the belief and observ-
ances of his own faith and laws, although he would not
conceal the fact that those who became Christians would
be more beloved and better treated by his people.

In whatever form his sentences reached the ears of
his audienco through the medium of the interpreter, tho
effect produced was all that the Captain-general could
desire. The natives at once declared that they desired
to become Christiang, not from fear, nor from the wish
to please their visitors, but of their own free will. They
put themselves, they said, in his hands and desired him
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to treat them as his servants. The captain, with tears
in his eyes, embraced the chiefs, and swore by the faith
that he had in God, by the fealty that he vowed to his
king, and by the habit of Santiago that he wore, that
perpetual peace should thenceforward reign between
the kings of Spain and Sebu,

Yater in the day Pigafetta was despatehed with one of
the officers to the king, bearing the presents usnal on
such oceasions. These were a robe of yellow and purple
violet silk, a red cap of fine material, and some strings
of orystal beads, borno upon a silver dish; togother with
two gilded glass beakers, which the envoys cmried in
their hands. They werc well received by the king, and
his people, standing round, told him of Magellan's
speech, and how he exhorted them to embrace the Chris-
tian religion. The king asked them to remain to sup
with him, but Pigafetta and his comrade made their
excuses and returned to the ship. Nexzt day, the 1oth
April, they again went ashore early. Martin Barreta,
who had sailed as a supernumerary of the Sardiago, had
succumbed to the privations endured when erossing the
Pacifie. A few hours later his comrade, Juan de Aroche,
also died. Permission was sought to bury them, and was
readily granted. The grave was dug in the open space
in the middle of the town, and the funeral conducted
with all possible pomp, in order to impress the people.
Later bho place was conseerated as the Christian come-
tery. The Spaniards little guessed how many of their
number were destined to leave their bones in Sebu, still
less would they have dreamt, had they known it, that
none of them should lie at rest within the consecrated
area.

Magellan’s next object was to commence barter. Tn
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those days this was carried out with some ceremony. A
store or large building of some kind was obtained on
shore, flled with merchandise, and placed under a strong
guard.  When all was prepared the shop, for such it
veally was, was opened, and bartering began. On this
oceasion the objects were ready for display in two days,
The peaple regarded them with the greatest wonder.
For bronze and iron they were ready to exchange gold,
giving value to the amount of fifteen ducats for fourteen
pounds’ weight of iron. For small objects they gave
Ppigs, goats, and rice. The Captain-general gave strich
orders that no great desire to obtnin gold should he
shown, *otherwise,” writes the Italian historian, “every
sailor would have sold his 21l for gold, which would for
ever have ruined our future trade.” It is interesting to
note that many appurtenances of eivilisation were found
existing among the natives. They were possessed of
measures of capacity, and knew the use of weights.
Their scales were hardly different from those in use at
the present day. Formed by a spear-shaft suspended in
the middle by a"cord, they had on the one mm a basin
attached by three strings, and at the other a leaden
weight to obtain the equilibvium. “The people live with,
justice, and good weight and meastre,” we are told.

The king having expressed his wish to become a
Christian, preparations were made for the celebration of
his baptiem with a becoming amount of ceremonial. In
the open space already alluded to in the centre of the
town a scaffolding was erected, and decorated with hang-
ings and palm fronds. On Sunday, the 14th Apil, the
vite was performed. Forty men in armour preceded the
Captain-general and his officers, before whom the royal
standard was borng,  On arriving ab the place prepared,

Q
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Magellan and the king sab in two chairs, one covered
with red and the other with violet velvet, while the
notables sat around on cushions. Before the king was
baptized Magellan instructed him in the meaning of the
ceremony, and told him that if be wished to be a good
Christian he must burn all his idols® and worship the
Cross. A large eross was then raised in the market-
place, and the people were told that they must adore it
ab morning and at mid-day upon their knecs. The
priest then baptized him, together with the prinee, his
nephew, the King of Limassaua, and others to the number
of fifty or more. All were clad in white. To the king®?
the narme of Carlos was given, in honour of the empexor ;
to his nephe that of Hernando, either out of compli-
ment to Magellan, or to the emperor’s brother; while
the King of Limassaua became Juan, and the Moorish
trader, who also appears to have embraced the new faith,
Christopber.

The Spaniards returned to the ships for dinner, after
which the ehuplain and many others again went ashore
to baptize the queen. She was led to the place with
forty of her ladies, and while waiting was shown a figure
of the Virgin and Child carved in wood, which she ex-
pressed a desire to have, and which, accordingly, was

3 Tho idels are deseribed by Pigafetta as being mado of wood,
hollowed out bobind, with the arms and logs apart, and tho feet
turnod upwards, Thoy had a rather large faco with four vary largo
toeth, like those of a wild boar, and all of them wero painted, ‘They.
perbaps resemblod the New Guinca korowdar, but thoir sizo is 10k
mentioned. Tho people of Sebu at the present day are ncarly all
Christians.

2 The king's, or rather rajah's, name, for he was of the latter rank,
way Humabon or Hamabar, ccording to Gomara.

3 Both Pigafetta, who gave hor the figure, and Herrora mention
{his eircumstanco (Doc, il lib, i, cap, iii.). 1t is curious that yeurs
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presented to her by Pigafetta. She took the name of
Joanna, after the unhappy mother of Charles V., while
the wife of the Rajah of Limassaua was baptized as
Tsabella. The example thus set by their rulers was
followed immediately by the lower ¢lasses, and on that
day no fewer than 8oo persons were received into the
Church. The news soon spread, and the people arrived
in hundreds, until in eight days all the inhabitants of
Sobu were baptized, and some belongmg to other
hb g islands.  Maxi records
that the number was 2200, but it very possibly exceeded
this considerably.
1t seems probable, from Pigafetta’s account, that the
authority of this King or Rajah of, Bebu was not so fully
recognised by the surrounding chiefs and kinglets as it
should have been. Magellan, now that he had eonetrded
an alliance with him, was, of eourse, anxious to strengthen
his position as much as possible. With this object in
view he summoned a mesting of his two brothers and
various chiefs who had exhibited a tendency to disobe-
dience, and informed them that if they did not render a
proper homage to their sovereign he should order them
to be put to death, and their property to be eonfiscated.
Such a notice his auditors were not in a position to gain-
say, and they promised to obey. One of them, however,
seems to have repented afterwards, and having again
refused fo submit to his authority, a punitive expedition
was sent against him, which plundered and bumnt his
village, and erccted a cross over the smoking ashes,

aftersards, in 1565, whon Miguol Lopez do Legaspe arrived at Sobu,
ho ducovered this figure, which was rogarded os an idol. Tho erosses
sot up by Magellan were also in oxistence, and in consequence tho
later misionarios gave to tho placo the name of tho City of Josus, —
Colin, Labor Bcangelics, kib. i. cap. xiz.
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“Ilad they bcen Moors,” writes Pigafetta, ““ we should
have set up a column as a sign of their hardness of
heart, for the Moors are more difficult of conversion
than are the Gentiles.” !

For these services, and in token of affection, the king
presented Magellan with o pair of large gold earrings,
two bracelets, and two anklets, seb with precious stones.
Spaniards and natives were now upon the best of terms,
but the Captain-general, finding that the idols were not
burnt, as he had ordered, and that offerings of meat;
were still made to them, reproved his converts severely
for their breach of faith. They excused themselves by
saying that they were preserved to restore to health a
sick man, brother of the prince,? “ the most valiant and
wisest man on the island,” who lay so ill that for four
days he had not spoken. Filled with zeal for his religion,
Magellan said that if the king had true faith in our
Loxd, and burat all the idols, and caused the sick man
to be baptized, he would at once recover, and 5o sure was
he of this, he added, that if it were not so he would
cheerfully consent to forfeit his head. The king agreed,
and a procession was accordingly arranged with the
greatest pomp and show that lay in the Spuniards’
power. Formed in the great square by the cross, it
proceeded to the house of the sick man, whe was found
unable either to speak or move. Ile was baptized, and
the Captain-general asked him how he felt. The “ faith
cure” was not long in taking effect, for the patient
answered immediately that by God’s grace he was
tolerably well.

1 It seoms probable thot this village was onoof the King of Mactan,

although we aro not actually told so,
2 Maxinnlian ealls bim a grandson of tho king.
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“This great miracle was done under our very eyes,”
says the pious old historian. On the fifth day the man
vose from his bed, burnt an idol that he had in his house,
and proceeding to the sea-shore, where were several
temples in which it was the custom to eat the meat
offered to the idols, caused them to be destroyed. The
natives tore them down, shouting * Castille, Castille,”
and declared that if God gave them life they would
burn as many idols as they could find, even if they were
in the house of the king himself. The influence and
prestige of the Spaniards had now reached such a point
that it seemed impossible that anything should ever
occasion its downfall. Yet, as we shall see, it was to
Inst for a few days only, and to, be annihilated with a
rapidity and completeness even more astonishing than
that of its establishment,



CHAPTER X.

THE LAST VOYAGE—V. BATTLE OF MACTAN
AND DEATH OF MAGELLAN.

Ir is probable that Bulaya—the village burnt by order
of the Captain-general, on the occasion of the chastise-
ment inflicted on the rebel chiefs—was situated on the
little island of Mactan or Matan, whose rajab, Silapu-
lapu, had rendered an unwilling obedience to the autho-
rity of the Sebu potentate. He could not understand,
he said, why he should do homage to one whom he had
been nccustomed for so long to command. The action
taken by the Spaniards had not rendered his attitude in
any way more submissive. While ho was meditating
upon some method of revenge, one of his chiefs, by namo
Yula, sent a small present to the adwiral, together with
a secret message to the effect that if he did not give a
more suitable offering it was through no faulb of his
own but rather from fear of the rajah, adding that if
Magellan would help him with a boat and a few of his
men, he would undertake to subdue bis chief and band
over the island to the Spanisrds.

Upon receipt of the message, Magellan ab once re-
solved to take the affair in hand. Although at first
opposed to the enterprise, the King of Sebu was anzious
to assist him when he saw that he was determined npon
going.  Joilo Serrio, the mﬁ?in’s staunch adberent and
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right-hand man, the old and tried warrior of a hundred
fights, was altogether against it. Not only was nothing
to be gained by it, he argued, but they had already lost
a number of men, and it would be unwiso to leave the
vessels as unprotected as they would be obliged to leave
them, for the expedition needed a considerable force.
But it was in vain that he protested. Filled with reli-
gious enthusizgsm at his successes in Sebu, Magellan
desired to push them still farther, until the whole archi-
pelago should recognise the authority of Spain and be
received into the bosom of the Catholic Church. e was
one, moreover, to brook no opposition from an indivi-
dual whom he regarded as a rebel rapher than an enemy.
Action with him followed close upon resolve, Nothing,
apparently, could over make him reconsider a determi-
nation, and if he took counsel it was for form’s saje only.
And so Serrio’s wiser words of caution were put aside,
and the expedition wag prepared. At the last moment
his officers besought him not to go in person. But he
would not have been Magellan had he listened to them.
Good sheplierd as he was, writes Pigafetta, ho refused to
desert his flock.!

At widnight on Friday, 26th April, all was ready, and
the expedition left Sebu. The Spaniard 1 sixty
men all told. The Rajah of Sebu, the prince, a number
of the chiefs, and a force of about a thousand men
accompanicd them in a fleet of twenty or thirty war-
canoes. The Europeans had three boats only. The little
island of Mactan is close to Sebu, forming in fact its
harbour, and the spot chosen for Janding was probably

3 4 Noi molto lo progammo accid non venisse o questa impresa in
personn, ma_ogli come buon pastero non volle abbandonare il suo.
gregie.”—1igafotts, op. cit, D. 97.
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not more than four or five miles distant from the fleet.
It was reached three hours before duylight. No attempt
was made to surpris and cary the town. The captain
desived to try persuasion before force. Few men, pro-
bably, loved the din of battle mora dearly than d\d he,
or joined with more readiness in 2 d

But here the affair scomed mere child's-play, and he
probably did not think it possible that any numbor
of uaked savages could be a mateh for the sixty armour-
clad Buropeans he brought against them, And so, with
characteristic straightforwardness, he sent the Moorish
trader to Silapulapu, informing him that if he would
submit and pay the tribute, no harmn should bo done to
him, but if not, “hLe would learn how our lances
wounded,”

The answer returned was defiant enough, that * if
the Spaniards had lances 50 also liad they, albeit only
reeds and stakos hardened by fire ; that they were ready
for them, but they besought them that they would not
attack before morning, as they expected reinforcements
at daylight.”

This message, the most transparent of ruses, was of
course recognised by Magellan as such, Warned, no
doubt, by their previous encounter, the natives had
ditched and staked the town and had dug pitfalls. A
night attack would have been all in their favour, but
they did nob succeed in deceiving their enemies. The
King of Sebu also counselled waiting for daylight. When
it arrived, he begged the Captain-general to be allowed
to lead the assault. With his thousand men and a few
Spaniards to aid and inspire them, he declared the
victory to bo cortain. Magellan, it is needless to say,
would not hear of it. Ife ordered his friend and ally




1521.] BATTLE OF MACTAN. 249

to Temain in the canoes with his men. He begged that
they would look on, and note how his men could fight.!

Qwing to the coral reef surrounding Mactan, the
boats from the fleet were unable to approach the shore.
So far off, indeed, had they to remain that it was neces-
sary to wade for a “distance of two good crossbow
shots ? before tho attacking party set foot upon the
beach. Of the sixty men, the Captain-general and
forty-cight landed. The other eleven remained with the
boats to guard them, and to serve the bombards.?

As they stepped ashors, the dawn of the z7th April
1521 broke over the island. Tt was Satwday, a day
specially chosen by the admiral, as ho bad o great
veneration for it3 Alas! for His choice! Alas! for
the spectacle of prowess that he had charged hig Sebu
allies to watch 14  Of valour, indeed, there was enough
and to apare, but it availed nothing against the blunder
he had made of under-estimating the streugth of his
opponents.  From the momeat of landing it became
evident that I determined resistance would be made.
Numbers of natives—varying, according to different
accounts, from fifteen hundred to six thousand—sur-
rounded them. Pigafetta, who was himself of the
attacking patty, records that they were divided roughly

1 Herrera, Dec. fii. b, i. cap. iv. Wude lotter of Maximiliau,

% Gomara (cap. xchi. p. 87) and Maximilian stote that Magollen
took forty men only. lerrora (Dec. iii. lib. T, cap 4} says that
fifty-five landed. But Pigafetta's account, boro givon, must bo pre-
forred. Tt is that of o parbicipator in the evgagement, snd is
cvidently writton with cars and acouracy.

3 “'Giorno dat Gapitano steso prescelto, porché v'avev: una parti-
eolare divozions,"—Pigafeita, op. cit P, 190.

4+ “Subuthicis uero ostendif, so mon cos ad pugnandum, sed wl
suorum fortitudinem ot in bollo robur speetandum addusisse.”—
Letter of Mazimilian,
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into threo bodies, of which one opposed their advance,
while the others assailed them in flank. The captain
accordingly marshalled his men in two companies, a8
affording a better means of defence. It is probable that
the ground greatly favoured the natives. It is not now,
and probably was not then, the custom in the Philip-
pines to build the houses of a village in very close
proximity to each other, and the trees and gardens by
which they are generally surrounded, together with the
thick hush which covers the uncultivated ground,
afforded the best of cover to the istanders. Close fight-
ing was impossible, and hence, while the Spaniards were
hardly able to fire a. shot with any certainty, they were
exposed to a continuous and galling fire of spears and
arrows, Showers of sfomes were also thrown, and
though the men were well protected about the body by
their corslets, it was not long before some of the mis-
siles began to tell upen their limbs. It seems that but
fow arquebusiers were of the party. Such as there were
kept up a desultory fire with the crossbow men for
some time, but to little effect, and the natives, seeing
the ive harml of the I Weapons,
grew emboldened.  Magellan, realising that the ammu-
nition was being wasted, shouted to his men to reserve
their fire, but his orders were disregarded in the confu-
sion of the mélée.

‘The attacking party were now getting so hard pressed
that the Captain-general directed a small detachment
to advance and set fire to a group of houses not far
distant. The plan was not attended with the suceess
that he had desired. So infuriated were the islanders at
the destruction of their property—for, the wind having
aided the Spaniards, twenty or thirty of the houses
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were soon in flumes—that they returned to the attack
with redoubled energy, and, cutting off some of the
incendiary party, succeeded in killing two of them.
From this moment the issue of the day was practically
decided Magellan, whose right leg had been pierced
by an arrow, saw that a further advance was impossible,
end gave orders to retreat. In vain, however, did ke
command thet the movement should be executed slowly
and in order. Had his orders been carried out, the
result of the battle might have been different. But to
the Spaniards, spoilt by facile victories, a reverse was
attended with unknown terrors, and the greater part of
them fled immediately in wild disorder. Six or eight
only were left to support their gallant commander in a
steady retrest to the beach, surrounded by SwArmS of
savages who poured in a heavy fire of arrows and spears
upon the courageons little band. So heavy was it, says
Pigafetta, who stayed by his beloved captain to the
Iast, that we conld hardly offer any resistance, Then
the water's ®dge was gained, but no aid could be
obtained from the boats. Their distance from the fight
was 80 great that it was useless to bring the bombards
into action, and friend so mixed with foe that even had
they been within range it would have been impossible.
And so, fighting hand to hand, and step by step retreat-
ing, the coral reef was traversed, until they were distant,
2 bowshot from the shore, and the water reached their
knees.

Then the end came. The natives, confident in their
numbers, and earing little for the weapons of the Euro-
peans, pressed them still harder. Twice the captain lost
his helmet, and a little later he received a spear wound
in the right arm, Tho islanders recognised his rank,
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and directed their atbacks especially against him; and
finding the bodies of their antagonists invuinerable, they
endeavoured to wound them in the legs or face. The
length of their spears being greater than that of the
Spanish lances, gave them still further advantages. But,
in spite of this, the resistance of Magellan and his men
was determined and obstinate to a degree. The King
of Sebu, recognising the gravity of their situation, had
landed some of his men to draw off the attack, but it
was too late. The rest must be told in Pigafetta’s own
words.

“Thus we fought for an hour or more, until atlength
an Indian succeeded in wounding the captain in the
face with a bamboo spear. He, being desperate, plunged
his lance into the Indian’s breast, leaving it there. But
wishing to use his swoxd he could only draw it half way
from the sheath, on account of a spear wound he had
received in the right arm. Seeing this the enemy all
rushed at him, and one of them with « long terzado, like
a large scimitar, gave him a heavy blow upon the left
Jeg which caused him to fall forward on his face.
Then the Indians threw themselves upon him with
iron-pointed bamboo spears and seimitars, and every
weapon they had, and ran him through—our mirror,
our light, our comforter, our true guide—until they
killed him.

“While the Indians were elosely pressing him he
several times turned round towards us to see if we were
all in safety, as if his obstinate resistance had no other
object than to give time for the rctreat of hismen. We
who fought with him to the last, and were covered with
wounds, when we saw him fall, made for the boats,
which were then on the point of pushingoff. . . . There
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perished with him eight of our ment and four of the
Christian Indians.  We had, besides, many wounded,
among whom I must count myself. The enemy lost
only fifteen men.

“ He died, but I trust that your Hlustrious 1fighness ?
will not permit his memory to be lost, the more so since
1 ses born again in you the good qualities of so great a
captain, one of his leading virtues being his constancy
in the worst misfortune. At sea he endured hunger
better than we. Greatly learned in nautical charts, he
knew more of the true art of navigation than any other
pexson, in sure proof whereof is the wisdom and intre-
pidity with which—no example having been afiorded
him—he attempted, and almost ‘completed, the circum-
navigation of the globe.”$ L

So died Magellan, his lifo wasted in a miserable skir-
mish with savages. The wanner of his death has been
related by various historians, the most trustworthy of
whom differ in no essential point. The account of Piga-
fotta, who fought by his side, is doubtless correct, but
in a desperate struggle such as that in which the great
novigator perished, it i not astonishing that the minov

1 According to tho official list of desths scyon died, but one sue-
cumbod Inter to bis wounds.

% Pigafotta’s book, it must be remembored, was dodieated to Villicrs
de ITsls Adam, Grand Mastor of Rhodes.

3 Pigafotta, op. cit., PP. 99 ¢t seq. The Josb paragraph rans as
Follows in the original :— < Egli mori ; ma spero che Vossignoria Tllus-
trissima non Lascard cho se 1o perda ia memoria. tanto pid che veggo
in lei rinate le virtd d'un il gran Qapitano, poiché una delle principalt
virtil suo fu la constanza nelia pi avvorsa fortuna. kgli in meszo al
mara soppo tollerar la famo pid di noi. Intelligentissimo di Carte
nautiche, sapca pii d'ogni aliro I vera arte del navigare ; dol cho &
una sieurs prova I'aver saputo eol suo ingegno, o col suo ardire, senza
che nossio gliene avesso dato l'osempio, tentare il givo del Giobo
terracqueo cho quasi aves compiuto.”
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details of the onlookers’ stories should vary. Thevet
states that he was killed by an arrow,! which is partly
borne out by Nicholas of Naples, o sailor of the Victoria,
in his examination as o witness in support of Jaime
Barbosa’s claim to Magellan’s estate in the year 1540,
«] was by his side and saw him killed by arrows and a
lance-wound which pierced his throat.”? Whother he
met his death by spear or arrow, however, matters little,
He fell as we should expect him to full, fighting bravely,
and up to the last moment of his life thinking of others
rather than himself.

‘When the King of Sebu heard the news he burst into
tears. With the victory in their power they had deli-
berately thrown away every chance, and had suffered a
most disastrous defeat. Silently, and with bitter sorrow
at their hearts, the Spaniards decided to return, and
the little flotilla recrossed the bay to Sebu. Their
anguish was the more poignant since the body of their
commander remained in the enemies’ hands. The same
eveuing a special » was sent to Silapulap
demanding it, and offering to give whatever mem}mndnse
he desired upon its return. It was in vain that he
pleaded. The rajah’s reply was that for nothing in the
world would they give back the captain’s body, for they
desived to preserve it always as & monument of their
triumph. It was in vain, £00, that Barbose, the brother-
inlaw of Magellan, made renewed offers. The victors

! i imatan fnllat venir a3 gombets o eo vallant Capiting Mags-
Ian fut tué d'vn coup de fescho qu'vn Matanais lui tira au v
Thovet, Prais Pavriraite et Fies des Homnes Rlssires, Paris, 1584,

. 529.

2 W Esto testiyo estaba. i Ia sazon junto con 6l & su lado, § lo vido
matar de sactadas 6 nna lanzada que lo dieron por I garganta."—
Medina, op. oit., vol. il pu 311, Also sve Navarrote, iv. p. 286 cf scq.
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were inflexible, and the bones of the brave old warrior
and explorer rest to thig day in Mactan.

We do not know with any eertainty where he fell,
but the Spanish have attempted to identify the village
upon which the attack was made, and a tasteless monu-
ment has been erected to his memory on the spot.
Under the copious rains and exuberant vegetation of

MONUAEST TO MAGELLAN 1N MACTAS.

such a climate it seems to have suffered not a little. A

little longer and the place thereof, perbaps, shall know

it no more. But Magellin needs no monument. Mis

name is written for ever, not only on his straits,' but
1 For ovor sacred to the Hero's fane

These foatuing straits shall bear bis deathless name.”
—fickle's Lusiad, VK. x., p. 275,
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npon the heavens, whose face, ns astronomer and navi-
gator, he had scanned 5o often, in fair weather and foul,
in every quarter of the globe.!
From the history of the last voyage of Magellan alene
a fair idea might be gathered of the great commander’s
character, even had we known nothing previously about
lim, TIts leading featuves do not alter. As he was in
bis youth in Tndia—cool in danger, unselfish, and pos-
sessed of a determination almost without parallel—so
he remained to the end, until he fell in the little island
of Mactan, before the cane spears of a horde of naked
savages, On the very occasion of his death he exhibited
these qualities in a most stiking manner. The details
of the engagement which we are possessed of show that
his actions were distinguished as much by coolbess as
by bravery. To his unselfishness, without a shadow of
doubt, he owed his death. ¢ His obstinate resistance
had no other aim than to give time for the retreat of his
men,” Pigafetta tells us. Yet the expedition was under-
taken in defiance of the advice of his officers and the
entreaty of his friends. His fate was the outcome of
an excess of self-reliance, of too blind a confidence in
his own unaided judgment.
By birth, education, and life, Magellan was a gentle-
¢, more, an ari and au bout
des ongles. Of noble family, reared at court, and a
Queen’s page, he passed into the Indian service under
the first Viceroy, with the flower of Spain for his com-
rades. With such a chief and fellow-oflicers, and at such
7 The honour of having first made known the Magellanic Clouds
cannot be ascribed to the navigator. In 1515 Peter Martyr mentions
them in his De Jtebus Oceariis et Orbe Novo, and thoy were apporently

known to the Arshs five hundred years carlior. ¥ide Hunibolds's
Kosnos, Sabine, 2nd ed., vol. i p, 28,
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a period, the best qualities of his nature could not but
become developed. Later, as we have seen, ho served
under Albuguerque. The fact that he was in India with
the two ablest Viceroys, and that his long service was
at the most exciting part of that country’s history,
had doubtless not a little influence upon his character.
Magellan was a born leader of men from sheer force of
character and strength of will. But there was more
than mere energy in him. That he was a man of con-
siderable intelligence there is no doubt from the evidence
of other writers besides Pigafetta, and entirely apart
from the question of whether he was or was not pre-
viously aware of the existence of the straits of which he
went in search. Bub the most charming trait in his
character is the carelessness of self which reveals itself
0 often in the history of his life, the readiness tb sacri-
fice himself on all occasions for others, Ilow he died
we have just seen. But we must not forget his action
on the occasion of the wreck on the Padua bank, when
he volunteered to remain with the sailors; or the aid
which, at imminent risk of his life, he afforded Serrio
ab tho attempted massacra of the Portuguese at Malacea.
With his own hands he tended lis sick crew in the
Philippines, after having shared on equal terms with
them the privations of their voyage across the Pacific.
With mutineers and traitors, in fact with all who re-
belled against authovity, cven if only mere shivkers or
grumblers, he was no doubt a hard waster; but to those
who served him faithfully and did their duty he ever
remained a staunch fiiend. Moreover, he bears a name
of untarnished honour. There is no single story againet
him, nothing to hide or to stur over; mo single act of

cruelty even in that nge of cruelties.
r
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A question of no little interest yet remains for consi-
deration—the question of what rank ought to be assigned
to Magellan as a navigator and explorer. In the history
of geographical discovery there are two great successes,
and two only, so mnch do they surpass all others—the
discovery of America, and the first circumpavigation of
the globe. Columbus and Magetlan are the only pos-
sible competitors for the supremacy. Were the vote of
the majority taken, it would without a shadow of douht
be recorded in favour of the former. 'We can see easily
enough that it could not well he otherwise. Fortified
by the d possession of a little knowledge, the
mass would grant the palm to him who first brought the
vast continent of America to the ken of Europeans. It
is difficult to free the mind from the iafluence of the
wellknown couplet over the grave of Colunbus : —

‘A Castilla y a Leon
Nuevo mundo dié Colon.”
But, without detracting in any way from the ample
honour which is his just due, an unbiassed comparison
of his great voyage wilh that of Magellan leaves tlie
latter navigator with the verdict in his favour on almost
overy point. If it be claimed for Columbus that he
crossed an ocean of vast size whose western half was
uaknown to the inhabitants of the old world, it is equally
incontrovertible that Magellan traversed a far vaster sea,
upon whose waters no European ship had ever foated,
When Columbus started on his voyage, his work lay
immediately before him. Magellan did not arrive at the
Pacific until more than a year after he weighed anchor
from 8. Lucar de Barrameda, for months of which he
had und great and i hardship While
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the great Genoese made land on the thirty-sizth day
after leaving the Canaries, the little armada of Magellan
struggled for no less than three months and eighteen
days across the unknown waste of the Pacific. Little
wonder that they said it was more vast than the imagi-
nation of man could conceive! As an explorer then, the
merits of Magellan must be ranked as superior to those
of the discoverer of the New World. The long-foreseen
mutiny, the ceaseless tempests and cold of Patagonia,
the famine that stared him in the face, failed to daunt
him, and he carried out an expedition infinitely more
lengthy and diffcult in the faco of incomparably greater
hardships.

It is more difficult to adjudicate upon the respectivo
merits of the two great discoverers as navigators.
Columbus was an acute observer, and though his deduc-
tions were by no means always correct, they evince con-
siderable ingenuity and reasoning posser. We know that
he was a meker of charts and maps before he started
upon his great voyage, and that he was in communica-
tion with the leading cosmographers of the day. Never-
theless he can hardly be called one of them. Girava
indeed, writing in 1556, speaks of him as “a great sailor,
but a poor cosmographer.”! Whether his judgment is
cotrect or not we cannot well decide at bhis our present
date. Columbus's discovery of America is surrounded
with such & halo of glory that we ave blinded by its bril-
liance, and forget that it was, after all, but an accident.
For he died, as we know, in the belief that he had
reached Asia; ignorant of the fact that a yeb vaster
ocean than that he had alvesdy traversed lay between
him and the object of his desire. 1t was & magnificent

1 Luciano Cordeiro, De la découtcrte de I Amerique, p. 24.
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mistake doubtless—a mistake which in its results was
worth o hundred acourate reasonings—but it was a mis-
take nevertheless.
Magelian we know to have been n cosmographer and
ig of ptional skill. He is ioned con-
stantly as such during the period of his service in the
East. Returning to Portugal, he applied himself heart
and soul to his favourite science, his chief study being to
establish some trustworthy method for obtaining longi-
tude. His long acquaintance with Ruy Faleiro, who
appears to have been one of the ablesb astronomers of
the day, perfected him in his science so far as it then
went, and he left Seville with a reputation hardly infe-
rior to that of his instructor. It is probable that
Pigafetta’s Treatise of Navigaiion was the outcome of
Magellan’s teaching. The successful way in which the
latter conducted his sbips upon his last great voyage
speaks highly of his skill! Neither as geographer nor
astronomer can he be ranked beneath Columbus, and
Lord Stanley’s dictum that he is *undoubtedly the
greatest of ancient and modern navigators,” is an opinion
which a careful investigation obliges us to accept.®
Tew details have been handed down to us concerning
the personal appearance of Magellan. We know, s has
already been stated, that he was rather below thun above
the ordinary height, and that the wounds he received in

1 It is asserted by one of Magellan's dotractors that ho reched the
Philippinee by mistako, intending to procecd to the Moluccas, bub
\oing ignorant of their position. Not only was he perfectly well
requainted with their situation, as is cvidenced by the lottor written
by him to Charles V. immediately before starting on his voyage
(Navarrete, iv. p. 189), but wo are especially told by the Genoese pilct
that Mogellan kept to the north on purpose, knowing that it was
fmpossiblo o refit ane obtin praper provisions in the Moluceus,

* Firat Voyage, p. I¥iii,
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Africa hod made him slightly lame, but our knowledge
is practically limited to these facts. M. Ferdinand Denis,
in his Portugal, gives an engraving of a portrait of the
navigator, stated by him to exist in the Louvre. It is
not now to be found in that collection. Sr. Vargasy
Ponce, in his Relacion del Ultimo Viage al Estrecho de

gives graved portrait, exe-
cuted by Se]nn, from a painting then (1788) in the
possession of Don Felipe Vallejo of Toledo.! This
painting was a copy of another existing in the gallery
of the Duke of Florence, and ascribed, probably erro-
neously, to Titian.?

The Versailles eollection containg a striking portrait,®
copied by Larividro from n reputed original now existing
in the Chéteau de Beauregard, near Blois. It represents
a man of singularly refined and intelligent features and
of no little personal benuty, which is rendered not less
atbractive from a certain shade of melancholy in the
expression. It is this portmit, never previously en-
graved, whioh has been chosen for the frontispiece of
this volume.

I This plate was aftersirds used by Navarrete in his Colecoion de
Fiages, vol. iv., and a reproduction was mado lator for Lord Stanley's
Firsl Poyage, publisbod by the Hakluyt Sociaty.

2 Vargas y Ponce, op. cit., preface, p.

3 No. 3091 in the Soulié Catalogue,




CHAPTER XI.

THE LAST VOYAGE—VI. ARRIVAL AT THE
MOLUCCAS AND RETURN TQ SPAIN.

TUron the arrival in Sebu of the survivors of the
Mactan disaster, one of the first duties performed was
the election of a successor to the post of captain-
general. A dual command—a not unusual custom in
those days—was resolved upon, and the cheice of the
electors fell upon Duarte Barbosa and Jofio Serrdo.
Both were navigators of no ordinary merit, who had
scen long service under Almeida and Albuquerque in
Tndia, and both were Portuguese by birth,

At the time of the conversion of the Sebu people, it
will he remembered, a large store had been opened in
the town, and much bartering had been carried on. We
do not know whether the Spaniards had any definite
reason to suspect treachery, but if such was the case
they took the best measures to induee it, for one of their
first acts was to transport this merchandise again to
the ships. A more illadvised step could hardly have
been conceived. Their defeat at Mactan had seriously
dumaged their prestige in the eyes of the istanders, and
it behoved them to make as light of it as possible. The
withdrawal of the goods from their store was tanta~
mount to a confession of weakness—iwas courting attack,

in short.
262
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The disaster came soon enough, whether the distrust
exhibited by the Spaniards was or was not a factor in it.
What actvally tempted the King of Sebu to the base
act of treachery of which he was guilty seems uncertain.
By some historians it is said that the chiefs who had
made di: ies in itting to his authority united to
form a common cause, and sent to inform him that if
ke did not assist them in exterminating the Spaniards
and seizing their ships, they would kill him and lay
waste his country.? Qthers declare the treachery to have
originated in the fleet itself—n story related so cireum-
stantially that it is impossible not to give some credence
to it Magellan’s slave, Enrique of Malacca, the inter-
preter to the expedition, had been wounded slightly in
the Mactan affair, and remained obstinately in bjs bunk,
« dendiendo 4 su salud,” and declining to move As
his injory was very trivial and his services were greatly
needed, Barbosa rated him soundly, telling him that
though Magellan was dead he was still a slave and the
property of “Donva Beatriz, that disobedience was nob
for dogs such as he, and that he would get a sound
beating if he did not do wlhat be was fold with veadi-
ness and alacrity. The man obeyed and showed no
resentraent at the time, but he nursed his revenge and
resolved to betray the Spaniards at the first oppor-
tunity. Going in secreb to the King of Sebu, he told
bim tbat his masters had decided to attack the town
and carey him away captive on their ships, but that if
1ie would follow his advice he might turn the tables
upon them, and soon become owner of all their belong-
ings” Improbable as the story was, its acceptation no

3 Barros, Dee. i, lib, v., cap. x.; Herrera, Doc iii, tib. i., eap. iz,
» Maamilian and Gomara, cap. xcii. p. 87, give the same stery,
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doubt fell in with the king’s desives, and he resolved
at once upon a plan for the massacxe of his former
friends and the seizure of their vessels.

Tt had been previously settled that an offering of
jewels should be made by the native monarch to the
King of Spain in recognition of bis authority and pro-
tection. All having been arranged, a message was sent
to the commanders to intimate that the present was
ready, and that they were desivous of offering it in due
form. They thevefore hegged their presence, and that
of every one who could be spared from the fleet, at a
feast. Barbosa accepted without hesitation—Serrfo had
misgivings. But the arguments or banter of his friend
gained the day, and he agresd to go.

On the morning of Wednesday, May 1st, the two
captaios rowed ashore in company with twenty-seven
others.! Fortunately for Pigafetta, a wound which he
had received in the face on the occasion of the Mactan
affair prevented his joining the party, which included
many people of importence, The cosmographer, Andres
de San Martin, the eseribanos Sancho de Heredia and
Yeon do Espeleta, and the priest, Pedro do Valderrama,
were of it. With them, too, was one Luiz Affonso de
Goes, a Portugucse, supernumerary of the Trinidad,?
a5 does Pigafotta in his Primo Fiaggio, and Sebastian del Cano in
tho evidence given by him boforo tho Alcalde Leguizamo in October
1522, with the exception that they mako Serrso, not Barbosa, rate
Envique.

* According to Pigafotta only twenty-four were with thom, but the
above number must bo correct, for two turned back, and twenty-
soven appear in tho list of killed.

* In the official death-rol, undor tho dato of April 27th, the day of
the Mactan tragedy. wo find the name of Cristébal Rabello, who ia
descrivbed as captain of the Vicloria. Under tho date of May st
occurs the entry of Luia Alfonso de Lois, (sic) who is given n like
doseription, Yat we kiow that Dunrto Barboss had been appointed
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Joko Carvalho, the pilot, and Espinosa, the alguacil
The king awaited them upon the beach, surrounded
by numbers of his people, to escort them to the place
where the feast had heen prepared. But treachery was
in the air, and others beside Serrio had an instinetive
feeling of some approaching disaster. Espinosa and
Carvalho, seeing Valderram led away alone in a sus-
picious manner, resolved instantly to turn back. Their
caution saved them, but they slone of all the party
escaped with their lives. Hardly had they got back
to the ships and related their story whem a great
disturbance was heard on shore, The natires had
gradually surrounded their guests, and on a given signal
had fallen upon them with spear and kvis. 1lopelessly
outnumbered, the Spaniards fought to the end, selling
their lives aa deatly as they could. Carvalho, Who was
pow in command, and had appavently hove short his
cables in anticipation of the disaster, weighed imme-
diately, and approaching the shoro poured broadsides
into the villtge, At the same moment a group of natives
came down to the water's edge dragging with them Joio

captain of that ship after tho muting. How can these apparontiy
conllicting statoments bo reconciled §

A possible explanation 1 afforded by & fow stray words in the bulisy
pay-list of the armads, under the name of Duarte Barbosa, Thoy
state that the captain-gencral placed Barbosa under arrest in Sta,
Jauoia Bay bocauso ho went away with the natives He was guilty of
& like offenco in Sabu, being away three days from his ship, although
the admiral sent & messago to him to bid him return. Ho may,
porhaps, hase been daprived of his command in eansequancs and suc-
coedod by Rabello, whilo after the ongagement at Mactan he would
take command of Magellaw'a ship, while do Goes captained the
Victoria. It 1s far moro probuble that the entries are wrong, and that,
Barbosa never lost his command.  He ab least drew pay as captain
all this timo, and the promotion neither of Rabsllo nor do Goes is
mobtioned in the pay-list. Vide Meding, vol. i. p. 190,
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Ser1éo, bound, and bleeding from many wounds. They
were desirous of bartering his life for cannon and mer-
chandise.! Serriio shouted to his friends the terrible
story of his comrades’ death, and implored Carvalho to
cease firing, or he too would be murdered, and then,
turning to his captors, said that if they took him to the
ships they would receive whatever they demanded. This
they refused to do, fearful of retaliation on the part of
the Spaniards. Serrdo was a fellow-countryman of Car-
valho, and was, moreover, his compadye, his boon com-
panion. 16 seemed hardly necessary to appeal to him
for sucecour in such an hour, but seeing that no steps
were being taken to despatch a boat to his assistance,
Seniio implored that this might be done before it was
too late. No boat, however, was sent. He did not
know—he conld not believe—that his friend intended,
in cold blood, with a depth of cowardice and treachéry
beyond parallel, to leave him to be murdered. But so
it was. As the ships slowly made sail and stood out
to sea his friend’s baseness dawned upon him. In the
pame of their {riendship he again and again begged and
implored his help. Then, seeing that it was in vain, he
solemnly cursed bim, praying God that at the last great
day He would require Carvalho to render an account of
his actions in this affair.

As the vessels left, their crews, watching, saw the
savages turn upon their captive, A little later and loud
cries came from the midst of the crowd, portending his

1 4 Pedian por él dos bombandes, y dos barcs de cobre, y algunas
bretafias 6 tolns do ln.nm “—Letter of de Brito o the King of Por-
tugal, Navarrote, iv.

* Tt appears from e cconnt of Pigafotta that it was «far vilee sin
than cowardics of which Carvalho was guilty—tbat he rofused to
roscue Serrdo in order to get the command,
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death. At the same time another paity were seen
tearing down the eross that had been erected near the
church! Rapid and complete as had been the conver-
sion of the natives, their recantation was no less so.

With grief and despair in their hearts the members
of the now much-weakened expedition resumed their
voyage. Not only were they greatly reduced in num-
bers, but the comrades they had lost were the strongest
of the party. Many also were men of importance in
the command or navigation of the ships. On mustering
all hands it was found that only 115 remained of the
original 270 or more who left Seville? The Concepcion,
t00, was leaky and unserviceable, and so, rather than
run the risk of being undermanned and of losing her
cargo, they resolved to burn her, after transhigping the
best of her stores into the other vessels, This was
accordingly done off the island of Bohol, and, while
Espinosa was made captain of the Victoria, Carvalho
was in his d as captain-general, a post
which he did not very long retain.

The course was now shaped to the southward for the
Moluceas,® and coasting the western promontory of the
great island of Mindan#o, where they touched and made
friends with the natives, they bore away for Borneo,

2 Argensola, lib, i. p. 19.

2 The account of the Genoeso pilot, states the nutwber to have been
108 men, that of Barros 180, The latter number ix evidently incorrect,
The S, Antonio left Sovillo with nearly soventy men on boacd, and
since she received her share of the Suniago's crew, it is probable that
sho did not desert with much fewor than cighty men. The lish of
deaths up to this time numbered seventy-two, This would leavo
about 120 men.

¢ Burnoy, in bis Discoveries, p. 71, argues that Magelian did not
know the intitude of the Moluccas, and in another passago sup-
ports his argument by a passage from Pigafetta:—* In quest” isola,
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having on their way undoubtedly received intelligence
of the city now known as Brumei. Their track took
them to the island of Cagayan Sulu. Pigafetta speaks
of the very large trees in it,! and records that its few
inhabitants were Moors banished from Borneo, who re-
garded the new-comers as gods. Provisions were now
running very short, and their first object being to obbain
them, they enquired for Palawan, where they heard that,
rice was procurable. They were directed northward
again, and after running twenty-five leagues hit off its
southern end, and coasted it for a considerable distance
to the north-east. So reduced were they that but eight
days’ provisions remained, and they had had for some
time under consideration the project of establishing
themselves in some island and supporting life as best
they could upon the fish and vegetables it might chance
to afford them. Such a rash step was fortunately un-
necessary.  Palawan was found to be a promised Jand,
abounding in pigs, goats, poultry, and fruits, and—more
important still—in rice. They placed themselves upon
a footing of blood-brotberhood with the chief in whose
district they had landed, and after a few days’ stay left
on the 215t June? for Borneo. They had been astonished
to find in the port n negro named Bastido, who spoke
Portuguese tolerbly well, having acquired it in the
prima che pardessimo il nostro capitano-generalo, ebbimo noticin di
Malueco,” It is hardly necessary again to refor to Magellan's onn
letter to Charles V., giving their exact position (Navarroto, iv. p, 18g),
or to explin that the quoted passags meroly records the fact that
those islands were not unkuown to the inhabitants of tho Philippines.

2 These large trees saem to havo disappeared, possibly as o result of
subsequent voleanic eruptions. Nobe of romarkablo size, at lesst,
waro socn by tho author in his visits to this island in the Marchess in
1883 and 1884,

2 The BS. of S, Bento da Saude has *21st day of July."
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Moluccas, where he had become a Christian. With
some difficulty they prevailed upon him to ach as pilot,
but when the time came for their departure he was
nowhere to be found. The Spaniards did not permit
themselves o be discouraged. Finding a ship about to
enter the harbour they took her, and compelled threc
Moors whom they found aboard, and who said that they
were pilots, to conduct them to Brunei

DPassing between the islands of Balibac and Banguey,
the Trénidad and Victoria hugged the Bornean coast,
and sighting “ an exceedingly great mountain, to which
they gave the name of St. Paul "—the present Kina
Balu—anchored at some islands near the mainland.!
The Bornean coast is beset with shoals and sandbanks,
necessitating the utmost care in navigation, and the
ships crept eautiously along, anchoring at might near
the mouth of the Brunei river. Here they landed
their pilots, together with a Tepresentative from the
fleet, leaving them to make their way by land to the
city to prepure the Sultan for their arrival, while the
ships, having watched the course taken by some junks,
were enabled to pick up the very difficult channel by
which it is approached, and navigate it successfully for
some distance. Next day praus arrived with presents
from the Sultan, and piloted them to the usual berth,
which appears to liave been three or four leagues from
the city—not as now, in its very heart.

Pigafetta describes Brunei very much as it is in the
present dag,? a vast collection of houses built entirely on

1 Tho Mantannni Islands of the prosent charts.

2 His account botokens o long-cxistent civilisation, oven in thoss
days, Clineso monoy, it is interesting to note, was alone in cirvu-
lation.
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piles in the water. Its situation, iu a lake-like expan-
sion of the river, is singularly picturesque and quite
unique in character. It must, however, have been of
larger size then than now, for the Italian narrator
speaks of the * 25,000 fires or families” of which it was
composed. At the present time there cannot even be
that number of inhabitants. The palace of the Sultan
was then built on shore. Tis grest bhalls hung with
silk broeades, its vooms full of courtiers, and the elabo-
rate ceremonial observed, are now things of the pest,
and the Sultau lives, like his subjects, in a pile-built
dwelling, which, in point of decoration and even repair,
is but it suparior to the surroundiag dwellings. ~The
with their i which bore
the Spanish officers to the Sultan’s residence, have heen
for decades past unknown as domestic animals, and it
is oven suggested that the wild ones, which are only to
be found in the north-east portion of the island, are
the descendants of those escaped from captivity. But
for centuries past the daily market—one of the most
curious sights of the Eastern world—has been earried
on at high tide, and will be, probably, so long as the
city endures. The dense pack of cances, the enormous-
hatted women pying them, the i t
of the little craft, and the strideut eries with which
business is conducted, together form a scene which is
not less likely to impress the traveller of to-day than
the Chevalier Antonio Pigafetta of three centuries aud
a half ago.

Although the people of Brunei had treated those of
the fleet with apparent good-will, it seems that the
latter, after trading for three or four weeks, were not
without suspicions of treachery. Their experience at Sebu
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had made them thoroughly mistrustful. ~They had, too,
definite cause for alarm, for five of their number, having
heen sent on shore to obtain wax with which to eaulk the
vessels, were detained by the Sultan. At the same time
some large junks came to anchor in close proximity to the
Trinidad and Victoria, and between them and the bar
Next morning the watch were alarmed st seeing two
hundred praus or more advancing upon them from the
city, divided into three squadrons. The two ships ab
once got under weigh, and making straight for the
junks, opened fire upon them without further ceremony,
capturing one and driving others ashore. The result
of the action intimidated their smaller antagonists, and
the praus retwned. Next morning, the 3oth July, the
Spaniards sighted a large junk, which they attacked and
captured without difficulty. Their prize was commanded
by a son of the King of Luzon himself, captain-general
of the Sultan of Borneo, He was reburning from a
punitive expedition to the south part of fhe island, of
which some &istricts appear at that time to have been
desirous of Javanese rather than Bornean rule,

‘With these hostages Carvalho doubtless hoped to get
back the men who had been detained by the SBulten,
Sripada,  One of them was his own son by & Brazilian
woman. The other two, for two had already got back
to the ships, were ordinary seamen—two Greeks of
Corfu and of Naples! It is probable that they were
deserters, or had perished in some street quarrel, for
they were not returned. Carvalho, Who was apparently
a man of bad character, had meanwhile permitted the

% The death-roll of the expedition makes two others to have been
loft. behind in Borneo, ome of whom was the escribanc of the
Tyinidad.

8
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Luzon princo to escape, having secretly received from
him a very large ransom, which he appropriated to his
own use. The others, to the number of fourteen or
sixteen, were kept prisoners on board, and with them
three women of great beauty who had been found in the
junk. They were destined asa present to the Queen,
writes Pigafetta, but Carvalho kept them for himself.

Retracing their course, the Zyinidad and her consort
sailed north-east along the Bornean coast in search of
port in which to careen and repair before continuing the
voyage to the Moluceas. Passing Cape Sampanmangio,
the flagsbip took the ground and remained for some
hours, but was eventually got off without injury. Shortly
after, a harbour was found which seemed suitable for
their purposes. It was in an islet off Banguey or
Balambangan islands, so far as can be made out from
the indefinite records left us! A stay of no less than
six weeks was made here. The ships were beached,
thoroughly overhauled and caulked. Each man worked
according to the best of his knowledge and ability, but
in the face of many diffculties. The greatest labour
had to be gono through in obtaining wood for their
work, the ground being covered with briats and thoins,
and the men without shoes to protect their feet.

On the 27th September the explorers once more
resumed their voyage. During their stay in Port St.
Mary—ns they named the harbour—they lost the bom-
bardier of the Victoriq, whe died from the wounds he
had received in the engsgement at Mactan. Hither on
leaving the port, ov at an carlier period—as we prefer
to follow Ilerrera or the Genoese pilot—Carvalho was

1 According to Herrera, this port was on the Bornean coast, whilo
Pigafotta speaks of it as boing in Pulawan,
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deprived of his command. His conduct had for a long
time proved his incapacity for the position. Gonzalo
Gomez de Espinosa, the alguacil, was appointed com-
hief, and Juan $ ian del Cano took the
post of captain of the Fictorie. His conduct on the
oceasion of the mutiny in Port St. Julian had been
deserving of great blame, but the ramks had been
greatly thinned by the desertion of the 8. Anfonio and
the disasters in the Philippines, and with his known
ability as a navigator, the choice could not well have
fallen upon any other. Making an easterly courso for
the island of Cagayan Sulu, the vessels foll in with a
junk, which they engaged and captured. It had on
board the Governor or Rajah of Palawan, with whom
they bad previously been on terms of friehdship.
Under Magellan such acts of semi-piracy would not
have been ged, but it was ch of the
new command that every strange ship should be looked
upon as faiv game. As a ransom they demanded four
hundred moasures of Tice, twenty pigs, as many goats,
and a hundred and fifty fowls, to be paid within eight
days. ‘This figured as a tribute to the King of Spain,!
and on receiving it—the 7th October—they returned
the rajeh some of his krisses and arquebuses, and, having
added a few presents, permitted him. his freedom.
Rounding Cagayan Sulu, the vessels sighted the
island of Sulu, and would have visited it but for a head
wind which compelled them to bear away for the south-
west point of Mindanfio. This they coasted, and,
passing between it and Basilan, sailed for some distauce
up the Gulf of Mindando. Here they fell in with a
large prau, which, following their usunl custom, they

3 Document No, xxvii, of Navarrete, vol iv. p. 206.
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captured, after a desperate resistance in which seven of
her crew were killed. For the first time the nearness
of their goal was revealed to them, for they found that
the captain had actually been in the house of Francisco
Berrdo in Ternate. The end of their troubles was
approaching, and the riches of the Spice Islands—the
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long-sought Eldorado of the old world—were about, to
become a reality.

Upon the details of the course of the tiwo ships after
leaving Mindando it is not necessary to dwell. They
steered southward, passing the Sanghir and Thlaut
islands, and, sighting the northern extremity of Celebes,
altered course to the south-cast. On Wednesday, the
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6th November, they passed between Mean and Zoar—
now known as Tifore and Mayo islands, and a little
later the high peaks of Ternate and Tidor appeared to
their delighted gaze. Ilow overjoyed the half-starved
and toil-worn mariners must have been we can imagine.
*“The pilot who had remained with us,” says Pigafetta,
““told us that they were the Moluccas, for the which we
thanked God, and to comfort us we discharged all our
artillery. Nor ought it to cause astonishment that we
were so rejoiced, since we had passed twenby-seven
months, less two days, alwaye in search of these
Moluecas, wandering hither and thither for that pur-
pose among innumerable islands.”

On the afternoon of Friday, November 8th, 1521, the
Trinidad and Victoria rounded the southern point of
Tidor, and anchored in twenty fathoms, close to the
shore of that island, discharging their broadsides as a
salute to the king? Next day he came on board in
state. An ! and prophet, Al he was
named—dectred that he had divined the arrival of the
strangers.? Ho met them with the warmest welcome.
“ After such long tossing upon the seas, and so many
dongers,” he said, “come and enjoy the pleasures of
the land, and refresh your bodies, and do not think but
that you have arrived at the kingdom of your own

? Franciseo Sorio, on tho vocasion of the first discovery of tho
Moluceas in ¥511, found that tho Malays had bean established for
over forty years upon tho islands, He bad settlod, it will ba remem-
bered, at Tornate, tho sultan of which island was not on friondly
torms with the monarch of Tidor, and for this reason the Portuguese
becare paramount in the former istand, whilo the Spaniards identi-
fied themselves chisfly with Tidor.

* Argousols, gives o similar story with rogard to the King of
Ternate, Boleyfe or Abutois, whion first visited by Serrdo and his
Portuguese.
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sovereign.” Whether he regarded the Spaniards in the
light of future allies who would help him against bis
enemies does not appear, bub this explanation of the
warmth of his reception seems the most probable. He
doubtless dreaded the aid that the Portuguese were able
to afford the people of Ternate if they so desired. The
Spaniards, anxious to make treaties with him and with-
out delay to load their ships with the coveted spices,
encouraged his friendship to the utmost of their power,
and loaded him and those of his suite with presents.
So much did they give him, indeed, that they were
requested after o time to cense their gifts, for * he had
nothing worthy to send to our king as a present,
unless, now that he recognised him as his sovereign,
he should send himself.” In spite of his humility of
speech Almanzor was of kingly presence and bearing.
Servants carrying golden vessels for water, betel, and
other necessaries stood always in attendance, and his
son bore a sceptre before him. Under no conditions
would he bow or even incline his head, so that in enter-
ing the cabin of the flagship he was obliged to do so by
the opening from the upper deck, so as not to stoop,
which he would have been obliged to do had he entered
by the door from the waist of the ship.

On the 1oth November, Carvalho and others went
ashove, and after a long conversation with the king a
treaty appears to have been signed,! by which he acknow-
ledged the sovereignty of Spain. e asked for the royal
standard and the emperor’s signature, and seeing the

of the iards to the lading of
their ships, informed them that though he had not in
Tidor a sufficiency of cloves ready, he would himself go

1 Navarrote, vol. iv. p. 296,
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to the island of Batchian, where he trusted he should
find enough.

Although Magellan was no longer with them, it may
be imagined that the Spaniards lost no time in making
inquiries for Francisco Serrdio, his great friend and rela-
tion, of whom they must have heard so much. He was
dead. The manuer of his death was more or less
shrouded in mystery, bub thoy learnt that it had taken
place seven or eight months previously, almost indeed at
tle same time as that of their great commander. Ile
had been captain-general of the King of Ternate when
that monarch was at war with the Sultan of Tidor, and
having succeeded in beating the lajter in various engage-
ments, he compelled him to give his daughter in marriage
to the King of Ternate, and to send him many sons of
the chiefs of Tidor as hostages. The King of Tidor never
forgave him, and Serrfio having visited that island sowe
years lter to trade in cloves, the king caused him to
be poisoned.!

On Mondny, November 11th, one of the sons of the
King of Ternate came to visit the ships, having with
Lim the Javanese widow of Serrfio and her two little
children. Aware of his hostility to their host, Espinosa
and his officers were uncertain how to act, but Almanzor
sent them a message to do as they thonght fit. They
accordingly had their interview with him in their boat,
and presented him with various gifts. In his prau was
a certain Indian named Manoel, servant of one Pedro
Affonso de Loross, a Portuguese who had formeily

2 According to others, he was poisoned by » Malay woman who
acted undor Portuguese orders, while Argonsois states that Don
“ristiio do Meneses despatehed him back to India, boiog afraid of his

acquiring too much power, and that he died on board ship on his wy.
to Goa, Argensola, i. pp. 8, 17.
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resided in Banda, but after Serrio’s death had settled
in Ternate, From this man the Spaniards learnt that
although enemies of the Sultan of Tidor, the Ternate
chiefs were at heart in favour of Spain. On hearing
this they wrote to Lorosa, telling him to visib the fleet
without fear.

The priees for barter were agroed upon, end a houso
arranged for the dation of the on
the following day. It is interesting to note the esti-
mate of the respective values of articles in thoso days.
The standard measure of cloves was the dahar of 406 Ibs.
This could be obtained for ten ells of red eloth, fifteen
of yellow, fifteen hatchets, thirty-five glass goblets,
seventeen catties of cinnabar or quicksilver, twenty-six
ells of common linen, & hundred and fifty knives, fifty
scissors, forty caps, ten Guzerat cloths, or a hundred-
weight of bronze. The Brunel gongs were as much
esteemed then as mow, and for every three of them—-
doubtless the spoil of some of their prizes—they were
able to purchase two bakars. All these prices never-
theless were prospective, for as yet no cloves or spices
of any kind were to be obtained The Sultan sent one
of his sons to the island of Motir, and announced lis
intention of visiting Batchian in person in order to see
what could be done. The Spaniards, anzious to please
him in every way, gave him the three women and the
men they had captured in the Prince of Luzon’s junk,
and killed all the pigs they had on board, vhich had
always been a source of great annoyance to him as a
Mohammedan.

On the evening of the 14th November the Portuguess
TLorosa arrived in a prau, and they were enabled for the
first time to obtain news from civilised lij s of what had
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passed in the Moluecas. He had come with Serrdo in
the first expedition of 1511, and was well acquainted
with native politics. He told them that Don Tristdode
Meneses, whose Jarge ship had left for Banda only a few
months before, had brought news of the departure of
Magellan’s armada from Seville, and had informed them
that the King of Portugal had sent ships both to the
Oape of Good Hope and to the Rio de la Plata to in-
torcept it, and that, learning later that Magellan had
passed westward, he wrote to the Viceroy of India,
Diogo Lopez de Sequeira, to despatch a fleet of six
vessels to the Moluceas against him. This Sequeira was
unable to do, owing to renewed difficulties with the
Arabs in the Red Sea, and a galleon which he had sent
Iater under the command of Francisco Faria had been
unable to reach its destination, The trade of Portugal
in the islands must have been considerably developed,
even at this date, for Lorosa informed his hearers that a
great number of junks went yearly from Malacca to
Bands. to prrchase nutmegs, returning by way of Ternate
to complete their cargo with cloves.

Two days later the Moorish king of Gilelo, an ally of
Almanzor, visited them, and was given a quantity of
presents.  Gireat numbers of the natives of Ternate also
came, their boats laden with cloves, desirous of com-
mencing trade, But Espinoss, who did not wish to
offend the Sultan, thought it best not to begin to sell
the merchandise until his return from Batchian, This
took place on the night of November 24th, amid great
rejoicings. The Sultan’s prau passed between the
Trimidad and Victoria with drums beating, while the
Spanish ships fired their broadsides in his honour. The
Captain-general was informed that for four days there
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would be a continuous supply of cloves. The Sultan
was punctual to his promise, and next day they began
the lading of the ships. *‘ As they were the first cloves
we took aboard, and as they were also the chief object of
our voyage, wo discharged many bombards for joy.” !
On the following day the Sultan informed them that
it was the custom, when the first loads of cloves were
embarked on a vessel, that he should give a feast to the
crews and merchants, and he begged them, therefore, to
attend an entertainment he proposed to give at which
the King of Batchian would also be present. Espinosa
and his mden, however, who had not forgotten the Sebu
incident, instantly suspested treachory, and rofusod.
Their icions were, founded, for,
though they learnt ds, on hy autk
that certain of the chiefs had counselled their gssassing-
tion, they also learnt that the Sultan had indignantly
rejected so base a suggeshon s loyaity to Spain
and admi of the §; ds were doubtless sincere
enough. Nor was he the only person to express a desiro
to become a vassal of the emperor. Many of thoso in
authority in the neighbouring islands were also ready to
place themselves under Charles’s protection. On r6th
November a treaty was signed with the King of Gilolo,
on the rgth of the same month with the Rajah of
Makian, and on the 16th or 17th December with the
King of Batchian and various notables of the island of
Ternate.? The King of Batchian sent a slave and two
bahars of cloves as a present to the emperor. He was
desirous of presenting ton bahars, but so heavily laden

1 Pigafotta, op. cil., p. 148.
2 Documents collocted by Mufios, Vide Navarrete, vol iv. p.
207,
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were the ships, Pigafetta tells us, that Espinosa was
afraid of taking more,

Among his presents was ono which greatly pleased
and sstonished the Buropeans—some skins of the bird
of Paradise. The mention made of them by Maximilian
Transylvanus in his letter to the Cardinal of Salzburg
is perhaps the first record that we have of the existence
of these birds, although it is hard to believe that the
Portuguese, who had at this time been for ten years
upon the islands, were not perfectly well acquainted
with them. The natives of New Guinea seem, from
Pigafetta’s account, to have prepared the skins in pre-
cisely the same manner as that in use at the present
day. To the Malay traders, julging from Maximilian’s
letter, they were appsrently common objects., “The
Mohammedans, who travelled to those parts for com-
mercial purposes, told them (the Kings of Marmin) that
this bird was born in Paradise, and that Paradise
was the abode of the souls of those who had died,
wherefore tliese princes embraced the religion of Mo-
hammed, because it promised wonderful things about
this abode of souls.” The fact that the skins were pre-
pared with the feet cut off doubtless caused the fable—
given us by Maximilian and copied by & hundred authors
—that they.passed an entirely aerial existence, never
alighting upon the ground nor upon any tree that grew
upon it. Sometimes, report ran, they were seen to fall
dead from the sky,! and for these reasons, and from

1 Pigafetta, op. cit., p. 156, calls the birds wceelli morti, which
seems, to thoso acquainted with tho Motuceas, to point o the exis-
tence of 4 regular trade in the skins even in those days, for the trade
name at the present day is burong mati,—words of precisely similar
meaning. The Ttalian tells us that they wero also called bolondinata,

a misprint for dolon divata or diuata, which Oviedo corrects, This 1
only & form of burong dewata, i.c., the birds of the gods.
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thelr beauty, the skins were much valued, and they were
supposed to render their wearers safe and invincible in
battle.

If there had been an insufficient supply of cloves at
the time of the arrival of the fleet, there was certainly
no lack of them as the weeks wore on, and the time for
sailing npproached. The Sultan issued a proclamation
that all who had them might sell, after which, says
Pigafetta, « comperammo garofani @ furia,” “we bought
them like mad.” The prices in consequenco went down
very much. For four yards of ribbon a bahar was
obtainable, and at length, each man wishing to have
his share in the cargo, and having no more merchandise
to barter, gave one his mantle, and another his coat,
and another his shirt or other garments to obtain
ther,

On Monday, r6th December, they bent new sails to
the ships, each adorned with the Cross of St. James of
Ghlicia, and with the motto, ** This is the Device of our
Good Fortune.” Eighty barrels of water were put on
board each vessel, and the preparations for departuro
pushed forward. Their wood they had arranged to
obtain at the little island of Mareh, whither the king
bad sent 4 hundred men to eut it. Anxions to be pro.
vided with the best sources of information coneerning
the Moluceas and their trade, they offered Lorosa, the
Portuguese, a high salary, and succesded in persuading
him to accompany them to Europe. Io embarked at
the risk of his life, for a Ternate chieftain—a friend of
the Portugueso—attempted to seize him, with the inten-
tion of delivering him to the commandant of Malacen,
Loross escaped upon this occasion, but an walucky fate
having thrown him a few months later into the power
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of his countrymen, he paid for his desertion with his
head.
The time had now arrived for the departure of the
Trinidad sod her consort. The Sultan of Tidor was
inconsolable. Ho was as an unweaned child, he said,
whom its mother was about to leave, and he was the
more disconsolate since he had got to like not only the
Spaniards but so many of the products of theix country.
He besought of them that they would not fail to retirn
48 quickly as possible, and mennwbile begged that he
might be left some artillery in order that he should be
the better able to defend his country. He was accord-
ingly presented with eome arquebuses that had been
taken in the prizes captured off the Bornean coast,
Lesides some swivel guns and four barrels of powder.
On Wednesday, December 1 8th, all was ready. Much
23 the weary and wave-tossed explorers longed for rest
and the pleasant land of Castile, they were heartily
sorry to leave the Moluceas, where they had obtained
50 warm a welcome and so valuable a eargo. No one
could bid adieu to so beautiful a country without regret.
The charm of existenco there, once tasted, can never be
forgotten. “ What need is there of many words?” says
Mazimilian.! ~ “Xverything there is humble and of
no value, save peace, ease, and spices. The hest and
voblest of these, and the greatest possible good, namely,
peace, seemed to have been driven by men’s wickedness
from our world to theirs.” Alas! it did not long re-
main there. For half a century or more from the time
of which he spoke, the most atrocious acts of cruelty and
treachery daily wrote the annals of the istands in blood.

! “Quid multa ! Oumia apud hos humilia ac sordida pravter pacei,
otium et aromata.”
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The Sultans and Rajahs of Tidor, Gilolo, and Bat-
chian, together with a son of the King of Ternate, came
to bid farewell to their visitors, and to accompany them
as far as the island of Mareh. The Vietoria was first
aweigh, and standing out a little waited for the flag-
ship, which was in difficulties with her anchor. While
engaged over this, a leak of the most alarming kind was
suddenly discovered; “the water rushed in with as
much force as if it came through a pipe,” but nowhere
could they discover its exact situation. Learning what
had occurred, del Cano returned and took up his former
anchorage. The men were kept day and night at the
pumps, but in vain, and the leak gained on them. Such
divers as were available were employed, but to no pur-
pose, and the Sultan sent to a distant part of the island
for three other men who wero possessed of special skill.
These dived with their long hair loose, so that the in-
rush of the water should act upen it, and thus indicate
the leak ; but although they remained more than an hour
in the water, they were unable to find it.

The condition of the Trinidad was evidently serious,
and a meeting was held to decide upon their course of
action. Eventually it was settled that the Victoria
should take advantage of the east monsoon, and sail for
Spain without delay, while the fingship should discharge
cargo, undergo a thorough refit, and start at the change
of the monsoon for Panama. This decision arrived at,
the captain of the Victoria, fearing that she also might
spring & leak on aceount of the heavy cargo and the
long voyage before them, thought it betker to lighten
lier of some of ber cloves. This was done, and some of
the crew were put aghore, preferring to remain in the
Moluceas, since they feared the ship could not last out
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the voyage. Those that were to remain behind busied
themselves in writing letters to their friends and rela-
tions in Spain, and on Saturday the z1st December, ot
midday, del Cano started on his voyage. The ships took
leave of one another by a mutual discharge of bombards,
while, amid tears and embraces, the friends of many
months’ mutual hardships bade adien. The greater
number were destined never to see each other again.

Gonzalo Gomez de Espinosa, with fifty-three roen, re-
mained with the fiagship. The crew of the Vicforia
consisted of sixty men all told, of which forty-seven
were Buropeans and the rest natives. A hundred and
one souls only were thus left of the two hundred and
eighty who had oxiginally sailed.

Touching at Mare, and taking on board tha.wood
that had been cut for them, the Vicforia shaped a
8.W. course, which took her to the west of the Batchian
group, Anchoring nt one of the Xulla islands on their
way, they reached Buru on Friday, the 27th December,
and obtained fresh provisions. On New Year's eve they
were off the Lucopin or Schildpad Islands, and sighting
the great island barrier which stretches from Timor to
Sumatra on the 8th January 1522, passed through it
in a storm so severe that all vowed a pilgrimage to
N. S. de l2 Guia.? The ship was allowed to run before
tho gale on an casterly course, coasting the southern
side of the chain, and eventually the island of Mallua—
now Ombay—was reached in safety.

Here they spent fifteen days. The ship stood in need
of caulking, and the crew were kept at work at it.

1 What pascage was chosen by the Fistoria is uncertain, but there
is no doubt that it was either Flores Strait or Boleng Strait, from
details in Pigafetta and Alvo's log-book.

W
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Ombay is to this day almost unknown, and the descrip-
tion given by the Fictoria’s people of its inhabitants is
probably true even now. They seem to have bcen of
Papusn origin, judging from Pigafetta’s account of their
“hair mised high up by means of cane combs with long
testh,” aud also by the beard being encased in reed
tubes, “a thing,” he adds, “which seemed to us most
ridioulous.”

|
|
|
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TINOR AND FLORES.

On Saturday, January 25th, del Cano sailed from Om-
bay, and having run some twenty miles to the S.8.E,
arrived af the large island of Timor. The Portuguesc
ab that time bad no settlements upon it ss they have
now, and indeed had never even visited it, but it was

hroughout the archipelago for its trade in
sandalwood and wax, and at the time of the Spaniards’
visib u Luzon junk was treding in the porb at which
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they touched. Having some difficulty in getting provi-
sions, the captain ordered one of the chiefs who had
visited the vessel to be detained until he ransomed him-
self with live stack, but on Teceiving this del Cano gave
him an equivalent value in articles of barter and sent
him away satisfied. The Firforia then continued her
voyage, consting the north-western side of the island
until its terminal cape wae renched. On the 13th of
February she was put on a S.8W. course across the
Indian Ocean for the Cape of Good Hope.!

Day after day that course was held, except indeed
when necessity compelled them, a8 it too often did, to
strike all sail for purposes of repgir. On the 14l March
they kept & point or two more to the west, and four
days later, while taking their mid-duy observations, land
was sighted ahead. An attempt was made to fetch it
and anchor, but they were unable to do so, and they
accordingly lay to until the following day. No landing,
however, was_effected, and the ship bore away to the
north, The island was that now known as Amsterdam
Island.

) Gomera, cap, xeviii. p. o1, records the visit of the Vicloria to
Ende or Flores island, which would tend to prove that sho passed
through Flores Struit, Ilis account aiso spenks of & mutiny at Timor,
* Huyo alli un motin, i brega, en que muricron hartos dea neo;” and
Ovicdo (xx. cap. 1i) 103 alro & passage which scems to bear this out—
“Y algunos fuercn descabecados en la isla do Timor por sus delictos.”
Both, probably. borrawod fron Pigafotta's words, “cbi fuggi nell'isola,
di Timor, @ alcuui pur vi farono condannati & morte pe’ loro delitti”
(p. 183). But the ofiicial death-list does not makeany mention of such
exccutions, while, on the other hand, 1t records the deaths of fifteen
men on the high seas and the desertion of two others. Pirfetta tolls
us that the ship laft Tidor with a complement of forty-seven, and we
know that sho reached the Cape Verdes with thirty one—a number
that exactly tallies, presuming that Pigefetta did not count himself,
Wo are therefore forced o reject the story of the mutiny.
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Their long voyage had already begun to tell both on ship
and men. On the 3rd April they were again compelied to
strike all sail and busy themselves with the repairing of
the ship. What these repairs were we are not told, but
they were probably connected with the state of her hull,
for she was then leaking considerably. The crew, after
such long service within the tropics, feit the cold greatly,
The meat had all become unfit for food. Their lack of
salb had not permitted them properly to cure it, and
henee all hands were reduced to a diet of rice, and rice
only. Upon such rations there is little wonder that
sickness broke out. So enfeebled were the erew that
it was debated whether they should not make for
Mozambi where the Portug had been long
established. ““ But the greater number of us valued
honour more than life itself,” says Pigafetta, “and so
we resolved at all hazards to atbempt the return to
Spain.”

From the 7th to the 16th April the Ficforia held her
course between the fortieth and forty-first parallels of
latitude. South of this she did mot sail, and with a
strong wind and heavy sea she bore to the north on the
following day. For nearly a month they pressed on,
until on the 8th May they sighted the high land of South
Africa, and anchored on the following day. They were
at fault both in latitude and Jongitude, for they had
imagined themselves to have passed the meridian of the
Cape. Running along the south coast they arrived off
the mouth of the Rio del Infante, or Keiskamma river,
on the 11th. They were not destined to pass the dreaded
Cape without accident, for in heavy weather on the
16th May they carried away their foretopmast and
sprung their fore-yavd. Two days luter they passed Cape
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Agulhas! Again they had to stop for repairs, and again
they struggled on. Scurvy and stavvation had reduced
them to the greatest misery and distress. Nearly one-
third of their own number had died, and nine of the
thirteen natives. Pigafetta was almost the sole person
in health. “ We noticed & curious thing in throwing
the bodies overboard,” he says; * the Christians re-
mained with the face turned up to heaven—the Indians
with the face doewnwards.”

The Line was crossed on June 8th, and on the st
July 2 meeting was held to decide whether they should or
should not toueh at the Cape Verdes. The conclusion was
foregone, for dire necessity had rendsred it impossible for
them to proceed further. They mwrived on Wednesday,
July gth, at Santiago, and anchored in the port. Know-
ing that they ran great risk of being seized, instructions
were given to those who went ashore to conceal who
they were, aud to pretend that they came from America,
giving out that the other two ships of their squadron
had preceded them to Spain, but that they had been
delayed by the loss of their faretopmast on the Line.
‘We learn from Alvo's diary that they were well received
and supplied with provisions by the Portuguese, On
the night of Sunday, 13th July, they put to sea, the
weather being threatening and the port unsafe. In the
morning they returned and Jay on and off while they
sent a boat for rice. One trip was made, but she did
not again return. They waited until next day in vain,
and then stood in towards the port, when a boat came

1 Qorrea, ii, pt. ii. p. 634, says that the Victoria met and spoko th
ship of Pero Coresmn, then on her way to India, off the Capo. The
incident is mentioned by him alone, and is probably one of his many
inaccuracies.
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alongside and ordered them to surrender. The secret
had leaked out, either by the bragging of one of the
crew at a wineshop, or, as Moximilian tells us, by an
attempt made by a sailor to sell some of his cloves! In
his answer, del Cano temporised, and asked for the
return of his boat and men; but seeing some caravels
preparing to get under weigh, they crowded all sail and
escaped, leaving their comrades in the hands of the
Portuguese.

They had mow but cighteen Euvropeans and four
natives left on hoard—scarce enough to work the ship;
for, although improved in health and strength by the
fresh provisions, and cheered by the prospect of their
rapidly-approaching return, the greater number of them
were upon the sick-list, Their sufferings were nob to
endure much longer. Soon the welcome shove of Spain
hove in sight. It proved to be Cape §. Vincent, and
keeping away to the east and south the Victoria arrived
off San Lucar de Barrameda on Saturday the Gth
September. On Monday the 8th—three years all but
twelve days from the date of their final departure from
Spain—they anchored near the mole of Seville. The
Fivst Circumnavigation of the Globe was accoxplished,
and a voyage brought to a conclusion which was, and
is, without parallel in its history of determination and
suffering, disaster and success. With what delight
must they not have discharged their salvoes of artillexy,
and recounted their adventures to the crowds who flocked
to welcome them, Yet, amid their joy, the vows that
they had promised o often in the hour of danger were
not forgotten. On the day following their arrival all

I This Istter statement is bore out by the evidenco of Alro and
Bustamante. Fade Navarrote, vol. iv. pp. 202, 294
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such as were able to walk went in procession, barefoot
and carrying tapers, to the shiines of S. Maria de la
Victoria and £ Maria de Antigua, and offered their
heartfelt thanks for their safe return.

Before the advent of the Vicloria it was not realised
that circumnavigation of the globe implied the loss or
gain of a day, according to the east or west direction
of the voyage. The Spaniurds were accordingly much

ished, on reaching civilisation, to find th

et o (s A, T ks given to us by
Ramusio in his introduction to Maximilian’s letter, and
Eden,! in the quaint langusge of his day, also comments
upon it:—*And amonge other motable thynges . . .
wrytlen as touchynge that vyage, this is onec, that the
Spanyardes hauyng sayled abowt three yeares and one
moneth, and the most of them notynge the dnyes, day
by day {as is the maner of all them that suyle by the
ocean), they founde when they were returned to Spayne
that they had loste one daye. S0 that at theyr arryuall
at the porte of Siuile, beings the seuenth daye of Sep-
tember, was by theyr accompt but the sixth day. And
where as Don Peter Martyr declared the strange effecte
of this thynge to a certeyne excellente man, who, for his
singular lernynge, was greately aduanced to honours in
his common welthe and made Themperour’s ambassa-
doure, this worthy gentelman, who was also a greate
Philosopher and Astronomer, answerd that it coulde
not otherwyse chaunce unto them, bauynge sayled three
yeares continually, euer folowynge the soonne towarde
the West,”

The thirteen men left at the Cape Verde Islands were
released und sent on to Lisbon very shortly afterwards

1 Decades of the Newe Worlde, Lond. 1555, . 214, 213,
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in a homeward-bound ship from Calicut, and the united
crew were received by the emperor at court.! Of the
Indians, all except one were sent back to the Moluccas in
Loyasa’s expedition in 1525. That one unwittingly owed
his detention to his over-shrewdness, ¢ On arriving in
Spain,” says Oviedo? “the first thing he did was to
inquire how many reals went to a ducat, and how many
maravedis to & resl. And going to the verdas and
grocers’ shops, he was wont to buy a maravedi's-worth of
pepper, informing himself on all points concerning the
value of spices in our country; and so sharp was he
about it that the authoritics feared his knowledge, and
hence he himself brought it about that he never returned
to his native land.” The after-history of that intrepid
sand amusing traveller, the Chevalier Antonio Pigafetta,
shall be related in his own words:—*“Then, leaving
Seville, I repaired to Valiadolid, where I presented to
His Saored Majosty Don Carlos neither gold nor silver,
but other things far more precious in the eyes of o great
& sovereign. For I brought to him among other things
a book written with my own hands, giving an account of
all the events which had happened from day to day in
our voynge. Thence I set out as best I could, and went
to Portugal, where I related to King John the things
which I had seen, Returning by way of Spain, T came
to France, where I presented some things from the
other hemisphere to the Regent-mother of the most
Christian King Don Francis. Then I turned my face
towards Italy, where I guve myself and what stight
services I could render to the renowned and most

1 Herrora, Deo. iil, lib. iv. cap. iv.
3 Oviodo, xx. cap. iv.
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illustrious Signor, Philip de Villers Lisleadam, the most
worthy Girand Master of Rhodes.”1

The ultimate fate of the Vicforic we learn from
Oviedo. After making one voyage in safety to the
West Indies, she was again despatehed to Cuba. But;
though she reached her destination she never returned.
Qaught in some Atlantic gale, her timbers, rotten from
age and tropic seas, must have proved unequal to the
strain.  Such at least we may conjecture, for neither of
her, nor of those that sailed in her, were any tidings ever
heard.

3 Pigafetta, op. cit., p. 183.
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THE LAST VOYAGE—VII. FATE OF THE
“TRINIDAD.”

To complete the listory of Magellan’s voyage, we must
return to the Trinidad. Her condition was such as to
necessitate the discharge of all her cargo, and a thorough
examination of her timbers. She was accordingly dis-
montled.  Her artillery, cargo, spars, and fittings were
sent ashore, and placed under guard in the store which
the Sultan of Lidor had aliowed them to erect, and the
vessel having been carcened the work of her repair was
ab once commenced  While engaged upon it Espinosa
received a visit from the King of Gilolo, who begged for
cannon o firearms to aid him. in subduing some rebels
with whom he was fighting. A small number of
Spaniards were sent to his assistance, and before thoy
returned the Indians had worked so well under the
direction of the captain that {he ship was ready for sea.

Tt was decided to leave certain goods and articles of
barter upon the islund, as much that a centre of Spanish
influence might be established as that trade should con-
tinue until the arrival of the next armada. Luis del
Molino was therefore selected as officer in charge, Juan
de Campos acted as elerk and trcasurer, and Alonso
de Cota, Diego Arias, nnd Master Pedro—one of the
Tlemish bombardiers—fo%ed the remainder of the
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garrison.  Carvalho, the deposed eaptain-general, had
died on the 14th Fehruary.

On the 6th April, 1522, the Trinidad sailed upon her
long voyage to Panama—a destination she was fated
never to attain. She was manned by a crew of ffty-
four men, all told, and took a cargo of a thousand
quintals, or nearly fifty tons, of eloves. The course
resolved on led them northwards, coasting the west
shores of Gilolo until its terminal cape was reached.
Rounding it they came in sight of Chito or Porquenam-
pello and Pyliom—two islands now known as Morti and
Rau—and passed between them and the mainland of
Gilolo on a southerly course. Their object was to make
“Quimar,”1 a distriet under the authority of the
Sultan of "Fidor, where fresh provisions were savaiting
them. After a stay of eight or nine days they again
made sail on the zoth April? and, steering eastward,
ran out into the open ses, when they set an E. 3 N.
course. Head winds, however, compelled them to alter
it, and they ran to the N.E. and N.N.E. until, on the
3rd May,* two small islands were sighted. To these—
which were in all probability Warwick and Warren
Hastings Islands—they gave the name of the islunds
of S6. Anthony. The ship was now navigated for the
Ladrones, one of the northern islands of which—conjec-
turally Agrigan—was visited, and a native taken on

3 Quimar and its port Zanufo, Camafo, or Camarfya (whioh are
donbtless synonymous), havo been variously identified with Morotai or
Morti, and tho N.E. arm of Gilalo, The port at which they called iy
moro probably Komo, on the northern peninsula of that island, a con-
jocturo further borna out by the Paris MS., which saya thet on
Teaving it thoy *‘stosrod serentecn lengues enstward, and camo out
of the channol of the island of Batechina (Gilolo) and the island Chiko.”

2Tho 25th April, aceording to the Paris MS.

3 May 6th, Paris MS.
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board. Tt is difficult to explain why, on leaving this
group, a persistent north-easterly course should have
been held, but so it was. They met, as might well be
imagined, with constant head winds. Espinosa was
probably more fitted for an alguazil than a captainl
The latitude of 43° N. was finally reached, but long
before this they had begun o run shork of provisions.
Lventually they were reduced to rics, and rice only.
Illprovided with clothes and accustomed for o long to
a tropical climate, they were unable to endure the cold.
Disease found them a facile prey. To crown their mis-
fortunes, they encountered  sovere storm which lasted
for five days and caused them the loss of their mainmast,
besides copsiderablo injury to their poop and forecastle.
‘Under theso ciroumstances it was found impossible to
proceed, and Espinosa resolved to return by way of the
Tadrones to Tidor. His effort to regain the island he
first visited was unsuccessful, and he brought up off
Saipan, or Pamo,? as it was then called. Hero the
native he had picked up on his outward voyage rau
away, together with threo of the sailors? who were
fearful of the epidemic which was at that time so rapidly
reducing the crew in numbers. The return from the
Ladrones to Gilolo was effected in six weeks, and they

1 We are not informed who undertook the navigation of the ship.
It was probably Jusn Bautista! Punzaro, to whom de Brito declares tho
arrival of the fleet a the Molueas to havo beon due, or possibly tho
Genoese Leon Panealdo or Pancado—cortainly not Espinosa, who was
« person of no cduoation and could not evon write his own name.

2 Otherwise Mao. Fide Navarrete, 1v. p. 100,

# Ovicdo, Jib. xx., cap. xvi,, tells va bow, more than threo years
later, the ships of Layasa came across one of theso men, Gonzalo de
Vigo, in Tinian. His two companions bad been killed by the natives.
"This desorter was of much use to them, and he was taken on to tho
oluceas,
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anchored off Dui, an island near its northern point.
Further than that it was impossible for them to procced.
Threeifths of their number were dead, and the rest
wore so disabled by scurvy and other disorders that they
could no longer navigate the ship.

Meanwhile a considerable change had taken place in
the aspect of affairs at Tidor. On the 13th May, little
more than a month after their departure, a fleet of
seven Portuguese vessels, manned by over three hundred
men, and under the command of Antonio de Brito, seiled
into Ternate roads. His visit had, perhaps, been partly
induced by finding in Banda—the port whence he came
—one of the five Spaniards loft behind in Tidor by
Espinosa, who had doubtless gone thither for the sake
of trade. De Brito’s fivst step, as appears hy his own
letter to the King of Porbugal! was to demand the
surrender of the store-house and its contents, together
with the men in eharge. They had no course open to
them other than to yield to such a forco. Possession was
at oncs taken of the building, and the stores appropriated
—the captain-general demanding of the Sultan what,
right he had to admit the Castilians when the Portu-
guese had been 5o long established in the islands.

Espinosa had not been long at his anchorage before
the news of the arrival and doings of the Portuguese
was brought to him.  He resolved, nevertheless, to give
himself up to de Brito, so deplorable was his con-
dition. Spain was, moreover, upon good terms with
Portugal, and he hoped for fair treatment. 1le there-
fore sent a letter by Bartholomew Sanchez, elerk of the
Trinidad, to the Portuguese captain-general, begging
succour, No answer arriving, Espinosa weighed anchor

1 Navarrete, i5. P 305.
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and struggled on for a fow miles to the port of Bena-
conora, where he was at length met by a earavel and
other small craft with Simon d’Abreu, Duarte de
Resendo, Don Garcia Enriques, and twenty armed
Portuguese. They gave the captain a letter from de
Brito,! and at once took possession of the ship, seizing
all the papers and log-books which eould be found, as
woll as her astrolabes and quadrants. She was then
brought in and anchored off Ternate, and her cargo
discharged. Tt was the last voyage she was destined
to make During her unlading a heavy squall canght
her, and she went ashore and broke up. Forty bahars
of cloves were lost in her, but her timbers and fittings
were saved, and served in the construction of the for-
tress the Pottuguese were then erccting in Ternate, and
in the repair of their ships.

It vas in vain that Espinoss protested against the
action taken by the Portuguese. They replied that he
had done lis duty to his sovercign, and that they should
do the same to theirs. Ile asked that they would at
loast give him a certificate of the items of the ship's
cargo, in order that he might render an account of it
to the cmperor, but he was told that if he wished an
account rendered he should render it himself from the
yard-arm of his vessel. He was called upon to deliver
the royal stendard, but this he declined to do, saying,
that since he was in their power they could of course
seize it, but that he was unable, as an officer of the
empcror, to surrender it.

When the Ty4uidad was bronght to her last anchorage
she had on board but nineteen survivors of the fifty-four

1 For this letter, which is dated 215t October, 522, soe Navarrete,
iv. p. 293,
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men who had sailed in Ler but six months previously.
Podro Affonso de Lorosa— the Portuguese who had
deserted from Don Tristdo de Meneses—was also with
them. His fate did not remain long in doubt, for he
was exeented shortly after his arrival.  Of the five zuen
left in Tidor in charge of the stores one had died, three
were prisoners of the Portuguese, and Luis del Molino
was at large among the islanders. On veceiving a mes-
snge from Kspinosa he came in and gave himself up.
From these men the others learnt what had talken place
in their absence. The Portuguess had levelled the
factory and storehouse to the ground, seizing all the
rigging and fitting of tho ships, together with the cloves
and other spices that had been collected. spinosa and
his men were able to realise what was before®them.
Could they have seen the letter written by Antonio de
Brito upon the subject to his royel master, their fears
would scarcely have been alleviated. “8&o far as con-
corns the magter, clerk, and pilot —it runs—*T am
writing to the enptain-general that it would be more to
your Highness’ service to ovder their heads to be struck
off than to send them there (i.e,, to India). I keptthemin
the Moluccas, becuase ib is a most unhealthy country, in
order that they might die there, not liking to order
their heads to be cut off, since I did not know whether
your Highness would b pleased or not. I am writing
to Jorge de Albuquerque to detain them in Malacea,
swhich, however, is a very healthy climate.”

With this laudable desire for their speedy decease in
the heart of bheir captor, it may be imagined thab the
outlook of the Spaniards was not of a very promising

i Do Brito’ lotter to the King of Portugal, vide Nasarrete, i,
P3in
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nature. The sick were, however, sent to a tempornry
hospitall ‘fhe remainder went to the fortress upon
Ternate, which the Portuguese were at that time engaged
in building. ‘There they were set to work upon it—
Tspinosa himself being ordered o labour with the others,
an order that he declined to obey. It is negatively to
the eredit of de Brito that he thought it hest not to
press the matter. But they were subjected to many
indignities, being openly and grossly abused before the
natives in order that the authority and repute of the
emperor might be as far as possible belittled.

In this manner the twenty -three prisoners were
detained in Ternate until the end of February 1523,
when, with the exception of two carpenters whom de
Brito needed, they started on their homeward voyage—a
voyage destined to be protracted from months into years,
and to end at last with the safe veturn of but four of
their number. Tervible as had heen the mortality on
board the Pictoria, it was as nothing eompared with that
of the Trinidad.

The men were first taken to Banda. Four of them
who left Ternate together never reached the island, and
of the junk in which they sailed no tidings were ever
heard. The others were detained in Banda four months
and then despatched by way of Juva, at whose ports
they touched, to Malacca, where they came into the
hands of Jorge d’Albuguerque, who was at that time
Governor. More delays took piace here, We have seen
how de Brito gave actual instructions for their deten-
tion, 1 i heless, the healthi of the

1 Great mortality prevailed at first in tho Moluceas, 88 wo loarn
from de Brito's letter, Within b0 months of his arrival be had lost
{ifty of his men, and only fifty remained in health.
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climate. It was, however, sufficiently malarious or
insanitary to bring four of the unhappy wanderers to
the grave. Anton Moreno, a negro slave of Espinosa,
was appropriated by Albuquerque’s sister, and it was
not until five months had passed away that the voyage
of the survivors was resumed,

From Malacea the prisoners, for such they still were,
were sent to Cochim. They appear to have embarked
in two or more ships. 'The junk in which Bartholomew
Sanchez, Luis del Moline, and Alenso de Cota sailed was
never more heard of, and when the others reached their
destination the annual homeward -bound fleet had sailed.
Despuiring of ever getting back o their native land, two
of their number, Leon Pancaldo and Juan Bautista
Poncero,! ran away and concealed themselves on™board
the Santu Catalina, each ignorant of the other's presence,
This ship was bound for Portugal, but on arriving at
Mozambique the two stowaways were put ashore, with
the intention of returning them to Cochim. Both men,
however, succeeded in disappointing their captors, for
Juan Beutista died, and Leon Pancaldo, hiding himself
just as Diogo de Mello's ship started for Cochim, managed
to ship on board a b d vessel ded
by Francisco Pereiva. Upon his arvival at Lisbon he
was thrown into prison, but was eventually seb free by
order of the king.

Meanwhile the others remained behind at Cochim.
Vaseo da Gama, (hen viceroy, had remained deaf to
their entreaties for release. On Christmas Eve, 1524,
he died, and was succeeded by Don Enrique de Menese«
who, more compassionate than his

1 This man, who originally sailed as maestre of the Trinidad, 8
described in various lists as Punzerol and Ponce de Leon.
v
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at length to their departure. But their numbers had
sadly decreased. Four, as we have seen, had died during
their detention in Malacca, and three more had fallen
victims to their hardships in Cochim. Juan Rodviguez
of Seville had escaped in the ship of Andres de Sousa,
which was bound for Lisbon. 'Ihere remained but thres
men, Gonzalo Gomes de Espinosa, the captain ; Gines do
Mafra, seaman of the Trinidad; and Master Hans or
Aires, bombardier of the Victoria!l Nor were their
troubles over upon landing in the Peninsula, for they
were thrown into the common prison, where, overcome
by his previous sufferings and the treatment to which
he was subjected, Master Hans died. Hspinosa and
Gines de Mafra remained incarcerated for seven long
months, when the former was released. Mafra, having
in his box some log-books and nautienl works or notes
written by Andres de San Martin, was supposed to be a
pilot, and was detained longer. On proving his rank
and condition he was permitted his liberty a month
Iater ; but the books were seized, and afterwards, as far
as can be learnt, came into the hands of Joic de Barros
the historian.?

Four men, and four men only, thus remained alive out
of the fifty-four who seiled in the Tvinidad from Ter-
nate—Espinosa, Mafra, Pancaldo, and Juan Rodrigue:
of Seville. Espinosa was well received by his sovereign,

I Thore iaa discropaney in the various dosuments concorning thi.
third individual, Acconling to some, it was Morales the surgeon who.
rofarned with Espinosa and died in the Lisbon prison, whils the
bombardier Aires came back in the Pictoria, sud was ono of thoso
who went to court to be presented to Charles V.

2 Barros, Doc, jii. lib, v, cap, x. p. 636 Jn this paseago he apeaks
of having got papers and books from Duarte do Resendo, who “ ook
thont from tho astrologer Andres do San Martin,” besides those he
obtained from Espinoss.
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who rewarded bim, and—if we may eredit a passage
in Oviedo—granted him a patent of nobility and a life-
pension of 300 ducats.! But so mean were the officials
of the India House that they actually docked him of his
pay during the time that he was  captive in the hands
of the Portuguese, alleging a8 a reason that it was incon-
testable that while in that condition he was no longer
in the service of Spain! On the 14th January, 1528,
Espinosa instituted o plaint to recover this money. A
long proeés was the result, but whether he gained his
cause or not is not recorded.”

The fame of Magellan’s voyage resounded through the
length and breadth of the Peninsula, and reached all
parts of Europe. Charles V., who had just arrived from
Germany, on learning of the arrival of the WVictoria
wrote at once from Valladolid to Sebastian del Cano,
instruoting him to appear at court with two of the best-
msh'\xcted of his crew—*los mas everdos y do mejor
razon.”  The whole number, as we have seen, wero
ultimately presented. Charles was generous to del
Cano beyond his deserts. 1o was ganted an annual
pension of 5oo ducats, and a coat-of-arms commemo-
rating the services he had rendered to Spain.® Fortune
befriended him indeed. The little we know of him in
Magellan's voyage—for until his appointment after the
wholesale massacre at Sebu he was comparatively an
obscure personage—is far from being in his favour. e

1 Oviedo, bk. xx. cap. iv. The king, ho says.
¥ le congedi6 un privilleio de muy nobles arm

* Vide Medina, vol. i, . 180.

@ Ayms, OF; two cinnemon sticks in saltiro proper, three nutmeg:
and tielyo closos; on o chiof guloxa castlo, or. 7% 8 glabo boar-
ing tho motto, ** Primus eircamdedisti me.”  Supporters, two Malay
kiugs, erowned, holding in the oxterior hand o splcs branch, proper.

1o hizo margedes
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took an active part in the mutiny at Port $t. Julian, and
gave evidence at Valiadolid upon certain events of the
voyage which was so biassed, and in some cases 80
untrue, that he forfeits much of his claim to our admira-

!
O)AT OF-ARME AND AUTOGRAPT OF DEL CANO.

tion. As Vergara says,! “Ileano did not always re-
member the loyalty due to Magellan and his memory.””
Neither can he be given any very great credit for his

1 Awwario Hydrogr. de Chile, vol. v. p. 306,
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navigation, for it must not be forgotten that when he
took the command the hitherto unknown Pacific had
been crossed, and the ship was far beyond the longitude
of the Moluceas, and dis-
tant from them only six
hundred miles. Antonio
de Brito, moreover, in his
letter to the King of Por-
tugal, tells us that after
the death of Magellan,
Juan Bautista Poncero
was the chief navigator.
But to del Cano fell the
good fortune of bringing
home the Pictoria, and, as
her captain, the honours
accorded upon the occa-
sion of such a great event
naturally fello his shave.
Tt may be imagined
that the arrival of the
Victoria was & matter of
no little joy to Alvaro de
Mesquite, the unhappy
captain of the S. dntonio.
It will be remembered
how the muineers of that ﬁ
vessel, deserting their
captain - general in his STATUE OF DEL GAXO, GUIXUZ0OA
hour of need, overpowered their commander and brought
hiwm, wounded and in irons, to Seville. Although theiv
story was but half-believed, Mesquita was still kept
inearcerated, as was the manner of those times. Now,
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set at liberty, he was rewarded in common with his
former friends and comrades, upon yhom pensions and
various distinctions were conferred. For some reason,
perhaps the length of time that had elapsed since the
occurrence, a corresponding putishment does not seem
to have overtaken the mutineers.

The papers in the Beville archives give us full details
of the spices brought back in the Vicioria. The bulk of
the cargo consisted of cloves, and of these, exclusive of
the quintalades or free freight periitted alike to oficers
and men, there were 520 quintals, or about twenty-six
tons of our weight. The value of this was estimated at
7,888,684 maravedis—in other words, £4536—and in
addition there was a certain quantity of cinnamon, mace,
nutimeg, and sandalwood which raised the value nearly
A600 more. On the whole, despite the frightful losses
both of ships and cargo during the voyage of the armada,
the venture had been successful. Deducting the value
of the Victoria and her fittings, and of the articles of
baxter aboard her, from the original cost of the entire
expedition, the value of the spices was found to exceed
the latter by some £200.

We have done now with the great expedition of
Magellan, and with the return of *“that unique, that
most famous ship, the Victoria.” as Oviedo calls her.
“The track she followed,” he exclaims,  is the most
wonderful thing and the greatest novelty that has ever
Dbeen seen from the time God created the first man and
ordered the world unto our own day. Neither has
anything more notable in navigation ever been heard
or described since the voyage of the patriarch Noah.”?
The extravagant terms of admiration, the flowery

1 Oviedo, bk. xx. cap. iv,
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periods, the elaborate metaphors chavacteristic of the
peviod in which they lived, were lavishly used by the
higtorians who chronicled the voyage. The keynote
was struck by Maximilian Transylvanus in his Salzburg
letter :—* Digniores profecto naute que smterna me-
moria celebrentur quam qui cum Tasone ad Colchidem
navigarunt Argonaute,” and the theme has been intro-
duced by every one who has written upon the subject,
from Argensola snd Gomara to Camoens. The latter,
indeed, seems to have borrowed the idea of a famous
verse in the Lusiad from Oviedo, and turns Magellan's
praise into Gama’s.] But all this praise and glory came
too late for Magellan’s family, as they did for the
immortal commander. Iis wife was dead and his only
child was dead, and he bimself lay at rest in 2 little
islet in the far Pacific.

1 Cessem do sabio Grego, @ do Troinno
As navoyacoss grandes que fizeram
Cqlle-so de Alozandro o de Trajuno
A fama das vietorias quo tiveram
Que cu canto o peito illatre Lusitano
A quem Neptuno, e Marto obedeceram,
Cesso tudo 6 que & Musa antigua canta
Quo ontro velor mai alto o alevanta.
—Canto i, 3.
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II
MAGELLAN’S WILLS.

TiE first will of Magellan was discovered in Lisbon in
1855 by & descendant of the great mavigator. It wus
executed at Belem on 17th December, 1504, on the eve
of his departure with Almeidx’s expedition, before the
notary Domingo Martins, It is in meny ways more
interesting than his final will. While the latter is
written in Spanish and in the stilted legal phraseology
which proclaims it the work of the notary-public, that
executed st Belom bears evidences of being more or less
the product of his own pen, and is in his native tongue.
The most important elauses run as follows :—

“I desire that, if T die abroad, or in this Armada in
the which I am now proceeding for India in the service
of my Sovereign, the Most ITigh and Mighty King, Dom
Manoel, whom may God preserve, that my funeral may
be that accorded to an ordinary seaman, giving to the
chaplain of tho ship my clothes and wms to say threo
requicm masses.”

“T appoint as my sole heirs my sister Donna Thereza
de Magalhies, her husband, Joio da Bilva Telles, and
their son, my nephew, Luiz Telles da Silva, their sue-
cessors and heirs, with the understanding that the afore-
said my brother-in-law shall quarter his arms with
those of the family of Magalhdies, which are those of my
ancestors, and among the most distinguished, best, and
oldest; in the kingdom ; founding, as I hereby found, in
the male line—or in the female in default thereof—
descendants of the aforesaid my sister Donna Thereza
de Magalhdes, and her husband, my brother-in-law, and
their son, Luiz Telles da Silva, a bequest of twelve masses
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yearly to be said at the altar of the Lord Jesus in the
Church of S. Salvador in Sabrosa in connection with my
property, the quinta de Souta, in the aforesaid parish of
Sabrosa, that it may he o legacy #n perpetuo, and that it
may remain for ever as a memorial of our family, which
it will be the duty of our successors to re-establish,
should it through any chance or misfortune fall into
desuetude, without increase or diminution in the number
of the masses, or other alteration,

“ And everything that I thus ordain I desire may be
carried out justly, and remain without alteration hence-
forth and for ever, should I die without legitimate
offspring ; but should I have such, I desire that he may
succeed to all my estate, together with the same obliga-
tion of the entailed bequest, that it remain estaklished
as such, and not in any other form; in order that the
barony may inerease, and that it may not be deprived of
the little property I own, the which I cannob better, or
in any other maoner bequeath.” !

MigeLray’s Last Wik

In the name of the Most High and Mighty God our
Lord, who is without beginning and reigns without end,
and of the most favoured Glorions Virgin, Qur Lady,
Holy Mary, His blessed Mother, whom all we Christians
own as Queen and Advocate in all our actions; to their
honour and service, and that of all the Saints of the
courts of Heaven, Amen.

Know all ye by these presents, that I, Hernando de
Magallanes, Comendador, His Majesty’s Captain-general
of the Armada bound for the Spice Islands, husband of
Dotia Beatriz Barbosa, and inhabitant of this most noble
and most loyal city of Seville, in the precinet of Santa

* De Barros Arana, Perndo de dagalides. Trad, de ¥. de M.
Viilas-Boas. Lisboa, 1881, p. 177,
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Maria, being well and in good health, and possessed of
such my ordinary senses and judgment ns God our Lord
has, of His mercy and will, thought fit and right to endow
me ; believing firmly and truly in the Holy Trinity, the
Father, Son, and Holy Ghost—three persons and one
only true God, as every faithful Christian holds and
believes, and ought to hold and believe, and being in fear
of death, which is a natural thing from which ne man
can escape ; being willing and desirous of placing my soul
in the surest and most certain path that I can discern
for its salvation, to commit and bring it tnto the mercy
and forgiveness of God our Lord, that He, who made
and created it, may have compassion and pity upon it,
and redeem and save it, and bring it to His glory and
IXis heavenly kingdom.

Whereas I am about to proceed in the King’s service
in the said Armada, by these presents I make known
and declare that I make and ordain this my Will, and
these my bequests, as well of my goods as of my body
and soul, for the salvation of my soul and the satisfac-
tion of my heirs. Firstly, the debts owed by me and to
e owing : they are such as will be found written in my
book of ucoounts, the which T confirm and approve and
acknowledgo as correct. The following are the legacies
bequeathed by me i—

Firstly, T commend my soul to God our Lord, who
made and created if, and redeemed me with His precious
blood, and T ask and beseech of the ever-glorious Virgin
Mary, Our Lady, I{is blessed Mother, that, with all the
Saints of the heavenly kingdom, she may be my inter-
cessor and sapplicant before her precious Son for my
soul, that Tle may pardon my sins and shortcomings,
and receive me to share His glory in the kingdom of
lieaven. And when this my present life shall end for the
life eternal, T desire that if I die in this city of Seville
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my body mey be buried in the Monastery of Santa
Maria de la Vitorin in Triana—ward and preeinet of this
city of Seville—in the grave set apart for me; And if
1 die in this said voyage, I desire that my body may be
buried in a church dedicated to Qur Lady, in the nearest
spot to $hat at which death seize me and I die; And I
bequeath to the expenses of the chapel of the Sagrario of
the Holy Church of Seville, in grateful remembrance of
the Holy Sacraments which from the said chureh I Lave
received, and hope to veceive, if it be the will of God our
Lord, one thousand maravedis ; And I bequeath to the
Holy Crusade a real of silver; And I bequeath to the
Orders of the Holy Trinity and Santa Maria de la
Merced of this city of Seville, in nid of the redemption
of such faithful Christians as may be captives in the
country of the Moors, the enemies of our holy Catholic
faith, to each Order a real of silver; And I bequeath to
the Infirmary of S8an Lazaro without the city, as abns,
that they may pray to God our Lord for my soul, another
real of silver; And I boqueath to the hospital de Las
Buhas of this city of Seville, to gain its intercession,
another real of silver; And I bequeath to the Casa de
San Sebastian in Tablada, to gain its intercession, another
real of silver; And I bequeath to the Holy Clurch of
Fuith in Seville another real of silver, to gain its inter-
cession; And I desire that upon the said day of my
burial thirty masses may bo snid over my body—bwo
cantadas and twenty-eight rexadas, and that they shall
offer for me the offering of bread and wine and candles
that my executors desire; And I desire that in the
said monastery of Santa Maria de la Vitoria & thirty-
dey mass! may be said for my soul, and that the
accustomed alms may be given therefor; And I desire
that upon the suid day of my burial three poor men may

I Trointanario do misas corrado,
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be clothed—such as I have indicated to my executors—
and that to ench may be given a cloak of grey stuff, a
cap, a shirt, and a pair of shoes, that they may pray to
God for my soul; And I also desire that upon the said
day of my burial food may be given to the snid three
paupers, and to twelve others, that they may pray to
God for my soul; And I desire that upon the said day
of my burial a gold ducat may be given as alms for the
souls in purgatory. And I confess—to speak the truth
hefore God and the world and to possess my soul in
safeby—that I received and obiained in dowry and mar-
ringe with the said Doiia Beatriz Barbosn, my wife, six
bundred thousand maravedis, of the which I made
acknowledgment before Bernal Gonzalez de Vallecillo,
notary-public of Seville; and I desive that before every-
thing the said Dofia Beatriz Barbosa, my wife, may be
paid and put in possession of the said six hundred
thousand maravedis, her dowry, together with the arras
that T gave her.

And forasmuch ss T am proceeding in the King's
service in the said Armada, and since of all the gain
and profit which with the help of God our Lord may
vesult therefrom (suve and excepting the first charges of
the King), the share allotted to me is one-Afth of the
whole, in addition to that which I may acquire from the
xoerchandise which I take with me in the said Armada—
of all this which I may acquire from the said Armada I
desiro to set uside one-tenth part, touching which, by
thig my will and testement, T desira and order, and it is
my wish, that the said tenth may be expended and dis-
tributed in the manner following :—

Firstly, I desire and order, and it is my wish, that
one-third of the said tenth part may be given to the said
monastery of N. 8. Banta Blaria de Ja Vitoria in Triana,
for the construction of the chapel of the said monastery,
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and that the monks of the said monastery may hence-
forth for ever engage to pray to God for my soul.

Furthermore, I desire, and it is my wish, that the
remaining two-thirds of the said tenth part shall be
divided into three equal parts, of which one part shall
be given to the monastery of N. 8. Santa Maria de Mon-
serrat. in the city of Barcelona ; another to the monas-
tery of San Francisco in the to“n of Aranda de Duero,
for the benefit of the said monastery; and the third to
the monastery of 8. Domingo de las Dueilas, in the city
of Oporto, in Portugal, for such things as may be most
necessary for the said monastery; and this bequest I
make that they may pray God for my soul.

Furthermore, [ will and desire, and it is my wish,
that of the half of the yest of my estate of tha, said
Armada belonging unto me, together with that of the
other estate of which I am possessed in this said city of
Seville, one-fifth part may be set aside to fulfil the neces-
sities of my soul, and that my executors out of this said
£ifth part may fplf] these necessities of this my will and
testament, and whatover more may seem fitting unto
them for the repose of my soul and conscience.

1 desive, moreover, that thers may be paid to Cristobnl
Robelo, my page, the sum of thirty thousand maravedis
from my estate, the which ! hequeath unto him for the
services he has vendered unto me, and that he may pray
God for my soul.

And by this my present will and testament, I declare
and ordain as fres and quit of every obligation of capti-
vity, subjection, and slavery, my captured slve Enrigue,
nuwlatto, native of the ity of Malacea, of the age of
twenty-six years more or less, that from the day of my
death thenceforward for ever the said Enrigue may be
free and manumitted, and quit, ezempt, and relioved of
every obligation of slavery and subjection, that he may

X
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act as e desires and thinks fit ; and I desire that of my
estate there may be given to the said Enrique the sum
of ten thousand maravedis in money for his support;
and this manumission T grant because he is o Christian,
and that he may pray to God for my soul.

And whereas His Majesty the King has granted unto
me, my sons, and my heirs in tail male the governorship
of certain lands and islands that I may discover with the
said Armadn, sccording to the terms contained in the
Capitulacion made with His Majesty, together with the
title of Adelantado of the said lands and islands dis-
coverad, and also the twentieth part of their produce,
and other benefits contained in the said Capifulacion
by these presents, and by this my will and testament, 1
declare and name for this magorazgo—in order that, upon
my decease, he my succeed to the above—Rodrigo do
Magall son, and the | son of
tho said Dot Bestris Barbosa, my wife, and thereafter
unto any legitimato son thab God may grant him; and
should ho have no legitimate sons born i wedlock
to have and inherit the above magorazgo, I desire and
command that the other logitimate son or daughter whom
God may give me may inherit,! and so successively from
father to son; And if by chance a daughter should hold
the mayorazgo, in such a case I desire that the son whom
God may give her to inherit the said mayorazo, shall take
the name of Magallaes [sic}, and bear my arms without
quartering them with any others ; Avd, should he fail to
take the name of Magallaes and to bear my arms, in such
case I desive and order, and i is my wish, that a som o
nephew ov meaver relation of my lineage may inherit
the said mayorazgo, and that he may live in Castile, and
boar my name and arms ; And if—which may God for-
bid—the said Rodrigo de Magallaes my son should die

I Dofia Beatriz was at that timo enceinte.
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without leaving sons or daughters born in wedlock, and
that I should beget no other sons nor daughters to suc-
ceed to the mayorazgo, 1 desire and order, and it is my
wish, that Diego de Sose, my brother, who is now living
with His Serene Majesty the King of Portugal, may
inherit the above, and come and live in this kingdom of
Costile, and marry in it, and that he adopt the name of
Magaliaes, and bear the arms of Magaliaes, as 1 bear
them-—the arms of Magallaes and Sosz ; And if the said
Diego de Sosa, my brother, have neither sons nor
daughters born in holy wedlock to inherit the aforesaid
mayorazgo, 1 desive and order, and it is my wish, that
Isabel de Magallacs, my sister, may inherit the said
mayorazgo, provided that she call herself Magallaes, and
bear my arms, and come to reside and marrg in this
kingdom of Castile.

And furthermore, I desire and order, and it is my
will, that if the said Diego de Sosa, my brother, or the
said Tsabel de Magallaes, my sister, succeed to the afore-
said mayorazgo, they shall be obliged to assist the said
Dofia Beatriz Barbosa, my wife, with the fourth part of
all thet the said my magorazgo produces, fairly and
justly, and without let or hindrance soever; And I
desire that the Comendador Diego de Barbosa, my
father-in-law, may undertake the charge of the person,
goods, and mayorazgo of the said Rodrigo de Magallaes,
my son, and of the child or children with whom the said
Dojia Beatriz Barbosa, my wife, is now pregnant, until
they reach the age of eighteen years, and that during
this period the said Comendador Diego Barbosa may
receive and collect all the produce and rents which the
soid estate and mayorazgo may produce, and give and
deliver to the said Defia Beatriz Barbosa, my wife, his
daughter, the fourth part of all that may therefrom
result, until such time as my sons aforesuid bo of the age
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stated ; the said my wife, Dofia Beatriz Barbosa, living
widowed and chastely ; And it she should mavry, I desire
that there may bs given and paid to her the sum of two
thousand Spanish doubloons, over and above her dowry
and arras, and the half of the aecumulations therean.!

Furthermore. I desirc, and it is my will, that the said
‘Conendedor Diego Barbosa may take and receive, as his
own property, one fourth part ; and that he may expend
the der in the mai and of my
sons; And likewise, T desive and order, and it is my
wish. that if the said Diego de Sosa, my brother, or the
said Isabel de Magallaes, my sister, inherit the aforesaid
my mayorazgn, that above and beyond that which I have
desired may be given each year to the said Dofia Beatriz
Barbosa, my wife, they shall be obliged to give each year
to the said Comendador Diego Barbosa, for the remainder
of his life, two hundred ducats of gold, to be peid from
the estate of the said mayorazgo.

Furthermore, I desire that, if the said Comendador
Diego Barbosa collect the aforesaid my estate, he may
give of. it to the said Tsabel de Magallaes, my sister, for
her marriage, such as seems fittinig to the said Comen-
dador Diego Barlosa.

Furthermore I desive that of the fifty thousand mara-
vedis that I have for my life and that of the said Dona
Beatriz Barbosa, my wife, from the Casa de Contratacion
of the Indies in this city of Seville, the said Doiia Beatriz,
iy wife, may give to the said Isabel de Magallaes, my
sister, the sum of five thousand maravedis per annum
until the arrival of my estate resuiting from this my
present voyage, when the said Comendador Diego Bar-
hosa can give her that which T have arranged and desired
in this my will that he shonld give her for her marviage,

1 Allende su dote § arras de io que ba do haber de su mitad de
multiplieado.
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And this my will and testament having been fulfilled
and discharged, together with the bequests and clauses
therein contained, relating to the aforesaid my posses-
sions, whether fixtures, movables, or live-stock, in com-
pliance with that herewith prescribed and expressed, [
desive that all and everything of the said possessions
which may remain over and above may be had and
inherited by the said Rodvigo de Magallaes, my legiti-
mote son by the said Dofia Beatviz, my wife, and by the
child or children of which the said Dofia Beatriz is now
pregnant, being born and living the period that the law
requires, whom—the said Rodrigo de Magallaes, my son,
and the child or children of which the said my wife is
pregnant—1 appoint and estublish as my legal residuary
legatees, equally the one with the other ; And if, which
may God forbid, the said my son, or child borne by my
wife, die before attaining the proper age fox the succession,
I desire that the said Dofia Beatriz Barbosa, my wife, may
inherit the syid my estate, save and excepting that of the
mayorazge, and I appoint and establish her as my vesi-
duary legatee.

And for the discharge and quitment of this my will
and testament, and of the bequests and clauses concern-
ing the said my estate therein contained, in compliance
with that herewith prescribed and expressed, I hereby
appoint as my executors for the paymens and distribu-
tion of tle stid my estate, without humt to them or
theirs, Doctor Sancho de Matienzo, Canon of Seville,
and the said Comendador Diego Barbosa, my father-ir:
law; And I bequeath to the said Doctor Sancho de
Matienzo for the burden thus laid upon him in the ful-
filment and discharge of this my will the sum of thirty
gold dueats and two pesos.!

1 Here follews the customary conclusion in legal terms,
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Done in Seville, in the King’s Customs of this city of
Seville, Wednesday, the twenty-fourth day of the month
of August, in the year of the birth of our Baviour Jesus
Christ one thousand five hundred and nineteen. And I,
the said Ci dador H do de Magall: sign and
confirm it with my name in the register, in the presenco
of the witnesses Diego Martinez de Medina, Juan Rodri-
guez de Medina, and Alfonso Fernandez, notaries of
Seville,

IIT
PERSONNEL OF MAGELLAN’S ARMADA.

Frox various causes—the haste in the despatch of the
ships, combined with the difficulty in obtaining hands;
the shipping of some of the crew in the Canaries; and,
perhaps, the purposed omission of eertain names owing
to the ships having become more largely manned by
Portuguese than would have seemed desirable to the
authorities— it is impossible to arrive at the exact
number of persons who sailed with Magellan upon his
final voyage. From the official lists, and from the casual
occurrence of names in the numerous and lengthy autos
Jfiscales connected with the expedition, we gather that at
least 268 individuals embarked, The actual names of
such a number are given. It is more than probable
that there were others who were neither entered in the
ships’ books nor the subject of casual mention, and it
may be affirmed with tolerable certainty that between
270 and 280 persons manned the five ships which formed
the squadron.

The flagship is known to have carried a crew of 62
men, the S. Antonio 57, the Concepcion 44, the Victoria
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45, the Santiago 31. Of the other 29 who are mentioned
by name, we do not know the ships, After the loss of
the Santzago, her crew was distributed mneng the other
vessels, and it may be concluded that when the S
Antonio deserted in the Straits of Magellan, she did not
carry away with her less than seventy men. Practically,
then, the heroes of the voyage—that wondrous voyage
which, with amusing hyperbole, Oviedo and others have
compared to those of Jason and Ulysses—were o5 nearly
as possible 200 in number. How many returned we
have already seen. 'Thirty-one of the lictoria’s crew
veached home, and months—nay, years—luter, four of
those who had sailed in the Zrinidad. The remaining
hundred and sixty or seventy men had perished |

An examination of the ship’s books shows that each
vessel carried a captain and one or more pilots—who
were without exception Portuguese —a maesira and
contramaesiye—who would correspond to the mates of a
merchant vesgel—a purser, steward, carpenter, barber,
caulker, and cooper. T'wo classes of sailors wers borne
—the mavrineros, or A B.’s, and the grumetes, or ordinary
seamen. Of the former the flagship carried 14, and 10
grumetes ; the other vessels a few less. Upon cach ship
were three gunners or lombarderos. All these nen were
foreigners, genorally French, but sometimes Germans or
Flemings. The master-gunner of the flagship was a
certain Maestre Andrew, of Bristol, the only linglish-
man in the expedition.! Three or four chaplains seem
to have accompanicd the fleet, but only one surgeon, the

} Master Andraw had married & certain Ana Estrada of Seville,
and had also, apparently, changed his religion, for we ind that the
sum of 4014 maravedis was prid in his name after his decease to
the Brotherhood of Nuestra Sefiora de la Vitoria, The amount of
hia pay is given in one of the docunients of the Seville archives ; it
wwas at the Tate of £12, 18+, gd. per annum.
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Bachelor Morales, whose duties must indeed have been
arduous. Various pages and body-servants of the officers
completed the fists of the ships’ crews. The young men
of good family, who took part in the expedition from love
of ad or desire for-ad in wilitary ser-
vice, shipped as sobresa'ientes or supernumeraries. In
this class came Duarte Barbosa, Magellan’s brother-in-
law, and Alvaro de Mesquita, his consin.

A glance at the list of the officers and crews of the
five ships reveals a great number of Portuguese names.
On the 17th June, 1519, Charles V. sent 2 special ovder
to Magelian and Ruy Faleiro that no one of that nation-
ality should accompany the expedition except four or
five for the service of cach of them. Later, hearing
several of the grumelcs are Portuguese, hie writes that
they must be dismissed. But there was a great dearth
of men, no matter of what nationality. The expedition
was cried throughout Seville, and advertised at the street
corners and on the quays, hut the pay offered was so scanty
that it was found impossible to obtain hands. Crimp-
ing was not permittel. Several of Magellans officers
were accordingly seat to cther ports to endeavour to got
the ary 1 end Charles’s lations as to
the admission of Portuguese had ultimately to be relaxed.
In a later Cedula permission is given for the envolment
of twenty-four, twelve to be i by the ¥mperor.
and bwelve by Magellan. We find, howover, that thirty-
seven at least sailed on the voyage, and as some of theso
entered themselves as of Seville or some other Spanish
port, it is probable that even this number is not inclu-
sive and final. The numerous nationalities represented
have already been commented upon. After the Portu-
guese came the Genoese and Ttalians in point of numbers,
Of these there were thirty or more. The French num-
bered nineteen. There were besides Flemings, Germans,
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Sicilians, Cocfiotes, Malays, Negroes, Moovs, Madeirans,
and natives of the Azores and Canary Islands, Despite
the fleet sailing from Seville, only seventeen men are
entered as of that city. The Biscayans, as was always
the case on such expeditions, were lavgely 1

Iv.

STORES AND EQUIPMENT OF MAGELLAN'S
FLEET.

Frox various documents exnabmg in the Seville z*rchwea
we gather extraordinarily precise details, not only as
regards the articles supplied to the Armacla, but also as
to their price and their exact distribution among the
different ships. This information is of much interest,
showing as it_does what stoves were at that period con-
sidered necessary. It also throws light upon various
events connocted with the preparation of the fleet of
which we should otherwise have remained in ignorance.

Ships, Fittings, &c.

Maravedis,!

The Concepeon, with rigging and boat . . . 228,750
The Victoria, do. do. .. 300000
The 8, Antonio, do. do. . . . 330000
The Trinidad, do. do. . . . 270000
The Santiago, do. do. 187,000
Bringing ehips from Cadiz o Seville, and expenses

of Juan de Aranda in gmna to Cadiz . . 24,188
Workmen careening ships, &. - L 13482
CUarpenters for repaiving t]ups : . . . 104244
Caulkers for canlking ships L 20539

* 1000 Inaravedis may be reckoned at 115, 6d.
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Maravedis.
Sawyers for sawing planks, &, forships . . 6700
Wood for beams and planking, &e. 175,098
Nails used in repair of ships, wgether with the

supply for the voyage . . A . 142,532%
Cakum do. . g . . - 31,670
Pitch, tar, and resin do do. . . . . 720673
Grease do. do. L. 53852
173 pieces of canvas for sails, &e. . 129,076
Thwine for sewing the above, with needles and

awls, and mouey paid for mkmg .. 3:8
Masts, yards, and spare spars e ] . 37:437
Skiff purchased for the Trinided . . . . 3037%
Pumps, bolts, and mails . . . . . 575
Qars and sweeps . . 6,563
Leather bags. liose, and leathers for the | p\lmp.! . 9364
Pulleys and blooks g a 1,285
3timbersforknces . . . . . . 3687
8 large blocks s . 4204
Standing and other nggmg, and nggmg dnw « 34,6723
3 large pitch ladles i 51
13 lighters of ballast for the ships . 1,062
32 yards of coarse canvas for making sacks for the

Dallasting . 807
Pay of workmen and sailors dunng the prepara.

tions for the vomge . 438,335%
Thirteen anchors . L. eon
8 saws, large and small . SR o
Bita and braces, lurge and small . 762
6 pickaxes to dig the ditch to careen the slups B 663
76 hiides to make pitch-brusles to pay the ships . 2,493
Tuel used in pitching the ships . 4277

Pilots for bringing ships from S, Lucar to Seville . 10543
221 quintals of cables and hawsers and 1000

arrobas of hemp to make the rigeing and

cordage, which, together with eost of manu-

faciure (38,672 ms.) and money paid for sedge

and esparto-grass rope (14,066 ms.), make . 3241708
8o flags, and the painting of them, with a royal

standard made of taffety . . 25,029
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Cost of the “bergantym” .
Expenses of Duarte Barbosa in Bilbao when he
went to buy the articles for the shlp together
with those of Anton Semefio . e

Attillery, Munitions, Arms, d.
58 culverins, 7 faloonets, 3 large bombards, and

“ pasaniuros,” all from Bilbao
50 qummls of gunpowder from Fuenterrabia a.nd
frei

165 Ibs. o powder for proving the amllery in Bilbao

Shot and cannon-balls of iron and stong

6 moulds for making cannon-balls o

221 arrobas 7 lbs. of lead for bullets, save 84
arrobas used as plates for le.'ulmg the scams
of the ghips . . .

Paid for mounting the artillery

Wages of the lombarderos

100 carselets with armlets, shoulder-plates, and
‘helmets, and 100 breastplates with throat-pieces
and helmets from Bilbao o

60 crossbows with 360 dozen arzows from Bilbao .

5o arquebuses from Biscay .

Coat of mail and two wmplete suita of zrmonr for
the Captain-General from Bilhao

200 shields from Bilbao

6 sword-blades for the Capmn (rom Bllbao

g5 dozen of darts, 10 dozen javelins, 1000 lances,
200 pikes, 6 boarding-pikes, &e., from Bilbao

S MO G o e (10 (b, (5,

Cleaning the arms, 6 1bs. of emery, leathers, ulcks,
buckles, &e. .

50 flasks nnd prlckers for the arquebuses, and 150
yard

Stores, de.

Biseuit, 363,480 maravedis, %., 2138 quintals 3
Ibs, at 170 maravedis per qumul hire of
sacks, portoge, &. ; total .

381

Maravedis,
49,504

8144

160,135

109,028
5,477
6,633
3850

39,890
3,276
8790

110,910
33495
10,500

6,375
6800
680

44,185
2,499

3553
5,611

372510
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Wine, 508 butts from Jerez, §1¢,347 ms. and costs
thereon ; total 2

50 ewta. benns 5 go ewts. c)uck pess 2 c\vts lennls

47 quintals 3 arrobas of olive-oil

200 harrcls anchovies, 238 dozen large dried fish

57 quintals 12 Ibs. dried pork

7 eows for the voyage (14,000 ms), 3 pigs (uXo
ms.), and meat for workmen ; total

g8 chesses, weighing 12 arrobas .

417 pipes, 253 butts, 45 barrels for the wine and
water (230,170 103, staves, oil-vessels, burrels
for the cheescs, jazs for vinegar, &.; total

21 arrobas g Ibs. of sugar, at 720 ms. per arroba.

200 arrobas vinegar .

250 strings of garlic and 100 ditto onions

18 quintals of raising, & . . .

16 quarter casks of figs .

12 ewts, of almonds in their Bhl,]ls

54 arrobas z lbs. of honey

2 q\unmls of currants

3 _\ars of capers

Sall

3 qumtnls 22 Tbs. of rice.

1 ewt, of mustard .

Preserved quince )
Medicines, anguents, snl\es, and distilled waers .
5 pipes of flour . .

Hardware and Store-Room Ariicles

Copper kitchen utensils : 6 large cauldrons, weigh-
ing 280 lbs. (6165 ma.), § large pots, weighing
132 1bs. (3700 ma.), 2 baking ovens, weighing
171 Ibs, (7605 ms), 1 pot weighing 27 1bs,
(1215 ms.), and large vessel for pwcl. \velghmu

55 Lba. (2200 ms)&c ; total .

10 laq;e knives .

42 Wooden pint measures ior the ral)ons

8 arrobas of candles, and grease for 4 arrobas
more, &e.

Maravedin,

590,000
23,037
58,425
62,879
43,908

17,740
26,134

393,623
15,451
3655
2,198
5,997
1,130
2,922
8,980
750
1,554
1,768
1,575
380
5779
13,027
5,927

21,515
884
516

3440
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89 lanterns .

53 Ibs, ornamented wax candles for the consecration
of the ships .

40 cartloads of wood .

40 yards of coarse canvas for tab]e-clothl

14 large wooden trenchers

Chain for large canldron

12 bellows .

22} Ibs. beeswax fm waxing Lhread m\d iol t}u
erosshows .

12 large knives (oalubom) for the steward’s roon: .

5 large iron ladles

Too mess-bowls, 200 porringers. 160 ehoppers, 66
wooden platiers, 12 momrs, 62 zrenchem, all
from Bilbao . .

20 lights for lhclamls 1

12 funnels . .

5 hammers

18 extra trenchers .

Brass pestle and mortar for the dupen;ary

35 padlocks, given to the stewards .

Trons, handeuffs, and cliairs, &e.

20 Ths. of steel for the pikes, &e.

An arroha of stamped iron \velg)l[s

50 epades and pickaxes . .

20 bars of iron

56 iron pikes and. ]nmmem and 2 ]ar"e iron m'\llem

2 great ship's lunterns o 5

8 pait of pineers

Tioathooks, awls, &c. .

50 quintals 20 Jbs. of iron in small bars

Mats and Dhaskets for the entire fleet

Fishing gear : 2 seines (dhinchorros), (eosting 8500
ms.), 6 chain hooks (125 ms.), floats for the
seines (425 ms.), fishing-lines and cords (8663
ma.), harpoons and fish-spears from Biseay
(8715 ms.), 10,500 fish-hooks (3826 m),

total
Forge, bellm\s an\n] uml ﬁmngs fmm Bxsm\

338

Maravedis,
1,430

495
8,860
1,280

476

138

256

1,530
8

204

30254
9147
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15 blank acconnt-books, 5 wherein to keep the
accounts of the fleet, and 10 for the officials to
keep current acoounts E

Stevedores’ wages for lading the ships .

2 grindstones, and s hone for the two barbers

5 drums and 20 tambourines, given to the people
of the fleet to serve for their pastime .

The furniture (el ornamento) and all the necessary
appliances for the chaplain to say Mass .
3700 mis, puid the pilots for bringing the ships
from Seville to 8. Lucar, and 198, from 8.

Lucar over the bar to the sea

Paid Rodrigo de Garay for his work

Paid Juan de la Cueva do.  do.

Carriage of quicksilver, vermilion, aud other articles

Paid courier who came from Portugal and returned
to the Court f

Paid for posts and conriers to and from the Court.

Paid to the Caravel, and for rations for the mes-
senger sent wi h letters to the Canary Islands

Paid to Luis de Mendoza to purchase various
\iecessaries in the Canary Islands . .

Charts and Nautical Instruments.

Paid Nufio Garcia to buy parchments for the charts

1 dozen skins of parchment given w the above

Another dozen  do. B

7 charts constructed by the orders o Ruy Falero .

11 charts made by Nudo Garcia by the orders of
Femando Magallanes

6 charts caused to be made by Ruy Fulero,and one
sent to the King . y

6 wooden quadrants made by Ruy Falero :

1 wooden sstrolabe made by the said Ruy Falero .

1 planispheic ordered to be made by the Captain
Magallanes for the King

Paid to the said Magullanes for 6 metal asn-olsbcs
with rulers .

SMaravedls,

1,211
2,635
2,125
2,895

16,513
5,685

11,230
7,500

12,014

5,625
45,000

6,750

15,000

1125

900
864
13125

11,250
13,500
5021
750
4500

4500
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Maravedis,

Paid to the same for 15 compass needles . . 4080
Paid to same for 1 5 wooden quadrants, bronze-fitted 1,875
Gilt compass in a box, sent to the ng with chart

mentioned above . . . 476
Leather case for the planisphere E 340
12 hour-glasses bought, by the Captain . 6z
2 compass necdles that the Captain has. 750
6 pairs of compasses . . 600
Paid to ¥uno Gareia for 2 compass needles | 750
Paid for the correction of an injured compass

needle . 136
n ]ar;;e boxes for four compasses, which Ruy Falero

ad made 884

16 oompass needlos and six hour-glasses, sent by

Bernaldino del Castillo from Cadiz 6,094

Articles of Trade and Barter,

20 quintals of quicksilver.
30 do. vermilion.

oo do.  alum.

30 pieces valuable coloured cloth at 4000 ms. per piece.
20 1bs, of saffron.

3 Pieces “weintenes,” L silver, red, and yellow.
1 piece Valencia stuff.

10 quintals of ivory.

2 pieces of coloured velvets.

200 common red caps.

200 coloured Kerchiefs.

10,000 fish-hooks.

1000 maravedis-worth of combs.

200 quintals of lumy copper.

2000 brass brmlet~

2000 COpper

10,000 bundles of yellow matamundo (7).

200 small brass basins of two sorts.

2 dozen large basims.

20,000 small bells of three kinds.

* Pieces of cloth containing 2000 threads to the warp,
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400 dozens of German knives of the commonest kind.

4o pieces of coloured buckram.

50 dozen seisions,

500 small looking-glasses, and 100 larger size.

100 quintals of lead.

500 1bs. of crystals, which are diamonds of all colours.
Total, 1,670.765-

‘We learn from the same document that four months’
pay was given in advance, and that the number of porsons
recsiving it was 237.  Hither some of those who accom-
panied the expedition did not receive pay—as, for ex-
ample, the sobresalientes, many of whom were doubtless
young men of good family—or some forty or more persons
Tmust have joined the fleet on the eve of its depmture,
which we have reason to believe was the case.

Another document informs us how the various stores
and provisions were distributed among the five vessels of
the squadron. A proportionate division of the latter was
made according to the ship’s burthen. The flagship
took two cows, the other vessels one each. One sargeon
alone being carried, all the medicines went with him on
the Trinidad. The two ornamentos with robes and all
necessaries for Mass were earried on the flagship and
the 8. Antonio.

V.

THE FIRST CIRCUMNAVIGATORS OF
TIE GLOBE.

Tron Digafebta’s journal we learn that thirty-one men.
of the Victoria eventually returned home. Hervera also
(Dec. 111, lib. iv. cap. 4) gives the names of hirty-one as
going to Court to relate their adventures to the Emperor.
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Thirteen of these had been seized by the Portuguese in
the Cape Verde Islands, but they were released shoxtly
afterwards and sent at once to Seville.

Herrexa’s list has been copied by numerous writers,
even by those of late date, suel: as Lord Stanley of
Alderley and De Barros Arana. without any attempt,
apparently, to verify it. It is nevertheless very erro-
neous, as a careful consideration of the documents relat-
ing to the expedition shows, The following lists have
been corrected as far as is possible

Returned to Sexille in the “ Victoria.”

Miguel de Rodas, conframaestre of the Pictoria.
Miguel Sancher, of Rodas, marinero® of the Victoria.
Martin de Isaurraga, of Bermeo, grumete! of the Coneep-

C

cion.
Nichalas the Greek, of Naples, marinaro of the Victoric,
Jnan Rodriguez,? of Seville, marinero of the Trinidad.
Vaseo Gomez Gallego, Portuguese, grumete of the Trinidad.
Martin de Judiibus, of Genos, superintendent of the Con-

copeion.
Juan ge Santandres, of Cueto, grumete of the Trinidad.
Hernando de Bustamante, of Mexida or Alcantara, barber,

of the Concrpcion.

Antenio Pigafetts, of Vicenza,

. Trancisco Rodriguez, of Seville, a Portuguese, marinero of
the Concepoion.

Antonio Ros or Rodriguez, of Huelva, marinero of the
Trinidad.

13. Diego Gallego, of Bayonne, marinero of the Victoria.

1 Murinero and grumete corresponded more or less with our A.B.
and ordinary scaunan.

% Three men of chis name ssiled en the yoyage. The other two
were borne as marineros on the Concepoion. One divd o the
voyage; the other, nicknamed “el Surdo,” was one of the four
survivora of the Zrinidad.

* Not Vasco Gallego, pilot of the Fictoria, who died February
28, 1521,

Ve wons

=5

&

¥
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14 Juan de Amm (or de Sahelices), of Bilbao, grumete of
the Vict

i G e e R s e e i Concepoion.

16. Juan de Gulileta,! of Baracaldo, page, of the Pictorda.

t7. Francisco Albo,* of Axio, contramuestre of the Trinidad.

18. Juan Sebastian det Cano, of Guetaria, master of the Con-
cepeion.

Seized by the Portugues. in tho Cape Verdes.

Macstre Pedro.3 from Teverife, of the Santiago.
Richand, from Normandy, carpenter of the Suntiago.
Pedro Gasco. of Rordeaux, marinero of the Suntigo,
Alfonso Domingo, marinero of the Suntiago,
Simon de Burgos, Portugue-e, servant of the Ciuptain,
Luis de Mendoza, Victoria.
Juan Martin, of Agailar de Campo,  da.  do.
Roldan de Argote. of Bruges, hombardier of the Concepeion.
Martin Mendez, of Seville, accountant of the Victoric,
Gomer Hernandlez, of Huelva, marinero of the Concepoion.
Ocacio Alonso, of Bollulles, marinero of the Santiago.
Pedro de Tolosa, of Tolosa in Guipuzcoa, grumete of the

o Sl

F8e mua

Victoria.
Felipe de Roda. of Rodas, marinero of the Pctoria.
13. Juan de Apega

5

Awmong the first cirenmnavigators wust likewise be
included the four sole survivors of the ill-fated Tiinidad,

? Or Znvileta or Zubieta.

2 Or Alvaro or Calvo, the pilot who has left us the log-book
record of the vayage,

s Mavstre Pedro, who is probably identical with Herrers's Pedro
de Indarchi, was shipped i Tenerife on 1at Octob r 1519.

< Variously called Ricarte, Rigarte, Ripart, Rnxar, or Ruger
Carpintete. His birth-place is given as Bruz {?) or Lbras (2).

® This man, mentioned by Hurer, is probably identical with
Juan Ortiz de Gopega of Bilban, steward of the 8. Anfonio.

Herrera gives the following names in his list as being among the
survivors -—Lorenzo de Irnna, Juan de Ortega, Diego Garcia, Pedro
de Valpuesta, and Mactin de Magallanes. Al these men, however,
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although they did not return to Spain until long after.
’!‘hey were :—
- Gonzalo Gomez de Espinosa, alguasil of the fleet.
2. Ganes de Mafru, of Jeres, marinero.
3. Leon Pancado (or Pancaldo), of Sapna near Genos, marinero,
4. Juan Rodriguez (el Sordo), of Seville, marincro, formerly of
the Conceseron.

Finally, the name of ITans Vargue ( Maestre Ance”)
stionld perlaps bo pleod in the roll of honour. Thix
inan—a Cen of the Concepeit
and was afterwards borne on the Trinidad. He reached
Lisbon with Bspinosa and Gines de Mufra, and being
thrown into prison with them immediately on his avrival,
perished there,

died on the soynge, and their dsaths are recorded in the offcial list.
Tt is & curions cirotnstance that they should all without exeeption
have died near the termination of the voyage. Lorenzo de Iruna
succumbed 28 the Victoric wos rounding the Caps, while Murtin
agellan, the last of the five, died on the 26th June 1522, alinost
within sight of the Cape Verde Tslands.
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MAPS

ILLUSTRAZIVE OF THE PROGRESS OF DISCOVERY
IN THE NEW WORLD.
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82 FLeET STREET, LONDON.

The

Wotr1d's Great Erplovers
and Erplorations.

EDITED BY
J. Scotrt KELTIE, Librarian, Royal Geographical
Society ;
{1. J. MACKINDER, M.A, Reader in Geography at the
University of Oxford ;

And E. G. RAVENSTEIN, F.RG.S.

UNDER this title Messrs. G. PHILIP & SON
are issuing a series of volumes dealing with
the life and work of those heroic adventurers through
whose exertions the face of the earth has been made
known to humanity.

Each volume will, so far as the ground covered
admits, deal mainly with one prominent name associ-
ated with some ~pa\mculau' region, and will tell the
story of his life and adventures, and describe the work
which he accomplished in the service of geographica!
discovery. The aim will be to do ample justice to
geographical results, while the personality of the ex-
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plorer is never lost sight of In a few cases in which
the work of discovery cannot be possibly associated
with the name of any single explorer, some departure
from this plan may be unavoidable, but it will be fol-
lowed as far as  acticable. In each case the exact
relation of the work accomplished by each explorer
to what went before and what followed after, will be
pointed out; so that each volume will be virtually an
account of the exploration of the region with which
it deals. Though it will not be sought to make the
various volumes dovetail exactly into each other, it is
hoped that when the series is concluded, it will form
a fairly plete Bi phical History of Geographical
Discovery.

Each volume will be written by a recognised author-
ity on his subject, and will be amply furnished with
specially prepared maps, portraits, and other original
illustrations.

‘While the names of the writers whose co-operation
has been sccured are an indication of the high standard
aimed at from a literary and scientific point of view, the
series will be essentially a popular one, appealing to the
great mass of general readers, young and old, who have
always shewn a keen interest in the story of the world’s
exploration, when well told. It is, moreover, believed
that not a few of the volumes will be found adapted for
use as reading books, or even text-books in schools.

Each volume will consist of about 300 pp. crown
8vo, and will be published in cloth extra, price
4s.6d., in cloth gilt cover, specially designed by Lewis
F. Day, gilt edges, price §s, or in half polished morocco,
marbled edges, price 7s. 6d.




The following volumes are either ready or are in
an advanced statc of preparation :—

JOHN DAVIS, Arctic Explorer and Early India Navigator.
By CresmeNys R. MARKUAM, C.B, F.R.8.
[Ready.]
PALESTINE. By Major C. R. Coxper, RE. Leader
of the Palestine Exploring Expeditions,
[Reads.}
MUNGO PARK AND THE NIGER. By Josepu THOMSON,
author of # Through Masai Land,” &ec.
[Reaty]
MAGELLAN AND THE PACIFIC. By Dr. H. H.
GUILLLMARD, author of * The Cruise of the Marchesa.”
[Ready]
JOHN FRANKLIN AND THE NORTH-WEST PASSAGE.
By CAPrAIN ALBERT Markiiay, R.N.
(7w the Pres ]
LIVINGSTONE AND CENTRAL ATRICA. By H. it
JolinsToN, ILB.M. Consul at Mozambique,
LSkl ]
SAUSSURE AND THE ALPS. By DovcLss W. Fresu-
FIFLD, Hon. Scc. Royal Geographical Society.

THE HIMALAYA. By Lieur-GeNeraL R. STRacmiy;
R.E, C.S.I, late President of the R.G.S.

ROSS AND THE ANTARCTIC. By H. J. MacKIxDER,
M.A., Reader iff Geography at Oxford.

BRUCE AND THE NILE. By J. Scort KeLmg, Librarian
R.G.S.

VASC0 DA GAMA AND THE OCEAN HIGHWAY TO
INDIA, By E. G. RAVENSTRIN, F.R.G.S,



Other volumes to follow wili deal with—

HUMBOLDT AND SOUTH AMERICA.
BARENTS AND THE N.E PASSAGE.
COLUMBUS AND HIS SUCCESSORS.
JACQUES CARTIER AND CANADA.
CAPTAIN COOK AND AUSTRALASIA.
MARCO POLO AND CENTRAL ASIA.
IBN BATUTA AND N. AFRICA.
LEIF ERIKSON AND GREENLAND.
DAMPIER AND THE BUCCANEERS.
&e. &e. &e.
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GEORGE PHILIP & SON, LONDON & LIVERPOOL.
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